PROJECT MANAGEMENT FOR ENGINEERING AND CONSTRUCTION

McGraw-Hill Series in Construction Engineering and Project Management

CONSULTING EDITOR

Raymond E Levitt, Stanford University

Barrie and Paulson: Professional Construction Management: Including CM, Design-Construct, and General Contracting
Bockrath: Contracts and the Legal Environment for Engineers and Architects
Callahan, Quackenbush, and Rowings: Construction Project Scheduling
Griffis and Farr: Construction Project Planning
Hinze: Construction Contracts
Jervis and Levin: Construction Law: Principles and Practice
Koerner: Construction Estimating
Oberlender: Project Management for Engineering and Construction
Oglesby, Parker, and Howell: Productivity Improvement in Construction
Peurifoy, Ledbetter, and Schexnayder: Construction Planning, Equipment, and Methods
Peurifoy and Oberlender: Estimating Construction Costs

PROJECT MANAGEMENT FOR ENGINEERING AND CONSTRUCTION

SECOND EDITION

Garold D. Oberlender, Ph.D., P.E.

Professor of Civil Engineering Oklahoma State University





Boston Burr Ridge, IL Dubuque, IA Madison, WI New York San Francisco St. Louis Bangkok Bogotá Caracas Lisbon London Madrid Mexico City Milan New Delhi Seoul Singapore Sydney Taipei Toronto

McGraw-Hill Higher Education

A Division of The McGraw-Hill Companies

PROJECT MANAGEMENT FOR ENGINEERING AND CONSTRUCTION

Copyright © 2000, 1993, by The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. All rights reserved. Printed in the United States of America. Except as permitted under the United States Copyright Act of 1976, no part of this publication may be reproduced or distributed in any form or by any means, or stored in a database or retrieval system, without the prior written permission of the publisher.

This book is printed on acid-free paper.

234567890 FGWFGR 098765432

ISBN 0-07-039360-5

Publisher: Thomas Casson Sponsoring editor: Eric *Munson* Marketing manager: John Wannemacher Senior project manager: Jean Lou *Hess* Production supervisor: Debra Sylvester Cover design: Rhiannon Erwin Freelance design coordinator: Joanne Mennemeier Supplement coordinator: Mark *Sienicki* Compositor: GAC *Indianapolis* Typeface: 10/12 Times Roman Printer: *Quebecor* Printing Book *Group/Fairfield*

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Oberlender, Garold D. Project management for engineering and construction / Garold D. Oberlender.--2nd ed. p. cm. ISBN 0-07-039360-5 1. Engineering--Management. I. Title. TA190.024 2000 658.4'04—dc21 99-53231

http://www.mhhe.com

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

Garold D. **Oberlender** is professor and coordinator of the graduate program in construction engineering and project management in the School of Civil Engineering at Oklahoma State University. He received his Ph.D. in civil engineering from the University of Texas at Arlington. Dr. Oberlender has conducted research and presented seminars on a variety of topics related to construction engineering and project management. A civil engineer with more than thirty-five years of experience, he has been a consultant to numerous companies in the design and construction of projects. He is also co-author with Robert L. Peurifoy of *Estimating Construction Costs*, fourth edition, and *Formwork for Concrete Structures*, third edition. Dr. Oberlender is a registered professional engineer in several states and a fellow in the American Society of Civil Engineers. In addition, he is an active member and has held offices in the National Society of Professional Engineers. He is a member of the American Society of Engineering Education and the Project Management Institute.



PREFACE

This book presents the principles and techniques of managing engineering and construction projects from the conceptual phase, through design and construction, to completion. It emphasizes project management during the early stages of project development because the ability to influence the quality, cost, and schedule of a project can best be achieved during the early stages of development. Most books discuss project management during construction, after the scope of work is fully defined, the budget is fixed, and the completion date is firm. It is then too late to make any significant adjustments to the project to improve quality, cost, or schedule to benefit the owner.

Although each project is unique, there is certain information that must be identified and organized at the beginning of a project, before any work is started. Numerous tables and graphs are presented and discussed throughout this book to provide guidelines for management of the three basic components of a project: scope, budget, and schedule. Throughout this book, achieving project quality to meet the owner's satisfaction is emphasized as an integral part of project management.

This second edition of the book has three new chapters: Working with Project Teams, Early Estimates, and Design Proposals. The topics in these chapters are extremely important to achieving a successful project. These topics are covered from the perspective of the engineer who is employed with either the owner's organization or the design firm.

The intended audience of this book is students of university programs in engineering and construction. It is also intended for persons in industry who aid the owner in the feasibility study, coordinate the design effort, and witness construction in the field. A common example is used throughout this book to illustrate project management of the design and construction process.

This book is based on the author's experience in working with hundreds of project managers in the engineering and construction industry. Much of the information in this book is based on formal and informal discussions with these project managers, who are actively involved in the practice of project management. Although the author has observed that no two project managers operate exactly the same, there are common elements that apply to all projects and all project managers. The author presents these common elements of effective project management that have been successfully applied in practice.

McGraw-Hill and the author would like to thank Martin Fischer of Stanford University and C. William Ibbs of the University of California at Berkeley for their many comments and suggestions. The author would also like to thank the many project managers in industry who have shared their successes, and problems, and who have influenced the author's thoughts in the development of this book. Finally, the author greatly appreciates the patience and tolerance of his wife, Jana, and three sons, Dan, Tim, and Ron, for their support and encouragement during the writing and editing phases in producing this finished book.

Garold D. Oberlender

CONTENTS

1 INTRODUCTION

Purpose of this Book	1
Arrangement of this Book	2
Definition of a Project	4
Responsibilities of Parties	6
Who Does the Project Manager Work For?	7
Purpose of Project Management	8
Types of Management	9
Functions of Management	10
Key Concepts of Project Management	11
Role of the Project Manager	12
Professional and Technical Organizations	14
Questions for Chapter 1—Introduction	15
References	16

2 WORKING WITH PROJECT TEAMS

Project Teams	17
Teamwork	18
Teams for Small Projects	18
Working with Multiple Teams	19
Design Teams	20
Construction Teams	21
Team Management	22
Teams and the Project Manager's Responsibilities	22
Key Factors in Team Leadership	23
Team Building	24
Motivating Teams	25
Conflict Management	27

	Developing a Consensus	28
	Team Conduct	28
	Questions for Chapter 2—Working with Project Teams	29
	References	30
3	PROJECT INITIATION	31
	Design and Construction Process	31
	Advances in the Engineering and Construction Process	33
	Private versus Public Projects	33
	Contractual Arrangements	33
	Phases of a Project	36
	Owner's Study	38
	Owner's Needs and Project Objectives	38
	Project Scope Definition	40
	Project Strategy	42
	Selection of Design Firms and Construction Contractors	42
	Partnering	44
	Questions for Chapter 3—Project Initiation	45
	References	45
4	EARLY ESTIMATES	47
	Importance of Early Estimates	47
	Classification of Early Estimates	47
	Estimating Work Process	49
	Importance of Team Alignment in Preparing Early Estimates	51
	Scope Definition and Early Estimates	52
	Preparing Early Estimates	55
	Organizing to Prepare Estimates	55
	Establishing an Estimate Work Plan	56
	Methods and Techniques	58
	Cost-Capacity Curves	58
	Capacity Ratios Raised to an Exponent	59
	Plant Cost per Unit of Production	60
	Equipment Factored Estimates	62
	Estimate Check Lists	63
	Estimate Documentation	63
	Estimate Bocumentation	65
	Risk Assessment	66
	Risk Analysis	67
	Contingency	68
	Traditional Methods of Assigning Contingency	68
	Percentage of Base Estimate	68
	Expected Net Risk	69

	Simulation	70
	Assessing Estimate Sensitivity	71
	Assigning Contingency Based on the Quality and Completeness of the Estimate	72
	Estimate Feed-Back for Continuous Improvement	74
	Questions for Chapter 4—Early Estimates	76
	References	77
5	PROJECT BUDGETING	78
	Project Budgets	78
	Development of Project Estimates for Budgeting	78
	Levels of Accuracy	80
	Owner's Estimate for Budgeting	81
	Economic Feasibility Study	85
	Single Payments	85
	Uniform Payment Series	86
	Fundamental Equations of Time Value of Money	87
	Design Budgets	90
	Contractor's Bid	93
	Questions for Chapter 5—Project Budgeting	97
	References	98
6	DEVELOPMENT OF WORK PLAN	99
6	Project Manager's Initial Review	99 99
6	DEVELOPMENT OF WORK PLAN Project Manager's Initial Review Owner's Orientation	99 99 100
6	DEVELOPMENT OF WORK PLAN Project Manager's Initial Review Owner's Orientation Organizational Structures	99 99 100 101
6	DEVELOPMENT OF WORK PLAN Project Manager's Initial Review Owner's Orientation Organizational Structures Work Breakdown Structure	99 99 100 101 106
6	DEVELOPMENT OF WORK PLAN Project Manager's Initial Review Owner's Orientation Organizational Structures Work Breakdown Structure Forming the Project Team	99 99 100 101 106 108
6	DEVELOPMENT OF WORK PLAN Project Manager's Initial Review Owner's Orientation Organizational Structures Work Breakdown Structure Forming the Project Team Kick-Off Meeting	99 99 100 101 106 108 109
6	DEVELOPMENT OF WORK PLAN Project Manager's Initial Review Owner's Orientation Organizational Structures Work Breakdown Structure Forming the Project Team Kick-Off Meeting Work Packages	99 99 100 101 106 108 109 110
6	DEVELOPMENT OF WORK PLAN Project Manager's Initial Review Owner's Orientation Organizational Structures Work Breakdown Structure Forming the Project Team Kick-Off Meeting Work Packages Follow-Up Work	99 99 100 101 106 108 109 110 111
6	DEVELOPMENT OF WORK PLAN Project Manager's Initial Review Owner's Orientation Organizational Structures Work Breakdown Structure Forming the Project Team Kick-Off Meeting Work Packages Follow-Up Work Project Work Plan	99 100 101 106 108 109 110 111 111
6	DEVELOPMENT OF WORK PLAN Project Manager's Initial Review Owner's Orientation Organizational Structures Work Breakdown Structure Forming the Project Team Kick-Off Meeting Work Packages Follow-Up Work Project Work Plan Questions for Chapter 6—Development of Work Plan	99 100 101 106 108 109 110 111 113 116
6	DEVELOPMENT OF WORK PLAN Project Manager's Initial Review Owner's Orientation Organizational Structures Work Breakdown Structure Forming the Project Team Kick-Off Meeting Work Packages Follow-Up Work Project Work Plan Questions for Chapter 6—Development of Work Plan References	99 100 101 106 108 109 110 111 113 116 117
6 7	DEVELOPMENT OF WORK PLAN Project Manager's Initial Review Owner's Orientation Organizational Structures Work Breakdown Structure Forming the Project Team Kick-Off Meeting Work Packages Follow-Up Work Project Work Plan Questions for Chapter 6—Development of Work Plan References DESIGN PROPOSALS	99 99 100 101 106 108 109 110 111 113 116 117 118
6 7	DEVELOPMENT OF WORK PLAN Project Manager's Initial Review Owner's Orientation Organizational Structures Work Breakdown Structure Forming the Project Team Kick-Off Meeting Work Packages Follow-Up Work Project Work Plan Questions for Chapter 6—Development of Work Plan References DESIGN PROPOSALS Evolution of Projects	99 99 100 101 106 108 109 110 111 113 116 117 118 118
6 7	DEVELOPMENT OF WORK PLAN Project Manager's Initial Review Owner's Orientation Organizational Structures Work Breakdown Structure Forming the Project Team Kick-Off Meeting Work Packages Follow-Up Work Project Work Plan Questions for Chapter 6—Development of Work Plan References DESIGN PROPOSALS Evolution of Projects Project Execution Plan	99 100 101 106 108 109 110 111 113 116 117 118 118 119
6 7	DEVELOPMENT OF WORK PLAN Project Manager's Initial Review Owner's Orientation Organizational Structures Work Breakdown Structure Forming the Project Team Kick-Off Meeting Work Packages Follow-Up Work Project Work Plan Questions for Chapter 6—Development of Work Plan References DESIGN PROPOSALS Evolution of Projects Project Execution Plan Project Definition	99 99 100 101 106 108 109 110 111 113 116 117 118 118 119 119
6	DEVELOPMENT OF WORK PLAN Project Manager's Initial Review Owner's Orientation Organizational Structures Work Breakdown Structure Forming the Project Team Kick-Off Meeting Work Packages Follow-Up Work Project Work Plan Questions for Chapter 6—Development of Work Plan References DESIGN PROPOSALS Evolution of Projects Project Definition Project Definition	99 99 100 101 106 108 109 110 111 113 116 117 118 118 118 119 119 121
6	DEVELOPMENT OF WORK PLAN Project Manager's Initial Review Owner's Orientation Organizational Structures Work Breakdown Structure Forming the Project Team Kick-Off Meeting Work Packages Follow-Up Work Project Work Plan Questions for Chapter 6—Development of Work Plan References DESIGN PROPOSALS Evolution of Projects Project Definition Project Definition Problems in Developing Project Definition	99 99 100 101 106 108 109 110 111 113 116 117 118 118 118 119 119 121
7	DEVELOPMENT OF WORK PLAN Project Manager's Initial Review Owner's Orientation Organizational Structures Work Breakdown Structure Forming the Project Team Kick-Off Meeting Work Packages Follow-Up Work Project Work Plan Questions for Chapter 6—Development of Work Plan References DESIGN PROPOSALS Evolution of Projects Project Definition Project Definition Project Definition Problems in Developing Project Definition Design Proposals Engineering Organization	99 99 100 101 106 108 109 110 111 113 116 117 118 118 119 119 121 121
7	DEVELOPMENT OF WORK PLAN Project Manager's Initial Review Owner's Orientation Organizational Structures Work Breakdown Structure Forming the Project Team Kick-Off Meeting Work Packages Follow-Up Work Project Work Plan Questions for Chapter 6—Development of Work Plan References DESIGN PROPOSALS Evolution of Projects Project Definition Project Definition Project Definition Segin Proposals Engineering Organization Scope Baseline for Budget	99 99 100 101 106 108 109 110 111 113 116 117 118 118 118 119 119 121 121 124

	Mini-Drawings	130
	Development of the Design Work Plan	132
	Engineering Project Controls	134
	Progress Measurement of Engineering Design	134
	Questions for Chapter 7—Design Proposals	138
	References	138
8	PROJECT SCHEDULING	139
	Project Planning and Project Scheduling	139
	Desired Results of Planning	140
	Principles of Planning and Scheduling	141
	Responsibilities of Patties	142
	Planning for Multiple Projects	142
	Techniques for Planning and Scheduling	143
	Network Analysis Systems	144
	Development of CPM Diagram from the WBS	147
	Assigning Realistic Durations	150
	Computer Applications	152
	Schedule Coding System	153
	Cost Distribution	157
	Resource Allocations for Design	163
	Resource Allocations for Construction	164
	Program Evaluation and Review Technique (PERT)	164
	Successor/Predecessor Relationships	172
	Problems Using Successor/Predecessor Relationships	173
	Questions for Chapter 8—Project Scheduling	181
	References	183
9	TRACKING WORK	185
	Control Systems	185
	Linking the WBS and CPM	186
	Coding Systems for Project Reports	188
	Control Schedules for Time and Cost	193
	Relationships Between Time and Work	200
	Integrated Cost/Schedule/Work	205
	Percent Complete Matrix Method	206
	Progress Measurement of Design	211
	Measurement of Construction Work	213
	Project Measurement and Control	216
	Earned-Value System	217
	Monitoring Project Performance	225
	Interpretation of Performance Indices	227
	Analysis Tree of Total Float (TF) and Schedule Performance Index (SPI)	

	Causes of Cost/Schedule Variances	228
	Trend Analysis and Forecasting	229
	Work Status System	233
	Questions for Chapter 9–-Tracking Work	236
	References	239
10	DESIGN COORDINATION	240
	Design Work Plan	240
	Producing Contract Documents	241
	Managing Scope Growth During Design	241
	Managing Small Projects	242
	Project Team Meetings	243
	Weekly/Monthly Reports	244
	Drawing and Equipment Index	244
	Distribution of Documents	246
	Authority/Responsibility Check List	247
	Check List of Duties for Design	248
	Team Management	248
	Evaluation of Design Effectiveness	251
	Constructability	253
	Post Design Review	255
	Questions for Chapter 10—Design Coordination	256
	References	256
11	CONSTRUCTION PHASE	258
11	CONSTRUCTION PHASE	258 258
11	CONSTRUCTION PHASE Importance of Construction Assumptions for Construction Phase	258 258 259
11	CONSTRUCTION PHASE Importance of Construction Assumptions for Construction Phase Contract Pricing Formats	258 258 259 260
11	CONSTRUCTION PHASE Importance of Construction Assumptions for Construction Phase Contract Pricing Formats Design/Bid/Build Method of Project Delivery	258 258 259 260 261
11	CONSTRUCTION PHASE Importance of Construction Assumptions for Construction Phase Contract Pricing Formats Design/Bid/Build Method of Project Delivery Design/Build Method of Project Delivery	258 258 259 260 261 262
11	CONSTRUCTION PHASE Importance of Construction Assumptions for Construction Phase Contract Pricing Formats Design/Bid/Build Method of Project Delivery Design/Build Method of Project Delivery Construction Management Method of Project Delivery	258 258 259 260 261 262 262
11	CONSTRUCTION PHASE Importance of Construction Assumptions for Construction Phase Contract Pricing Formats Design/Bid/Build Method of Project Delivery Design/Build Method of Project Delivery Construction Management Method of Project Delivery Bridging Project Delivery Method	258 259 260 261 262 262 262 263
11	CONSTRUCTION PHASE Importance of Construction Assumptions for Construction Phase Contract Pricing Formats Design/Bid/Build Method of Project Delivery Design/Build Method of Project Delivery Construction Management Method of Project Delivery Bridging Project Delivery Method Fast-Track Projects	258 259 260 261 262 262 263 264
11	CONSTRUCTION PHASE Importance of Construction Assumptions for Construction Phase Contract Pricing Formats Design/Bid/Build Method of Project Delivery Design/Build Method of Project Delivery Construction Management Method of Project Delivery Bridging Project Delivery Method Fast-Track Projects Turn-Key Projects	258 259 260 261 262 262 263 264 264
11	CONSTRUCTION PHASE Importance of Construction Assumptions for Construction Phase Contract Pricing Formats Design/Bid/Build Method of Project Delivery Design/Build Method of Project Delivery Construction Management Method of Project Delivery Bridging Project Delivery Method Fast-Track Projects Turn-Key Projects Design Development and Performance Specifications	258 259 260 261 262 262 263 264 264 264
11	CONSTRUCTION PHASE Importance of Construction Assumptions for Construction Phase Contract Pricing Formats Design/Bid/Build Method of Project Delivery Design/Build Method of Project Delivery Construction Management Method of Project Delivery Bridging Project Delivery Method Fast-Track Projects Turn-Key Projects Design Development and Performance Specifications Key Decisions for Project Delivery	258 259 260 261 262 262 263 264 264 264 264
11	CONSTRUCTION PHASE Importance of Construction Assumptions for Construction Phase Contract Pricing Formats Design/Bid/Build Method of Project Delivery Design/Build Method of Project Delivery Construction Management Method of Project Delivery Bridging Project Delivery Method Fast-Track Projects Turn-Key Projects Design Development and Performance Specifications Key Decisions for Project Delivery Number of Contracts	258 259 260 261 262 262 263 264 264 264 264 264 264
11	CONSTRUCTION PHASE Importance of Construction Assumptions for Construction Phase Contract Pricing Formats Design/Bid/Build Method of Project Delivery Design/Build Method of Project Delivery Construction Management Method of Project Delivery Bridging Project Delivery Method Fast-Track Projects Turn-Key Projects Design Development and Performance Specifications Key Decisions for Project Delivery Number of Contracts Selection Criteria	258 259 260 261 262 262 263 264 264 264 264 264 264 265 265 265
11	CONSTRUCTION PHASE Importance of Construction Assumptions for Construction Phase Contract Pricing Formats Design/Bid/Build Method of Project Delivery Design/Build Method of Project Delivery Construction Management Method of Project Delivery Bridging Project Delivery Method Fast-Track Projects Turn-Key Projects Design Development and Performance Specifications Key Decisions for Project Delivery Number of Contracts Selection Criteria Contractual Relationship	258 259 260 261 262 262 263 264 264 264 264 264 264 265 265 265
11	CONSTRUCTION PHASE Importance of Construction Assumptions for Construction Phase Contract Pricing Formats Design/Bid/Build Method of Project Delivery Design/Build Method of Project Delivery Construction Management Method of Project Delivery Bridging Project Delivery Method Fast-Track Projects Turn-Key Projects Design Development and Performance Specifications Key Decisions for Project Delivery Number of Contracts Selection Criteria Contractual Relationship Terms of Payment	258 259 260 261 262 262 263 264 264 264 264 264 264 265 265 265 265 265
11	CONSTRUCTION PHASE Importance of Construction Assumptions for Construction Phase Contract Pricing Formats Design/Bid/Build Method of Project Delivery Design/Build Method of Project Delivery Construction Management Method of Project Delivery Bridging Project Delivery Method Fast-Track Projects Turn-Key Projects Design Development and Performance Specifications Key Decisions for Project Delivery Number of Contracts Selection Criteria Contractual Relationship Terms of Payment Prospective Bidders and Bidding Qualification-BasedSelection (/PS)	258 259 260 261 262 262 263 264 264 264 264 264 264 265 265 265 265 265 265 265
11	CONSTRUCTION PHASE Importance of Construction Assumptions for Construction Phase Contract Pricing Formats Design/Bid/Build Method of Project Delivery Design/Build Method of Project Delivery Construction Management Method of Project Delivery Bridging Project Delivery Method Fast-Track Projects Turn-Key Projects Design Development and Performance Specifications Key Decisions for Project Delivery Number of Contracts Selection Criteria Contractual Relationship Terms of Payment Prospective Bidders and Bidding Qualification-BasedSelection (QBS)	258 259 260 261 262 262 263 264 264 264 264 264 264 265 265 265 265 265 265 265 265
11	CONSTRUCTION PHASE Importance of Construction Assumptions for Construction Phase Contract Pricing Formats Design/Bid/Build Method of Project Delivery Design/Build Method of Project Delivery Construction Management Method of Project Delivery Bridging Project Delivery Method Fast-Track Projects Turn-Key Projects Design Development and Performance Specifications Key Decisions for Project Delivery Number of Contracts Selection Criteria Contractual Relationship Terms of Payment Prospective Bidders and Bidding Qualification-BasedSelection (QBS) Check List for Bidding	258 259 260 261 262 262 263 264 264 264 264 264 265 265 265 265 265 265 265 265 265 265

	Construction Schedules	271
	Problems with Construction Schedules	273
	Precautions for Construction Submittals	274
	Delivery Dates of Owner-Furnished Equipment or Materials	275
	Scheduling Contractor Procured and Installed Equipment	275
	Contract Schedule Constraints	276
	Sequestering Float	276
	Schedule Updates	277
	Relations with Contractors	277
	Check List of Duties	278
	Quality Control	278
	Dispute Resolutions	281
	Job-Site Safety	282
	Management of Changes	283
	Resource Management	284
	Questions for Chapter 11—Construction Phase	286
	References	286
12	PROJECTCLOSEOUT	288
	System Testing and Start-Up	288
	Final Inspection	289
	Guarantee and Warranties	290
	Lien Releases	290
	Record and As-Built Drawings	290
	Check List of Duties	291
	Disposition of Project Files	291
	Post Project Critique	292
	Owner Feed-Back	292
	Questions for Chapter 12—Project Close Out	292
	References	293
13	PERSONAL MANAGEMENT SKILLS	294
	Challenges and Opportunities	294
	Using New Innovations	294
	Human Aspects	297
	Assignment of Work	299
	Motivation	300
	Decision Making	301
	Time Management	302
	Communications	303
	Presentations	305
	Meetings	307
	Reports and Letters	307

	Questions for Chapter 13—Personal Management Skills References	309 309
14	TOTAL QUALITY MANAGEMENT	311
	Background	311
	Customer Satisfaction	314
	Continual Improvement	315
	Management Commitment	318
	Training	319
	Teamwork	320
	Statistical Methods	322
	Cost of Quality	324
	Supplier Involvement	325
	Customer Service	326
	Implementation	326
	References	328
Appendix A	Example Project	329
Appendix B	List of EJCDC Contract Documents	348
Appendix C	List of AIA Contract Documents	351
Appendix D	List of AGC Contract Documents	354
Appendix E	MasterFormat [™] —Master List of Section Titles and Numbers	

1

INTRODUCTION

PURPOSE OF THIS BOOK

The purpose of this book is to present the principles and techniques of project management beginning with the conceptual phase by the owner, through coordination of design and construction, to project completion.

Experienced project managers agree that the procedures used for project management vary from company to company and even among individuals within a company. Although each manager develops his or her own style of management, and each project is unique, there are basic principles that apply to all project managers and projects. This book presents these **principles** and illustrates the basic **steps**, and **sequencing** of steps, to develop a **work plan** to manage a project through each phase from conceptual develoyment to comyletion.

Project management requires teamwork among the three principal contracting parties: the owner, designer, and contractor. The coordination of the design and construction of a project requires planning and organizing a team of people who are dedicated to a common goal of completing the project for the owner. Even a small project involves a large number of people who work for different organizations. The key to a successful project is the selection and coordination of people who have the ability to detect and solve problems to complete the project.

Throughout this book the importance of management skills is emphasized to enable the user to develop his or her own style of project management. The focus is to apply project management at the beginning of the project, when it is first approved. Too often the formal organization to manage a project is not developed until the beginning of the construction phase. This book presents the information that must be assembled and managed during the development and engineering design phase to bring a project to successful completion for use by the owner.

The intended audience of this book is students enrolled in **university** programs in engineering and construction. It is also intended for the design firms which aid the owner in the feasibility study, coordinate the design effort, and witness construction in the field. This book is also for persons in the owner's organization who are involved in the design and construction process.

ARRANGEMENT OF THIS BOOK

Adiscussion of project management is difficult because there are many ways a project can be handled. The design **and/or** construction of a project can be **performed** by one or more parties. Regardless of the method that is used to handle a project, the management of a project generally follows these steps:

- Step 1: Project Definition (to meet the needs of the end user) Intended use by the owner upon completion of construction Conceptual configurations and components to meet the intended use
- Step 2: Project Scope (to meet the project definition) Define the work that must be accomplished Identify the quantity, quality, and tasks that must be performed
- Step 3: Project Budgeting (to match the project definition and scope) Define the owner's permissible budget Determine direct and indirect costs plus contingencies
- Step 4: Project Planning (the strategy to accomplish the work) Select and assign project staffing Identify the tasks required to accomplish the work
- Step 5: Project Scheduling (the product of scope, budgeting, and planning) Arrange and schedule activities in a logical sequence Link the costs and resources to the scheduled activities
- Step 6: Project Tracking (to ensure the project is progressing as planned) Measure work, time, and costs that are expended Compare "actual" to "planned work, time, and cost
- Step 7: Project Close Out (final completion to ensure owner satisfaction) Perform final testing and inspection, archive documents, and confirm payments

Turn over the project to the owner

These steps describe project management in its simplest form. In reality there is considerable overlap between the steps, because any one step may affect one or more other steps. For example, budget preparation overlaps project definition and scope development. Similarly, project scheduling relates project scope and budget to **project tracking** and control.

The topic of project management is further complicated because the responsibility for these steps usually involves many parties. Thus, the above steps must all be integrated together to successfully manage a project. Subsequent chapters of this book describe each of these steps.

Chapter 1 defines general principles related to project management. These basic principles must be fully understood because they apply to all the remaining chapters. Many of the problems associated with project management are caused by failure to apply the basic management principles that are presented in Chapter 1.

Chapter 2, Working with Project Teams, presents the human aspects of project management. The project team is a group of diverse individuals, each with a special expertise, that performs the work necessary to complete the project. As leader of the project team, the project manager acts as a coach to answer questions and to make sure the team understands what is expected of them and the desired outcome of the project.

Chapter 3, Project Initiation, presents material that is generally performed by the owner. However, the owner may contract the services of a design organization to assist with the feasibility study of a project. The project manager should be involved at the project development or marketing phase to establish the scope. This requires input from experienced technical people that represent every aspect of the proposed project.

Chapter 4, Early Estimates, presents the techniques and processes of preparing estimates in the early phase of a project. Preparation of early estimates is a prerequisite to project budgeting. For engineering and construction projects, the early cost estimate is used by the owner in making economic decisions to approve the project. The early cost estimate is a key project parameter for cost control during the design process.

Chapter 5, Project Budgeting, applies to all parties in a project: the owner, designer, and contractor. The budget must be linked to the quantity, quality, and schedule of the work to be accomplished. A change in scope or schedule almost always affects the budget, so the project manager must continually be alert to changes in a project and to relate any changes to the budget.

Chapter 6, Development of Work Plan, applies to the project manager who is responsible for management of the design effort. Generally, he or she is employed by the professional design organization, which may be an agency of the owner or under contract by the owner to perform design services. The material presented in this chapter is important because it establishes the work plan which is the framework for guiding the entire project effort. The information in this chapter relates to all the project management steps and chapters of this book.

Chapter 7, Design Proposals, presents the process of preparing proposals from the design organization to the owner. After the owner has defined the goals, objectives, intended use, and desired outcome of the project, a request for proposals is solicited from the design organization. The design organization must convert the owner's expectations of the project into an engineering scope of work, budget, and schedule.

Chapter 8, Project Scheduling, provides the base against which all activities are measured. It relates the work to be accomplished to the people who will perform the work as well as to the budget and schedule. Project scheduling cannot be accomplished without a well-defined work plan, as described in Chapter 6, and it forms the basis for project tracking, as described in Chapter 9.

Chapter 9, Tracking Work, cannot be accomplished without a well-defined work plan, as described in Chapter 6, and a detailed schedule, as described in Chapter 8. This chapter is important because there is always a tendency for scope growth, cost overrun, or schedule delays. A control system must simultaneously monitor the three basic components of a project: the work accomplished, the budget, and the schedule. These three components must be collectively monitored, not as individual components, because a change in any one component usually will affect the other two components.

Chapter 10, Design Coordination, applies to the project manager of the design organization. The quality, cost, and schedule of a project is highly dependent on the effectiveness of the design effort. The end result of the design process is to produce plans and specifications in a timely manner that meet the intended use of the project by the owner. The product of design must be within the owner's approved budget and schedule and must be constructable by the construction contractor.

Chapter 11, Construction Phase, is important because most of the cost of a project is expended in the construction phase, and the quality of the final project is highly dependent upon the quality of work that is performed by the construction contractors. Most of the books that have been written on project management have been directed toward a project in the construction phase. This book emphasizes project management from the initial conception of the project by the owner, through coordination of design and development of the construction documents, and into the construction phase until project close out.

Chapter 12, Project Close Out, discusses the steps required to complete a project and turn it over to the owner. This is an important phase of a project because the owner will have expended most of the budget for the project, but will not receive any benefits from the expenditures until it is completed and ready for use. Also it is sometimes difficult to close a project because there are always many small items that must be finished.

Chapter 13, Personal Management Skills, addresses the human aspects of project management. Although the primary emphasis of this book is on the techniques of project management, it is the project manager working with his or her people who ensures the successful completion of a project.

Chapter 14, Total Quality Management, presents the management philosophy that has gained much attention in the engineering and construction industry. Most of the attention has been attributed to the success of TQM in the manufacturing and electronics industries. However, many of the topics related to TQM are applicable to good project management of design and construction.

DEFINITION OF A PROJECT

A project is an endeavor that is undertaken to produce the results that are expected from the requesting party. For this book a project may be design only, construction only, or a combination of design and construction. A project consists of three components: scope, budget, and schedule. When a project is first assigned to a project manager, it is important that all three of these components be clearly defined. Throughout this book, the term *Scope* represents the work to be accomplished, i.e., the quantity and quality of work. *Budget* refers to costs, measured in dollars and/or labor-hours of work. *Schedule* refers to the logical sequencing and timing of the work to be performed. The quality of a project must meet the owner's satisfaction and is an integral part of project management as illustrated in Figure 1-1.

Figure 1-1 is shown as an equilateral triangle to represent an important principle of project management: a balance is necessary between the scope, budget, and schedule. For any given project there is a certain amount of work that must be performed and an associated cost and schedule for producing the work. Any increase in the scope of work requires a corresponding increase in budget and schedule. Conversely, any decrease in scope of work results in a corresponding decrease in budget and schedule. This principle applies between any and all of the three components of a project. For **example**, any adjustment in budget and/or schedule requires a corresponding adjustment in scope. This simple concept of a balance between scope, budget, and schedule is sometimes not fully recognized during early project development as well as during design and construction.

The source of many problems associated with a project is failure to properly define the project scope. Too often the focus is just on budget or schedule. Not only should the scope, budget, and schedule be well defined, but each must be linked together since one affects the other, both individually and collectively.

Since the project scope defines the work to be accomplished, it should be the first task in the development of a project, prior to the development of either the budget or the schedule. Experienced project managers agree that the budget and schedule are derived from the scope. Too often, top management specifies a project budget or schedule and then asks the project team to define a scope to match the budget. This is the reverse order of defining a project and is not a good project management practice. It is the duty of a project manager to ensure that the project scope, budget, and schedule are linked together.

Budgeting is important because it establishes the amount of money the owner will spend to obtain the project and the amount of money that the design and construction organizations will be compensated for performing the work. Each party is





concerned about project cost overrun because it adversely affects profitability and creates adverse relationships between the parties.

Scheduling is important because it brings together project definition, people, cost, resources, timing, and methods of performing work to define the logical sequencing of activities for the project. The schedule is the final product of scope definition, budgeting, and planning and **forms** the base against which all activities are measured. Project tracking and control cannot be accomplished without a good plan and schedule.

Quality is an element that is integrated into and between all parts of a project: scope, budget, and schedule. It should not be construed as merely creating drawings with a minimum number of errors, furnishing equipment that meets specifications, or building a project to fulfill the requirements of a contract. Certainly these factors are a part of quality, but it involves much more. Quality is meeting the needs and satisfaction of the ultimate end user of the project, the owner.

Quality is the responsibility of all participants in a project, including all levels of management and workers in each of the principal parties. An attitude of achieving quality must be instilled in everyone and perpetuate throughout the work environment. The attitude should not be "what can we do to pass quality control or final inspection?" Instead, it should be "what can we do to improve our work and what is the best way we can furnish a project that meets the needs and satisfaction of the owner?"

RESPONSIBILITIESOF PARTIES

Each of the three principal parties in a project has a role to fulfill in the various phases of design development and construction. A team approach between the owner, designer, and contractor must be created with a cooperative relationship to complete the project in the most efficient manner. Too often an adverse relationship develops that does not serve the best interest of anyone.

The owner is responsible for setting the operational criteria for the completed project. Examples are usage of a building, barrels per day of crude oil to be refined, millions of cubic feet per hour of gas to be transported in a pipeline, and so on. Any special equipment, material, or company standards that are to apply to the project must also be defined. Owners also need to identify their level of involvement in the project, e.g., the review process, required reports, and the levels of approval. The owner is also responsible for setting parameters on total cost, payment of costs, major milestones, and the project completion date.

The designer is responsible for producing design alternatives, computations, drawings, and specifications that meet the needs of the owner. In addition there may be other duties that are delegated to the designer by the owner, e.g., on-site or periodic inspection, review of shop drawings, and in some instances the acquisition of land and/or permits. It is the duty of the designer to produce a project design that meets all federal, state, and local codes; standards; and environmental and safety regulations. In addition a budget for the design should be prepared, along with a design schedule that matches the owner's schedule. The design schedule should be

directly correlated to the construction schedule so the project can be completed by the construction contractor when the owner needs it.

Generally the designers are not obligated under standard-form contracts to guarantee the construction cost of a project, although there have been some cases where the designer bas been held legally responsible for the construction price. As part of their design responsibility, designers usually prepare an estimate of the probable construction cost for the design they have prepared. Major decisions by the owner to proceed with the project are made from the designer's cost estimate.

The cost and operational characteristics of a project are influenced most, and are more easy to change, during the design phase. Because of this, the designer plays a key role during the early phase of a project by working with the owner to keep the project on track so the owner/contractor relationship will be in the best possible form.

The construction contractor is responsible for the performance of all work in accordance with the contract documents that have been prepared by the designer. This includes furnishing all labor, equipment, material, and know-how necessary to build the project. The construction phase is important because most of the project budget is expended during construction. Also, the operation and maintenance of the completed project is highly dependent on the quality of work that is performed during construction. The contractor must prepare an accurate estimate of the project, develop a realistic construction schedule, and establish an effective project control system for cost, schedule, and quality.

WHO DOES THE PROJECT MANAGER WORK FOR?

The project manager works for the project, although he or she may be employed by the owner, designer, or contractor. For large projects a team consisting of a project manager for the owner, designer, and contractor forms a group of people who work together to manage the design, procurement, and construction activities. For small projects the owner may delegate overall project management responsibility to a design consultant, or a professional construction manager, and assign an owner's representative as a liaison to represent the owner's interest.

The Construction Industry Institute (CII) has sponsored research and published numerous papers on a variety of topics related to project management. **Organizing** *for Project Success*, a CII publication, provides a good description of the interface between project managers for the owner, designer, and contractor. The following paragraphs are a summary of the project management teams that are discussed in the publication.

After commitment has been made by an owner to invest in a project, an Investment Management Team is formed within the owner's organization to provide overall project control. The major functions, such as marketing, engineering, finance, and manufacturing, are usually represented. A Project Executive usually leads the team and reports to the head of the business unit which made the decision to proceed with the project. A member of this team is the Owner's Project Manager.

The Owner's Project Manager leads a Project Management Team which consists of each Design Project Manager and Construction Project Manager that is assigned

a contract **from** the owner. Their mission is to accomplish the work, including coordinating the engineering, procurement, and construction phases. The Owner's Project Manager leads this team, which is one of the most important management functions of the project. The Owner's Project Manager is responsible for the accomplishment of all work, even though he or she has limited resources under his or her direct control because the work has been contracted to various organizations.

Reporting to each Design Project Manager and Construction Project Manager are the Work Managers who fulfill the requirements of their contracts. Each Design and Contractor Project Manager reports to the Owner's Project Manager for contractual matters and to his or her parent organization for business matters.

The Work Managers are the design leaders and supervisors who lead the teams actually accomplishing the work. They are directly responsible for the **part** of the contract assigned to them by their Project Manager. They must also communicate and coordinate their efforts with Work Managers from other organizations. Usually this communication does not flow vertically through a chain of command, but instead flows horizontally between people actually involved in the work. It is their responsibility to also work with their Project Manager and keep them informed. This is further discussed in Chapters 2 and 11.

PURPOSE OF PROJECT MANAGEMENT

For the purpose of this book, project management may be defined as:

The art and science of coordinating people, equipment, materials, money. and schedules to complete a specified project on time and within approved cost.

Much of the work of a project manager is organizing and working with people to identify problems and determine solutions to problems. In addition to being organized and a problem solver, a manager must also work well with people. It is people who have the ability to create ideas, identify and solve problems, communicate, and get the work done. Because of this, people are **the** most important resource of the project manager. Thus, the project manager must develop a good working relationship with people in order to benefit from the best of their abilities.

It is the duty of a project manager to organize a project team of people and coordinate their efforts in a common direction to bring a project to successful completion. Throughout the project management process there are four questions that must be addressed: Who? Does what? When? and How much?

The work required often involves people outside of the project manager's organization. Although these individuals do not report directly to the project manager, it is necessary that effective working relationships be developed.

A manager must be a motivated achiever with a "can do" attitude. Throughout a project there are numerous obstacles that must be overcome. The manager must have perspective with the ability to forecast methods of achieving results. The drive to achieve results must always be present. This attitude must also be instilled in everyone involved in the project.

Good communication skills are a must for a manager. The management of a project reauires coordination of **people** and information. Coordination is achieved through effective communication. Most problems associated with project management can be traced to poor communications. Too often the "other person" receives information that is incorrect, inadequate, or too late. In some instances the information is simply never received. It is the responsibility of the project manager to be a good communicator and to ensure that people involved in a project communicate with each other.

TYPES OF MANAGEMENT

Management may be divided into at least two different types: functional management (sometimes called discipline management) and project management. Functional management involves the coordination of repeated work of a similar nature by the same people. Examples are management of a department of design engineering, surveying, estimating, or purchasing. Project management involves the coordination of one time work by a team of people who often have never previously worked together. Examples are management of the design **and/or** construction of a substation, shopping center, refinery unit, or water treatment plant. Although the basic principles of management apply to both of these types of management, there are distinct differences between the two.

Most individuals begin their career in the discipline environment of management. Upon graduation from college, a person generally accepts a position in a discipline closely related to his or her formal education. Typical examples are design engineers, estimators, schedulers, or surveyors. The work environment focuses on how and who will perform the work, with an emphasis on providing technical expertise for a single discipline. Career goals are directed toward becoming a specialist in a particular technical area.

Project management requires a multi-discipline focus to coordinate the overall needs of a project with reliance on others to provide the technical expertise. The project manager must be able to delegate authority and responsibility to others and still retain focus on the linking process between disciplines. Project managers cannot become overly involved in detailed tasks or take over the discipline they are educated in, but should focus on the project objectives.

A fundamental principle of project management is to organize the project around the work to be accomplished. The work environment focuses on what must be performed, when it must be accomplished, and how much it will cost. Career development for project managers must be directed toward the goal of becoming a generalist with a broad administrative viewpoint.

The successful completion of a project depends upon the ability of a project manager to coordinate the work of a team of specialists who have the technical ability to perform the work. Table 1-1 illustrates the relationship between project management and discipline management.

Project management is concerned with	Discipline management is concerned with
What must be done	How it will be done
When it must be done	Who will do it
How much it will cost	How well it will be done
Coordinating overall needs	Coordinating specific needs
Multi-discipline focus	Single-discipline focus
Reliance on others	Providing technical expertise
Project quality	Technical quality
Administrative viewpoint	Technical viewpoint
A generalist's approach	A specialist's approach

TABLE 1-1 DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN PROJECT AND DISCIPLINE MANAGEMENT

FUNCTIONS OF MANAGEMENT

Management is often summarized into five basic functions: planning, organizing, staffing, directing, and controlling. Although these basic management functions have been developed and used by managers of businesses, they apply equally to the management of a project.

Planning is the formulation of a course of action to guide a project to completion. It starts at the beginning of a project, with the scope of work, and continues throughout the life of a project. The establishment of milestones and consideration of possible constraints are major parts of planning. Successful project planning is best accomplished by the participation of all parties involved in a project. There must be an explicit operational plan to guide the entire project throughout its life.

Organizing is the arrangement of resources in a systematic manner to fit the project plan. A project must be organized around the work to be performed. There must be a breakdown of the work to be performed into manageable units, which can be defined and measured. The work breakdown structure of a project is a multi-level system that consists of tasks, subtasks, and work packages.

Staffing is the selection of individuals who have the expertise to produce the work. The persons that are assigned to the project team influence every part of a project. Most managers will readily agree that people are the most important resource on a project. People provide the knowledge to design, coordinate, and construct the project. The numerous problems that arise throughout the life of a project are solved by people.

Directing is the guidance of the work required to complete a project. The people on the project staff that provide diverse technical expertise must be developed into an effective team. Although each person provides work in his or her area of expertise, the work that is provided by each must be collectively directed in a common effort and in a common direction.

Controlling is the establishment of a system to measure, report, and forecast deviations in the project scope, budget, and schedule. The purpose of project control

TABLE 1-2 KEY CONCEPTS OF PROJECT MANAGEMENT

- 1. Ensure that one person, and only one person, is responsible for the project scope, budget, and schedule
- 2. Don't begin work without a signed contract, regardless of the pressure to start
- 3. Confirm that there is an approved scope, budget, and schedule for the project
- 4. Lock in the project scope at the beginning and ensure there is no scope growth without approval
- 5. Make certain that scope is understood by all parties, including the owner
- 6. Determine who developed the budget and schedule, and when they were prepared
- 7. Verify that the budget and schedule are linked to the scope
- 8. Organize the project around the work to be performed, rather than trying to keep people busy
- 9. Ensure there is an explicit operational work plan to guide the entire project
- 10. Establish a work breakdown structure that divides the project into definable and measurable units of work
- 11. Establish a project organizational chart that shows authority and responsibilities for all team members
- 12. Build the project staff into an effective team that works together as a unit
- 13. Emphasize that quality is a must, because if it doesn't work it is worthless, regardless of cost or how fast it is completed
- 14. Budget all tasks; any work worth doing should have compensation
- 15. Develop a project schedule that provides logical sequencing of the work required to complete the job
- 16. Establish a control system that will anticipate and report deviations on a timely basis so corrective actions can be taken
- 17. Get problems out in the open with all persons involved so they can be resolved
- 18. Document all work, because what may seem irrelevant at one point in time may later be very significant
- 19. Prepare a formal agreement with appropriate parties whenever there is a charge in the project
- 20. Keep the client informed; they pay for everything and will use the project upon completion

is to determine and predict deviations in a project so corrective actions can be taken. Project control requires the continual reporting of information in a timely manner **so** management can respond during the project rather than afterwards. Control is often the most difficult function of project management.

KEY CONCEPTS OF PROJECT MANAGEMENT

Although each project is unique, there are key concepts that a project manager can use to coordinate and guide a project to completion. A list of the key concepts is provided in Table 1-2.

Each of the key concepts shown in Table 1-2 is discussed in detail in subsequent chapters of this book. It is the responsibility of the project manager to address each of these concepts from the beginning of a project and through each phase until completion.

ROLE OF THE PROJECT MANAGER

The role of a project manager is to lead the project team to ensure a quality project within time, budget, and scope constraints. A project is a single, non-repetitive enterprise, and because each project is unique, its outcome can never be predicted with absolute confidence. A project manager must achieve the end results despite all the risks and problems that are encountered. Success depends on carrying out the required tasks in a logical sequence, utilizing the available resources to the best advantage. The project manager must perform the five basic functions of management: planning, organizing, staffing, directing, and controlling.

Project planning is the heart of good project management. It is important for the project manager to realize that he or she is responsible for project planning, and it must be started early in the project (before starting any work). Planning is a continuous process throughout the life of the project, and to be effective it must be done with input from the people involved in the project. The techniques and tools of planning are well established. Table 1-3 provides guidelines for planning.

A project organizational chart should be developed by the project manager for each project. The chart should clearly show the appropriate communication channels between the people working on the project. Project team members must know the authority of every other team member in order to reduce miscommunications and rework. Organized work leads to accomplishments and a sense of pride in the work accomplished. **Unorganized** work leads to rework. Rework leads to errors, low productivity, and frustrated team members. Table 1-4 provides guidelines for organizing.

Project staffing is important because people make things happen. Most individuals will readily agree that people are the most important resource on a project. They create ideas, solve problems, produce designs, operate equipment, and install materials to produce the final product. Because each project is unique, the project

TABLE 1-3 PROJECT MANAGER'S ROLE IN PLANNING

- 1. Develop planning focused on the work to be performed
- 2. Establish project objectives and performance requirements early so everyone involved knows what is required
- 3. Involve all discipline managers and key staff members in the process of planning and estimating
- 4. Establish clear and well-defined milestones in the project so all concerned will know what is to be accomplished, and when it is to be completed
- 5. Build contingencies into the plan to provide a reserve in the schedule for unforeseen future problems
- 6. Avoid reprogramming or replanning the project unless absolutely necessary
- 7. Prepare formal agreements with appropriate parties whenever there is a change in the project and establish methods to control changes
- 8. Communicate the project plan to clearly define individual responsibilities, schedules, and budgets
- 9. Remember that the best-prepared plans are worthless unless they are implemented

TABLE 1-4 PROJECT MANAGER'S ROLE IN ORGANIZING

- 1. Organize the project around the work to be accomplished
- 2. Develop a work breakdown structure that divides the project into definable and measurable units of work
- 3. Establish a project organization chart for each project to show who does what
- 4. Define clearly the authority and responsibility for all project team members

manager must understand the work to be accomplished by each discipline. The project manager should then work with his or her supervisor and appropriate discipline managers to identify the persons who are **best** qualified to work on the project. Table 1-5 provides guidelines for project staffing.

The project manager must direct the overall project and serve as an effective leader in coordinating all aspects of the project. This requires a close working relationship between the project manager and the project staff to build an effective working team. Because most project team members are assigned (loaned) to the project from their discipline (home) departments, the project manager must foster the development of staff loyalty to the project while they maintain loyalty to their home departments. The project manager must be a good communicator and have the ability to work with people at all levels of authority. The project manager must be able to delegate authority and responsibility to others and concentrate on the linking process between disciplines. He or she cannot become overly involved in detailed tasks, but should be the leader of the team to meet project objectives. Table 1-6 provides guidelines for directing the project.

Project control is a high priority of management and involves a cooperative effort of the entire project team. It is important for the project manager to establish a control system that will anticipate and report deviations on a timely basis, so corrective action can be initiated before more serious problems actually occur. Many team members resist being controlled; therefore the term *monitoring* a *project* may also be used as a description for anticipating and reporting deviations in the project. An effective project control system must address all parts of the project: quality, work accomplished, budget, schedule, and scope changes. Table 1-7 provides guide-lines for project control.

TABLE 1-5

PROJECT MANAGER'S ROLE IN STAFFING

- 1. Define clearly the work to be performed, and work with appropriate department managers in selecting team members
- 2. Provide an effective orientation (project goals and objectives) for team members at the beginning of the project
- 3. Explain clearly to team members what is expected of them and how their work fits into the total project
- 4. Solicit each team member's input to clearly define and agree upon scope, budget, and schedule

TABLE 1-6

PROJECT MANAGER'S ROLE IN DIRECTING

- 1. Serve as an effective leader in coordinating all important aspects of the project
- 2. Show interest and enthusiasm in the project with a "can do" attitude
- 3. Be available to the project staff, get problems out in the open, and work out problems in a cooperative manner
- 4. Analyze and investigate problems early so solutions can be found at the earliest possible date
- 5. Obtain the resources needed by the project team to accomplish their work to complete the project
- 6. Recognize the importance of team members, compliment them for good work, guide them in correcting mistakes, and build an effective team

TABLE 1-7 PROJECT MANAGER'S ROLE IN CONTROLLING

- 1. Maintain a record of planned and actual work accomplished to measure project performance
- Maintain a current milestone chart that displays planned and achieved milestones
 Maintain a monthly project cost chart that displays planned expenditures and actual
- expenditures
- 4. Keep records of meetings, telephone conversations, and agreements
- 5. Keep everyone informed, ensuring that no one gets any "surprises," and have solutions or proposed solutions to problems

PROFESSIONAL AND TECHNICAL ORGANIZATIONS

Due to the increased cost and complexity of projects, the interest in developing and applying good project management principles has gained considerable attention by owners, designers, and contractors. Numerous organizations have made significant contributions related to project management by conducting research, sponsoring workshops and seminars, and publishing technical papers. The following paragraphs describe some of these organizations.

The American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE), founded in 1852, is the oldest national engineering society in the United States. Membership comprises over 100,000 civil engineers working in government, education, research, construction, and private consulting. The construction division of ASCE has many councils and technical committees that have published technical **papers** related to oroiect management in its *Journal* of *Construction Engineering and Management*.

The National Society of Professional Engineers (NSPE), founded in 1936, is the national engineering society of registered professional engineers from all disciplines of engineering. NSPE membership comprises over 50,000 engineers who are organized in five practice divisions: construction, education, government, industry, and private practice. The construction practice division has numerous committees that have contributed to contract documents and legislation related to engineers in the construction industry.

The Project Management Institute (PMI), founded in 1969, consists of members from all disciplines and is dedicated to advancing the state-of-the-art in the profession of project management. PMI has a certification program for project management professionals and publishes a *Project Management Book* of *Knowledge* (PMBOK).

The Construction Management Association of America (CMAA), founded in 1981, is an organization of corporate companies, public agencies, and individual members who promote the growth and development of construction management (CM) as a professional service. CMAA publishes documents related to CM, including the *Standard CM Services and Practice*.

The Construction Industry Institute (CII), founded in 1983, is a national research organization consisting of an equal number of owner and contractor member companies, and research universities from across the United States. CII is organized into committees, councils, and research teams which are comprised of owners, contractors, and academic members who work together to conduct research and produce publications on a variety of topics related to project management.

The following list of organizations is provided to the reader as sources for information related to project management:

American Institute of Architects American Society of Civil Engineers American Society of Military Engineers Association for Advancement of Cost Engineering, International Construction Industry Institute Construction Management Association of America Design Build Institute of America National Society of Professional Engineers Project Management Institute Society of American Value Engineers

QUESTIONS FOR CHAPTER 1—INTRODUCTION

- 1 As presented in this chapter, quality is an integral part of project management. Because there are different levels of quality, it is important for the owner, designer, and contractor to have a mutual understanding of the quality that is expected in a project. Describe methods that can be used to ensure that quality is adequately defined, understood, and properly included in a project.
- 2 Give examples of problems that may arise when an owner fails to fulfill his or her responsibility of clearly defining the operational criteria of a project.
- **3** Give examples of problems that may arise when a designer fails to give adequate attention to the impact of a design selection on the cost or schedule during the construction phase.
- 4 Give examples of problems that may arise when a contractor fails to perform his or her work in accordance with the contract documents.
- 5 In actuality, there are at least three project managers that are involved in a project, one each working for the owner, designer, and contractor. Since each of these individuals

works for a different organization, describe methods that you would suggest to ensure good working relationships between these three individuals.

- 6 Interview three project managers, one working for an owner, designer, and contractor, respectively, to identify factors that each manager believes is important for the successful completion of a project.
- 7 A definition of project management is given in this chapter. Review this definition and expand it to include additional items that you feel are important to the function of project management.
- **8** Consult publications from one or more of the references at the end of this chapter to compare and contrast the differences between "project management" and "functional management."
- **9** The five basic functions of management discussed in this chapter are derived from the basic principles of business management. Review two sources of publications that describe the role and functions of management, one from a journal of business management and one from a journal of engineering management. Compare the business perspective of management to the engineering perspective of management.
- 10 Throughout the project management process, there are four quertions that must be addressed: Who? Does what? When? and How much? Expand this list to include other questions that may be appropriate for some situations in the management of a project.

REFERENCES

- 1 Adams, J. R. and Campbell, B., *Roles and Responsibilities of the Project Manager*, Project Management Institute, Newtown Square, PA, 1982.
- 2 Adams, J. R., Bilbro, C. R., and Stockert, T. C., An Organization Development Approach to Project Management, Project Management Institute, Newtown Square, PA, 1986.
- **3** "Organizing for Project Success," Publication No. 12-2, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, February, 1991.
- 4 Stuckenbruck, L. C., *The Implementation of Project Management: The Professional's Handbook,* Project Management Institute, Newtown Square, PA, 1981.

2

WORKING WITH PROJECT TEAMS

PROJECT TEAMS

Project teams must be assembled to accomplish the work necessary to complete engineering and construction projects. Team members are vital to the success of the project. The project manager depends on the team because he or she typically does not have the expertise to do all the work required to complete the project. For any team, there must be a leader to guide the overall efforts. In many respects the project manager acts as a coach, answering questions, making sure the team understands the desired outcome of the project, and ensuring that team members know what is expected of them and the importance of sharing information. The project manager must make sure that his or her team understands and is focused on the desired outcome of the project. The project manager also acts as a facilitator in project communications for conflict resolution and team performance.

Project teams are made up of all the participants in the project, including in-house personnel and outside consultants. Team members report either part-time or full-time to the project manager and are responsible for some aspect of the project's activities. Teamwork must be well coordinated with effective interaction to achieve the shared objective of completing the scope, budget, and schedule constraints of the project. Managing project teams is a fundamental skill within the area of human resources management. The Project Management Institute defines human resources throughout the life of a project, by using administrative and behavioral knowledge to achieve predetermined project objectives of scope, cost, time, quality, and participant satisfaction. For a successful project, the project manager must build and lead an effective project team. Team building is the process of influencing a group of diverse individuals, each with his or her own goals, needs, and perspectives, to work together effectively for the good of the project. The team effort should accomplish more than the sum of the individual efforts. Every team needs motivation. Team motivation is the process by which project managers influence the team members to do what it takes to get the job done. The key problem is "How do you motivate team members when they are borrowed resources?" Usually, members of the project team are individuals who are assigned from other departments to the project manager's project. Because these individuals are borrowed from other departments or hired from outside organizations, the project manager must devise a method to motivate them to be dedicated to the project while remaining loyal to their home departments and organizations. This presents a real challenge to the project manager.

TEAMWORK

Teamwork is not a new concept; it is just being revisited after two decades of worker isolation due to extensive emphasis on technical specialization. Reorganization and downsizing of businesses also has created a renewed emphasis on teamwork because the in-house capabilities of many businesses have been reduced, causing outsourcing of work to finish projects. Everyone agrees that teamwork is important; the real task is organizing a successful team for a successful project.

Teamwork starts with the sponsor of the project who defines goals, objectives, needs, and priorities. For successful projects, teamwork starts with the team's formation at the beginning of the project and continues throughout the life of aproject. A well-organized team resolves disputes, solves problems, and communicates effectively. Effective teamwork discourages fault finding and accusations and promotes unity and a common focus on the same set of project goals and priorities. Although everyone is a key player on a successful team, every team must have a leader. The project manager is the leader of the team.

TEAMS FOR SMALL PROJECTS

A team is two or more people working together to accomplish a common goal. When managing multiple small projects, the project manager is usually required to **share** team members with other project managers. Generally the project duration is short with minimal contact between the project manager and team members. Sometimes the team members are specialists who are hired by contracts from outside sources to perform a specific task or function.

Since the project manager of a project is generally responsible for managing multiple projects at the same time, it is often difficult for him or her to give the needed attention to each project, which complicates scheduling and resource control. Only minimal staffs can be afforded on small projects. This means that the few individuals assigned must take responsibility for multiple functions. In this type of work environment, the skill of the project manager to maneuver through the various departments within his or her organization to get people to do the work on the project is crucial in completing the projects on time and within budget. There is less potential for comprehensive look-ahead planning and attention to those functions not currently experiencing problems. The ability to meet project deadlines is highly dependent on the schedules of others.

On engineering work, it is difficult to have a core discipline team assigned to each project. **As** a consequence, time is wasted while team members wait for information. Since small projects have short durations, there is often insufficient time for detailed planning and in-process correction of problems. The learning curve for personnel is still climbing when the project is over.

Although managing multiple small projects may not have the formality of managing a single large project, the principles of working with people in the spirit of cooperation and teamwork still applies. Typically the project manager relies on frequent phone calls or e-mail in lieu of formal face-to-face team meetings.

WORKING WITH MULTIPLE TEAMS

As a project progresses through design into construction, the work of the owner's, designer's, and contractor's teams must merge into a collective effort. Although each of these teams have their own objectives, the diverse expertise that each possesses must converge into an overlapping environment as illustrated in Figure 2-1.

Each triangle in Figure 2-1 represents a team. Although each team performs a different function, each team must develop an attitude of shared ownership in the project. The project manager from each organization must create and foster an environment where team members contribute to solving problems and doing their jobs well, rather than trying to do just what they feel is necessary to get by. The team building and teamwork that was started at the beginning of the project must be continued into the construction.

Regardless of the size and number of teams, there must be a single head project manager to make final decisions and keep focus on the project. The owner's project manager has overall responsibility and final authority for the total project. Serving on the owner's project management team are project managers who are responsible for leading lower levels of teams that are responsible for engineering design and construction of the project. As illustrated in Figure 2-1 there is a project manager for in-house design, a project manager for each design contractor, and a project manager for each construction contractor. Each of these project managers leads the team for his or her organization. Below these managers are lower tiers of teams who are led by work managers. As shown in Figure 2-1, the manager of the lower-level team serves as a member of the higher-level team. There must be one head of each team.



FIGURE 2-1 Overlapping Environment of Multiple Teams.

DESIGN TEAMS

Members of the design team are selected based on the specific expertise needed for a particular project. The team is composed of individuals with diverse backgrounds, including design disciplines [architectural, civil, mechanical, electrical, structural, computer aided design and drafting (CADD), etc.], project control individuals (cost control, estimating, quality control, safety, etc.), non-technical people (purchasing, legal, financial, permitting, regulatory, etc.), and the sponsor's representative.

Every design team must have a sponsor's representative, who may be the owner's project manager or appointed by the owner's project manager. This individual must communicate to the project team the corporate policies and the funding limit of the sponsoring organization. He or she must have the responsibility and authority to act on behalf of the sponsoring organization.
The sponsor's representative plays a key role in resolving issues related to the project requirements and costs that will impact the sponsor's organization after the project is completed, when it will be used by the sponsor. He or she reviews and approves the evolving scope, budget, and schedule. As a team member, the sponsor's representative approves any changes in scope, budget, and schedule before commitments are made. This individual should be an active participant on the design team, answering questions and providing information needed by the team to accomplish the work. Unfortunately, the sponsoring organization's representative is sometimes not involved until the project gets into trouble. Early involvement of the sponsor's representative can prevent future problems. The design project manager must make this individual feel that he or she is part of the project team.

Selecting design team members is an important step in project management because it begins the team building process. How team members are selected varies, depending on the policies of the design project manager's organization and the persuasiveness of the project manager to get the people on the project that he or she wants. Chapter 6 presents various organization structures for design firms. To illustrate selection of design team members, consider a design firm that is organized as shown in Figure 6-5. The project manager and his or her supervising manager will review the project's needs to identify required discipline expertise and required personnel. Then, a meeting is arranged with the manager of appropriate discipline managers to request team members. The people assigned to the project are selected by the department manager of engineers for each respective discipline.

Obviously, the project manager always wants the best and most qualified workers assigned to his or her project. However, the assignment of team members is often based on who is available at the time assignments are made. If the project manager feels a person who is assigned to the team lacks the required skills, then the project manager must act as a coach to assist the team member and/or make arrangements for additional training to ensure the work can be completed.

CONSTRUCTION TEAMS

The work environment and culture of a construction project is unique compared to most working conditions. A typical construction project consists of groups of people, normally from several organizations, that are hired and assigned to a project to build the facility. Due to the relatively short life of a construction project, these people may view the construction project as accomplishing short-term tasks. However, the project manager of the construction team must instill in the team that building long-term relationships is more important in career advancement than trying to accomplish short-term tasks.

Even small-sized construction projects involve a large number of people. Organizing their efforts is complex, even if they all work for the same organization. Sources of information, location, timing, and problem complexity change as people enter the project, perform their assigned duties, and depart. With all the diversity involved in a construction project, people must be managed so they work together efficiently to accomplish the goal. This requires skilled people who are willing to sacrifice short-term gratification for the long-term satisfaction of achieving a larger goal. Common sense and flexibility are essential to working with construction teams. The key to a successful construction project is properly skilled construction managers. These individuals possess the ability to recognize the degree of uncertainty at any point in the execution of the project and to manage the efforts of others to achieve clearly defined objectives that result in successful completion of the final product.

The organizational chart for a construction project consists of lines and boxes that show the division of work and the relationship of the workers to formal authority. The boxes in the chart depict the tasks to be performed and the lines depict the coordination required.

The number of construction teams for a project depends upon the number of contracts awarded by the owner. For each construction contractor, and subsequent tier of subcontractors, a construction team is formed to perform the work in accordance with the contract documents issued by the owner.

TEAM MANAGEMENT

Successful team management requires the team to be an integral unit of the organization. A team must have a well-defined mission with common goals, objectives, and strategies. The role of each team member must be clearly defined. The project manager must learn the needs of team members and encourage team participation. Team members will put extra effort into accomplishing work when they know the project manager cares about them and their careers. This can be accomplished only by effective communications and feedback throughout the project. Trust is instilled among team members and the project manager by creating an environment of understanding and teamwork. Open and honest communications are necessary to instill integrity and support for each other. Trust is essential to effective and successful teams.

It is the project manager's responsibility to ensure that individuals are assigned primary responsibility for discrete work. Most workers want to do what is expected of them and will do the work, provided there are clear instructions and understandings. This requires a collective culture of mutual agreements between the project manager and team members. All individuals murt have the common goal of creating a team that plans and executes the work with a clear knowledge of what they are going to do, who is going to do it, and when it will be done. Sometimes it is necessary to know where it will be done or how it will be done. For example, for some instances it may be necessary to know what method of analysis will be used in a design.

TEAMS AND THE PROJECT MANAGER'S RESPONSIBILITIES

When working with team members, the project manager must cross many boundaries in the organizational structure to develop the project team into a cohesive group. This must be done quickly in spite of constraints imposed by others. The project manager must combine administrative and behavioral knowledge to work well with people. People skills are vital for effective management of team members. The project manager must create a cordial environment that enables the team to work together so members will motivate themselves to peak performance.

The project manager is responsible for resolving conflicts between team members in addition to organizing, coordinating, and directing the project. The project manager is the team leader who is responsible for developing the project requirements. This is accomplished by effective communications.

When working with teams, the project manager acts as the leader in acquiring resources, selecting team members, developing the sponsor's requirements, defining scope and quality, defining budgets, and determining schedules. The project manager must establish a control system to complete the project in accordance with the expected requirements. The project manager is expected to control project activities within a defined scope, budget, and schedule. Situations will arise when design differences must be resolved. Trade-offs will have to be made to comply with the budget and schedule.

An important responsibility of the project manager is decision making. During team meetings, numerous decisions must be made. The process used in making decisions can have a direct impact on team performance. In some situations the decision can be made solely by the project manager, possibly with input from one or more team members. However, there are other situations when the decision making should involve the entire team. The project manager must establish a process for decision making that matches the decision to be made. For example, the decision may be to resolve the best way to perform a design or produce drawings while another may involve generating ideas, solving a problem with one correct answer, or deciding issues with multiple correct answers. The project manager must develop a leadership style that is respected and accepted by the project team for decision making.

KEY FACTORS IN TEAM LEADERSHIP

Developing a culture where each team member feels that he or she is a part of the team and wanted by the team is essential to a successful team. Individuals who feel they are an important part of the team will develop a sense of pride because they are a part of the team and will become enthusiastic and motivated to assist others to ensure the successful performance of the entire team.

The behavior and leadership style of the project manager has a significant influence on the team. The project manager must have high ethics and a sense of fairness and honesty while dealing with members of the team as well as others who are not on the team. In many respects the project manager is the role model for the team. It is difficult for people to be highly motivated and productive when they do not have the respect of their leader. The project manager must communicate the desired goals, objectives, values, and outcomes of the project. The team can then translate these issues into producing quality work. The project manager must also keep members informed of the status of the project. Team communications are vital to a successful team because highly motivated and dedicated workers want, and need, to be informed. Regularly scheduled team meetings are essential. There may be numerous meetings between key team members to exchange detailed information, but a regularly scheduled weekly team meeting should be held for sharing status, making decisions, and documenting information. Because team member? are frequently located at different physical locations, regular face-to-face meetings are necessary to keep the sense of team unity.

A well-defined scope for the team guides the progress of work and provides clear goals that can be used as guidelines for decision making. The project manager must ensure the scope is defined and understood by each team member before work is started. A firm scope that is clearly understood provides empowerment to team members. It also allows more independence and autonomy of individual team members to perform their work in the most efficient and expeditious manner because their assigned work and desired outcome is known. Individuals who know their responsibilities and the required outcome of their work are free to be innovative and creative, thereby producing high-quality work with performancc. The result is a successful project.

TEAM BUILDING

Effective teamwork is a key element in any successful project. Teamwork must be started early in the process, and it must be continuous throughout the life of a project. Experienced engineers and project managers all agree that teamwork is necessary, but the real question is "How does one organize a successful team?"

Effective communications is essential to team building. In simple terms, effective communications means the other person has received and understood the information that is being given to him or her. The giver of information must obtain feedback from the receiver to ensure effective communications. The project team cannot function when there are breakdowns in communications. **Misinformation** or incomplete information is a major deterrent to team building. Effective communications ensures that everyone knows what is expected and when it is expected.

All participants on the team have a common customer, the sponsor or user of the finished **project**. Team building starts with the sponsoring organization, with its project charter and mission statement. The **project** sponsor must be informed on **established** objectives, and he or she needs to be clear in their commitments. The project sponsor must have a good **prequalification** process for selecting designers, contractors, and other third-party participants. In addition, the sponsor must know and communicate his or her goals and aspirations for the project and must set priorities related to cost, schedule, safety, and the expected level of quality. Everyone on the project must realize that the project sponsor pays for everything and is therefore the common customer of all parties.

Designers want an educated sponsor who is knowledgeable in the process of designing and constructing the project, but sometimes that is not the case. Sometimes the project manager must help the project sponsor to understand the importance of sequencing work and the impact of decisions that must be made in designing and constructing the project.

From the first day of the project, there must be continuity in the project team. High turnover of team members creates wasted time in educating new people and lost knowledge of previous developments in the project. The contractor should be brought into the project at the earliest possible date. Construction contractors have excellent knowledge of costs and methods of construction that are extremely helpful during the design phase of a project. People experienced in construction can provide valuable input in the constructability of a project.

Many private-sector projects are financed by lending institutions. Too often, for these types of projects the lender is not an active participant in the team and everyone suffers from it. Unfortunately, the lender stays too far from the project and does not become involved until problems arise. There are other parties that are sometimes not brought into the team from the beginning of the project. For example, the purchasing agent is an important participant in teams that must procure large amounts of material or major equipment. Early involvement of the person who will be involved in issuing purchase orders, tracking vendors' shipping dates and delivery dates, and receipt of procured material and equipment has a significant impact on meeting installation deadlines in a project.

Key words for team building are pressure, responsibility, honesty, kindness, respect, and communications. Engineering and construction projects usually require tight schedules which create pressure on the project team to complete **the** work at the earliest possible date. This requires cooperation among team members who must assume responsibility and perform their work in the most expeditious manner. The ground rule should be "Everyone is a contributor and winner on a successful team." The team must stop worrying about the 1% that is wrong and focus on the 99% that is right. The project team must have open communications and avoid hiding mistakes and pointing blame. A successful team can achieve a successful project and have fun doing it.

Some companies have begun the team building process by holding a week-end retreat for team members, including their family members. The retreat is usually held in a resort setting to allow interaction of team members related to their personal interests. This allows everyone to realize that team members have similar aspirations and common interests. For example, understanding that others on the team have children with special talents or must care for elderly parents can provide a sense of bonding and mutual respect, which is the first step in effective team building.

MOTIVATING TEAMS

For years managers and supervisors have struggled with methods of motivating workers. In the early 1950s A. H. Maslow developed a theory of motivation called the *hierarchy* of *needs*. Maslow's theory has been used by managers, as well as educators, to try to understand why people behave the way they do, how to motivate them, and how to enlist their commitment.

Maslow proposed that humans are a wanting animal and their wants become needs. It is the quest to satisfy their needs that drives or motivates people. The needs include basic physical and psychological needs, which are perceived in the human mind and satisfied by material things. Maslow proposed that the needs of humans follow a hierarchy, beginning with comfort and basic survival, such as food, clothing, and shelter. Once this first need is satisfied, humans seek to satisfy the next higher level of need: safety and security. After this need is satisfied, individuals seek progressively higher levels of need, including belonging, ego, and finally self-fulfillment. Self-fulfillment is the highest level of need and may include an urge to have increasing influence or give back to the world, such as establishing an endow-mcnt. Figure 2-2 is a graphical representation of the five levels in Maslow's hierarchy of human needs.

As the lower levels of needs are satisfied, it is only natural for a person to become motivated to achieve the next higher level in Maslow's hierarchy of needs. A project manager must use his or her skills to determine the specific needs of team members in order to motivate them to their full potential.

Determining the needs of people is not easy to accomplish in the day-to-day work environment. Sometimes it may be necessary to spend time in an informal setting to build a relationship that provides understanding of what is important to a team member. For example, a team member may be concerned about having adequate time to attend a child's school function or care for an ill family member. A team member in this situation may be motivated by being allowed flexible work hours with the understanding that the time will be made up at nights or on week-ends.

The project manager must also realize that the needs of people can change. For example, personal finances or problems within the family can change the needs of a person rapidly. Each project manager must devise a way to ascertain the needs

FIGURE 2-2



of their team members. Once the needs are identified, then an appropriate method of motivation can be determined. Attempting to motivate without sincerity or integrity can cause teams to fragment or disintegrate. Thus, the project manager must use good people skills to motivate team members.

CONFLICT MANAGEMENT

Due to the dynamic nature of project environments, it is inevitable that conflicts among team members will arise. Conflicts can arise over the distribution of resources, access to information, disagreement about decisions, or the perception by an individual that he or she is not respected or fully a part of the team. Conflict can have a negative influence by fostering interpersonal hostility, reduced performance, and dissension in the team.

Conflicts can arise due to different agendas among team members since some of the team members may work for different companies. For example, on the owner's project management **team** there will be members from one or more design firms as well as one or more construction companies. Likewise, the design team's project manager may have team members who are in-house as well as design consultants who are under contract to perform special parts of the design. The construction contractor's project manager usually has many diverse personnel from both in-house and subcontractors.

It should be recognized that conflicts are often a result of changes, for example, modification of drawings, reassignment of a team member, or changes in meeting dates that are not communicated to other team members. The project manager and team should evaluate each conflict resolution to capture lessons learned, both positive and negative, for the benefit of future project work. A good project manager must and can manage conflicts.

To manage conflict the project manager must use techniques to deal with disagreements, both technical and personal in nature, that inevitably develop among team members. Project managers and team members may perceive that conflicts are bad, shouldn't exist, are caused by troublemakers, or should be avoided. However, all project participants should recognize that conflicts are inevitable and actually can be beneficial if resolved in an appropriate manner. Resolution of conflicts can lead to innovation and to ideas about how to improve work efficiency.

Withdrawal or giving up is a poor way of managing conflicts. It is a stopgap attempt to resolve a conflict and does not solve the problem. Withdrawal is a passive approach to solving a problem and only temporarily delays the inevitable future reoccurrence of the problem. Another method, smoothing, is a more active technique to managing conflicts. However, smoothing only temporarily avoids the conflict by appeasing one or more of the parties involved in the conflict. Smoothing does not provide long-lasting solutions.

Compromising is another approach to settling conflicts. This approach involves bargaining between the disputing parties to reach an acceptable agreement. The disputing parties **make** trade-offs that often fall short of ideal solutions. Too often, compromising does not result in a definitive resolution and leaves opportunities for a reoccurrence of the conflicts. Depending on the circumstances, however, compromising may be the best method of resolving conflicts.

Confronting and problem solving is a method of resolving conflicts that requires participation by all parties involved in the conflict. It requires an open dialogue to identify the root problems and a joint effort to use problem-solving techniques to objectively resolve the conflict. The potential to find final, mutually acceptable solutions is usually higher when the project manager and team use this method.

For some situations it may be necessary for the project manager to exercise authority to force a resolution of the conflict. Forcing a resolution can only be used when the project manager has the authority and is willing to use his or her power to settle the conflict without producing hurt feelings. The project manager must understand that forcing a solution may create resentment or other adverse reactions that can affect the team's future performance.

DEVELOPING A CONSENSUS

Sometimes multiple solutions to a problem exist, each of which may yield the same result. Team members may not agree on any one particular solution. Some members may be indifferent regarding a particular solution, while others may have strong feelings about a solution. The project manager must work with the team to develop a consensus regarding selection of the best solution. For these situations, the project manager must help the team members to focus on solving the problem.

Voting, trading, or averaging can be helpful in reaching a consensus. The project manager must lead the team in seeking facts to avoid dilemmas and indecisions. During discussions, conflict should be accepted as helpful and every effort should be made to prevent threats, offensive comments, or defensive actions. Team members should avoid personal interests and behaviors that exclude the opinions and positions of other team members. Instead, they should exhibit mutual respect for each other with a special effort to focus on what is best overall for the project.

TEAM CONDUCT

A team is most simply defined as two or more people who, by working together, accomplish more than if they worked separately. Projects typically consist of multiple design and construction packages, each with specific assignments and responsibilities. For a successful team, specific rules are required.

Goals for a particular team explicitly direct the project requirements of each specific group. For example, the safety team should know that it is supposed to keep health and accident incidents to a quantified level, or the scheduling team should know the number of days allowed to develop the CPM schedule. Teams need to know the required time to do their work and the desired outcome of their work.

In addition to knowing the goals, the team must also know how it is expected to operate. The design and construction teams should know from the beginning the extent of their power and authority to act. For example, some teams may be expected

only to solve problems, while others are only required for routine reviews, and others exist to make decisions.

Every project requires a set of rules to be obeyed. Without rules, disorder and frustration will likely occur. Rules should not be viewed as restrictive. Instead, a good set of rules provides freedom to the team members to perform their work because they know what is expected of them. Generally, when the rules are unclear or absent, teams limit themselves from reaching their full potential.

Working relationships must be clearly defined and understood. To be effective, each team should know where it fits in the overall scheme of other operating teams. The leader of each team must answer questions regarding internal team relationships. Team members must show trust and respect for other team members, but close personal friendship is not always necessary. In engineering and construction projects, teams often function on the basis of professional relationships. Interrelationships between teams is the responsibility of upper management.

Personal values of individual team members often play an important role in teams. Each team member brings his or her own set of principles and values to the team. The extent and determination to which they hold these values influences how well the team will be able to work together. Team members should not have to compromise their personal values and principles. The team leader must be committed to respecting team members, promoting openness and flexibility. Situations will arise when compromises are necessary to resolve issues.

QUESTIONS FOR CHAPTER 2—WORKING WITH PROJECT TEAMS

- 1 It is the project manager's responsibility to ensure that each team member is assigned primary responsibility for discrete work. Recognizing there are numerous work items in a project, describe methods for ensuring there will be no overlap or gaps in the work of a project team.
- 2 You are the project manager of a team which has been newly formed. Suppose you feel one of the team members-is lacking in the required skills to perform the work. Discuss methods you would use to assist the team member to ensure that his or her work will meet your expectations,
- **3** The composition of a design team represents individuals with diverse backgrounds, including civil, mechanical, electrical, and structural. What are methods that you would use to ensure mutual respect among team members and to reinforce the understanding that everyone on the team is an important player in the success of the project?
- 4 Maslow's theory of hierarchy of needs lists five levels of needs that are motivators of people. As a project manager, list methods you would use to identify the needs of team members so you can be responsive to those needs in motivating your team.
- 5 Conflict between team members often is a result of changes. List changes during a project that could potentially lead to conflicts. For each change, how would you attempt to resolve the conflict?
- 6 When a team is formed that consists of people who have never worked together, team building may be necessary. Describe methods of team building for a design team that has different engineering disciplines combined with people from purchasing, quality control, and cost control.

7 There are numerous factors in team leadership. List and briefly discuss factors that are important in successful team leadership.

REFERENCES

- 1 Hensey, Mel, "Making Teamwork Work," *Civil Engineering*, American Society of Civil Engineers, Reston, VA, February 1992.
- 2 Maslow, Abraham, Motivation and Personality, Harper & Row, New York, 1954.
- 3 Lewis, Chat T., Garcia, Joseph E., and Jobs, Sarah M., *Managerial Skills in Organizations*, Allyn and Bacon, Boston, MA, 1990.
- 4 Ruskin, Arnold M. and Estes, W. Eugene, "Organizational Factors in Project Management," *Journal of Management in Engineering*, American Society of Civil Engineers, Reston, VA, January 1986.
- 5 Sanvido, Victor E. and Riggs, Leland S., "Managing Successful Retrofit Projects," Cosr Engineering, Association for Advancement of Cost Engineering, International, December 1993.
- 6 Tatum, Clyde B., "Designing Project Organizations: An Expanded Process," *Journal* of Construction Engineering and Management, American Society of Civil Engineers, Reston, VA, June 1986.
- 7 Whetton, David A. and Cameron, Kim S., *Developing Management Skills*, 2nd ed., Harper-Collins, New York City, NY, 1991.

3

PROJECT INITIATION

DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION PROCESS

Early in a project, the owner must select a process for design and construction. There are many choices of processes, each with advantages and disadvantages. The process selected affects financing; selection of team members; and the project cost, quality, and schedule. Although the process selected is important, selecting good-quality people is more important. A successful project is achieved by people working together with clear responsibilities.

Design and construction projects progress through three phases: project definition, design, and construction. It should be mentioned that for a total project there are business planning steps that precede design and there is an operations and maintenance phase that follows construction. This book focuses on the design and construction of projects. Project definition sets the stage for design work, and design work sets the stage for construction work. The project definition phase involves discovery to identify and analyze project requirements and constraints. Although the initial focus is on the owner's requirements and constraints, it must be recognized that the owner's requirements and constraints provides a description of the project and helps identify a plan for the time and cost of delivering the project.

Projects can generally be classified into three sectors: buildings, infrastructure, and process. Examples of building-sector projects include commercial buildings, schools, office buildings, and hospitals. For building-sector projects, where the architect is the prime designer, the design follows three stages: schematic design,

design development, and contract documents. The schematic design produces the basic appearance of the project, building elevations, layout of floors, room arrangements within the building, and overall features of the project. At the conclusion of schematic design the owner can review the design configuration and the estimated cost before giving approval to proceed into design development. Design development defines the functional use and systems in the project in order to produce the contract documents, the plans and specifications for constructing the project.

Infrastructure-sector projects include transportation systems, such as city streets, county roads, state and federal highways, airports, or navigational waterways. The infrastructure sector also includes utility projects, such as water and sewer line systems, gas distribution lines, electrical transmission and distribution, telephone, and cable lines. For these types of projects the owner may be a private company or an agency of the government. The prime designer is the engineer, who generally prepares a complete design before construction contracts are created.

Process-sector projects include chemical plants, oil refining, pharmaceuticals, pulp and paper, and electrical generating. Engineers are the prime designers of process-sector projects. The stages of design include preliminary engineering, detailed engineering, and development of the contract documents. For example, preliminary engineering may involve designing the process flow sheets and mechanical flow sheets for a chemical processing plant. The preliminary engineering produces the major processes and major equipment required in the project. Detailed engineering involves the actual sizing of pipes that will connect to the equipment and control systems to operate the facility, such as piping and instrumentation drawings. The contract documents are the final drawings and specifications for constructing the project.

Depending on the project delivery method, procurement may start during the design phase. For example, as soon as the specification is completed for a major piece of equipment, a purchase order may be issued to procure the equipment if it is a long lead-time item that must be ordered in advance of construction to ensure that it can he installed without delaying the project. Procurement is not restricted only to equipment. Procurement may also apply to long lead-time acquisition of bulk material or procurement of construction contractors.

In the current practice of competitive-bid projects, contractors bid the project after the contract documents are completed. After accepting the bid, the contractor must develop shop drawings to build the project. Shop drawings are prepared by the contractor and submitted to the designer for approval. The shop drawings show the detailed fabrication and installation that will be used during construction. Thus, the contractor is also involved in design. The production of shop drawings impacts the quality of fabrication of manufactured items that will be installed at the job-site. Site construction involves labor, material, and construction equipment to physically build the project.

For non-competitive-bid projects, the owner negotiates a contract with a firm to provide engineering and/or construction services. Typically, the cost of the project is negotiated on some type of cost-reimbursable basis. The agreement also specifies how the engineering design will be integrated with the construction process.

ADVANCES IN THE ENGINEERING AND CONSTRUCTION PROCESS

The construction industry has matured and continued to enhance the integration of activities in the design, fabrication, construction, and operation of constructed facilities. Major advancements in computer hardware and software have produced two-dimensional (2-D) and three-dimensional (3-D) computer aided design (CAD) systems. The CAD technology has progressed to versatile modeling systems that can be used throughout the design, engineering, and construction phases to greatly improve the capability to detect and prevent interference during field construction. The result is more efficient construction operations and less rework.

The biggest improvement using CAD is better coordination of activities within an integrated process, rather than automating individual activities within the existing fragmented design/construction process. The design intent may not be fully realized in the field using traditional information flow to the field through the use of drawings and other hardcopy documents. Traditional paper-based construction documents do not permit field personnel to interact with the 3-D model to extract information that meets their needs. Communication that uses 3-D modeling coupled with improved representation of design intent and other supplemental information can help alleviate many typical construction problems associated with material availability, work packaging, construction sequencing, and field changes.

PRIVATE VERSUS PUBLIC PROJECTS

Projects may also be classified as private-sector or public-sector projects. The owner of a private-sector project is typically a business that provides goods and services for a profit. Examples include commercial retail stores, manufacturing facilities, industrial process plants, and entertainment facilities. Since the owner is a private business, the business administrators have the flexibility to choose any engineering and construction services that suit their specific needs. For example, they can competitive bid the project or select a sole source firm to provide engineering and **ç**onstruction services. They are not restricted to accepting the lowest bid for the work and can choose any form of payment for services.

The owner of public-sector projects is typically a government agency, such as city, county, state, or federal. Examples include local school boards, state highway departments, or the federal department of energy or defense. For public-sector projects the owner typically uses the competitive-hid method based on the lowest bid price for securing engineering and construction services. However, in recent years there has been an increase in qualification-based selection (QBS) for securing engineering and construction services based on specific qualifications and other factors, rather than only price.

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Project management requires teamwork among the three principal contracting parties. Members of the owner's team must provide the project's needs, the level of quality expected, a permissible budget, and the required schedule. **They** must also provide the overall direction of the project. The designer's team must develop a set of contract documents that meets the owner's needs, budget, required level of quality, and schedule. In addition, the work specified in the contract documents must be constructable by the contractor. The contractor's team must efficiently manage the physical work required to build the project in accordance with the contract documents.

There are numerous combinations of contract arrangements for handling a project. Figure 3-1 illustrates the fundamental arrangements in their simplest form. Each of these arrangements is briefly described in the following paragraphs.

A design/bid/build contract is commonly used for projects that have no unusual features and a well-defined scope. It is a three-party arrangement involving the owner, designer, and contractor. This method involves three steps: a complete design is prepared, followed by solicitation of competitive bids from contractors, and the award of a contract to a construction contractor to build the project. Two



FIGURE 3-1 Contracting Arrangements.

separate contracts are awarded, one to the designer and one to the contractor. Since a complete design is prepared before construction, the owner knows the project's configuration and approximate cost before commencing construction. Considerable time can be required because each step must be completed before starting the next step. Also changes during construction can be expensive because the award of the construction contract is usually based upon a lump-sum, fixed-price bid before construction, rather than during construction.

A design/build contract is often used to shorten the time required to complete a project or to provide flexibility for the owner to make changes in the project during construction. It is a two-party arrangement between the owner and the designlbuild firm. Since the contract with the designlbuild firm is awarded before starting any design or construction, a cost-reimbursable arrangement is normally used instead of a lump-sum, fixed-cost arrangement. This method requires extensive involvement of the owner for decisions that are made during the selection of design alternatives and the monitoring of costs and schedules during construction.

A construction management (CM) contract can be assigned to a CM firm to coordinate the project for the owner. The CM contract is a four-party arrangement involving the owner, designer, CM firm, and contractor. During the past twenty years there has been considerable debate regarding the CM process and the amount of responsibility assigned to the CM firm by the owner. The basic CM concept is that the owner assigns a contract to a firm that is knowledgeable and capable of coordinating all aspects of the project to meet the intended use of the project by the owner. The CM method of contracting is discussed further in Chapter 11.

An owner/agent arrangement is sometimes used for handling a project. Some owners perform part of the design with in-house personnel and contract the balance of design to one or more outside design consultants. Construction contracts may be assigned to one contractor or to multiple contractors. Although uncommon, an owner may perform all design and construction activities with in-house personnel. When a project is handled in this manner, it is sometimes referred to as a forceaccount method.

There are two general types of owners: single-builder owners and multiplebuilder owners. Single-builder owners are organizations that do not have a need for projects on a repetitive basis, normally have a limited project staff, and contract all design and construction activities to outside organizations. They usually handle projects with a design/bid/build or construction management contract.

Multiple-builder owners are generally large organizations that have a continual need for projects, and generally have a staff assigned to project work. They typically will handle small-sized, short-duration projects by design/bid/build. For a project in which they desire extensive involvement, a design/build, construction management, or owner/agent contract arrangement is often used.

An owner can select a variety of ways to handle a project. The contract arrangement that is selected depends on the resources available to the owner, the amount of project control the owner wishes to retain, the amount of involvement desired by the owner, the amount of risk that is shared between the owner and contractor, and the importance of cost and schedule.

PHASES OF A PROJECT

A project is in a continual state of change as it progresses from its start, as a need by the owner, through design development and, finally, construction. Figure 3-2 shows the various phases during the life of a project. As the project moves from one phase to another, additional parties become involved and more information is obtained to



Work in Place

Project Close Out System Testing, Final Inspection, As-Built Drawings better identify scope, budget, and schedule. There are times when a project recycles through a phase before gaining management approval to proceed to the subsequent phase. During each phase, it is the responsibility of the project manager to keep all work within the approved scope, budget, and schedule.

In the early phases of design development, there may not be sufficient information to define the scope accurately enough to know the work to be performed. A characteristic of most project managers is "I can do it." This characteristic often leads to assignment of work to the project manager before the work is completely defined or officially approved. This applies to the project manager in either the owner, designer, or contractor organization. The people who work around the project manager include clients, subordinates, project team members, upper management, and colleagues who are themselves project managers. A project manager cannot efficiently utilize his or her time or effectively manage when special requests are made for work that is not well defined. If these conditions exist, the work should be performed on a time and material basis for actual work accomplished, until an adequate scope, budget, and schedule can be determined. Another option is to define a scope, with a matching budget and schedule. Then when there is a deviation from the defined scope, the project manager can advise the owner of the readjusted budget and schedule caused by the change in scope and obtain the owner's approval before proceeding with the work.

During the development of conceptual configurations and alternatives, the quality and total cost of the project must be considered. This can only be achieved through extensive input from the owner who will ultimately use the project, since the cost to operate and maintain the facility after completion is a major factor in project design. Sometimes the budget is a controlling factor, which causes the owner's contemplated scope to be reduced, or expanded. If this condition exists, care must be exercised to ensure the project meets the minimum needs of the owner and there is a clear understanding of the level of quality that is expected by the owner. It is the duty of the project manager to ensure that project development meets the owner's expectations.

The owner's authorization to proceed with final design places pressure on the designer to complete the contract documents at the earliest possible date. However, the quality and completeness of the bid documents have a great influence on the cost of the project. Adequate time should be allocated to the designer to produce a design for the project that is constructable and will perform for the owner with the least amount of maintenance and operating costs.

For large projects the procurement of bulk material and special equipment has a large impact on the construction schedule. The project manager must ensure that long lead-time purchase items are procured. This must be coordinated with the owner's representative on the project team.

The type of contract chosen and the contractors selected to bid the project influence cost, schedule, and quality. The project manager plays an important role in process of qualifying of contractors, the evaluation of bids, and recommendations of the award of construction contracts.

OWNER'S STUDY

A project starts as a need by the owner for the design and construction of a facility to produce a product or service. The need for a facility may be recognized by an operating division of the owner, a corporate planning group, a top executive, a board of directors, or an outside consulting firm. Generally one or more persons within the owner's organization are assigned to perform a needs assessment to study the merits of pursuing the project.

The first requirement of the owner is objective setting. This is important because it provides a focus for scope definition, guides the design process, and influences the motivation of the project team. The process of setting objectives involves an optimization of quality, cost, and schedule. The owner's objectives must be clearly communicated and understood by all parties and serve as a benchmark for the numerous decisions that are made throughout the duration of the project.

The magnitude of the owner's study varies widely, depending on the complexity of a project and the importance of the project to the owner. It is an important study because the goals, objectives, concepts, ideas, budgets, and schedule that are developed will greatly influence the design and construction phases.

The owner's study must conclude with a well-defined set of project objectives and needs, the minimum requirements of quality and performance, an approved maximum budget, and a required project completion date. Failure to provide any of the above items starts a project in the wrong direction and leads to future problems. Sometimes an owner will contract parts of the study to an outside consulting firm. If an outside firm is utilized, the owner must still be involved to be certain his or her needs are represented.

The thoroughness and completeness of the owner's study has a significant impact on total project cost. An inadequately defined project scope leads to changes during design and/or construction. An incomplete scope leads to costly change orders and, frequently, to claims and disputes which lead to major cost overruns, delays, and other problems. Experienced managers agree the time to achieve savings and reduce changes is in the early life of the project, not at the start of construction. This concept is illustrated in Figure 3-3.

OWNER'S NEEDS AND PROJECT OBJECTIVES

An owner must know his or her needs and objectives before any productive project work can be started. If the owner doesn't know what the project requires, then no one knows what to do. Defining owner needs is the first step in a broad range of preproject activities that lead to scope definition. A project manager cannot form the project team to execute the project without a clear scope definition.

The pmcess of identifying owner needs and objectives requires the involvement of a wide range of people within the owner's organization. This includes top managers and investors, financial personnel, and in particular the people who will use and/or operate the project after it is constructed. The process of identifying owner needs and objectives usually involves numerous activities and discussions. It is important that "what is needed be separated from "what is wanted." Without



FIGURE 3-3



constraints of cost and schedule, focus easily shifts from what is needed to what is wanted. This makes a project unaffordable and non-feasible. Because there are always constraints of cost and schedule, the owner must develop a project definition based upon need. This process involves an optimization of quantity, quality, cost, and schedule.

Members of the owner's organization must realize that it is their responsibility to resolve all issues related to project needs and objectives before assigning the project to the project manager. It is not the duty of the project manager or the project team Io define the owner needs. Vague owner needs lead to project changes, scope growth, cost overruns, rework, and misunderstandings among **teem** members. The best way to determine needs, and information related to needs, is to talk to the people who will use the facility after it is constructed.

The following paragraphs present a hypothetical example of the development of an owner's needs. An owner may define a company goal of centralization of its operations to streamline operating efficiency. To achieve this goal, company management may set the objective of consolidating the service facility of each of its five operating districts into a single location. Thus, there is a need to design and build a service facility that will serve the **five** operating districts. Key people, from each district, must meet and agree on what is needed in a facility that satisfies the intended usage by each operating district. Negotiations between the people should focus on what is best overall for the company in order to achieve efficiency of operations, which is the company's goal. Compromise is often necessary to separate "what is needed" from "what is wanted." The end result should be a facility that meets the needs of all five districts and can be operated more efficiently than five separate service facilities. For example, agreement may be reached that the owner needs a facility consisting of three buildings: an employee's office building, a warehouse, and a maintenance shop. Additionally, an outside heavy equipment and bulk materials storage area may be needed. These minimum requirements of the facility then initiate the process of project definition and scope.

A part of the owner's needs and objectives study is assessment of the total project budget because management generally will not approve starting the design of a project unless the probable total cost is known. The project budget at this stage of development is based on parameter costs, such as cost per square foot of building or cost per acre of site development. If the anticipated project cost exceeds the amount that management is willing to approve, then it is necessary to reduce the scope of work. For example, the employee's office building and maintenance shop may be retained in the project and the warehouse eliminated. This decision would be made if the warehouse is the lowest priority of the three buildings. Consideration would be given to adding the warehouse at a future date when funds are available, after completion of the site-work, the employee's office building, and the maintenance shop. The project management of this type of project is further discussed in Chapters 6, 8, 9 and Appendix A.

PROJECT SCOPE DEFINITION

Project scope identifies those items and activities that are required to meet the needs of the owner. For example, a project may need three buildings consisting of an employee's office building, a warehouse, and a maintenance shop. In addition, the project may need a crushed aggregate area for storage of heavy equipment and bulk materials. Each of the above items should be defined in further detail, such as number of employees in each building, type and amount of storage needed in the warehouse, type of maintenance required, and size and weight of equipment. This type of information is needed by the project manager and team to define the work required to meet the owner's needs and objectives.

The purpose of project scope definition is to provide sufficient information to identify the work to be performed, to allow the design to proceed without significant changes that may adversely affect the project budget and schedule. Just to state that a project consists of three buildings and an outside storage area is not enough information to start the design phase. To assist the owner in this effort, a comprehensive check list of items should be prepared. Table 3-1 is an abbreviated check list for project scope definition of a petrochemical project. The table is provided for illustrative purposes only and does not include all the items that should be considered. A similar check list should be prepared for other types of projects. Experienced design and construction personnel can provide valuable input to assist an owner in the development of a check list for project scope.

Before design is started, scope must adequately define deliverables, that is, what will be furnished. Examples of deliverables are design drawings, specifications, assistance during bidding, construction inspection, record drawings, and reimbursable expenses. All this information must be known before starting design because it affects the project budget and schedule. To accomplish this, the project manager from the design organization must be involved early in the project; and he or she will require input from experienced technical people to represent every aspect of the proposed project.

TABLE **3-1** ABBREVIATED CHECK LIST FOR PROJECT SCOPE DEFINITION OF A PETROCHEMICAL PROJECT

1. General

- 1.1 Size of plant capacity
- 1.2 Process units to be included
- 1.3 Type of plant feedstock
- 1.4 Products to be made, initial and future
- 1.5 Should plant be designed for minimum investment
- 1.6 Horizontal vs. stacked arrangement of equipment
- 1.7 Layout and provisions for future expansion
- 1.8 Any special relationships (e.g., involvements of other companies)

2. Site information

- 2.1 Access to transportation: air, waterway, highway, railway
- 2.2 Access to utilities: water, sewer, electrical, fire protection
- 2.3 Climate conditions: moisture, temperature, wind
- 2.4 Soil conditions: surface, subsurface, bearing capacity
- 2.5 Terrain: special precautions for adjacent property
- 2.6 Acquisition of land: purchase, lease, expansion potential
- 2.7 Space available for construction

3. Buildings

- 3.1 Number, types, and size of each
- 3.2 Occupancy: number of people, offices, laboratories
- 3.3 Intended usage: offices, conferences, storage, equipment
- 3.4 Special heating and cooling requirements
- 3.5 Quality of finish work and furnishings
- 3.6 Landscaping requirements
- 3.7 Parking requirements

4. Regulatory requirements

- 4.1 Permits: construction, operation, environmental, municipal
- 4.2 Regulations and codes: local, state, federal
- 4.3 Safety: detection systems, fires, emergency power
- 4.4 Environmental: air, liquids, solids, wetlands
- 4.5 Preservations restrictions

A realistic budget and schedule cannot be determined for a project without a well-defined scope of work. Thus, the project scope should be developed first, then a project budget and schedule developed that matches the scope. It is the responsibility of all project managers to keep all work within the approved scope, and all costs and schedule within approved limits.

There are times when an owner may become excited about the merits of a project and anxious to begin work as soon as possible. This usually occurs when a new product is developed or a government official decides a facility should be built at a particular time or location. The project manager must thoroughly review the project scope and be certain that it is sufficiently well defined before starting work on the project. If this is not done, the project team is forced into defining scope while work is being performed, which leads to frustration and adverse relationships. The simple solution to this problem is to lock in the scope at the beginning of the project, before starting work, to make certain all parties know the full extent of the required work.

PROJECT STRATEGY

In the early stages of project development the owner must develop the project strategy, a plan to carry out tasks in a timely manner. Project strategy forms the framework for handling the project. It includes the contracting strategy, the roles and responsibilities of the project team, and the schedule for design, procurement, and construction.

Contract strategy identifies the overall organizational structure and the allocation of risk among the contracting parties. In the early stages of project development the owner must decide the work that can be performed by in-house personnel and the work that must be contracted to outside organizations. The owner may have a large engineering staff that can handle the entire project: design, procurement, and construction. In other cases the owner may only have a limited staff for projects, which requires the assignment of contracts to outside organizations that have the capability to **perform** the necessary work.

Although a large organization may have the in-house capability, it may not be **able** to schedule the work when it is needed due to prior commitments. The owner's organization must make a realistic assessment of the work that can be accomplished in-house and an outside firm's capability to perform the work, and then evaluate the cost and schedule trade-offs of purchasing outside services.

The type of contract chosen defines the allocation of responsibilities and risks for each party and influences the project schedule. If a fast-track schedule is important in order to obtain an early return on the project investment, then a cost-plus-fee contracting strategy may be desirable. Government projects of an emergency nature are sometimes handled in this manner. If there is ample time to complete the entire design, a traditional design/bid/build approach with a lump-sum contract may be desirable. The owner must evaluate all possibilities, identify the advantages and disadvantages, and consider what best meets his or her needs, objectives, budget constraints, and schedule requirements.

The project strategy includes a schedule for the timing of design, procurement, and construction tasks. The purpose of the owner's schedule is to identify and interface overall project activities: design, procurement, and construction. A workable schedule must be developed that integrates the activities of all parties involved in the project. Any change in the project schedule should be approved by all parties.

SELECTION OF DESIGN FIRMS AND CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTORS

Selection of the designer and constructor varies depending on many factors including the type, size, and complexity of the project; the owner's knowledge in handling engineering and construction projects, and how soon the owner wants the project completed. The method of selection depends on the owner's project strategy and the contract arrangement chosen by the owner. When the owner plans to complete all the design before selecting a construction contractor, then a procedure must be initiated for selecting the designer. Typically, an owner selects a designer that he or she has used before and with which he or she has had a satisfactory experience. For private-sector projects, owners can simply choose their preferred designer or they may desire to obtain proposals from several design organizations that they have used in the past. A request for proposal (RFP) is issued to the prospective designers who then each prepare a design proposal as discussed in Chapter 7. After the design organizations have submitted their proposals, the owner can review and evaluate the proposals and make a decision for award of the design contract. For public-sector projects, selection of the designer depends on the policies and restrictions of the owner's organization. Generally, designers are selected from a list of prequalified firms. Chapter 5 presents methods of compensation for professional design services.

If the owner has no prior experience in working with designers, a procedure must be established to select the designer. After the owner has studied the proposed project and its need for design services, a list of prospective design organizations is identified. Often the list is compiled based on recommendations of other owners or those acquainted with design firms who are known to have the expertise required to design the project. Generally the list consists of at least three design firms that appear to be best qualified for the particular project. Each design firm is sent a letter that briefly describes the proposed project and inquires about its interest in the project. Upon receipt of confirmation that the design firm is interested in the project, the owner then conducts a separate interview of each design firm. At the interview the owner reviews the qualifications and records of the firm to assess its capability to complete the work within the allotted time and to review specific key personnel that would be assigned to the project. It is important for the owner to meet the specific people who will be performing the design work to ensure compatibility of personalities.

Typically after all interviews are conducted, the owner lists the design firms in the order of their desirability, taking into account their location, reputation, size, experience, financial stability, available personnel, quality of references, work load, and other factors related to the proposed **project**. Based on the evaluation, one or more additional interviews of the top design firms may be conducted before a decision is made on the final selection.

If the design is 100% complete, the owner may issue requests for bids (RFB) to construction contractors. For most private-sector projects the contract documents generally state that selection of the construction contractor will be based on the lowest and best bid. Typically for public-sector projects the contract documents state the selection of the construction contractor will be based on the lowest qualified bidder. However, the lowest bid is generally the criteria for selection of a construction contractor when the design is 100% complete.

Sometimes the owner may desire to start construction before design is completed. For example, the construction contractor may be chosen after 70% design completion, or the construction contractor may be selected at the same time the designer is selected in order to take advantage of the contractor's knowledge of building the project. When the owner desires to start construction before design is complete, selection of the construction contractor cannot be made on price alone because the design documents are not completed. When the construction contractor is selected before design is completed, a procedure is established to review and evaluate prospective construction contractors similar to the procedures presented in preceding paragraphs for selection of the designer. A more detailed discussion of project delivery methods for construction is presented in Chapter 11.

PARTNERING

The competitive environment and the rigid requirements of contracts have, at times, caused adverse relationships in *the* construction industry. Traditionally, contractors and vendors have been selected on a competitive-bid basis to provide construction services, under formal contracts, to meet the requirements specified in the drawings and specifications. A short-time commitment is made for the duration of the project. Thus, contractors and vendors work themselves out of a job.

A relatively new concept called *partnering* is an approach that focuses on making long-term commitments, with mutual goals for all parties involved, to achieve mutual success. The Construction Industry Institute (CII) established a task force on partnering to evaluate the feasibility of this method of doing business in the construction industry. CIT Publication 17-1, entitled *In Search of Partnering Excellence*, is a report that discusses the research findings on partnering practices. The following paragraphs are excerpts from the report.

Partnering is a business strategy that offers many advantages to the parties involved; however, its success depends on the conduct of the parties and their ability to overcome barriers related to doing business differently than in the past. Companies agree to share resources in a long-term commitment of trust and shared vision, with an agreement to cooperate to an unusually high degree to achieve separate yet complementary objectives. Partnering is not to be construed as a legal "partnership" with the associated joint liabilities.

The first known partnering relationship in the construction industry was between an oil company and a contractor. The owner approached the contractor and proposed that some of the existing engineering blanket work be accomplished using a new set of relationships and accountabilities. Hence, both agreed to enter into a "partnering relationship" to perform multiple projects in different locations. The services provided by the contractor included project-execution related services, while the owner provided technical assurance and approved only primary funding documents and scoping documents developed by the contractor. Twenty-five different projects were performed with this relationship.

From a contractual point of view, this first partnering relationship differed from traditional contracts because the bureaucratic procedures were removed and all issues were open for negotiations. In this relationship the owner agreed to carry the financial burden of any risks that might occur during the duration of the relationship. The parties agreed to set performance evaluation criteria for major areas that were important to the projects. An incentive system based on the performance criteria was utilized, including monetary awards given by the owner to the contractor for doing a good job. Contractor incentives to employees included both monetary and non-monetary incentives.

A cultural change is required by all parties in a partnering relationship. The three key elements of any successful partnering relationship are trust, long-term commitment, and shared vision. As these three elements are developed, other subelements are achieved and the benefits to all parties are maximized. Both customer and supplier can profit from reduced overhead and work load stability. Competitive advantage is enhanced through improved cost, quality, and schedule. Growth and balance ate important to the continual improvement of the partnering agreement. For example, in developing long-term commitment, a partnering agreement may grow from single to multiple projects. Likewise, trust may evolve from competitive bidding through complete disclosure of project costs in a cost-plus relationship. Shared vision can expand to open sharing and mutual development of business objectives.

The CII publication discusses applications of partnering to small businesses and projects, guidelines on selecting partners, and guidelines for implementing a partnering relationship.

QUESTIONS FOR CHAPTER 3—PROJECT INITIATION

- 1 There are many contractual arrangements for handling a project. This chapter describes the arrangements in four basic forms: design/bid/build, design/build, construction management, and owner/agent. Describe the advantages and disadvantages of each of these arrangements, considering factors such as the cost, time, and level of involvement desired by the owner of the project.
- 2 Review one of the references at the end of this chapter, or choose another reference, and briefly describe the many forms of construction management that are currently being used in the engineering and construction industry.
- **3** The various phases for development of a project are shown in Figure 3-2. Review each phase and identify the party that most likely would be involved in performing the work of the phase, and the party whose work will be most influenced by the results of the phase. Identify parties as one of the following: owner, consultant to the owner, designer, construction manager, or construction contractor.
- 4 A part of the owner's study is defining the requirements of the project. Identify and describe methods that can be used to assist an owner with this important study assuming that the owner does not have the expertise to perform the study.
- 5 Review the list of references at the end of this chapter and summarize the process of setting project objectives to assure the successful completion of a project.
- 6 Describe the differences between project objectives and project scope definition. Define the interactive role of the owner and designer in this process to ensure a well-defined understanding between the two parties.
- 7 Review published articles that describe the concept and process of partnering, and list major differences between partnering and traditional methods of contracting strategies.

REFERENCES

- 1 Barrie, D. S. and Paulson, B. C., *Professional Construction Management*, 3rd ed., McGraw-Hill, Inc., New York, 1992.
- 2 Barrie, D. S., Directions in Managing Construction, Wiley, New York, 1981.
- **3** Haltenhoff, C. E., *Construction Management: A State-ofthe-Art Update*, Proceedings of the Construction Division, American Society of Civil Engineers, **Reston**, VA, 1986.

- 4 Haltenhoff, C. E., *The CM Contracting System—Fundamentals and Practices*, Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ, 1999.
- 5 Hancher, D. E., *In Search of Partnering Excellence*, Publication No. 17-1, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, July 1991.
- 6 Laufer, A., *Owner's Project Planning: The Process Approach*, Source Document No. 45, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, March 1989.
- 7 Organizing for Project Success, Publication No. 12-2, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, February 1991.
- 8 Rowings, J. E., *Project Objective Setting*, Publication 12-1, Source Document No. 31, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, April 1989.
- 9 Scope Definition and Control, Publication No. 6-2, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, July 1986.
- **10** *Standard CM Services and Practice*, Construction Management Association of America, Washington, D.C., 1988.

EARLY ESTIMATES

IMPORTANCE OF EARLY ESTIMATES

For engineering and construction projects, accurate early cost estimates are extremely important to the sponsoring organization and the engineering team. For the sponsoring organization, early cost estimates are often a basis for business unit decisions, including asset development strategies, screening of potential projects, and committing resources for further project development. Inaccurate early estimates can lead to lost opportunities, wasted development effort, and lower than expected returns.

An early estimate is also important to the project team because it becomes one of the key project parameters. It helps formulate execution strategies and provides a basis to plan engineering and construction. The early estimate often serves as a baseline for identifying changes as the project progresses from design to construction. In addition, the performance of the project team and overall project success is often measured by how well the final cost compares to the early cost estimate.

CLASSIFICATION OF EARLY ESTIMATES

There are many estimates and reestimates for a project, based on the stage of project development. Estimates are performed throughout the life of a project, beginning with the first estimate through the various phases of design and into construction as shown in Figure 4-1. Initial cost estimates form the basis to which all future estimates are compared. Future estimates are often expected to agree with





FIGURE 4-2



(i.e., be equal to or less than) the initial estimates. However, too often the final project costs exceed the initial estimates.

Various names have been given to estimates by several organizations. However, there is no industry standard that has been established for defining estimates. In general, an early estimate is defined as an estimate that has been prepared after the business unit study but prior to completion of detailed design.

Individual companies define estimate names and percent variations that they use. Various organizations have also defined classifications of cost estimates. Two examples are the cost estimate classifications by the Association for Advancement of Cost Engineering (AACE) International shown in Figure 4-2 and by the Construction Industry Institute (CII) shown in Figure 4-3.

In general, an early estimate is defined as an estimate that has been prepared before completion of detailed engineering. This definition applies to class 5, class 4, and early class 3 estimates of AACE International. This definition also applies to order-of-magnitude and factored estimates described in CII publications.

Estimate	Level of project	End usage (Typical purpose of estimate)	Expected
Class 5	0% to 2%	Concept Screening	-50% to 100%
Class 4	1% to 5%	Study or Feasibility	-30% to +50%
Class 3	10% to 40%	Budget, Authorization, or Control	-20% to +30%
Class 2	30% to 70%	Control or Bid/Tender	-15% to +20%
Class 1	50% to 100%	Check Estimate or Bid/Tender	-10% to +15%

Estimate class	Percentrange	Description/methodology
Order-of-Magnitude	+/-30 to 50%	Feasibility study—cost/capacity curves
Factored Estimate	+/-25 to 30%	Major equipment—factors applied for costs
Control Estimate	+/-10 to 15%	Quantities from mech/elect/civil drawings
Detailed or Definitive	+/-<10%	Based on detailed drawings

FIGURE 4-3

Construction Industry Institute Cost Estimate Definitions (CII SD-6).

ESTIMATING WORK PROCESS

Estimating is a process, just like any endeavor that requires an end product. Information must be assembled, evaluated, documented, and managed in an organized manner. For a process to work effectively, key information must be defined and accumulated at critical times. The primary factors in preparing estimates are shown in Table 4-1.

These concepts are illustrated in the estimating work process of Figure 4-4. The **first** step in the estimating work process is alignment. Alignment between the customer and the estimating team must be established before starting an estimate. **As** discussed on the following pages alignment is accomplished by early communications to ensure a clear understanding of the customer's expectations and the estimating team's ability to meet those expectations. Close alignment helps mitigate estimate inaccuracies that can result from misunderstandings and miscommunications. **It** also enables establishment of the estimate work plan and staffing requirements. The estimate kick-off meeting provides an excellent forum for establishing alignment.

A wccessful process provides a clear understanding of the work to be performed and the products that will be produced. The level of scope definition for early estimates is low compared to later estimates. There must be a mutual understanding

TABLE 4-1

PRIMARY FACTORS IN PREPARING ESTIMATES.

- 1. Standardization of the cost estimate preparation process
- 2. Alignment of objectives between the customer and team
- 3. Selection of estimate methodology commensurate with the desired level of accuracy
- 4. Collection of project data and confirmation of historical cost information
- 5. Organizing the estimate into the desired format
- 6. Documentation and communication of estimate basis, accuracy, etc.
- 7. Review and checking of estimate
- 8. Feed-back from project implementation



FIGURE 4-4 Estimating Work Process

between the business unit and the estimator regarding the level of scope definition. The estimator must communicate to the business unit the expected range of accuracy based on the level of scope definition.

Prior to starting the estimate, a work plan for preparing the estimate should be developed. The work plan can be developed after alignment and scope definition. The estimate work plan identifies the work that is needed to prepare the estimate including who is going to do it, when it is to be done, and the budget for preparing the estimate. The plan also includes the tools and techniques that are appropriate for the level of scope definition and the expected accuracy of the estimate. The leader of the estimating team is responsible for developing the estimate work plan which is discussed in the following pages.

While preparing an estimate, there must be two-way communications between the estimating team and the party that requested the estimate. The estimating team must keep the requesting party informed of the work being performed, and the requesting party must respond to questions that may arise from the estimating team. The estimating process can assist the requesting party in identifying areas of uncertainty and additional information that may be needed or assumptions that must be made in lieu of definitive information about the project.

After the estimate is completed, a document should be prepared that defines the basis of the estimate. Estimate documentation is essential for presentation, review, and future use of the estimate. The documentation for an estimate improves communications among project participants, establishes a mechanism for estimate reviews, and forms a basis for early project cost control. The estimating team should develop a standard cost estimate presentation format that is easily understood by internal business and engineering management.

Contingency is the amount of money that must be added to the base estimate to account for risk and uncertainty. Contingency is a real and necessary component of an estimate. Assessing risk and assigning contingency to the base estimate is one of the most important tasks in preparing early estimates. Typically, risk analysis is a prerequisite to assigning contingency. Based on the acceptable risks and the expected confidence level, a contingency is established for a given estimate. The lead estimator for a project must assess the uniqueness of each project and select the technique of risk analysis that is **deemed** most appropriate.

No estimating process is complete without the continuous feed-back loops shown in Figure 4-4. To improve early estimates, the estimating process must be a continuous cycle. Actual cost information from completed projects must be captured in a feed-back system that can be integrated into the cost database for use in preparing future estimates. Lessons learned during project execution must also be documented and incorporated into estimating standards and procedures. The lessons learned during construction must be communicated back to the estimating team, to enable them to establish hetter standards for preparing future project estimates.

IMPORTANCE OF TEAM ALIGNMENT IN PREPARING EARLY ESTIMATES

Early communication between the team and the customer is essential to the success of any estimate, particularly *early* estimates. This early communication is necessary to ensure a clear understanding of the customer's expectations and the team's ability to meet those expectations. Table 4-2 is a list of benefits of team alignment.

To achieve alignment, a special effort must be made to resolve all issues that can impact the team's work and the customer's understanding of the contents of the estimate. This can be accomplished by two-way, open communications before starting the estimating process.

TABLE 4-2 BENEFITS OF TEAM ALIGNMENT.

- 1. Establishes a clear understanding between the customer and the team of the project's parameters
- 2. Assists in determining the level of effort required of the estimating team to deliver the estimate
- 3. Enables the estimating team to establish a work process and staffing plan to provide the deliverables required to meet the customer's expectations
- 4. Highlights issues that might not otherwise have been considered in the development of the estimate
- 5. Improves and documents the level of scope definition and the information that is known about the pmject
- 6. Assists the customer's understanding of what is included in the estimate and what is not included in the estimate
- 7. Establishes the responsibility of all project team members and the customer in the preparation of the estimate
- 8. Serves to establish a cohesiveness between the project team and the customer

TABLE 4-3

CRITICAL QUESTIONS FOR PREPARING EARLY ESTIMATES

- 1. How thorough is the scope definition of the project?
- 2. What level of accuracy and detail is the customer expecting?
- 3. What deliverables are required from this effort?
- 4. What decisions will be made based on this estimate?

The level of scope definition of the project is one of the key issues that must be resolved early, because the accuracy of the estimate is dependent on scope definition. The customer must provide the level of accuracy and detail that is expected in the estimate. The estimating team must clearly communicate to the customer what will be provided in the estimate. The customer must also define the required deliverable of the team and the type of decisions that will be made based on the estimate. Critical questions that must be addressed early are shown in Table 4-3.

The estimate kick-off meeting is an effective method of achieving alignment by addressing the issues shown in Table 4-4. The estimate kick-off meeting between the customer and the team provides an exchange of information regarding the customer's expectations and the team's ability to meet those expectations. Regularly scheduled progress meetings after the kick-off meeting ensure continued alignment throughout the estimating process.

Project management should initiate open communication between the customer and the team to assist in identifying and documenting the issues to be resolved. Early involvement of the customer reduces the potential of giving conflicting instructions and directions to the team. Alignment requires a cooperative effort between the team and the customer. Common pitfalls in alignment of early estimates are shown in Table 4-5.

SCOPE DEFINITION AND EARLY ESTIMATES

Good scope definition is extremely important in preparing estimates. However, early estimates are usually prepared based on very limited scope definition and scant information regarding specific needs of the proposed project.

It is common knowledge that the accuracy of any estimate depends on the amount of information that is known about the project when the estimate is prepared. Any cost estimate usually is assigned a range of accuracy (+/- percentage). These ranges narrow as the quantity and **quality** of information increase through the life of a project. This infers that estimate accuracy is a function of available information (scope definition), a generally accepted fact in engineering and construction.

During the past thirty years, numerous papers have been published, emphasizing the importance of scope definition. The lack of scope definition has been identified

TABLE 4-4

CHECK LIST OF ISSUES FOR THE ESTIMATE KICK-OFF MEETING

- 1. What are the customer's driving principles and expectations?
- 2. What is the level of scope definition of the project?
- 3. What level of accuracy and detail is the customer expecting?
- 4. What deliverables are required from this effort?
- 5. What decisions will be made based on the estimate?
- 6. Does the project have unique or unusual characteristics?
- 7. What is the estimate due date and the anticipated project start/completion date?
- 8. What level of confidentiality is required by the team?
- 9. Who are the customer's contacts with the team?
- 10. What other organizations need to interface with the team?
- 11. Are there other information sources that can aid the estimating team?
- 12. What is the budget for developing the estimate and who is paying for it?
- 13. Have similar projects/estimates been developed previously?
- 14. What customer-furnished items are to be excluded from the estimate?
- 15. What customer-furnished costs are to be included in the estimate?
- 16. Are there specific guidelines to be used in preparing the estimate?
- 17. Are there special permitting requirements that may affect the cost and schedule?
- 18. Are there any special funding requirements that might influence the final total installed cost?
- 19. Are there other issues that could affect the cost or schedule of the pmject?
- 20. What level of effort is required to meet the desired accuracy?

as the root cause of cost overruns, late completion dates, excessive rework, unnecessary disputes, poor team alignment, and other problems associated with engineering and construction projects.

It should be recognized that determining the level of scope definition is a progressive activity. It starts at the inception of the project, when the project is only an idea of the project sponsor for a product to be produced. As engineering progresses, the level of scope definition increases. Consequently, early estimates are often subject to high variability.

Although good scope definition is important in preparing estimates, the skills and experience of the project team and the estimating procedure also play an important role. Figure 4-5 illustrates the importance of having the team involved early in a

54 PROJECT MANAGEMENT FOR ENGINEERING AND CONSTRUCTION

TABLE 4-5

COMMON PITFALLS IN TEAM ALIGNMENT FOR PREPARING EARLY ESTIMATES.

- 1. Early estimates that are heavily influenced by a preconceived number developed by individuals outside the estimating team
- 2. Failure to include the business decision maker early in the estimating process
- 3. Failure to resolve issues early
- 4. Excessive constraints on the estimating team, such as inadequate time for preparing the estimate or lack of cost data
- 5. Failure to hold an estimate kick-off meeting
- 6. Failure to identify information required of the estimating team to prepare the estimate
- 7. Inadequate understanding of the expected accuracy based on the level of information, estimate methodology, or other factors that impact the estimate
- 8. Failure to identify costs and scope to be captured in the estimate
- 9. Failure to identify the scope that is not to be included in the estimate
- 10. Failure to communicate the estimating methodology to be used in preparing the estimate



FIGURE 4-5

Relative Impact of Team's Skills and Estimating Procedures on Estimate Accuracy.

project's life, when the level of scope definition is low. The business unit must rely on the experience and skills of the team to produce accurate early estimates, because early in the project the level of scope definition is low and it is often poorly defined. The estimator must address limited scope definition and clearly communicate to the customer the level of scope definition that was used in preparing the estimate.

PREPARING EARLY ESTIMATES

Issues that should be discussed, defined, and documented when preparing estimates are shown in Table 4-6. As the estimate is being prepared it is important to perform periodic "reality checks" to make sure the costs developed are within reason. Based on estimator experience and familiarity with the project, this may include

- Simple "intuitive" checks for reasonableness
- Comparisons with similar projects
- Comparisons with industry data (\$/square foot, cost/megawatt, indirect/direct costs, etc.)
- Check ratios such as lighting costs/fixture, fire protection, costs/sprinkler, etc.

Once the estimate is complete, a detailed review should be made of the entire estimate package, including the backup materials, assumptions, unit prices, and productivity rates. The estimate should also be checked against the project schedule requirements to ensure they are compatible, such as overtime rates assumed during outages, and price escalation.

ORGANIZING TO PREPARE ESTIMATES

The lead project estimator is responsible for initiating and leading the effort to develop a plan for preparing the estimate. In almost all situations, higher-quality estimates can be produced by professional cost estimators with an engineering or technical background. Like any technical specialty, estimating requires specific skills, training, and experience. Involvement of the estimating team early in the project is essential in the business development process.

TABLE **4-6**

ISSUES FOR PREPARING EARLY ESTIMATES

- 1. Work plan for preparing the estimate
- 2. Costs/scope to be included, or excluded, in this estimate
- 3. Estimating methodology, tools, and techniques
- 4. Expected accuracy of the estimate
- 5. Impact of time allowed for preparing the estimate
- 6. information needed by the estimating team to prepare the estimate
- 7. Roles and responsibilities for preparing the estimate
- 8. Format for presenting the estimate to the customer
- 9. Schedule for preparing the estimate that includes
 - a. Kick-off meeting, estimate reviews and approvals
 - b. Milestones for delivery of information and deliverables

Cost estimates for projects in the engineering and construction industry are prepared by individuals with many different job titles, responsibilities, and functions. Depending on the size and needs of each company, those preparing cost estimates may be **working** alone or as part of a group. They may be centralized in one location or in multiple locations. In some situations they may be integrated with different organizations or they may work in one homogeneous group.

There are advantages and disadvantages to centralizing or decentralizing the estimating staff. *Where* an estimate is prepared is not as important as *who* is preparing the estimate and the *process* used in preparing the estimate. It is important to implement and maintain effective control over the estimating process. Procedures must be in place for

- Disseminating knowledge and sharing expertise among the estimating staff
- Assigning and sharing the work load among estimators to improve efficiency
- Reviewing, checking, and approving work for quality control

Timely exchange of information is critical to ensure current price data, databases, and feed-back. Preparing estimates requires expertise from multiple disciplines. An effective organization includes members of key disciplines, estimators, and management personnel who are knowledgeable in estimating. An effective team must be organized to prepare, review, check, and approve the work. This same team must also capture lessons learned to improve the estimating process and improve efficiency.

ESTABLISHING AN ESTIMATE WORK PLAN

Effective management of the estimating effort requires planning, scheduling, and control. The leader of the estimating team is responsible for developing an estimate work plan for the project. The estimate work plan is a document to guide the team in preparing accurate estimates and improving the estimating process. It identifies the work that needs to be accomplished to prepare the estimate: who is going to do it, when it is to be done, and the budget for preparing the estimate.

The estimate work plan is unique for each project, based on specific project parameters and requirements. Figure 4-6 illustrates the type of information that should be included in an estimate work plan. The work plan should contain sufficient detail to allow all members of the estimating team to understand what is expected of them. After the work plan is finalized, it serves as a document to coordinate the estimating work and as a basis to control and maintain the estimating process.

In preparing early estimates, the skill level of the estimator and his or her experience with the type of facility to be estimated is extremely important. The quality of any estimate is governed by the following major considerations:

- Quality and amount of information available for preparing the estimate
- Time allocated to prepare the estimate
- · Proficiency of the estimator and the estimating team
- Tools and techniques used in preparing the estimate
| Estimate Work Plan | |
|--|----|
| Project Name: | _ |
| Project Number: | _ |
| Customer's Name: | _ |
| pe of Estimate Required | |
| Desired Level of Accuracy | |
| Level of Effort Required | |
| Deliverables of Estimate | |
| stimating Services to Be Provided | |
| Deliverables of Estimate by In-House Resource | es |
| Deliverables of Estimate by Outside Resource | s |
| udget for Preparing Estimate | |
| Anticipated work-hours for estimating staff | |
| Dollars budget for non-salary estimating work | |
| equired Staffing for Preparing Estimate | |
| Principle Estimate (leader of estimating team) | |
| In-House and Outside Resources | |
| Availability of Personnel for Staffing | |
| chedule for Preparing Estimate | |
| Anticipated Start Date | |
| Requirements of Review Date | |
| Customer Due Date | |
| stimating Methodology | |
| Tools | |
| I echnique
Mathad | |
| Recodures | |
| Procedures | |
| Lovel of Scope Definition | |
| Check Lists | |
| Review Process | |
| resentation | |
| | |
| Formation Presenting Estimate | |

FIGURE 4-6

Typical Information to be Addressed in the Estimate Work Plan.

Typically, the technical definition and the completion date for an estimate is determined by others outside of the estimating team. Therefore, these two elements may be beyond the control of the estimator. However, the estimator does have control over the selection of the tools and methodology to be used in preparing the estimate. The approach to selecting the method of estimating should be commensurate with the owner's expected level of accuracy and constraints of time.

The estimating team should develop a standard cost estimate presentation format that includes the level of detail and summary of engineering design, engineered equipment, bulk materials, construction directs and indirects, owner's costs, escalation, taxes, and contingency. Computer methods, including spreadsheets or estimating programs, provide consistent formats for preparing and presenting estimates. Uniform formats provide the following benefits:

- · Reduces errors in preparing estimates
- Enhances the ability to compare estimates of similar projects
- · Promotes a better understanding of the contents of an estimate
- · Provides an organized system for collecting future cost data

Presentation of the estimate is important. The estimating team must develop a format that is easily understood by business managers and engineering managers, as well as by external clients. Using a standard format for presentations promotes better communication among all participants in the project and a better understanding of what is included in the estimate. This understanding is necessary so good decisions can be made based on the estimate.

METHODS AND TECHNIQUES

Selection of the methods for preparing early estimates depends on the level of scope definition, time allowed to prepare the estimate, desired level of accuracy, and the intended use of the estimate. For projects in the process industry, the following methods are commonly used:

- · Cost capacity curves
- · Capacity ratios raised to an exponent
- Plant cost per unit of production
- Equipment factored estimates
- Computer-generated estimates

Cost-Capacity Curves

A cost-capacity curve is simply a **graph** that plots cost on the vertical axis and capacity on the horizontal axis. These curves are developed for a variety of individual process units, systems, and services. The minimum information needed to prepare an estimate by cost-capacity curves is the type of unit and capacity. For example, the type of unit may be a coker unit or hydrogen unit and the capacity may be barrels per day or cubic feel per hour. Examples of additional information that can enhance the quality of the estimate may include adjustments for design pressure, project location, and project schedule.

Cost-capacity curves are normally prepared by a conceptual estimating specialist who develops, maintains, and updates the cost-capacity curves on a regular basis. These curves are developed and updated utilizing return cost data from completed jobs. This information is normalized to a location, such as the U.S. Gulf Coast, and for a particular time frame expressed as a baseline, such as December of a particular year.

The estimated cost is determined by locating the capacity on the horizontal x-axis and then following a straight line up to the point of intersection with the curve. The estimated cost is then read from the vertical y-axis by a straight line from

the y-axis to the point where the x-axis intersects with the curve. The total installed cost derived from the curve may be adjusted for escalation to the present day or to some point in the future and may be further adjusted to reflect other geographic locations.

Example 4-1

The figure shows cost-capacity curves for process units in a chemical plant. What is the estimated cost for a project that has a process unit C with a capacity of 6,000 barrels per day?



Locating the 6,000 barrels per day capacity along the abscissa, draw a vertical line upward until it intersects the process unit C cost curve. Then, draw a horizontal line to the left to read the estimated cost as \$153,000.

Capacity Ratios Raised to an Exponent

Capacity ratios raised to an exponent is another estimating technique for conceptual estimating. This approach takes into account the effect of economy of scale on the total installed cost. For example, if the cost of process unit B with capacity B is known, then the estimated cost of process unit A is calculated by multiplying the cost of process unit B times the ratio of the process unit capacities raised to an exponent (X) as shown in the following equation:

Cost of process unit $\mathbf{A} = (\text{Cost of process unit } \mathbf{B}) \times \left(\frac{\text{Capacity of process unit } \mathbf{A}}{\text{Capacity of process unit } \mathbf{B}}\right)^X$

Essentially, this method is a mathematical solution to the cost-capacity curves presented earlier in this section, which was a graphical technique. The exponent represented by X is mathematically derived from historical records from completed projects. It represents the non-linear relationship between cost with size, based on economies of scale.

Historical data can be captured from completed projects and a least-squares fit of the data or other methods of curve fitting can be used to determine an appropriate value of X for similar types of projects. Thus, the exponent distinguishes the curve of one process unit from another. Typically the range of the exponent X is between 0.55 and 0.88, depending on the type of process unit. When utilizing this equation to develop a cost estimate, if the exponent for the particular process unit is unknown, an exponent of 0.6 is used, which represents a standard or typical exponent for process plants.

Example 4-2

The cost of a 320 cubic feet per hour (ft^3/h) process unit is \$675,000. From historical cost records, the capacity ratio exponent of a process unit is 0.72. Estimate the cost of a similar process unit with a capacity of 450 ft³k.

Cost of process unit A = (Cost of process unit B) × $\left(\frac{\text{Capacity of process unit A}}{\text{Capacity of process unit B}}\right)^{-72}$ = (\$670,000) × $\left(\frac{450 \text{ ft}^3/\text{h}}{320 \text{ ft}^3/\text{h}}\right)^{0.72}$ = (\$675,000) × (1.2782183)

= \$862,797

Plant Cost per Unit of Production

This conceptual estimating technique is used to estimate the total plant cost based on the average plant costs per unit of production on previously completed projects. This is a very simple and broad estimating approach where the only information available is the product description and the plant capacity. For example, cost records may show the average cost per unit for cogeneration facilities to be \$1,000 per kilowatt (\$1,000/kW) of production. Thus, for a future 300-megawatt (MW) cogeneration facility, the estimated cost would be calculated by multiplying the \$1,000/kW times the 300 MW of power to derive a total estimated cost of \$300,000,000.

This estimating technique assumes that the relationship between plant cost and production capacity is linear and, therefore, would apply best within a fairly narrow range. Ideally, average plant costs per unit of production capacity are best developed over various capacity ranges so that the estimator can select the relationship that is applicable for his or her estimate. This method of preparing early estimates is similar to the square-foot estimating method used for projects in the building sector. The total estimated cost of a particular building project is determined by multiplying the average cost per square foot of previous projects by the total square feet in the proposed building.

Equipment Factored Estimates

For the process industry, equipment factored estimates are derived by applying various factoring techniques to estimated equipment costs. The factors used are developed and updated utilizing return cost data from completed projects. This information is normalized to a location, usually the U.S. Gulf Coast, and for a particular time frame, such as December of a particular year. The estimated total installed cost of a normalized unit is defined to include the following costs:

- Direct equipment costs
- Direct bulk material costs
- Subcontract costs
- Construction labor costs
- Construction indirect costs
- Home office services costs

One example of the factoring technique is the "equipment cost" to "total installed cost" factor (TIC). This factoring technique is relatively simple for projects where equipment costs have been estimated. As the name implies, TIC factors are developed by dividing the equipment costs of a particular process unit into the total installed cost of that unit. The estimated cost of the project is determined by multiplying the equipment costs by the TIC factor, or multiplier. The factors for process plants generally range between 2.5 to 6.0, depending on the nature of the process unit. Conditions that affect the equipment to TIC factors are

- · Equipment sizes
- Pressure
- Metallurgy
- Degree of prefabrication
- Site conditions
- Equipment costs
- Special conditions (large structures, pits, buildings, etc.)
- Explanation of engineering costs included

Another equipment factored estimating technique develops equipment costs manually or by utilizing commercially available computer software systems. Bulk material costs are factored from the estimated equipment costs, using historical cost data for the same or similar type units. Field labor work-hours are estimated for each individual equipment item, and the work-hours for installing bulk materials are estimated as a percentage of the bulk material costs for each category of materials. The resultant field labor work-hours are adjusted for productivity and labor costs by applying local labor rates to the estimated construction work-hours. Construction indirect costs are developed for the major categories by percentages of direct labor costs. Home office costs are **estimated** as a percentage of the total installed cost. The equipment factored estimating techniques described can be utilized when there is sufficient technical definitions available consisting of the following:

- · Process flow diagram
- Equipment list
- Equipment specifications
- Project location
- General site conditions (assumed if not specified)
- Construction labor information
- Project schedule

Computer-GeneratedEstimates

There are numerous commercially available computer software systems for estimating capital costs for a number of different types of industries, including the process industry, building construction industry, and the heavy/highway infrastructure industries. These systems can be simple or very sophisticated. Most of the software packages can operate on a personal computer and are furnished with a cost database, which is updated on an annual basis. The more flexible systems allow the purchaser to customize the database.

Sophisticated software packages are available to assist the estimator in generating detailed material quantities as well as equipment and material costs, construction work-hours and costs, field indirects and engineering work-hours and costs. The detailed quantity and cost output allows early project control, which is essential in the preliminary phases of a project, before any detail engineering has started. The accuracy of an estimate can be improved because some systems allow vendor costs, takeoff quantities, project specifications, site conditions, etc., to be introduced into the program. To maximize the benefits of these software programs, the use of system defaults should be minimized and replaced with the following definitions:

- Specifications, standards, basic practices, and procurement philosophy
- · Engineering policies
- Preliminary plot plans (if available) and information relating to pipe-rack, structures, buildings, automation and control philosophy, etc.
- Adequate scope definition
- Site and soil conditions
- · Local labor conditions relating to cost, productivity, and indirect costs
- Subcontract philosophy

To become proficient in the use of computer software programs, frequent usage is required, and the user should compare the computer-generated results with other estimating techniques to determine the limitations and shortcomings of the programs. Once the shortcomings are known, corrective action to eliminate or minimize the shortcomings can be taken. To maximize the benefits of the use of software systems in developing early estimates, the following should be considered:

- Index or benchmark the unit costs and installation work-hours in the computer software's databases to match the company's cost databases.
- Establish system defaults that correspond to the company's engineering and design standards.
- Create a program that allows conversion of the output of the software programs to the company's account codes and format.

By adopting the above recommendations, confidence in the output of estimating software systems will improve. This will result in more consistency and reliability of computer-generated estimates.

There are other non-commercial computer software systems that are used in preparing early estimates, in particular spreadsheet programs. Some of these systems, although not commercially available, have been developed by owner/operator companies and contractors.

ESTIMATE CHECK LISTS

Check lists are valuable tools to reduce the potential of overlooking a cost item. Check lists act as reminders to the estimator by

- · Listing information required to prepare the early estimate
- Listing miscellaneous other costs that may be required in the estimate
- Listing the project scope that may be required but not identified in the definition provided for the estimate

A listing of information required to prepare an estimate in the process industry may include type of unit, feed capacity, and project location. For a **computer**generated estimate, the required information includes soil and site data, building requirements, plot plan dimensions, and other specific engineering requirements. For projects in the building sector, a listing of information to prepare an estimate may include type of building, functional use of building, number of occupants, and project location.

Typical examples of miscellaneous cost items for projects in the process industry may include spare parts, catalyst and chemicals, permits, and training. Typical scope items that may be required, but not identified in the definition provided for the estimate, may include certain utility and auxiliary systems. Examples are special steam systems, refrigeration, lube and seal oil systems, and flare systems.

Check lists are useful during initial clientlcustomer meetings where they serve as agenda items for discussion. Check lists also assist the estimator in preparing an estimate **work** plan by identifying important points to emphasize in the write-up for the execution of the estimate. Table 4-7 is an illustrative example of an early estimate check list for a project in the process industry.

ESTIMATE DOCUMENTATION

Effective communication is necessary during the estimating process. A support document should be developed and available for presentation, review, and future use of

TABLE 4-7 CHECK LIST FOR AN EARLY ESTIMATE IN THE PROCESS INDUSTRY.

- 1. Process unit description (delayedcoker, hydrogen plant, etc.)
- 2. Process licenser
- 3. Feed capacity
- 4. Production capacity
- 5. Product yield
- 6. Utility levels at process unit location
- 7. Feedstock specifications
- 8. Integration of multiple units
- 9. Process pressure and temperature operating levels
- 10. Provision for future expansion of capacity
- 11. Provision for processing multiple or different feedstocks
- 12. Single train vs. multi-train concept
- 13. Project location
- 14. Miscellaneous costs (spare parts, training, chemicals, etc.)
- 15. Other items, such as unusually high or low recycle rate

the estimate. A thorough documentation of the estimate forms a baseline for project control, so decisions during project execution can be made with a better awareness of the budget, thereby improving the overall outcome of the project.

Inaccurate cost estimates are often the result of omissions in the estimate, miscommunications of project information, or non-aligned assumptions. Documenting the estimate will minimize these inaccuracies by

- Improving communications among all project participants
- · Establishing a mechanism for review of the estimate
- Forming a solid basis for project controls

As the estimate is being developed, the act of preparing documentation facilitates communications among the parties involved: estimators, scope developers, project managers, and customers. Estimate documentation improves the outcome of the estimate through

- · Sharing information
- · Identifying items that require clarification
- · Helping the estimator obtain and organize information needed for the estimate
- Avoiding confusion over what is covered and not covered by the estimate
- · Providing useful information for future estimates
- · Highlighting weak areas of the estimate
- Increasing the credibility of the estimate

A portion of the documentation may be developed by sources other than the estimator. For example, written scopes are developed by those who are defining the project, quotes may be obtained by procurement personnel, and labor information may be obtained from field personnel. However, the estimator has overall

TABLE 4-8 RECOMMENDED DOCUMENTATION OF EARLY ESTIMATES.

- 1. Standard format for presenting cost categories (codes)-summary and backup levels
- 2. Basis of estimate-clear understanding of what constitutes the estimate
- 3. Level of accuracy--expected for the estimate
- 4. Basis for contingency-risk analysis, if applicable
- 5. Boundaries of the estimate-limitations of the estimate
- 6. Scope of work-the level of scope definition used in preparing the estimate
- 7. Labor rates breakdown and basis of labor rate
- 8. Assumed quantities conceptualized, etc.
- 9. Applied escalation--dates and basis of escalation
- 10. Work schedule shifts, overtime, etc., to match the milestones (not contradictory)
- 11. Other backup information--quotes, supporting data, assumptions
- 12. Check lists used-a list of completed check lists
- 13. Description of cost categories-codes used in preparing the estimate
- 14. Excluded costs-list of items excluded from the cost estimate

responsibility for collecting and organizing this information. Reviewing and clarifying the information with the originator improves the estimate accuracy.

A standard default format or outline should be developed to organize and prepare documentation for the cost estimates. A different standard can be developed for different types of estimates. The process of developing, utilizing, and storing the documentation for future use should be built into the cost estimate work process. The items that should be documented are shown in Table 4-8.

ESTIMATE REVIEWS

Well-executed estimate reviews will increase the credibility and accuracy of the estimate. They also help the team and project management to know the level of scope definition and the basis of the estimate. The review of estimates is an important part of the estimating process because it helps the customer to understand the contents and level of accuracy of the estimate, allowing the customer to make better business decisions.

The number of reviews will vary depending on the size of the project, type of estimate, length of time allowed for preparing the estimate, and other factors. For any estimate, there should be at least two reviews: an internal review during development of the estimate and a final review at or near the completion of the estimate.

About halfway through the development of the estimate, a "reality check" should be scheduled. The purpose of the midpoint check is to avoid spending unnecessary time and money in pursuing an estimate that may be unrealistic or based on assumptions that are no longer valid.

The internal midpoint estimate review is brief. Typically the lead estimator, engineer, and project manager are involved. There may be times when it is advantageous to include the customer. This review is intended as a reality check of the data being developed to assess whether to proceed with the estimate. This is a "go-no-go" point where the results of the review will guide the estimator and the team to one of the following two steps:

- 1 Recycle back to the scope of work because the capital or scope have gotten outside of the boundaries established as a target for the project.
- 2 Give the team the "go ahead to proceed with the remaining estimate process to complete the estimate.

The final estimate review is a more structured process. The depth of the review depends on the type or class of estimate that is being prepared. The meeting is intended to validate assumptions used in preparing the estimate, such as construction sequence, key supplier selection, and owner's cost. Engineering and the customer must accept ownership of the scope that is represented in the estimate.

The final estimate review may be a lengthy meeting. For a final estimate review, the attendees should include the lead estimator, process engineer, discipline engineer, operations/maintenance representative, engineering manager, and constructability leader. To be effective, the final estimate review meeting should be conducted with a written agenda. The meeting should be documented with written minutes that are distributed to all attendees. The estimator must come to the review meeting prepared with the following information for comparisons:

- · Historical data used in preparing the estimate
- Actual total installed costs (TIC) of similar projects
- Percent of TIC on key cost accounts

Comparisons of the estimate with the above information provide useful indicators for the estimate review. The estimator needs to assess each estimate to determine the appropriate checks that should be included in an estimate review meeting.

In some situations it may be desirable to use outside assistance for estimate reviews. For example, it may be helpful to obtain a review of the estimate by an experienced peer group to validate assumptions, key estimate accounts, construction sequence, potential omissions, etc. In other situations, it may be advantageous to engage a third party to perform an independent review. This will provide a check to compare the estimate with past similar estimates from the perspective of a different team.

Estimate reviews should focus on the big picture and follow Pareto's law, separating the significant few from the trivial many. Generally an estimate is prepared bottoms up, whereas the review is conducted top down. Table 4-9 is an illustrative example of presentation items for review of an early estimate for a project in the process industry.

RISK ASSESSMENT

Assessing risk and assigning contingency to the base estimate is one of the most important tasks in preparing early estimates. Risk assessment is not the sole responsibility of the estimators. Key members of the project management team must provide

TABLE 4-9 PRESENTATION ITEMS FOR REVIEW OF AN EARLY ESTIMATE IN THE PROCESS INDUSTRY.

- 1. Product mix, volume, and quality requirements
- 2. Facility location
- 3. Scope of work
- 4. Simplified flow sheet
- 5. Key assumptions used
- 6. Major undecided alternatives
- 7. Historical data used
- 8. Estimate exclusions
- 9. Estimator's experience and track record
- 10. Check lists used to prepare estimate

input on critical issues that should be addressed by the estimators in assessing risk. Risk assessment requires a participatory approach with involvement of all project stakeholders including the business unit, engineering, construction, and the estimating team.

The business unit is responsible for overall project funding and for defining the purpose and intended use of the estimate. Engineering design is responsible for providing input on the design criteria and factors that are susceptible to changes that may impact the cost of the project. The estimator is responsible for converting the information from the business unit and engineering into an appropriate procedure for assessing risk and assigning contingency. The estimator must communicate the risk, contingency, and level of accuracy that can be expected of the final estimate.

RISK ANALYSIS

Typically, risk analysis is a prerequisite to assigning contingency. Based on the acceptable risks and the expected confidence level, a contingency is established for a given estimate. Risk analysis and the resultant amount of contingency help the business unit to determine the level of economic risk involved in pursuing a project. The purpose of risk analysis is to improve the accuracy of the estimate and to instill management's confidence in the estimate.

Since the owner's organization has overall project funding responsibility, it must consider both the contractor's and owner's risks. The owner's contingency should cover the entire project risk, after adjusting for any risk already covered by contractors.

Numerous publications have been written to define risk analysis techniques. Generally, a formal risk analysis involves **either** a Monte **Carlo** simulation or a statistical range analysis. There are also numerous software packages for risk analysis. The lead estimator for a project must assess the uniqueness of each project and select the technique of risk analysis that is deemed most appropriate. For very early estimates, the level of scope definition and the amount of estimate detail may be inadequate for performing a meaningful cost simulation.

CONTINGENCY

Contingency is a real and necessary component of an estimate. Engineering and construction are risk endeavors with many uncertainties, particularly in the early stages of project development. Contingency is assigned based on uncertainty and may be assigned for many uncertainties, such as pricing, escalation, schedule, omissions, and errors. The practice of including contingency for possible scope expansion is highly dependent on the attitude and culture, particularly that of the business unit, toward changes.

In simple terms, contingency is the amount of money that should be added to the base estimate in order to predict the total installed cost of the project. Contingency may be interpreted as the amount of money that must be added to the base estimate to account for work that is difficult or impossible to identify at the time a base estimate is being prepared. In some owner or contractor organizations, contingency is intended to cover known unknowns. That is, the estimator knows there are additional costs, but the precise amount is unknown. However, sometimes an allowance is assigned for known unknowns and a contingency is assigned for unknown unknowns.

CII Source Document 41 defines contingency as "A sum of money to cover costs which are forecast but are difficult or impossible to identify when proposing." AACE International Document 18R-97 defines contingency as "An amount of money or time (or other resources) added to the base estimate to (a) achieve a specific confidence level or (b) allow for changes that experience shows will likely be required."

TRADITIONAL METHODS OF ASSIGNING CONTINGENCY

The most effective and meaningful way to perform risk analysis and assign contingency is to involve the project management team. Estimators have insights and can assess imperfections in an estimate to derive an appropriate contingency. However, the interaction and group dynamics of the project management team provide an excellent vehicle to assess the overall project risk. The integration of the project management team's knowledge and the estimator's ability to assign contingency provides management with an appreciation and confidence in the final estimate. The end result is an estimate that represents the judgment of the project management team, not just the estimator's perspective.

Figure 4-7 illustrates the risk assessment process. The estimator must select the method deemed most appropriate for each project, based on information provided by the project management team and based on the intended use of the estimate by the business unit. The estimator must communicate the method selected, risk, accuracy, and contingency for the estimate.

Percentage of Base Estimate

For some situations, contingency may be assigned based on personal past experience. A percentage is applied to the base estimate to derive the total contingency.



FIGURE 4-7 Risk Assessment Process

Although this is a simple method, the success depends on extensive experience of the estimator and historical cost information from similar projects. It is less accurate than other more structured methods.

Some organizations use standard percentages for contingencies based on the class of estimate. This method is governed by company policy rather than by a numerical analysis. Typically, the percentage used is based on the level of scope definition or on the stage of project development.

In some situations, contingency is determined as a percentage of major cost items rather than as a percentage of the total base estimate. This method typically relies on the personal experience and judgment of the estimator, but the **percentage** can also be from established standard percentages based on historical data. This method has the advantage of **considering** risk and uncertainty at a lower level than that used when contingency is based on a percentage of the total base estimate.

The personal experience and judgment of the estimators and engineers should not be overlooked in the process of assigning contingency. Even the most advanced computers are not a substitute for the knowledge and experience of the human mind. Estimators with many years of experience with a particular type of facility can often be quite accurate in assigning contingency based on how they "feel" about the level of uncertainty and risk associated with a project, the cost data used in preparing the estimate, and the thoroughness of the effort in preparing the base estimate.

Expected Net Risk

The estimator may determine contingency based on expected maximum risk and likelihood. After the evaluation of normal contingency of each estimate element, an individual element may also be evaluated for any specific unknowns or potential problems that might occur. The first step involves determining the maximum possible risk for each element, recognizing that it is unlikely that all the risk will occur for all elements.

The next step involves assessing the percentage probability that this risk will occur. The expected net risk then becomes a product of the maximum risk times the probability. The sum of all the expected net risks provides the total maximum risk contingency required. Figure 4-8 illustrates an expected net risk analysis.

Simulation

A formal risk analysis for determining contingency is usually based on simulation. A simulation of probabilistic assessment of critical risk elements can be performed to match the desired confidence level. Monte Carlo simulation software packages are useful tools for performing simulation. However, a knowledge of statistical modeling and probability theory are required to use these tools properly.

Range estimating is a powerful tool that embraces Monte Carlo simulation to establish contingency. Critical elements are identified that have a significant impact on the base estimate. For many estimates there are less than twenty critical elements. The range of each critical element is defined and probability analysis is used to form the basis of simulation. Using this method, non-critical elements can be combined into one or a few meaningful elements.

Range estimating is probably the most widely used and accepted method of formal risk analysis. In range estimating the first step requires identification of the critical items in the estimate. The critical items are those cost items that can affect the total cost estimate by a set percentage, for example +/-4%. Thus, a relatively small item with an extremely high degree of uncertainty may be critical whereas a major equipment item for which a firm vendor quote has been obtained would not be considered critical. Typically, no more than 20 critical items are used in the analysis. If more than 20 critical items are identified, the set percentage can be increased to reduce the number of critical items.

Once the critical items are identified, a range and a target are applied to each item. For example, the range may include a minimum value so there is only a 1% chance that the cost of the item would fall below that minimum. Similarly, an upper value may be established so there will be only a 1% chance of going over that value. The target value represents the anticipated cost for that item. The target value does not need to be the average of the minimum and maximum values. Usually the target value is slightly higher than the average.

Element	Base estimate	Max. cost	Max. risk	% probability	Expected net risk
#1	\$400	\$500	\$1.00	30%	\$ 30
#2	\$ 80	\$1.20	\$40	80%	\$ 32
#3	\$100	\$200	\$ 1 .00	50%	\$ 50
Total	\$580	\$820	\$240		\$112

FIGURE 4-8 Expected Net Risk Analysis

After the critical items have been identified and ranged, a Monte Carlo simulation is performed. The Monte Carlo analysis simulates the construction of the project numerous times, as many as 1,000 to 10,000, based on the ranges given to the critical items and the estimated values of the non-critical items. The results of the simulation are rank ordered and then presented in a cumulative probability graph, commonly called an S-curve. The cumulative probability graph typically shows the probability of underrun on the horizontal x-axis and either the total project cost or contingency amount on the vertical y-axis. The decision maker can then decide the amount of contingency to add based on the amount of risk.

Caution also must be exercised because it is possible to seriously underestimate the cost of a project when using range estimating. There is a risk of understating the true risk of a project due to statistical interdependencies among the critical items in the analysis. Whenever two or more cost items are positively correlated, meaning they increase together or decrease together, the Monte Carlo simulation may cause one to be high and the other low, thus canceling each other out. Thus, the true risk would be understated. Also, underestimating the ranges on the critical items can have a profound impact on the results, also leading to an understatement of the true risks inherent in the design and construction of the project.

When used properly, formal risk analysis using Monte Carlo simulation range estimating can be an extremely valuable tool because it requires a detailed analysis of the components of the estimate, a process that can identify mistakes and poor assumptions. However, precautions must be used when using simulation methods for early estimates. For many early estimates there is not enough detailed information or an adequate number of cost items for a valid simulation.

Assessing Estimate Sensitivity

The contingency added to an estimate includes the combined impact of all risk elements. The accuracy of an estimate can be improved by assessing high-cost impact factors, increasing the level of scope definition, or a combination of both. A sensitivity analysis can be performed to illustrate how a specific risk element can impact the total estimate.

The sensitivity analysis evaluates the impact of only one risk element at a time. It is frequently used in conjunction with an economic analysis. During the process of determining contingency, risk elements that have the maximum impact on the total installed cost are prime candidates for sensitivity analysis. Figures 4-9 and 4-10 show a sample sensitivity analysis for a \$3,000M base estimate.

FIGURE 4-9

Base Estimate Summary (\$M), (WH = work-hours.)

Equipment cost \$1,200 Material cost \$600 Labor cost \$1.000 Subcontractor cost \$200 Total base estimate \$3,000	Equipment cost Material cost Labor cost Subcontractor cost Total base estimate	\$1,200 \$600 \$1.000 <u>\$200</u> \$3,000	((= \$50/WH x 20,000 WH)	
--	--	--	---	-------------------------	--

Risk element	% Change from estimate	New base estimate (SM)
Labor rate (\$50/WH)	0	\$3,000
Labor rate	+10	3,100
Labor rate	5	2,950
Total work-hours (20,000 WH)	0	\$3,000
Total work-hours	+15	3,150
Total work-hours	-7	2,930
Equipment (\$1,200M)	0	\$3,000
Equipment	+5	3,060
Equipment	-5	2,940

FIGURE 4-10

Sensitivity Analysis. (WH = work-hours.)

For any estimate, it is necessary to add a contingency to the base estimate. The method used for assigning contingency will vary depending on analysis of risk and other factors that can impact the cost of a project. This section has presented traditional methods used for assigning contingency.

ASSIGNING CONTINGENCY BASED ON THE QUALITY AND COMPLETENESS OF THE ESTIMATE

The accuracy of an estimate is measured by how well the estimated cost compares to the actual total installed cost. The accuracy of an early estimate depends on four determinants: *who* is involved **in** preparing the estimate, *how* the estimate is prepared, *what* is known about the project, and *otherfactors* that can influence the cost of a project.

To measure the impact of these four determinants with respect to estimate accuracy, a research team of the Construction Industry Institute developed an estimate scoring system that evaluates 45 elements, organized in 4 divisions. The research team collected data to correlate estimated cost with actual total installed cost, based on the score of an estimate. Data was collected from 72 projects, representing \$5.6 billion in total installed costs from projects in the process industry. A breakdown of the 4 divisions of the estimate scoring system is shown in Figure 4-11.

The Estimate Score Program (ESP) is a computer software package developed by the research team to automate the scoring procedure and to assess accuracy and predict contingency based on historical cost data. After completing the estimate, the user can enter the base estimate into ESP and then rate each of the 45 elements. ESP automatically calculates the estimate score as the user rates each element. After the score is calculated, the user can then query the historical database of ESP to view the estimate scores of previously completed projects.

The *Query* portion of the ESP software allows the user to filter the database to compare the estimate with similar type projects. After querying the database,

Estimate Score Sheet

	Best - Wo				orst
DIVISION 1 - WHO WAS INVOLVED IN PREPARING THE ESTIMATE ?	1	2	3	4	5
1.1 Owner's experience level				-	-
1.2 Engineer/Designer's experience level					
1.3 Relevant experience of the estimating team		1			
1.4 Level of involvement of the project manager					
1.5 Involvement of other resources in preparing estimate					
1.6 Review and acceptance of estimate by appropriate parties					
1.7 Impact of team integration and alignment		-			
1.8 Purpose and intended use of estimate					
1.9 Attitude/culture toward changes					

	- Wo	rst					
N 2 - HOW WAS THE ESTIMATE PREPARED ? 1 2 3 4							
TT	-	-					
1	-	_					
	-	_					
	-						
		-					
		-					
11	-						
	-						
	-						
	-	-					
	-						

	Best	+	+	- W	orst
DIVISION 3 - WHAT WAS KNOWN ABOUT THE PROJECT?	1 2 3			4	5
3.1 Capacities				-	-
3.2 Technology					-
3.3 Processes					
3.4 Site location					-
3.5 Plot plan		-		-	-
3.6 Utility sources and supply conditions					-
3.7 Environmental assessment					-
3.8 Process flow sheets					-
3.9 Mechanical equipment list		-			-
3.10 Heat and material balances					-
3.11 P&ID's					-
3.12 Project strategy					-
3.13 Project design criteria		-			-
3.14 Project schedule					-

	Baet				loval
DIVISION 4 - FACTORS CONSIDERED WHILE PREPARING THE ESTIMATE	1	2	3	4	5
4.1 Owner's costs	-	-	-	-	-
4.2 Impact of project type					-
4.3 Impact of contract type					-
4.4 Impact of project schedule					-
4.5 Impact of governmental requirements					-
4.6 Work force					-
4.7 Labor productivity					-
4.8 Bidding climate					-
4.9 Taxes and insurance					-
4.10 Money factors					-
4.11 Logistics for engineering and construction		-			-

FIGURE 4-11 Estimate Score Sheet.

the user can display various statistical information in the *Statistics* portion of the software. The *Statistics* portion of *ESP* enables the user to view up to 15 different combinations of statistical information about the current set of completed projects as selected from the Query.

After querying the database, the user can also view graphs of the results in the *Graphs* portion of *ESP*. The *Graphs* portion enables the user to graphically view the scatter plot and S-curve for the current data set of completed projects as selected from the **Query**. Figure 4-12 is a screen copy of a scatter plot graph from the ESP software program. Figure 4-13 is the S-curve, which is a graphical display of the cumulative probability curve based on the current data set and score of the estimate.

The ESP software provides a means of assigning contingency to the base estimate. The **S-curve** in Figure 4-13 is a cumulative probability curve based on projects selected in the query and the value of the estimate score. The user can **determine** the confidence level, in percent, for a predicted level of cost overrun or **underrun**. The confidence level for a desired cost range, upper or lower limit, can also be obtained. The user can also determine the cost range, upper and lower limits, of a desired confidence level.

This method of assigning contingency is based on two years of study by the research team that correlated estimate scores with total installed costs for projects in the process industry. The research results showed a significant positive correlation between estimated costs and total installed costs, based on the score of an estimate. ESP can be used as a tool to "check" the amount of contingency determined by other methods, as well as a method of assigning contingency on its own.

Thus, ESP allows the user many choices of analysis to determine the amount of contingency to be applied to the base estimate. It can benefit the business unit and the team by providing information to enable the business unit to make a better decision on the economic feasibility of a project. It also improves team alignment by providing a better understanding of the estimate and the factors that can affect the accuracy of an early estimate.

ESTIMATE FEED-BACK FOR CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT

It is unfortunate, but many people have the perception that the estimator's involvement with a project is over when the estimate **is** finished. In reality, it is an advantage to the management of a project, and in the best interest of the customer, for the estimator to remain connected to the project during execution.

The estimator can be an important asset to project management during the execution phase of a project. Involvement of the estimator during project execution allows the estimator to stay in touch with the project and provide an early warning for any potential cost **overruns**. Including the estimator in the distribution list of monthly project reports can provide input to the project management team members to enable them to make good decisions related to costs.

During project execution the estimator can also be a valuable resource for recasting the cost estimate into work/bid packages and for analyzing actual bids with the recast estimate. The estimator can also assist in management of changes during project execution, by assessing the impact of changes on cost.

No estimating process is complete without the continuous feed-back loops shown in Figure 4-4. Feed-back from project execution provides lessons learned to the estimator that allows the estimating team to modify estimating standards and



FIGURE 4-12

Scatter Plot from ESP Software Program

FIGURE 4-13

Cumulative Probability Curve from ESP Software Program.



practices. Feed-back from project completion also allows the estimating team to update the database for improving the accuracy of future estimates. **Terminating** the estimator's involvement when the estimate is finished prevents continuous improvement of the estimating process.

To provide meaningful feed-back, the estimator must explore how the cost will be tracked during project execution. An estimate should be prepared with cost breakdowns in a format that allows easy future cost tracking. A standard code of accounts enables an organization to simplify the estimating process, update the database, and facilitate cost control. This benefits both the estimating team and the project management team.

A final project cost report is an extremely valuable document for improving estimates because it provides a real feed-back to compare with the original cost estimate. Pitfalls for future estimates can be eliminated or minimized. Both the original estimate and the final project cost reports should be maintained at a central location. Acost reference with reports sorted by project location, type, size, etc., can be used to update the cost database for future estimates.

The best source of data for estimators to develop and enhance the estimating tools and techniques is their own organization. There is an abundance of project data that is available from completed projects and definitive estimates. The key to success is the establishment of a mechanism to capture and retrieve this information in a format that can be useful in developing statistical relationships, such as percentage of breakdowns of total installed cost by cost category, total installed cost to equipment cost ratios, and construction indirect costs to direct labor cost ratios. When a project is completed, the actual total installed costs can be added to the database. Estimate feed-back is an integral part of the estimating process. It is not an add-on feature. A process for providing feed-back loops is necessary for improving the accuracy of early estimates.

QUESTIONS FOR CHAPTER 4-EARLY ESTIMATES

- 1 Early estimates are extremely important to the owner. From the perspective of the owner, give examples of problems that may arise if an early estimate is significantly lower than the final actual cost of a project.
- **2** From the perspective of the owner, give examples of problems that may arise if an early estimate is significantly lower than the final actual cost of a project.
- **3** Early estimates are important to the designer. From the perspective of the designer, give examples of problems that may arise if an early estimate is significantly lower than the final cost of a project.
- 4 Describe the purpose of a kick-off meeting for preparing an early estimate of a project. What are typical items that should be addressed and confirmed **before** starting estimate preparation?
- 5 The cost of a 540-ft³/h process unit is \$850,000. From historical cost records, the capacity ratio exponent of a process unit is 0.6. Use the capacity ratios raised to an exponent method to determine the estimated cost of a similar process unit with a capacity of 490 ft³/h.



6 Below are cost-capacity curves for process units in a refinery. What is the estimated **cost** for a project that has a process unit B with a capacity of 4,000 **barrels** per day?

Capacity in Barrels per Day

REFERENCES

- 1 Cost Estimate Classification System As Applied in Engineering, Procurement, and Construction for the Process Industry, Recommended Practice No. 18R-97, AACE International, Morgantown, WV, 1997.
- 2 Diekmann, J. E., Sewester, E. E., and Taher, K., *Risk Management in Capital Projects*, Source Document 41, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, October 1988.
- **3** Gibson, G. E., Jr. and Dumont, P. R., *Project Definition Rating Index*, Research Report 113-11, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, April 1998.
- 4 Oberlender, G. D. et al., *Improving Early Estimates Best Practices Guide*, Implementation Resource 131-2, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, September 1998.
- 5 Oberlender, G. D. and Trost, S. M., *Quantitative Prediction of Estimate Accuracy*, Research Summary 131-1. construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, March 1999.
- **6** Oherlender, G. D. and Trost, S. M., *Predicting the Accuracy of Early Estimates*, Research Report 131-11, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, April 1999.
- 7 O'Connor, J. T. and Vickroy, C. G., *Control of Construction Project Scope*, Source Document 6, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, March 1986.
- 8 Peurifoy, R. L. and Oberlender, G. D., *Estimating Construction Costs*, 4th ed., McGraw-Hill Book Company, New York, NY, 1989.
- 9 Trost, S. M. and Oberlender, G. D., *Estimate Score Program (ESP)Guide*, Implementation Resource 131-2, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, April 1999.

5

PROJECT BUDGETING

PROJECT BUDGETS

The discussion of budgeting in this chapter is an extension of Chapter 4 on preparing early estimates. It is also closely related to Chapter 7 on design proposals, which presents the process of determining the cost of engineering design services for projects. The cost of construction work is a major portion of the total cost of any project. Much of the construction work on many projects is performed by subcontractors who are awarded a contract by the general contractor. This chapter presents an overview of construction costs. A more detailed coverage of estimating construction costs is presented in *Estimating Construction* Costs, 4th ed., published by McGraw-Hill, Inc.

The budget for a project is the maximum amount of money the owner is willing to spend for design and construction to economically justify the project. Estimating is a prerequisite to project budgeting. Chapter 4 presented the process of preparing early estimates of projects. As presented in that chapter, after the base estimate is completed, a risk assessment must be performed. The purpose of the risk assessment is to determine an appropriate amount of contingency funds that should be added to the base estimate in order to reasonably predict the final cost of the project. Thus, the budget can be considered to be the base estimate plus contingency.

DEVELOPMENT OF PROJECT ESTIMATES FOR BUDGETING

The preparation of estimates, assessing risk, and assigning contingency for budgeting is one of the most difficult tasks in project management because it must be done before the work is started. It is a process that involves a series of successive approximations beginning with the owner's feasibility study and continuing through design development and construction.

The preparation of cost estimates for budgeting is important to each party because the decision to proceed, at each phase in the project, is based on the estimated cost that was determined in the preceding phase. The owner's organization must determine a realistic maximum and minimum cost of the entire project, which includes the cost of design and construction. The designer's organization must determine the cost of performing design tasks and producing the contract documents. It must also determine the probable cost of construction as a **part** of the design process. The construction contractor's organization must **determine** the cost of all material, labor, and equipment to build the project on the job-site.

Each contractor on a project must develop a base estimate, consider risk, and assign contingency for the work they will be performing on a project. Since the owner's organization has overall project funding responsibility, the owner's management must consider both the contractor's and owner's risks in order to determine the overall budget for the project.

Project estimating and budgeting begins with the owner during the study of needs, priorities, and scope. As discussed in Chapter 3, the project budget is derived from scope definition; therefore, a special effort should be made early in the development of a project to define the scope as detailed and accurately as possible. The control of project scope growth and cost overruns can be greatly enhanced if the owner obtains the early advice and expertise of experienced design and construction professionals, who have the knowledge of construction costs. All parties must realize that the estimated cost, at any time, is based upon the amount of information that is known about the project when the estimate was prepared. Too often this concept is not fully recognized. Aproject manager can play an important role as mediator in the early stages of the development of a project by testing, scrutinizing, and identifying the variances that should be applied to an estimate.

The owner's organization must prepare estimates to determine the overall project budget, which includes the approved cost for design and construction. If the scope is not well defined or the owner's organization does not have the expertise to perform such an estimate, the owner can enlist a designer to perform these services on a cost-reimbursable basis. Because this budget is prepared prior to any detailed design work, it should include a reasonable amount of contingency funds to allow some flexibility in decision making during design development.

The designer's organization must prepare a budget based on the estimated **costs** to provide design services. In addition, as a part of the design process the designer must prepare the estimated **construction** costs of the various design alternatives that are being evaluated to meet the owner's needs for the project. This is necessary before completion of the contract documents. It is the designer's responsibility to keep design costs and estimated construction costs within the owner's overall approved project budget. This requires extensive cooperation and involvement with the owner because the scope must sometimes be readjusted to meet the owner's needs. This decision must be made by the owner's organization.

The construction contractor's organization must prepare a bid that is submitted to the owner, based on the estimated costs to build the project in accordance with the contract documents. For competitive-bid projects, the contractor is not obligated to a cost that is within the owner's approved budget because this information is usually not known to the contractor. For negotiated cost-reimbursable projects the contractor's organization works closely with the owner to determine construction alternatives with costs that are within the owner's overall approved budget.

LEVELS OF ACCURACY

A range of accuracy, usually a plus or minus percentage, should be assigned to any estimate by the estimator based on his or her best assessment of the project's true cost. There is no industry standard that has been agreed on regarding the amount of plus or minus percentage that should be applied to an estimate. To discuss this issue it is helpful to divide projects into two general categories: building projects and industrial projects.

Building projects generally have two types of estimates: approximate estimates (sometimes called preliminary, conceptual, or budget estimates) and detailed estimates (sometimes called final, definitive, or contractor's estimates). For large owner organizations the approximate estimate is prepared by the owner during the feasibility study of the project's needs, priorities, and scope definition. For small owner organizations it is usually prepared in cooperation with the design organization that is contracted by the owner to design the project and prepare the contract documents. The level of accuracy of the approximate estimate can vary significantly, depending upon the amount of information that is known about the project. With no design work it may range from +30% to -20%. On completion of detailed design work it may range from $\pm15\%$ to -10%.

For building projects, the detailed estimate is prepared by the construction contractor from a complete set of contract documents prior to submittal of the bid or formal proposal to the owner. The detailed estimate is important to both the owner and the contractor because it represents the bid price, the amount of money the owner must pay for completion of the project, and the amount of money the contractor will receive for building the project. For a building project that has a complete set of well-defined contract documents and no unusual features, the competitive bidding of numerous contractors will often result in less than a 1% variation in the lowest two bids.

For petrochemical and processing projects, estimating is difficult because of the wide range of variations in the number and sizes of piping, instrumentation, equipment, and other components that are required to process the product that the plant is built to produce. Because of the complexity of the project, estimating is done in stages as the design progresses and more information becomes known about the project.

Although there is no industry agreement, the petrochemical and processing industry generally develops project budget estimates in stages. For example, the feasibility estimate is the first estimate and is usually done within an owner's organization as a part of the feasibility plan. Estimates at this stage are commonly referred to as *order* of *magnitude* cost estimates. The estimate is prepared as a ratio of costs of previously completed similar projects, contractor quotes, or owner cost records, such as cost per horsepower, cost per barrel of throughput, or cost per pound of finished product. The level of accuracy is usually $\pm 50\%$.

After the major equipment is identified and process flow sheets are developed, an *equipment factored* estimate can be prepared. This estimate is based on applying factors to in-house priced major equipment in order to compensate for piping, instrumentation, electrical, and other construction costs that are required to complete the cost estimate. The level of accuracy at this stage is usually 235%.

After completion of piping and instrumentation drawings, a preliminary *control* estimate can be developed. The documents and data for this estimate usually include equipment sizing and layout, process flow sheets, piping and instrumentation drawings, building sizes, and a milestone schedule. The level of accuracy is usually $\pm 15\%$.

The final estimate is performed near the end of engineering design when most of the costs have been identified and is called the definitive estimate, commonly referred to as an Approved for Expenditure estimate or AFE Definitive estimate. It is based on process flow sheets, mechanical flow sheets, equipment layout, isometrics, and building plans. The level of accuracy of an AFE Definitive estimate is usually $\pm 10\%$.

OWNER'S ESTIMATE FOR BUDGETING

Every project must be shown as economically feasible before it is approved by the owner's management. Economic feasibility is determined by an economic analysis for projects in the private sector or by a **benefit**/cost ratio for projects in the government sector. An economic analysis can be performed once an owner's estimate has been prepared.

Estimating costs during the inception of a project by the owner, prior to any design, is difficult because only limited detailed information is known about the project. However, this cost estimate is important because it is used to set the maximum project budget that will be approved for design and construction. At this stage of project development the only known information is the number of units or size of the project, such as number of square feet of building area, number of cars in a parking garage, number of miles of 345-kilovolt (kV) transmission line, or number of barrels of crude oil processed per day. At some point in time an estimate has to be frozen and converted to a project budget.

Preparation of the owner's estimate requires knowledge and experience of the work required to complete the project. Cost information from professionals who are knowledgeable about design and construction is essential. Cost information for preparation of the owner's budget is usually derived from one of two sources: cost records from previous projects of similar type and size, or pricing manuals that are published annually by several organizations.

For buildings, public works, and heavy construction projects, the *Means* Cost *Guide* is commonly used. The Richardson's manual for construction estimating is a

common reference for petrochemical and processing projects. These pricing manuals provide costs per unit for various types of projects, such as cost per square foot of building area for offices, warehouses, and maintenance buildings. The costs are derived from previous projects that have been completed at numerous geographic locations. Figure 5-1 illustrates examples of information that is available for **sev**-

	c	Office buildings			Motels		
Component	Low \$/SF	Median \$/SF	High \$/SF	Low \$/SF	Median \$/SF	Hlgh \$/SF	
Foundation	3.95	4.00	4.80	0.90	1.40	1.60	
Floors on grade	3.10	3.15	3.90	3.95	5.00	5.40	
Superstructure	14.90	16.90	20.25	10.95	13.30	21.70	
Roofing	0.20	0.25	0.30	2.40	3.40	3.45	
Exterior walls	4.90	9.75	13.00	2.80	4.45	5.55	
Partitions	4.35	5.30	7.05	2.60	3.65	5.25	
Wall finishes	2.35	3.75	5.00	0.75	2.60	2.75	
Floor finishes	2.05	3.90	5.15	2.40	3.55	4.55	
Ceiling finishes	1.55	2.80	3.75	2.05	4.60	4.90	
Conveying systems	5.55	6.70	8.25	1.15	1.80	2.35	
Specialties	0.65	0.80	2.65	1.10	1.35	4.00	
Fixed equipment	1.05	2.80	3.75	1.15	1.65	1.95	
Heat/vent/air cond.	8.85	9.50	12.20	3.10	5.55	6.25	
Plumbing	3.50	3.80	4.85	4.45	5.40	6.15	
Electrical	4.60	4.75	6.25	4.20	7.45	8.20	
Total \$/SF	\$61.55	\$78.10	\$101.15	\$43.95	\$65.15	\$84.05	

FIGURE 5-1

IllustrativeExamp	oles of Cost-	per-Square-F	oot Information	Available from	Pricing Manu	als

	Secondary schools				Hospitals		
Component	Low \$/SF	Median \$/SF	High \$/SF	Low \$/SF	Median \$/SF	High \$/SF	
Foundation	1.35	1.85	2.70	4.35	4.80	6.65	
Floors on grade	3.65	4.40	6.00	0.30	0.40	0.60	
Superstructure	10.95	12.30	17.25	17.05	18.55	25.50	
Roofing	1.70	2.05	2.45	3.25	3.70	5.20	
Exterior walls	3.75	5.55	8.00	16.00	18.55	25.10	
Partitions	5.90	6.55	8.50	7.20	11.00	24.70	
Wall finishes	3.05	3.40	5.15	6.75	7.95	11.10	
Floor finishes	3.10	3.95	5.25	2.60	2.75	4.00	
Ceiling finishes	3.20	3.65	4.65	2.15	2.20	3.55	
Conveying systems	0.00	0.00	0.00	12.95	13.00	19.55	
Specialties	1.70	1.90	2.60	3.10	3.25	4.60	
Fixed equipment	2.85	3.35	6.00	5.20	5.25	7.65	
Heat/vent/air cond.	9.05	10.45	14.45	21.65	25.50	36.05	
Plumbing	5.05	6.00	9.20	9.10	10.65	16.45	
Electrical	10.25	12.00	16.50	13.45	17.50	24.40	
Total \$/SF	\$69.55	\$77.40	\$108.70	\$125.10	\$145.05	\$215.10	

eral types of buildings. It shows the low, average, and high cost per square foot, based on the level of quality. The budget for a proposed project can be calculated by multiplying the cost per square foot by the total square feet in the project. The cost of land, permits, and design fees should be added to the calculated cost of construction. A reasonable percentage multiplier should also be applied for contingency since the design is not prepared for the project during the owner's budgeting process. Adjustments for time and location should also be made as discussed in the following paragraphs.

The other source of cost information is company records from previous projects. Although the total cost of previously completed projects will vary between projects, unit costs can be calculated to forecast the cost of future projects. The term of *weighting* is commonly used to refer to the procedure of analyzing historical cost data to determine a unit cost for forecasting future project costs. A unit cost should be developed that emphasizes the average value, yet accounts for extreme maximum and minimum values. Equation 5.1 can be used for weighting cost data from previous projects:

$$UC = \frac{A + 4B + C}{6}$$
 (Eq. 5.1)

where UC = forecast unit cost

A = minimum unit cost of previous projects

B = average unit cost of previous projects

C = maximum unit cost of previous projects

Example 5-1 illustrates the weighting procedure. The procedure can be applied to other types of projects and their parameters. Examples are apartment units, motel rooms, miles of electric transmission line, barrels of crude oil processed per day, and square yards of pavement.

Example 5-1

Unit cost	No. cars	Total cost	Project
\$ 9,250	150	\$1,387,500	1
11,200	80	896,000	2
14,975	120	1,797,000	3
14,975	90	1,107,000	4
12,300	60	590,400	5
8.650	220	1,903,000	6
12,700	70	889,000	7
8,975	180	1,615,500	8
Total = \$79,034			
er car = \$ 9,879	Average cost p		
	Unit cost \$ 9,250 11,200 14,975 14,975 12,300 8,650 12,700 8,975 Total = \$79,034 er car = \$ 9,879	No. cars Unit cost 150 \$ 9,250 80 11,200 120 14,975 90 14,975 60 12,300 220 8.650 70 12,700 180 8,975 Total = \$79,034 Average cost per car = \$ 9,879	Total cost No. cars Unit cost \$1,387,500 150 \$ 9,250 896,000 80 11,200 1,797,000 120 14,975 1,107,000 90 14,975 590,400 60 12,300 1,903,000 220 8,650 889,000 70 12,700 1,615,500 180 8,975 Total = \$79,034 Average cost per car = \$ 9,879

Cost information from eight previously completed parking garage projects is given in the following table.

From Eq. 5.1 the forecast unit cost can be calculated as

$$UC = \frac{\$8,650 + 4(\$9,879) + \$14,975}{6} = \$10,524$$

For a project with 135 cars the estimated cost can be calculated as

135 cars @ \$10,524 = \$1,420,673

It is necessary to adjust the cost information from previously completed projects for differences in size, time, and location. The previous example illustrates adjustment relative to size. Time adjustments represent variation in costs due to inflation, deflation, interest rates, etc. Location adjustments represent variation in costs between locations due to geographical differences in costs of materials, equipment, and labor.

An index can be used to adjust previous cost information for use in preparation of the owner's estimate. Various organizations publish indices that show economic trends. The *Engineering* News *Record* (*ENR*) annually publishes indices of construction costs for both time and location. Example 5-2 illustrates the combination of adjustments of cost estimates for size, time, and location. *Estimating Construction Costs*, 4th ed., published by McGraw-Hill, Inc., presents a comprehensive discussion of estimating project costs.

Example 5-2

Use the time and location indices below to calculate the forecast cost for a building with 62,700 SF of floor area. The building is to be constructed 3 years from now in city B. A similar type building that cost \$2,945,250 and contained 38,500 SF was completed 2 years ago in city D.

Year	Index	Location	Index
3 yr ago	358	City A	1025
2 yr ago	359	City B	1170
1 yr ago	367	City C	1260
Current year	378	City D	1240

An equivalent compound interest can be calculated based on the change in the cost index during the 3-year period:

$$\frac{378}{358} = (1+i)^3 \to i = 1.83\%$$

Estimated cost	Previous cost	Time adjustment		Location adjustment		Size adjustment
ii -	= \$2,945,250	×(1 + 0.0183) ⁵	× ((1170/1240)	×	(62,700/38,500)
	= \$2,945,250	× 1.095	×	0.944	×	1.629
	= \$4,959,403					

ECONOMIC FEASIBILITY STUDY

Regardless of its size or type, a project must be economically feasible. There are at least two ways to determine economic feasibility, depending on whether the owner is in the private sector or government sector. For a private project the economic feasibility can be **determined** by an economic analysis of the monetary return on the investment to build the project. For a public government project the economic feasibility is usually determined by a benefit/cost ratio.

There are three methods that are commonly used by the private sector to evaluate the monetary return on a potential investment: capital recovery, pay back period, and rate of return. Each method uses the fundamental equations of time value of money. There are numerous books that have been published that describe the development and use of these equations for economic analysis. Below is a brief introduction to the equations.

Money can earn value when invested over time. For example, \$100 invested today at 7% interest will be worth \$107 one year from now. Thus, the time value of money means that equal dollar amounts at different points in time do not have equal value. For example, the present worth of \$100 today is equivalent to \$107 one year from now provided the interest is 7%. Engineering economic analysis is the process of evaluating alternatives. The basic variables used in a time value analysis for economic feasibility are

- P = present-worth amount (the value of money today)
- F = compound amount (the future value of money after *n* periods of time at *i* interest)
- i = interest rate per interest period (usually one year)
- n = number of periods of time (usually in years)

Single Payments

The following calculations are provided to illustrate the relationship between P and F for a given i and n.

End of year	Interest earned during the year	Compound amount at end of y (F = future value of money)			
0		= <i>P</i>			
1	Pi	P + Pi = P(1 + i)			
2	P(1 + i)i	$P(1 + i) + P(1 + i)i = P(1 + i)^2$			
3	$P(1 + i)^{2}i$	$P(1 + i)^2 + P(1 + i)^2 i = P(1 + i)^3$			
n	$P(1 + i)^{3}i$	$P(1 + i)^3 + P(1 + i)^3 i = P(1 + i)^n$			

Thus, $\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{P}(\mathbf{1} + \mathbf{n})$ Note that F is related to \mathbf{P} by a factor that depends only on i and n. This factor, (1 + i), is called the single-payment compound-amount factor, which makes F equivalent to P. Rearranging terms, $\mathbf{P} = F/(\mathbf{1} + i)$. The factor $1/(\mathbf{1} + i)^n$ is known as the present-worth compound-amount factor, which makes \mathbf{P} equivalent to F. These two equations provide equivalent single payments, now

and in the future. There are four parameters: *P*, *F*, i, and n. Given any three parameters, the fourth can easily be calculated.

Uniform Payment Series

Instead of a single amount of money of P today and F in the future as illustrated previously, a series of equal payments may occur at the end of succeeding annual interest periods. The sum of the compound amounts of the series of equal payments may be calculated by using the single-payment compound-amount factor. If A represents a series of n equal payments, then the sum of these payments after n years at i interest can be calculated as in the following equation:

$$F = A(1) + A(1+i) + \ldots + A(1+i)^{n-2} + A(1+i)^{n-1}$$

Multiplying both sides of the equation by (1 + i) gives the following equation:

$$F(1+i) = A(1+i) + A(1+i)^2 + \ldots + A(1+i)^{n-1} + A(1+i)^n$$

Subtracting the first equation from the second gives the compound amount of the uniform series of payments as follows:

$$F(1 + i) - F = -A + A(1 + i)''$$

 $F = A\left[\frac{(1 + i)^n - 1}{i}\right]$

Note that F is related to A by a factor that depends only on i and n. This factor, [(1 + i)'' - 1]/i, is called the uniform-series compound-amount factor, which makes the series of A payments equivalent to F. Rearranging terms, $A = F\{[i/(1 + i)^n] - 1\}$. The factor [i/(1 + i)''] - 1 is known as the uniform-series sinking-fund factor. It represents the amount of money A that must be invested over the uniform series of payments to equate to the future amount F.

Substituting $P(l + i)^n$ for Fin the uniform-series sinking-fund equation gives the following equation:

$$A = \frac{P(1 + i)^{n} i}{(1 + i)^{n} - 1}$$
$$= P\left[\frac{i(1 + i)^{n}}{(1 + i)^{n} - 1}\right]$$

The equation $A = P\{[i(1 + i)^n]/[(1 + i)^n - 1]\}$ gives a uniform series of payments *A* that is equivalent to the present worth of *P*. Again, note that *A* is related to P by a factor that depends only on i and n. This factor, $[i(1 + i)^n]/[(1 + i)^n - 1]$, is called the uniform-series capital recovery. Rearranging terms, $P = A\{[(1 + i)^n - 1]/[i(1 + i)^n]\}$. This gives the present worth P of the uniform series of A payments.

The factor, [(1 + i)'' - 1]/[i(1 + i)''], is called the uniform-series present-worth factor.

For convenience, each of the six basic equations for economic analysis are shown in Eqs. 5.2–5.7.

Fundamental Equations of Time Value of Money

P = Present Worth							F
F = Future Sum		Α	Α	Α	Α	Α	Α
A = Equal Payment Series	9	1	2	3	(n-2)	(n-1)	n
i =Annual Interest Rate		1	1	1	$\wedge \square$		
n = Study Period (years)	Р			,	\checkmark		

Single Payment Series:

Compound Amount	$F = P[(1 + in)] = P(^{r(P) - n})$	(Eq. 5.2)
Present Worth	$\mathbf{P} = F\left[\frac{1}{(1+i)^n}\right] = F(\overset{P/Fi-n}{})$	(Eq. 5.3)

F14 F14

Equal Payment Series:

Compound Amount	$F = A\left[\frac{(1+i)^n - 1}{i}\right] = A\binom{F/Ai - n}{i}$	(Eq. 5.4)
Sinking Fund	$A = F\left[\frac{i}{(1+i)^n - 1}\right] = F(A^{HFI-n})$	(Eq. 5.5)
Present Worth	$P = A\left[\frac{(1+i)^n - 1}{i(1+i)^n}\right] = A\binom{P/Ai - n}{i(1+i)^n}$	(Eq. 5.6)
Capital Recovery	$A = P\left[\frac{i(1 + i)''}{(1 + i)^n - 1}\right] = P(^{A/Pi - n})$	(Eq. 5.7)

The factor designation at the right of the preceding interest equations represents an abbreviated form of the equation illustrated in the following:

$\binom{F/P_l}{r}$	ⁿ) means find the Future Sum, F, from a known
	Present Worth, P, and Interest Rate, i, during a
	Study Period of n.

In general, an economic analysis involves the process of solving for one of the variables. For example, capital recovery solves for A, pay back period solves for n, and rate of return solves for i. A more complex analysis using one or more of the basic six equations is required when multiple sums of money are distributed over the study period, or when tax advantages are included.

The capital recovery method evaluates the amount of annual money, A, that must be obtained throughout the study life, n, of a project in order to obtain a recovery on the original capital investment, P. A simple illustration is given in Example 5-3. There may be other considerations that should be evaluated, such as tax advantages, non-uniform generation of revenue, and the disposal of the facility after its useful life. The pay back period method evaluates the number of years, n, that a project must be operated in order to obtain an interest rate, i, for a given investment, P, with an annual generated income, A. This method is illustrated in Example 5-4. A rateof-return analysis evaluates the interest rate, i, that equates the initial investment, P, to the yearly net cash flow as illustrated in Example 5-5. A trial-and-error solution is required in this example because the annual payments are not uniform. All these examples are simple illustrations of the methods that can be used to determine the economic feasibility of a project.

Example 5-3

This example illustrates the capital recovery method for determining economic feasibility. Suppose the feasibility estimate for a project is \$7.0M with an expected operating life of 12 years. Annual maintenance and operating expenses are forecast as \$560K per year. Using a 10% interest rate, what net annual income must be received to recover the capital investment of the project?

$$A = P\left[\frac{i(1+i)^n}{(1+i)^n - 1}\right] + \$0.56M$$

= \\$7.0M $\left[\frac{0.10(1+0.10)^{12}}{(1+0.10)^{12} - 1}\right] + \$0.56M$
= \\$1.588M per year

If the project can be built for \$7.0M, operated for \$560K per year, and earn \$1.5876M per year, the project is economically feasible, neglecting any tax advantages. If the project can be built for less than \$7.0M, or can be built to operate more efficiently than \$560K per year, it is even more economically attractive.

Example 5-4

This example illustrates the pay back period method for determining the economic feasibility of a project. The initial investment for a project is \$18.0M. A net annual profit of \$3.5M is anticipated. Using a 15% desired rate of return on the investment, what is the pay back period for the project?

$$P = A \left[\frac{(1+i)^n - 1}{i(1+i)^n} \right]$$

\$18.0M = \$3.5M $\left[\frac{(1+0.15)^n - 1}{0.15(1+0.15)^n} \right]$
 $n = 10.5$ years

Example 5-5

This example illustrates the rate-of-return method for determining the economic feasibility of a project. An initial project investment of \$1.05M is being considered for a 5-year study period. It is anticipated the project will be sold after the 5-year period for \$560K. Determine the rate of return with the anticipated net profit shown below.

End of year	Net profit (\$1,000)
0	0
1	-350
2	-120
3	+420
4	+735
5	+680

Using Eq. 5.2 to transfer the costs from each year to an equivalent present worth: Try i = 15%.

 $P = \begin{bmatrix} -\$350(0.8695) - \$120(0.7562) + \$420(0.6575) + \$735(0.5718) \\ P/F15-5 & P/F15-5 \\ + \$680(0.4972) + \$560(0.4972)] \times 1,000 \end{bmatrix}$

1.05M > 0.92M; therefore try a lower rate of return. Try i = 10%.

 $P = \begin{bmatrix} -\$350(0.9090) &= \$120(0.8264) + \$420(0.7513) + \$735(0.6830) \\ P/F10-5 & P/F10-5 \\ + \$680(0.6209) + \$560(0.6209)] \times 1,000 \end{bmatrix}$

1.05M < 1.17M; therefore try a higher rate of return. Try i = 12%.

 $P = \begin{bmatrix} -\$350(0.8929) - \$120(0.7972) + \$420(0.7118) + \$735(0.6355) \\ P/F12-5 P/F12-5 + \$680(0.5674) + \$560(0.5674)] \times 1,000 \end{bmatrix}$

 $1.05M \approx 1.06M$; therefore the rate of return is slightly over 12%.

It is important for the project manager and his or her team to realize that an owner's economic study, similar to one of those illustrated, is used by the owner to approve the project budget, which is the capital investment, *P*. When a project exceeds its budget, then the economic justification that was used by the owner to proceed with the project is impaired.

A popular method for deciding on the economic justification of a public project is to compute the **benefit/cost** ratio, which is simply the ratio of the benefits to the public divided by the cost to the government. If the ratio is 1, the equivalent benefits and equivalent costs are equal. This represents the minimum justification for an expenditure by a public agency. Generally, the fist step is to determine the benefits that can be derived from a project. This is in contrast to the consideration of profitability as a first step in evaluating the merits of a private enterprise. The second step in evaluating a public project involves an analysis of cost to the governmental agency. When a public project is being considered, the question is: Will this project result in the greatest possible enhancement of the general welfare in terms of economic, social, environmental, or other factors that serve the needs of the general public? The measurement of benefits is sometimes difficult because they cannot always be expressed in dollars.

Many government agencies have a list of projects that are waiting for approval, but for which funds are not yet available. The decision as to which project to approve may be based upon the amount of money that is allocated in a fiscal year, rather than economic feasibility.

DESIGN BUDGETS

The design organization has a difficult task of estimating the cost of providing design services **and/or** producing contract documents for the project before the design and construction phases begin. For many projects the magnitude of work that is required by the designer cannot be fully anticipated, because design is a creative process that involves the evaluation of numerous alternatives. The evaluation of design alternatives is a necessary part of the design process required to select the best design that satisfies the owner's need for the project.

Compensation for design services is usually by one of the following methods: lump-sum, salary cost times a multiplier, cost plus a fixed payment, or percent of construction. The method that is used depends on the accuracy of the scope definition that is provided to the design organization.

For projects that have a well-defined scope with no unusual features, and are similar to projects that a designer has handled in the past, a lump-sum design contract is commonly used. Preparation of the design budget can be developed by defining tasks, and grouping of tasks, in a work breakdown structure. The development of a project work breakdown structure and design work packages is discussed in Chapter 6. A design work package, shown in Figure 6-7, can then be prepared for each task. Based upon the past experience of the designer with similar projects, the estimated labor-hours of design calculations, number of drawings, labor-hours per drawing, travel, and other expenses can be estimated for each task. The total cost for design can be calculated by adding the cost of all design work packages. The final design budget is usually broken down by discipline with the labor-hours based on the number of drawings to be produced. Figure 5-2 illustrates the summary of a design engineering budget. Figure 5-3 shows-an example of time distribution for design calculations as well as the development of drawings and specifications for a project. Chapter 7 presents the process of developing design proposals and design budgets. Reference Figures 7-5 and 7-6 for gathering the information necessary to prepare the budget forms shown in Figures 5-2 and 5-3.

DATE: 1 PROJECT BUDGET FORM Project Name Dept. HOURS Number Department DOLLARS ADMIN MTGS SHED SPECS CALCS DWGS TOTAL 0100 \$840,000 **Project Management** 12,000 3,000 2,400 900 6,300 5,700 1,500 1,200 3.000 0200 Architecture 350 100 350 250 800 1,850 \$111,000 0300 Mechanical 350 480 360 1.760 2.950 \$177,000 0400 Electrical 350 2.100 3,200 7,450 13.100 \$786.000 0500 Structural 26,360 \$1,581,600 Project Engineer 2,500 750 3,250 CADDS Coord. 160 2,960 2,800 Department 550 1.300 6,700 11,600 20,150 0600 Environmental 400 400 \$28,000 0700 Civil 7.140 \$428,400 Turb./Gen. Spec 340 340 Department 190 100 1,310 2.000 3.200 6.800 0800 CADDS 100 100 1.000 1.200 \$60.000 0900 Clerical 7.000 400 600 8.000 \$200,000 1000 **Document Control** 1,000 200 800 2,000 \$50,000 1100 Reproduction 200 800 1,000 \$26,000 1200 **Project Control** 1.000 200 500 1.700 \$102,000 1300 Management 400 400 \$36,000 1400 Subcontractor A 100 100 86 200 600 114 \$60,000 1500 Subcontractor B 50 100 200 400 50 \$40.000 1600 **Record Drawings** 1.000 2.000 3.000 \$150,000 1700 Support Buildings 100 400 500 1,500 2,500 \$150,000 WORK-HOUR SUBTOTAL 16,950 7.300 4.700 7.416 14.124 34.110 84,600 \$4,826,000 Task # Description 1800 Contingency \$500,000 1900 General Expenses \$24,000 2000 Travel \$100.000 2100 Office Budget \$50.000 EXPENSES SUBTOTAL \$674,000 TOTAL \$5,500,000

FIGURE 5-2 Illustrative Design Engineering Budget.

	50% Drawings	20% Drawing Review	20% Drawing Submittals	10% Final Record	Total
Architecture	400	160	160	80	800
Mechanical	880	352	352	176	1,760
Electrical	3,725	1,490	1,490	745	7,450
Structural	5,800	2,320	2,320	1,160	11,600
Civil	1,600	640	640	320	3,200
	12,405	4,962	4,962	2,481	24,810

CALCULATIONS

	70% Drawings	20% Drawing Review	10% Drawing Submittals	Total
Architecture	175	50	25	250
Mechanical	252	72	36	360
Electrical	2,240	640	320	3,200
Structural	4,690	1,340	670	6,700
Civil	1,400	400	200	2,000
	8,757	2,502	1,251	12,510

DRAWINGS

	25%	25%	25%	25%	
		Drawing	Drawing	Final	
	Drawings	Review	Submittals	Record	Total
Reproduction	200	200	200	200	800
Doc. Control	200	200	200	200	800
	400	400	400	400	1,600

SPECIFICATIONS

	80%	20%	
_	Specs	Review	Total
Architecture	280	70	350
Mechanical	384	96	480
Electrical	1,680	420	2,100
Structural	1,040	260	1,300
Civil	1,048	262	1,310
Turbine/Gen.	272	68	340
Consultants	108	28	136
Clerical	480	120	600
	5,292	1,324	6,616

SPECIFICATIONS

	50% Specs	50% Review	Total
Reproduction	100	100	200
Doc. Control	100	100	200
	200	200	400

FIGURE 5-3

Example of Time Distribution for Design Calculations, Drawings, and Specifications.
The salary cost times a multiplier method is used for projects when it is difficult to accurately define the scope of work at the time the designer is retained for the project. For these types of projects, preliminary services, such as process studies, development of alternate layout plans, or other services are required to establish information that is needed for the final design. The designer provides a fee schedule to the owner that lists the classification and salary costs of all personnel, and a rate schedule for all other costs that are directly chargeable to the project. Work is then performed based on actual time expended in the design effort. A multiplier, usually within a range from 2.0 to 3.0, is applied to direct salary costs that compensate the design organization for overhead, plus a reasonable margin for contingencies and profit. A larger multiplier may be used for unusual projects that require special expertise, or for projects of short duration or small size. Travel, subsistence, supplies, and other direct non-salary expenses are generally reimbursed at actual costs, plus a 10% to 15% service charge.

The cost plus a fixed payment method is used for projects that have a general description or statement of the scope of contemplated work, such as the number, size, and character of buildings or other facilities and the extent of utilities. The design organization is reimbursed for the actual cost of all salaries, services, and supplies plus a fixed fee that is agreed on between the designer and owner. The fixed fee usually varies from 10% for large projects to 25% for small projects that are short in duration.

Design work may also be compensated based on a percentage of the construction costs of a project, although this method is not as common today as it was in the past. Generally the percentage is on a sliding scale that decreases as the construction cost increases. The percentage also varies depending on the level of design services that are provided, such as design only, design and preparation of drawings, or full design services which include design, preparation of drawings, and observation during construction. The percentage generally will range from 5% to 12% of the anticipated construction cost.

The percentage data given in the above paragraphs are not fixed, nor should the ranges be considered as absolute maximums or minimums. Instead, they are presented as a guide to establish the approximate costs that may be incurred for the design of a project.

CONTRACTOR'S BID

Most of the cost of a project is expended during the construction phase when the contractor must supervise large work forces who operate equipment, procure materials, and physically build the project. The cost of construction is determined by the contractor's bid that has been accepted by the owner before starting the construction process. Depending on the completeness of the design and the amount of risk that is shared between the owner and contractor, there are many methods that have been developed to compensate the construction contractor.

The pricing format for providing construction services can be divided into two general categories: fixed price and cost reimbursable. Fixed price contracts usually **are** classified as lump-sum, unit-price, or a combination of lump-sum and unit-price.

Cost-reimbursable contracts can be classified as cost plus a fixed fee or cost plus a percentage. An incentive is often built into cost-reimbursable contracts to control the total cost of a project. Examples of incentives are "target price" and "guaranteed maximum price."

For projects with a complete set of plans and specifications that have been prepared prior to construction, the contractor can prepare a detailed estimate for the purpose of submitting a lump-sum bid on the project. Only one total-cost figure is quoted to the owner, and this figure represents the amount the owner will pay to the contractor for the completed project, unless there are revisions in the plans or specifications. The contractor's bid is prepared from a detailed estimate of the cost of providing materials, labor, equipment, subcontract work, overhead, and profit.

The preparation of lump-sum detailed estimates generally follows a systematic procedure that has been developed by the contractor for his or her unique construction operations. Building contractors organize their estimates in a format that closely follows the Construction Specification Institute's (CSI) masterformat. The CSI masterformat organizes project information into 16 major divisions and is recognized as the industry standard for building construction. Appendix E provides a listing of the CSI Masterformat level 2 titles and numbers. A typical summary of an estimate of a building construction project is shown in Figure 5-4. Each major

ltem	Division	Material	Labor	Subcontract	Total
1	General requirement	\$ 16,435.00	\$ 36,355.00	\$ 4,882.00	\$ 57.672.00
2	Sie-work	15,070.00	20,123.00	146,186.00	181,389.00
3	Concrete	97,176.00	51,524.00	0.00	148,700.00
4	Masonry	0.00	0.00	212,724.00	212,724.00
5	Metals	212,724.00	59,321.00	0.00	272,045.00
6	Woods and plastics	38,753.00	10,496.00	4,908.00	54,157.00
7	Thermal and moisture	0.00	0.00	138,072.00	138,072.00
8	Doors and windows	36,821.00	32,115.00	0.00	68,936.00
9	Finishes	172,587.00	187,922.00	0.00	360,509.00
10	Specialties	15,748.00	11,104.00	9,525.00	36,377.00
11	Equipment	0.00	0.00	45,729.00	45,729.00
12	Furnishings	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
13	Special construction	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
14	Conveying systems	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
15	Mechanical	0.00	0.00	641,673.00	641,673.00
16	Electrical	0.00	0.00	354,661.00	354,661.00
	Total direct costs	\$605,314.00	\$408,960.00	\$1,558,360.00	\$2,572,644.00
	Material tax (5%) Labor tax (18%)	30,266.00	73,613.00		2,602,910.00 2,676,523.00
	Contingency (2%) Bonds/Insurance Profit (10%)			53,530.00 34,091.00 276,414.00	2,730,053.00 2,764,144.00 3,040,558.00
				Bid price =	= \$3,040,558.00

FIGURE 5-4 Example of Building Construction Project Bid Summary Using the CSI Organization of Work.

division is subdivided into smaller items of work referred to as either broad scope, medium scope, and narrow scope. For example, the work required for division 2, site-work, is subdivided into clearing, excavation, compaction, etc., as illustrated in Figure 5-5.

Heavy engineering construction contractors generally organize their estimates in a work breakdown structure (WBS) that is unique to the project to be constructed. An example of the WBS organization of an estimate for an electric power construction project is illustrated in Figures 5-6 to 5-8. Each group is subdivided into

Cost code	Description	Quantity	Material	Labor	Subcontract	Total
2110	Clearing	L.S.	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$3,694.00	\$3,694.00
2220	Excavation	8,800 vd ³	0.00	11,880.00	9,416.00	21,296.00
2250	Compaction	950 yd ³	0.00	2,223.00	722.00	2,945.00
2294	Handwork	500 yd ²	0.00	1,750.00	0.00	1,750.00
2281	Termite control	L.S.	0.00	0.00	3,475.00	3,475.00
2372	Drilled piers	1,632 lin ft	14,580.00	2,800.00	14,525.00	31,904.00
2411	Foundation drains	14 ea.	490.00	1,470.00	0.00	1,960.00
2480	Landscape	L.S.	0.00	0.00	8,722.00	8,722.00
2515	Paving	4,850 yd²	0.00	0.00	105,633.00	105,633.00
			\$15,070.00	\$20,123.00	\$146,186.00	\$181,389.00

FIGURE 5-5 Division 2 Estimate for Site-work

FIGURE 5-6

Example of Electric Power Construction Bid Summary Using the WBS Organization of Work.[†]

Group	-level report				
No.	Group	Material	Labor and equipment	Subcontract	Total
1100	Switch	C. C. States	Section.	and a starter	and the second sec
	station	\$1,257,295.00	\$ 323,521.00	\$3,548,343.00	\$ 5,128,167.00
2100	Transmission				
	line A	3,381,625.00	1,260,837.00	0.00	4,641,462.00
2300	Transmission				
	line B	1,744,395.00	0.00	614,740.00	2,358,135.00
3100	Substation at				
	spring creek	572,874.00	116,403.00	1,860,355.00	2,549,632.00
4200	Distribution				
	line A	403,297.00	54,273.00	215,040.00	672,610.00
4400	Distribution				
	line B	227,599.00	98,675.00	102,387.00	427,661.00
4500	Distribution				
	line C	398,463.00	21,498.00	113,547.00	532,508.00
		\$7,985,548.00	\$1,872,215.00	\$6,453,412.00	\$16,311,175.00

[†]For large projects the costs are sometimes rounded to the nearest \$100 or \$1,000. Figures 5-6 to 5-8 show full dollars to illustrate the transfer of costs among the component, division, and group levels of an estimate.

divisions of the work required to construct the group; likewise, each division of that work is subdivided into the components shown in Figures 5-7 and 5-8.

The unit-price bid is similar to the lump-sum bid, except that the contractor submits a cost per unit of work in place, such as a cost per cubic yard of concrete. The contract documents define the units the owner will pay the contractor. The final cost is determined by multiplying the bid cost per unit by the actual quantity of work that is installed by the contractor. Thus, the price that the owner will pay to the contractor is not determined until the project has been completed, when the actual quantities are known.

Cost-reimbursable contracts for construction may be used for several reasons; to start construction at the earliest possible date, to allow the owner to make changes

FIGURE 5-7

Example of Electric Power Construction Estimate Using the WBS Organization of Work.

DIVISION-LEVEL REPORT FOR TRANSMISSIONLINE A

Cost item	Description	Material	Labor	Equipment	Total
2100 2210	TRANSMISSIONLIN Fabrication of	IE A			
	steel towers	\$ 692,775.00	\$ 0.00	\$ 0.00	\$ 692,775.00
2370	Tower foundations	83,262.00	62,126.00	71,210.00	216,598.00
2570	Erection of				
	steel towers	0.00	144,141.00	382,998.00	527,139.00
2620	Insulators and				
	conductors	2,605,588.00	183,163.00	274,744.00	3,063,495.00
2650	Shield wire				
	installation	0.00	78,164.00	63,291.00	141,455.00
Tota	l for 2100	\$3,381,625.00	\$467,594.00	\$792,243.00	\$4,641,462.00

FIGURE 5-8

Example of Electric Power Construction Estimate Using the WBS Organization of Work.

COMP	ONENT-LEVELI	REPORT FOR	TOWE	r founi	DATIONS		
Cost Item	Description	Quantity	Ma	iterial	Labor	Equipment	Total
2370	TOWER FOU	NDATIONS					
2372	Drilling foundations	4.196 lin ft	\$	0.00	\$25,428,00	\$44,897,00	\$ 70.325.00
2374	Reinforcing	37.5 tons	28	951 00	22 050 00	15,376,00	66,377,00
2376	Foundation	970 vd3	=0,	206.00	12,000.00	10,142,00	77 000 00
2378	Stub angles	3,142 lb	- 53, 1,	306.00 005.00	13,831.00 817.00	10,143.00 794.00	2,616.00
Tota	l for 2370		\$83,	262.00	\$62,126.00	\$71,210.00	\$216,598.00

in the scope of work without substantial modifications in the contract, or because the project is unique with features that prevent a reasonable approximation of the actual cost of construction. The estimate for this type of project is usually prepared by the contractor as an approximate estimate. The owner and contractor agree on a cost rate for all labor, equipment, and other services that may be charged to the project by the contractor. The contractor is reimbursed for all costs that are accrued during the construction phase of the project plus a percentage of the costs or a fixed fee.

To maintain some degree of control over the total cost of a project, an incentive is often placed on cost-reimbursable contracts. For example, the contract may be awarded on a cost plus basis with a guaranteed maximum price, commonly called a GMP contract. For a GMP contract, the owner and contractor agree on a guaranteed maximum price prior to the start of construction. They also agree on the distribution of costs that each will incur if the final cost is above or below the guaranteed maximum price. Then, during construction, the contractor is reimbursed for actual costs plus a fixed fee or percentage of actual costs. If the actual final cost is above or below the difference of costs is distributed between the owner and contractor. To illustrate, if the cost exceeds the guaranteed maximum price, the contractor may pay 70% of the cost and the owner pays 30% of the cost. If the cost is less than the guaranteed maximum price, the contractor receives 60% of the reduced costs and the owner receives 40%.

QUESTIONS FOR CHAPTER 5--PROJECT BUDGETING

- 1 Usually each of the three principal parties (the owner, designer, and contractor) prepares a cost estimate at different times during the life of a project. Describe the purpose of each estimate and the impact that estimating errors may have on the other two parties.
- **2** Why is it important to define the range of accuracy, in percentage, that should be applied to any estimate? Who should set this range and who should be informed of the selected range?
- **3** Prepare a cost estimate for the construction of a small, high-quality office building that contains 18,525 ft² of floor area. Use the data in Figure 5-1 to prepare the estimate. Assume the cost of design for the project is 7% of construction, and a site-work cost of \$180,000. What range of percentage of this cost would you recommend to define the level of accuracy?
- 4 Use the time and location indices in Example 5-2 to estimate the cost of a high-quality office building that contains $64,500 \text{ ft}^2$ of floor area. The building is to be constructed 2 years from now in city A. The cost of a similar type building that contains $95,000 \text{ ft}^2$ was completed last year in city C for a cost of \$7,790,000.
- 5 During the feasibility study of a project, the initial estimated cost for design and construction is \$3.7 million. It is anticipated that the cost to maintain and operate the facility after completion of construction will be \$250,000 per year. Assuming the owner **must** obtain a return on the initial investment of 15%, what net annual income must he received to economically justify the project? Assume no salvage value after using the facility for 12 years.
- 6 The cost estimate of a project is \$3.5 million. Annual costs for maintaining and operating the facility are forecast as \$250,000 per year After 8 years, it is anticipated the facility will

be sold for \$2.0 million. If the owner requires a 15% return on his or her investment, what net annual income must be received to recover the capital investment of the project?

7 The initial investment for a project is \$4.7 million. A net annual profit of \$1.5 million is anticipated. Using a 12% desired rate of return on the investment, what is the pay back period for the project?

REFERENCES

- 1 Ahuja, H. N. and Campbell, W. J., *Estimating: From Concept to Completion*, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1987.
- 2 Building Estimator's Reference Book, The Frank R. Walker Company, Chicago.
- *3 Consulting Engineering A Guide for the Engagement of Engineering Services,* Manual No. 45, American Society of Civil Engineers, Reston, VA, 1988.
- 4 Current Practice in Cost Estimating and Cost Control, Conference Proceedings, American Society of Civil Engineers, Reston, VA, 1983.
- 5 Engineering New Record, a publication of the McGraw-Hill Companies, published weekly, New York.
- 6 Means Cost Guide, Robert Snow Means Company, Duxbury, MA, published annually.
- 7 Neil, J. M., *Construction Cost Estimating for Project Control*, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1982.
- 8 Palmer, W. J., Coombs, W. E., and Smith, M. A., *Construction Accounting and Financial Management*, 5th ed., McGraw-Hill, Inc., New York, 1995.
- 9 Parker, A. D., Barrie, D. S., and Snyder, R. N., *Planning and Estimuting Heavy Construction*, McGraw-Hill, Inc., New York, 1984.
- 10 Peurifoy, R. L. and Oberlender, G. D., *Estimating Construction Costs*, 4th ed., McGraw-Hill, Inc., New York, 1989.
- 11 "The Richardson Rapid System," *Process Plant Construction Estimating Standards*, Richardson's Engineering Services, Inc., Mesa, AZ, published annually.
- 12 White, J. A, Agee, M. H., and Case, K. E., *Principles of Engineering Economic Analysis*, Wiley, New York, 1989.

6

DEVELOPMENT OF WORK PLAN

PROJECT MANAGER'S INITIAL REVIEW

The discussion of developing the project work plan in this chapter is based on handling the project in its early stage of development, prior to design. It is presented **from** this perspective because the ability to influence the overall quality, cost, and schedule of a project can best be achieved during design. Most books and articles discuss project management during the construction phase, after design is completed. At this time in the life of a project the scope of work is fully defined, the budget is fixed, and the completion date is firm. It is then too late to make any significant adjustments in the project to improve quality, cost, or schedule to benefit the owner.

When a project manager is assigned to a project, his or her first duty is to gather all the background material that has been prepared by the sponsoring organization. This includes the owner's study and the contract that has been signed by the project manager's organization. These documents must be thoroughly reviewed to be certain there is a well-defined scope, an approved budget, and a schedule that shows major milestones for the project, in particular the required completion date.

The purpose of this initial review process is to become familiar with the owner's objectives, the overall project needs, and to identify any additional information that may be needed to begin the process of developing a work plan to manage the project. To organize the review process it is best to divide the questions into the three categories that define a project: scope, budget, and schedule. To guide this initial review, the project manager should continually ask questions like those shown in **Table** 6-1.

TABLE **6-1** GUIDELINES FOR PROJECT MANAGER'S INITIAL PROJECT REVIEW

Scope

- 1. What is missing?
- 2. Does it seem reasonable?
- 3. What is the best way to do this?
- 4. What additional information is needed?
- 5. What technical expertise is needed?
- 6. How is the best way to handle construction?
- 7. What is the owner's expected level of quality?
- 8. What codes and regulations are applicable?

Budget

- 1. Does the budget seem reasonable?
- 2. How was the budget determined?
- 3. Who prepared the budget?
- 4. When was the budget prepared?
- 5. Should any portion of the budget be rechecked?
- 6. Has the budget been adjusted for time & location?

Schedule

- 1. Does the schedule seem reasonable?
- 2. How was the schedule determined?
- 3. When was the schedule prepared?
- 4. Who prepared the schedule?
- 5. How firm is the completion date?
- 6. Are there penalties or bonuses?

OWNER'S ORIENTATION

After the project manager has performed the initial project review and become familiar with the project, the owner's authorized representative should be identified and a meeting scheduled to set up the necessary coordination arrangements with the owner. The owner's representative serves two roles in a project: as a participant in providing information and clarifying project requirements, and as a reviewer and approver of all team decisions. The owner must be considered an integral part of the project team, beginning at the start of the project and continuing through all phases until completion.

During this initial meeting, the owner's authorized representative should set priorities for the project. There are four elements of concern for a project: quality, scope, time, and cost. Jt is understood that quality is an element that must be satisfied. The owner should set the level of quality that is expected in the project. There must be a mutual understanding of quality between the project manager and the owner's representative. Scope is the fixed quantity of work to be performed. It may be expanded or reduced by the owner as the project proceeds, generally depending on the costs. The priority of time or cost is set by the owner. Frequently, time is initially set as a priority over cost. However, cost may take precedence over time if the market for the product changes or other conditions arise. If a priority is not set, the project manager must attempt to optimize time and cost.

The level of involvement required by the owner's representative must be determined at the beginning of the project. If he or she wants to sign everything, then the project manager must include time in the project schedule and cost into the budget for the owner's involvement. Two-way communication is an absolute requirement. The project manager should also inform the owner's representative of how he or she plans to create a project team that will be coordinated to represent each part of the project.

This initial meeting also gives both the owner's representative and the project manager the opportunity to meet each other. At this meeting it may be desirable to visit with others in the owner's organization that may be concerned with the project. Issues to discuss might include clarification of goals and requirements, desired level of quality, any uniqueness about the project, financing, regulatory agencies, and approval process.

In some instances this meeting may be the project manager's first introduction to the owner's representative. Because many owners expect an all-knowing project **manager**, some precautions need to be taken. Since the project team has not yet been formed, all discussions should focus on the work to be **performed** rather than on **work** that has been completed. Ideally, the project manager should have assisted in the proposal preparation that was approved by the owner to proceed with the project. This gives the project manager a better understanding of the history behind the project and previous contact with the owner's representative.

ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURES

Each project manager is affected by the environment in which he or she works. The organization of a company can have a large impact on the ability to manage a project. Figures 6-1 through 6-5 show various organizational structures of companies. A project manager may work for a company that is organized as shown in these figures, or he or she may manage a project for a client whose company organization is similar to one of these organizational structures.

If a company is product oriented, it will be organized around manufacturing and marketing of the product, with the priority of decisions focused on products. A company that is service oriented will be organized around providing customer service. The design and construction of a project is a means to an end for the company to provide a product or service and does not represent the primary function of that company. This secondary emphasis on a project can hamper the work of a project manager.

The organizational structure shown in Figure 6-1 is an example of a business with an emphasis on manufacturing and marketing of products. The engineering portion of the company exists to support the manufacturing operation. Manufacturing exists to produce the product for the marketing group to sell. Questions related to the engineering/construction of a project for this company would typically be directed to the engineering department. However, the answers to these questions often



Traditional Management Organization (Production Line/Business Oriented),

come from the manufacturing department, which in turn may have to obtain input from the marketing group. This requires a channel of communications between various parties that can cause misinterpretation of information and a delay in obtaining answers. A project manager performing work for a company that is organized as shown in Figure 6-1 should include a contingency in the project schedule for delays of owner responses, and should be alert to the potential for scope growth.

An example of a functional organization is illustrated by the electrical power company shown in Figure 6-2. The company emphasis is on generation, transmission, and distribution of electrical power services. Utilities and governmental agencies are usually organized in functional departments. This type of organization is efficient for the design and construction of projects involving a single function, such as the **design** and construction of a transmission line or a substation. However, if a project involves design and construction of a unit of a power station, plus two transmission lines and a substation, it can be difficult to identify the **project** within the organization. There is a tendency for the project to **pass** from one department to another if a single project manager is not assigned overall responsibility. This can lead to lost information and schedule delays. Even if a single project manager is assigned, coordinating across departments lines can be difficult.

Figure 6-3 shows a typical work environment of a consulting engineering company that provides design services for projects. The company emphasis is discipline



FIGURE 6-2

Functional Organization (Electrical Power Company).







oriented, involving a group of specialists who share knowledge and technical expertise. Overemphasizing separate disciplines can encourage competition and conflicts at the expense of the whole organization, resulting in focus on internal department operations rather than external relations and project work. When **emphasis** is focused on internal departments, decision making and communication channels tend to be vertical, rather than horizontal, with little attention paid to costs, schedules, and coordination.

Many consulting engineering companies are organized as shown in Figure 6-3. For small projects with short durations this type of organization is efficient. However, project management can be hindered because some of the engineers have a dual role, as both a designer and a project manager. As the number of disciplines





increases, coordination of complex projects becomes more difficult. For example, a complex project may involve architectural, civil, structural, mechanical, and electrical engineering work. The work may begin with the architectural layout, followed by the various engineering designs. As the work moves from discipline to discipline, the project identity can be lost and it becomes difficult to know where the project is or what its status is. By the time the project reaches the last discipline there may not be enough budget left to complete the work. Discipline organizations develop a strong resistance to change.

Another type of organizational structure for a consulting engineering company is shown in Figure 6-4. The company is organized into functional departments: buildings, heavy/civil, process, and transportation. The disciplines are dispersed among the functional departments and serve on design teams for projects that are assigned to the department. Lead designers are appointed as team leaders to manage the design effort. Each designer remains in his or her functional department to provide technical expertise for the project. However, if there is a decline in the number of projects in one or more departments, one or more designers may be transferred to another functional department. This can he disruptive to the management of projects.

To increase emphasis on project cost, schedule, and general coordination, a matrix organization as shown in Figure 6-5 is often used. The objective is to retain the design disciplines in their **home** departments so technical expertise is not lost, and to create a projects group that is responsible for overall project coordination. To accomplish this the designer has two channels of communications, one to the technical supervisor and another to the project manager. Issues related to technical expertise are addressed vertically while issues related to the project are addressed horizontally.

The matrix organization provides a work environment with emphasis on the project. Each project is defined by a horizontal line on the matrix. The project manager is responsible for overall project coordination, interfacing of disciplines, client relations, and monitoring of overall project costs and schedules. The various design



Matrix Organization (Design Firm).

disciplines are responsible for providing technical expertise, quality performance, and the cost and schedule for their **particular** part of the uroject. No one person works for the other on the project team; instead everyone works for the project. The project manager is the leader of the team and serves as a focal point for integrating responsibility.

A matrix defines lines of communications but does not indicate the authority for conflict resolution. A matrix **may** be defined as a "strong matrix," where project managers have the authority to decide what is good for the overall project. At the opposite end of the spectrum is the "weak matrix," where discipline managers have the authority in decision making. A discipline supervisor may be more concerned with his or her technical area than the overall project. Designers are usually concerned with producing the best design possible, sometimes at the expense of project cost or schedule and without regard to the effect on other departments.

The success of project management in the matrix organization depends on the philosophy of the company and the attitude of the employees. Too much emphasis on disciplines can lead to time and cost problems. Likewise, too much emphasis on **projects** can lead to inefficiencies and quality problems due to losing control of and

contact with the technical departments. Therefore, there must be a balance between managing the project and providing technical expertise. Mutual respect among disciplines is essential. The project manager relies on the expertise of each team member and recognizes that everyone is a key player on the team of a successful project. A "can do" attitude must exist, with a drive to complete a quality project in an efficient manner that meets the needs of the owner. What is good for the project is good for the entire company. Effective communications among team members is a must.

As a project moves from the design phase to the construction phase, a work structure must be developed around the work that must be accomplished in the field. A project organization must be developed that is matched to the project to be constructed. Management of the project is best performed in the field, where the actual work is being performed.

WORK BREAKDOWN STRUCTURE

For any size project, large or small, it is necessary to develop a well-defined work breakdown structure (WBS) that divides the project into identifiable parts that can be managed. The concept of the WBS is simple; in order to manage a whole project, one must manage and control each of its parts. The WBS is the cornerstone of the project work plan. It defines the work to be performed, identifies the needed expertise, assists in selection of the project team, and establishes a base for project scheduling and control. Chapters 8 and 9 show how the WBS is used in project scheduling and tracking.

A WBS is a graphical display of the project that shows the division of work in a multi-level system. Figure 6-6 is a simple illustrative example of a WBS for a project that has three major facilities: site-work, utilities, and buildings. Each major facility is subdivided into smaller components. For example, the major facility of buildings is subdivided into three buildings: office, maintenance, and warehouse. The project is further broken down so the components at each level are subsets of the next higher level. The number of levels in a WBS will vary depending upon the size and complexity of the project. The smallest unit in the WBS is a work package. A work package must be defined in sufficient detail so the work can be measured, budgeted, scheduled, and controlled. Development of work packages is discussed later in this chapter.

The development of the WBS is a continuing process that starts when the project is first assigned to the project manager and continues until all work packages have been defined. The project manager starts the procers of developing the WBS by identifying major areas of the project. As members of the project team define the work to be performed in more detail, the WBS is adjusted accordingly. Thus, the WBS is used from the start to the finish of the project for planning and controlling. It is an effective means of defining the whole project, by parts, and providing effective communication channels for exchange of information that is necessary for management of the project.

The WBS is the foundation of a project management system. Code numbers can be used to relate the WBS to the Organizational Breakdown Structure (OBS) for



FIGURE 6-6

Illustrative Work Breakdown Structure (WBS).

10

management of people. Code numbers can also be used to relate the WBS to the Cost Breakdown Structure (CBS) for management of costs. Similarly, code numbers can relate the WBS to the Critical Path Method (CPM) schedule to manage time. Thus, the WBS provides a systematic approach for identifying work, compiling the budget, and developing an integrated schedule. Since the WBS is developed jointly by the project team, the people that will actually perform the work, it is an effective tool for relating work activities to ensure that all work is included and that work is not duplicated. Most importantly, it provides a basis for measurement of performance.

FORMING THE PROJECT TEAM

A key concept in project management is to organize the project around the work to be accomplished. After review of all backup material from the owner's study and all other information that is known about the project, the project manager should develop a preliminary WBS that identifies the major tasks that must be performed. A detailed list of tasks should be prepared and grouped into phases that show the sequencing of tasks and the interdependences of work. This provides identity for the project to assist in selection of resources and the technical expertise that will be required of the project team. A time schedule should be attached to each task. All this preparatory work is required because the project manager cannot effectively form the project team until the work to be done is known. In essence the project manager must develop a preproject work plan, which should be reviewed by his or her supervisor. This plan will be expanded into a final project work plan after the project team is formed.

After the preparatory work is complete, the project manager is responsible for organizing the project team to achieve project objectives. The project manager and appropriate discipline managers are jointly responsible for selecting team members. This can sometimes be difficult because every project manager wants the best people on his or her team. Each project has a specific list of needs, but the overall utilization of all people in the company must be considered. It is not practical to shift key personnel from project to project; therefore compromise in the assignment of people is required. The assignment of appropriate staff for a project must take into consideration the special technical expertise needed and personnel available on a company-wide basis.

The project team consists of members from the various discipline departments (architectural, civil, structural, mechanical, electrical, etc.), project controls (estimating, planning and scheduling, quality control, etc.), and the owner's representative. The number of team members will vary with the size and complexity of the project. The project manager serves as leader of the team. All team members represent their respective discipline's area of expertise and are responsible for early detection of potential problems that can have an adverse effect on the project's objectives, cost, or schedule. If a problem occurs, each team member is to notify his immediate supervisor and the project manager.

It is important that each team member clearly understands the project objectives and realizes his or her importance in contributing to the overall success of the project. Accooperative working relationship is necessary between all team members. Although the project manager is the normal contact person for all discipline departments involved in the project, he or she may delegate contact responsibility to lead members of the team. Since the initiative and responsibility to meet project objectives, costs, and schedules rests with the project manager, he or she should be kept fully advised and informed.

The project manager must organize, coordinate, and monitor the progress of team members to ensure the work is completed in an orderly manner. He or she should also maintain frequent contact with the owner's representative.

KICK-OFF MEETING

After formation of the project team, the project manager calls the first team meeting, commonly called the kick-off meeting. It is one of the most important meetings in project management and is held prior to starting any work. The purpose of the kick-off meeting is to get the team members together to identify who is working the project and to provide them with the same base of knowledge about the project so they will feel like they are a part of the team. It is important for the project manager to fully understand the project objectives, needs, budget, and schedule and to transmit this information to team members early in the project. In particular the scope of work must be closely reviewed.

The luck-off meeting allows the team to set priorities, identify problem areas, clarify member responsibilities, and to provide general orientation so the team can act as a unit with a common set of goals. At the meeting the project manager should present project requirements and the initial work plan, discuss working procedures, and establish communication links and working relationships. Every effort should be made to eliminate any ambiguities or misunderstandings related to scope, budget, and schedule. These three elements of a project cannot be changed without approval of both the project manager and the owner's representative.

Prior to the meeting the project manager should prepare general project information data, including the project name (that will be used for all documents and correspondence), project location, job account number, and other information needed by the project team. Standards, CADD requirements, policies, procedures, and any other requirements should also be presented. It is important to provide this information to key people on the project so they know the project is approved for work and feel that they are a part of the team. The project manager should visit with key team members prior to the meeting to identify and resolve any peculiar problems and clarify any uncertainties.

In general the meeting is short in duration, but it is the first step in understanding what needs to be done, who is going to do it, when it is to be done, and what the costs will be. This is not a design meeting but an orientation meeting. The project manager must keep the meeting moving and not get overly involved in details. Minutes of the meeting must be recorded and distributed to team members. In particular, there should be documentation of the information that is distributed, the agreements among the team members, and the identification of team concerns or questions that require future action by the project manager or team members.

TABLE 6-2

KICK-OFF MEETING CHECK LIST

- 1. Review the agenda and purpose of the meeting
- 2. Distribute the project title, account number, and general information needed by the project team
- 3. Introduce team members and identify their areas of expertise and responsibility
- 4. Review project goals, needs, requirements, & scope (including guidelines, limitations, problems)
- 5. Review the project feasibility estimate of the owner & the approved budget for the project team
- 6. Review the project preliminay schedule & milestones
- Review the initial project work plan: How to handle design How to handle procurement How to handle construction
- 8. Discuss assignments to team members: Ask each member of the team ----->(who?) To review the scope of work required in their area ---> (what?) To develop a preliminary schedule for their work ---> (when?) To develop a preliminary estimate for their work ---> (how much?)
- 9. Ask each team member to prepare design work packages for their responsible work and report this information to the project manager within two weeks
- 10. Establish the next team meeting, write minutes of kick-off meeting, and distribute to each team member and management

There are three important purposes of the kick-off meeting: to orient team members regarding project objectives and needs, to distribute the project manager's overall project plan, and to assign to each team member the responsibility of preparing work packages for the work required in his or her area of expertise. Work packages should be prepared and returned to the project manager within two weeks of the kick-off meeting. To facilitate orderly conduct of the meeting and to ensure that important items are covered, the project manager should use a check list for the kick-off meeting as illustrated in Table 6-2.

WORK PACKAGES

The project manager is responsible for organizing a work plan for the project; however he or she cannot finalize the project plan without extensive input from each team member. The kick-off meeting should serve as an effective orientation for team members to learn the project requirements and restrictions of budget and schedule. At that meeting the project manager assigns each team member to review the scope of work required of his or her respective expertise, to identify any problems, and to develop a budget and schedule required to meet the scope. This can be accomplished by preparing a design work package that describes the work to be provided.

Each team member is responsible for the development of one or more work packages for the work he or she is to perform. A work package provides a detailed description of the work required to meet project needs and to match the project manager's initial work plan. The work packages should be assembled by each team member and supplied to the project manager within two weeks of the kick-off meeting.

A work package is divided into three categories: scope, budget, and schedule. Figure 6-7 illustrates the contents of a work package. The scope describes the required work and services to be provided. It should be described in sufficient detail so other team members, who are providing related work, can interface their work accordingly. This is important because a common problem in project management is coordinating related work. There is a risk of the same work being done by **two** persons, or work not being done at all, because two people are each thinking the other person is providing the work. Team members must communicate among themselves during the process of preparing the work packages for a project.

A work package is the lowest level in the WBS and establishes the baseline for project scheduling, tracking, and cost control. The work package is extremely important for project management because it relates the work to be performed to time, cost, and people. As shown in the budget section of Figure 6-7, a code account number relates the work to the CBS. Likewise, the schedule section has a code number that relates the work to the OBS. The CBS is used for management of project costs and is further discussed in Chapter 9. The OBS code number identifies and links the work to the people. Many articles have been published that discuss the relationship of the work packages to the WBS, OBS, and CBS.

The preparation of the budget portion of a work package requires a careful evaluation of all resources needed to produce the work. All work tasks and items must be budgeted, including personnel, computer services, reproduction expenses, travel, expendable supplies, and incidental costs.

Team members must consider their overall work load when they prepare the schedule portion of a work package. Since team members are generally assigned to one or more projects, their other assigned duties and future commitments to other projects must be considered when preparing a work package for a new project. The failure of team members to carefully integrate the schedule of all projects for which they are assigned is a common source of late completion of projects. Too often team members overcommit their time without making allowances for potential interruptions and unforeseen delays in their work. All tasks should be identified and scheduled.

FOLLOW-UP WORK

After the exchange of information at the kick-off meeting and a review of the required work by each team member, there may be a need to readjust the work breakdown structure of the initial project plan. A team member may have the **capability** to **perform** the work, but may determine that the magnitude of the work is in excess

	Work Package
Title:	
WBS	Code:
. Scope	
Required Scope of Work:	
Services to Be Provided:	
Services not included in this \	Work Package, but included in another work package:
Services not included in this	Work Package, but will be performed by:
2. Budget	CBS Work- Code Computer Services
Personnel Assigned to Job	Hours \$-Cost Acct. Type Hours \$-Cos
Tot C	al Work-Hours = Personnel Costs = \$ omputer Hours = Computer Costs = \$
	TravelReproductionOtherExpensesExpensesExpenses
	+ + =>
	Total Budget = \$-Labor + \$-Computer + \$-Other ≈ \$
Code Work Task	Responsible Person Start Date End Date
	Work Package: Start Dage End Date:
Additional Comments:	
	Date
Prepared by:	Batel

FIGURE 6-7 Team Member's Design Work Package. of what he or she can schedule because of prior commitment to other projects. Thus, a part or all of his or her portion of the project may require assignment to outside contract work. Another option would be a restaffing of the project based on the **overall** available resources of the project manager's organization. These situations should be resolved within two weeks of the kick-off meeting.

An accumulation of the budgets from all the team's work packages provides an estimated cost for the total project. If the estimated cost exceeds the approved budget, the project manager is made aware of this situation early in the project, within two weeks of the luck-off meeting. The team as a whole must then work together to determine alternative methods of handling the project to keep the estimated cost within the approved budget. If it cannot be resolved within the team, the project manager must work with his or her supervisor to determine a workable solution. If a solution cannot be found, the owner must be advised so an agreeable solution can he determined for a scope of work that matches the approved budget. It is important to resolve issues of this nature at the beginning of the project, when choices of alternatives can be made, rather than later when it is too late.

After receipt of all work packages, the project manager must integrate the schedules of all team members to develop a schedule for the entire project. If the project schedule exceeds the required completion date, the team as a whole must work together to determine alternative methods of scheduling the work. If the discrepancy between the planned schedule and required schedule cannot be resolved within the **team**, the project manager must then resolve the issue with his or her supervisor. **If** the required schedule cannot be achieved, then the owner must he advised so that acceptable agreements can be reached.

Issues related to project scope, budget, and schedule must be resolved early. Effective communication and cooperation among team members is necessary. The results of the team assignments and definitions of work packages allow the project manager to finalize the work breakdown structure that forms the foundation of the project work plan. After receipt of all information, the project manager can finalize the overall plan to manage the project.

PROJECT WORK PLAN

The project manager must develop a written work plan for each project that identifies the work that needs to be done, who is going to do it, when it is to be done, and what the costs will be. The level of detail should be sufficient to allow all project participants to understand what is expected of them in each phase and time period of the project; otherwise there is no basis for control. It is important that a participatory approach be used and that team members understand project requirements, jointly resolve conflicts, and eliminate overlaps or gaps in related work. There must be agreements on priorities, schedule, and budget.

Upon receipt of all the team members' work packages the project manager can assemble the final project work plan. Table 6-3 provides the basic components of a work plan: the directory, tasks, schedule, and budget. The project directory contains all pertinent information, such as project title, number, objectives, and scope. The

TABLE 6-3

COMPONENTS OF A PROJECT WORK PLAN

Directory

Project title and number Project objectives and scope Project organizational chart

Tasks

Detailed listing of tasks Grouping of tasks Work packages

Schedule

Sequencing and interdependencies of tasks Anticipated duration of each task Calendar start and finish dates of tasks

Budget

Labor-hours and cost of staff for each task Other expenses anticipated for each task Billing approach and anticipated revenue by month

Measurement

Accomplishment of tasks Completion of work packages Number of drawings produced

project organization chart shows all participants, including the owner's representative. The detailed list of tasks, and grouping of tasks, is derived from the work breakdown structure. The sequencing and scheduling of tasks can be obtained by integrating the schedules of work packages provided by team members. Likewise, the budget can be obtained from a summary of the costs from all work packages.

Once the work plan is finalized it serves as a document to coordinate all work and as a guide to manage the overall effort of the project. It becomes the base **for** control of all work. Appendix **A** illustrates the components of a work plan for a project: work breakdown structure, project organizational chart, sample work package, and project schedule. Note the transfer of **information** from one component to another to form the integrated work **plan**.

The first step in **organizing** a **project** is development of a WBS. The WBS defines the work to be **accomplished**, but does not define who is responsible for performing the work. A successful project depends on people to make things happen. However, merely selecting good people is not enough. A key function in project management is to organize the project around the work to be accomplished and then select the right people to perform the work **within** the approved budget and schedule.

After the **WBS** is complete, the next step is to link the OBS from the company to the required work that is defined in the WBS. Figure 6-8 illustrates the linking of the WBS and OBS to identify the various disciplines that are responsible for each part of the WBS. The project manager, with the assistance of discipline managers, can



Linking the WBS and OBS.

then begin the process of selecting individuals from the various discipline departments who will form the project team.

The linking of the WBS and OBS establishes the project framework for management of the project. After the project framework is defined, a project schedule can be developed to guide the timing of activities and interface-related work. The time and cost required to accomplish each activity can be obtained from the work packages. The CPM technique is the most common network scheduling system that is used in the engineering and construction industry. Techniques for project scheduling are discussed in Chapter 8.

After completion of the project framework, a coding system, often referred to as a Cost Breakdown System, can be developed to identify each component of the WBS. The coding system provides a common code of accounts used by all participants in



Phases of Development of Work Plan.

the project because it is directly related to the **WBS**, that is, the work to be performed. Coding systems are discussed in Chapters 8 and 9.

The integration of the WBS, OBS, and CPM forms the project plan, which is the base for project tracking and control. A code of accounts can be developed that relates the required work (defined in the WBS) to the people (shown on the OBS) who will do the work in accordance with the schedule (shown on the CPM) to complete the project. Thus, the WBS, OBS, and CPM must be linked together to form an all-encompassing project plan.

To be effective, a system of project management must integrate all aspects of the project; the work to be done, who is going to do it, when it is to be done, and what the cost will be. Actual work can then be compared to planned work, in order to evaluate the progress of a project and to develop trends to forecast at completion costs and schedules.

The development phases of the project work plan are illustrated in Figure 6-9. Topics related to project definition were discussed in Chapters 3 and 5. Project framework is presented in this chapter. Project scheduling and tracking is presented in Chapters 8 and 9, respectively.

QUESTIONS FOR CHAPTER 6-DEVELOPMENT OF WORK PLAN

- 1 As discussed in this chapter, the work environment of a project manager can have a significant impact on his or her ability to manage projects. Describe factors that may help or hinder the work of a project manager in each of the following organizational structures: functional organization, discipline organization, and matrix organization.
- 2 You are the project manager of a project that has the following facilities: security entrance, driveways, parking, landscape, small office building, fabrication building, communication

building, and a recreational building. Develop a preliminary work breakdown structure for the project. Identify the engineering disciplines required for the design of the project.

- **3** Describe the purpose of a kick-off meeting for a project. What are typical items that are presented and discussed during the meeting, including specific assignments that a project manager should ask of team members?
- 4 Briefly describe the contents of a design work package, who assigns it, when it is assigned, who completes it, and when it should be completed.
- **5** As the project manager for a project, discuss options that might be considered for one of your team members who is having difficulty completing a design work package. Discuss options for each of the following situations: difficulty in defining the scope of work, difficulty in finding experienced personnel that can be assigned to tasks in the work package, and difficulty in estimating the time that it may take to complete the work.
- 6 You are the project manager for a project and have just compiled all the design work packages and found that the costs exceed the approved budget. Describe the options that you would consider to manage the discrepancy.
- 7 The basic contents of a project work plan are shown in Table 6-3. Identify the contents that relate to the fundamental questions of Who? Does what? When? and How much?
- 8 For the basic components of a project work plan shown in Table 6-3, idenlify the components that relate to the organization structure, work breakdown structure, cost breakdown structure, and the Critical Path Method for project scheduling.
- 9 The development of a work plan for a project follows four phases: project definition, framework, schedule, and tracking. Identify and briefly describe the parts that make up each of these four phases.

REFERENCES

- 1 Cable, D. and Adams, J. R., Organizing for Project Management, Project Management Institute, Newtown Square, PA, 1982.
- 2 Eldin, N. N., "Management of Engineering/Design Phase," *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*, ASCE, Reston, VA, Vol. 117, No. 1, March 1991.
- 3 Emling, R. E., "A Code-of-Accounts from an Owner's Point of View." *Transactions of the American Association of Cost Engineers*, Morgantown, WV, 1970.
- 4 Handbook for Preparation of Work Breakdown Structures, NHB 5610, National Aeronautics Space Agency, Washington, D.C., 1975.
- 5 Johnston, D. C., "Planning Engineering and Construction Projects," *Engineering Management Division Symposium*, ASCE, Reston, VA, 1986.
- 6 Neil, J. N., *Manual for Special Project Management*, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, July 1991.
- 7 Quality in the Constructed Project: A Guide for Owners, Designers, and Contractors, Volume 1, Manual No. 73, ASCE, Reston, VA, 1990.

7

DESIGN PROPOSALS

EVOLUTION OF PROJECTS

This chapter is written from the perspective of the project manager who is responsible for managing the design effort. Therefore, the use of project manager in this chapter refers to the design project manager. The material presented and discussed in this chapter on engineering design is an illustrative example of applying the principles and techniques of project management presented in Chapter 6. For example, *scope* refers to the scope of work required for the design effort, *budget* refers to the cost for providing design services, and *schedule* refers to the schedule for performing the design work.

A project is in a continual state of change as it develops from conception to completion. Because there are perpetual changes in a project, the design project manager should be involved at the beginning of the project and remain with the project until final completion. Continuity of the design project manager is crucial to a successful project. In all instances, the project manager is the prime contact with the sponsor of the project. Changes in a project are a major issue for the design team. Changes occur as a project progresses through the following phases:

- Sponsor's development phase
- Project organization phase Engineering phase
- Procurement phase
- Construction phase
- System testing and start-up phase
- Project completion and contract close-out phase

The sponsor's development phase usually ends in a request for proposal (RFP) to further develop the project. At this time in the development of a project there must be a clear understanding of the proposal request and the sponsor's goals. Various **names** are given to the sponsor, including owner, business unit, operating group, client, customer, and end user. Essentially, the sponsor is the organization that requests the work and will use the work when it is completed. It is important for the design team to have a clear understanding of the desired outcome of the project and the reasons the project is being undertaken by the sponsor.

PROJECT EXECUTION PLAN

The first step in developing a design proposal is development of the project execution plan to manage the design process. The plan must include the scope of work covered in the RFP and interfaces with others who will be involved in the project, including both in-house and contract personnel. Too often, **RFPs** have vaguely defined scopes of work that will later cause unforeseen additional work, which adversely impacts the budget and schedule.

The plan must also include a milestone schedule that shows major phases **and** areas of work, including critical due dates. An overall preliminary budget must be developed to guide the project to ensure there are no unexpected surprises as the project develops.

PROJECT DEFINITION

Although project definition is primarily the responsibility of the sponsor's organization, often the design organization is involved in assisting project definition. Early questions of the design team include: What do we know about the project? What are we trying to do? What work do we need to do? The answers to these questions depend on a good definition of the project. It is not possible to define the scope of design work without a good definition of the project. Project definition is a prerequisite to engineering design.

Poor project scope definition is the source of project changes, rework, schedule delays, and cost overruns. The preproject planning research team of the Construction Industry **Institute** developed the Project Definition Rating Index (PDRI) as a tool to measure the level of definition of a project (see Figure 7-1). It allows a project team to quantify, rate, and assess the level of scope development on projects prior to authorization for detailed design or construction. The central premise of the research team effort was that teams must be working on the right project in a collaborative manner (alignment) and performing the right work (scope definition) during preproject planning.

The PDRI consists of 70 elements, grouped into 15 categories, which are further grouped into 3 broad sections (see Figure 7-1). To determine the PDRI, each of the elements are rated on a scale from 1 through 5. An element rating of 1 represents complete definition whereas a rating of 5 represents incomplete or poor definition of the element. The sum of the element weights is the composite weighted score of

- I Basis of Project Decision
- A. Manufacturing Objectives Criteria
 - A1. Reliability Philosophy
 - A2. Maintenance Philosophy
 - A3 Operating Philosophy
- B. Business Objectives
 - B1. Products
 - B2. Market Strategy
 - B3. Project Strategy
 - B4. Affordability/Feasibility
 - **B**5. Capacities
 - B6. Future Expansion Considerations
 - 87. Expected Project Life Cycle
 - B8. Social Issues
- C. Basic Data Research & Development
 - C1. Technology
 - C2. Processes
- D. Project Scope
 - D1. Project Objectives Statement
 - D2. Project Design Criteria
 - D3. Site Characteristics Available vs. Required
 - D4. Dismantling & Demolition Requirements
 - D5. Lead/Discipline Scope of Work
 - D6. Project Schedule
- E. Value Engineering
 - EI. Process Simplification
 - E2. Design & Material Alternatives Considered/Rejected
 - E3. Design for Constructability Analysis
- II Front End Definition
- F. Site Information
 - F1. Site Location
 - F2. Surveys & Soil Tests
 - F3. Environmental Assessment
 - F4. Permit Requirements
 - F5. Utility Sources with Supply Conds.
 - F6. Fire Protection & Safety Considerations
- G. Process/Mechanical
 - G1. Process Flow Sheets
 - G2. Heat & Material Balances
 - G3. Piping & Instrmt Diagrams (P&IDs)
 - G4. Process Safety Mgmt. (PSM)
 - G5. Utility Flow Diagrams
 - G6. Specifications
 - G7. Piping System Requirements

- G. Process/Mechanical (continued)
 - G8. Plot Plan
 - G9. Mechanical Equipment List
 - G10. Line List
 - G11. Tie-in List
 - G12. Piping Specialty Items List
- H. Equipment Scope
 - H1. Equipment Status
 - H2. Equipment Location Drawing
 - H3. Equipment Utility Requirements
- I. Civil, Structural, & Architectural
 - I1. Civil/Structural Requirements
 - 12. Architectural Requirements
- J. Infrastructure
 - J1. Water Treatment Requirements
 - J2. Loading/Unloading/Storage Facilities Requirements
 - J3. Transportation Requirements
- K. Instrument & Electrical
 - K1. Control Philosophy
 - K2. Logic Diagrams
 - K3. Electrical Area Classifications
 - K4. Substation Requirements1 Power Sources Identified
 - K5. Electric Single Line Diagrams
 - K6. Instrument & Electrical Specifications
- III Execution Approach
- L. Procurement Strategy
 - L1. Procurement Strategy Equipment & Materials
 - L2. Procurement Procedures & Plans
 - L3. Procurement Responsibility
- Matrix
- M. Deliverables
 - M1. CADD/Model Requirements
 - M2. DeliverableDefined
 - M3. Distribution Matrix
- N. Project Control
 - N1. Project Control Requirements
 - N2. Project Accounting Requirements
 - N3. Risk Analysis
- P. Project Execution Plan
 - P1. Owner/Approval Requirements
 - P2. Engr./Const. Plan & Approach
 - P3. Shut Down/Turn-Around Requirements
 - P4. Pre-CommissioningTurnover Sequence Requirements
 - P5. Startup Requirements
 - P6. Training Requirements

FIGURE 7-1

Project Definition Rating Index (PDRI)—Sections, Categories, and Elements. Source: Construction Industry Institute.

a project, which can range up to 1,000 points, with lower points as a better score and higher points as a worse score. Based on an analysis of 40 projects, the research team found that projects scoring less than 200, out of 1,000 total points, were significantly more successful than those that scored greater than 200.

PROBLEMS IN DEVELOPING PROJECT DEFINITION

Too often, insufficient time is devoted to defining the requirements of projects. Project definition is usually performed by people outside engineering and construction. These individuals generally have job responsibilities involving finances or managing a business unit in the sponsor's organization. Their job responsibilities and expertise are often not related to defining requirements of a project in terms that can be converted to engineering design and construction.

Sometimes the only fixed known information about the project is the amount of money the owner has to spend, with only a vague idea of what the owner would like from the expenditure of money. The owner may have a wish list of what he or she would like, but the only firm information is the total amount of available funds. For this type of situation, the designer must work closely with the owner to identify the desired operational criteria of the project: what the owner wants to do with the project when it is completed. The designer must assist the owner in separating what he or she needs from what he or she wants. The designer must convert the owner's needs into engineering scope of work and the construction costs to produce the final project. A cost for each element in the project must be determined to ensure the project will not exceed the owner's available funds.

High turnover of people is another problem in defining objectives. Many owner organizations frequently promote and reassign personnel. Turnover of people **can** lead to changing priorities. By the time a project reaches the approval stage, the people who established the initial project definition may no longer be involved. Members of the current operating group that will use the project when it is completed should be involved in confirming that the established project definition will meet their goals and objectives. The goals and objectives must be adequately quantified and documented. This requires coordination between the sponsor's organization and the project team.

A well-defined definition of the project is a prerequisite to planning the work, because the team members must know what the project is before they can plan it. Too often there is a rush into the implementation phase even before there is a good understanding and agreement of project definition. Getting an early team agreement on definition prevents the project scope from creeping out of control.

DESIGN PROPOSALS

Upon receipt of a request for proposal (RFP) the design project manager should carefully review it to become familiar with the global issues related to environmental and community relations, hazardous waste, bidding strategy, required **permits** and regulations, expectations, and goals of the customer. Although these issues will be developed in more detail at a later date, the project manager must be aware of all aspects of the project.

The purpose of the proposal is to identify the scope and develop the budget and schedule for preparing the design. The project proposal may be as formal as a request for qualification for a new sponsor or as informal as a brief outline of scope for expansion of existing work.

During this early stage in project development, the design engineer must convert the sponsor's project definition into an engineering scope of work. However, the design engineer may feel the sponsor's definition is inadequate or may feel there is missing information. The sponsor should be contacted for clarifications. However, sometimes the sponsor is unable to fully clarify or respond to rectify the discrepancies. For these situations, the design engineer must define the scope of engineering work to the best of his or her ability and then develop a budget and schedule based on the designer's assumed scope of work. It is then mandatory to document and communicate to the sponsor the assumptions made and the impact of the work on the total project. This essentially locks in the scope of work at this time in the project. Then, at a later date when additional information is known, the assumed scope, budget, and schedule for that portion of the work can be adjusted appropriately.

Figure 7-2 is an illustrative example of a project proposal form. Project data should include a brief description of the work. If needed, the space under "Comments" may be used to relay information important to the proposal. All disciplines that will be involved in the project should be identified, including architectural, civil, electrical, mechanical, and structural, or other special expertise. If the budget or estimated fee for design is not known, then the magnitude of the project or estimated construction cost should be listed. After the top portion of the form is completed, it is submitted to management for review and approval. Analysis of the completed project proposal form will allow management to make decisions based on fundamental project information.

The design project manager is responsible for managing the overall coordination of the proposal effort. Specific duties include

- Defining the scope of work for the project
- Establishing a work plan, including budget and schedule, for the proposal effort
- Monitoring the work plan to ensure effective communication among team members
- · Communicating with discipline managers to identify key personnel
- · Assist in preparation of the proposal documents
- Attend the sponsor's interview
- Participate in establishing a rate schedule
- · Assimilating the list of project deliverables

The discipline managers are responsible for providing technical support for the proposal. This support may include assigning personnel, establishing preliminary designs, reviewing sponsor information, and **performing** quality-control review of proposal documents. The discipline managers are also responsible for establishing

	PROJEC	FPROPOSAL FO	ORM		
Continuation of Exi	sting Work		New Work		
PROJECTDATA Client Name: Description of Work Location of Work:					
Prepared By:			Date	2:	
DISCIPLINES INVOLVED:	:				
Arch	\$	-	Mechanical	\$	
Civil	<u>\$</u>	_	Structural	\$	
Electrical	\$	-	Other:		
ESTIMATE					
Fee: <u></u> \$		Work-Hours:			
Start Date:			_ Completion Date	:	
Proposal Required:		No	Yes, Due Date:	·	
Comments					
APPROVAL:					
No Further Action	Required	Further Discussi	on Required	Proceed	
	Date:		-	_	
DISTRIBUTION President Principal-in-Charge Project Manager Marketer Document Control					

FIGURE 7-2

Project Proposal Form for Design.

the total work-hours needed for the project, to ensure that adequate technical expertise will be available when necessary to meet the project schedule.

Figure 7-3 illustrates a project proposal check list. The project data can be the same as listed on the project proposal form. Prior to the sponsor's interview, the project manager should compile a list of proposed attendees, an agenda, and a list of materials that will be used for the presentation: boards, photographs, slides, or electronic media presentations, such as Power-point.

As a minimum, the general scope of work for the project is included in the space provided. Additional information, such as drawing lists, equipment lists, specification lists, or special sponsor requirements, can be attached to the form. The completed form, plus attachments, is submitted to management prior to preparation of the proposal.

ENGINEERING ORGANIZATION

Members of the design team should be involved in the project at the earliest possible date, preferably during the proposal preparation phase. The design engineers that will actually be doing the work can be extremely valuable for defining scope, identifying potential problems, and preparing realistic budgets and schedules for performing the work. Too often the designers are not apart of the proposal preparation or do not become involved until the proposal is presented to and approved by the owner. By then, the scope, budget, and schedule may be fixed, **but** it may not represent the actual work that is necessary to complete the project the way the owner expects. Getting input and early involvement of the design team is crucial to a successful project.

To effectively manage the design effort, an organizational chart should be developed for each project. The organizational chart is effective for defining the roles and responsibilities of the engineering manager and his or her team members during design. There must be a clear understanding of the reporting relationships of all members of the engineering team. If external consultants are involved, there must be a clear description of their reporting relationships as well as their roles and responsibilities. There must be a list of key members of the engineering team, including consultants where applicable, along with their telephone numbers, fax numbers, and e-mail addresses.

Figure 7-4 is an example of a list of technical expertise that may be needed for engineering design. For the list of particular technical expertise that is unique for each project, the project manager should develop an organizational chart that shows the interrelationships, roles, and responsibilities of each member on the project team.

SCOPE BASELINE FOR BUDGET

Project proposal detail sheets as illustrated in Figure 7-5 help formulate a budget for estimated design services. These forms also assist in developing the final work breakdown structure (WBS) and organizational breakdown structure (OBS) for the

PROJECT PROPOS.	AL CHECK LIST
Project Manager:	Marketer:
PROJECT DATA	
Client Name: Description of Work: Location of Work:	
Estimated Cost to Prepare Proposal: <u>\$</u>	
Estimated Work-Hours	
PROPOSAL SUPPORT DOCUMENTATION	
Organization Chart	List of Special Graphics
Rate Schedule	List of Travel Expenses
List of Projects to Include	Proposal Sheets
List of Employee Resumes	Other:
CLIENT INTERVIEW	
Date of Interview:	Rehearsal Date:
List of Attendees	Agenda
Presentation Materials List	Other:
GENERAL SCOPE OF WORK	
_	
Drawing List	Specifications List
Special Requirements List	Other:
APPROVAL:	
Date:	Date:
President	Principal-in-Charge

FIGURE 7-3 Proposal Check List for Design.



FIGURE 7-4 Illustrative Example of Expertise Required

project. Thus, the project proposal detail sheet forms the basis for setting up and managing the project.

The design project manager initiates one of these forms for each design discipline involved in the project. The scope definition and estimated budgets should be as complete and accurate as possible. It is the responsibility of each design discipline to thoroughly examine the project definition from the sponsoring organization and convert project definition into engineering scope definition. A scope of work for the discipline must be defined in sufficient detail to enable a reasonable estimate of the work-hours required to complete the design work.

After the project data shown on the top of Figure 7-5 is completed, each form and any supporting documentation should be reviewed with the appropriate discipline manager and the lead discipline representative. These two individuals should estimate the required design work-hours for each personnel category required to

1

PROJECT PROPOSA	L DETAIL SHEET

Discipline:					
DJECT DATA					
Project Manager: Proposal Number: Client Name:			Marketer:		
Description of Work:					
Estimated Department Bu	dget:		W	ork-Hours:	
PE DEFINITION					
-					
	_				
					1000
	ATTACIME	NITC			
ENI KEFEKENCESANL) ATTACHME	N15			
SONNEL CATEGORIES	REQUIRED V	VITH WORK-I	HOURS		
SONNEL CATEGORIES	REQUIRED V	VITH WORK-I	HOURS	DRWGS	-
SONNEL CATEGORIES	SREQUIRED V	VITH WORK-I	HOURS	DRWGS	=
Department Manager Lead Engineer	REQUIRED V	VITH WORK-I	HOURS	DRWGS	=
Department Manager Lead Engineer Senior Engineer	SREQUIRED V	VITH WORK-I	HOURS	DRWGS	
Department Manager Lead Engineer Senior Engineer Junior Engineer	REQUIRED V	VITH WORK-I	HOURS	DRWGS	
Department Manager Lead Engineer Senior Engineer Junior Engineer CADD/Drafting Coord.	REQUIRED V	VITH WORK-I	HOURS	DRWGS	
Department Manager Lead Engineer Senior Engineer Junior Engineer CADD/Drafting Coord. Total	REQUIRED V	VITH WORK-I	HOURS	DRWGS	
Department Manager Lead Engineer Senior Engineer Junior Engineer CADD/Drafting Coord. Total Do not include Clerical,	SREQUIRED V ADMIN Reproduction, or	VITH WORK-I	HOURS ENGR	DRWGS	
Department Manager Lead Engineer Senior Engineer Junior Engineer CADD/Drafting Coord. Total Do not include Clerical, J	REQUIRED V ADMIN Reproduction, or / OTHER REQ	VITH WORK-I SPECS r Other Disciplin	HOURS ENGR	DRWGS	
Department Manager Lead Engineer Senior Engineer Junior Engineer CADD/Drafting Coord. Total Do not include Clerical, J CSIDE COORDINATION	SREQUIRED V ADMIN Reproduction, or / OTHER REQ	VITH WORK-I SPECS r Other Disciplin	HOURS ENGR	DRWGS	
Department Manager Lead Engineer Senior Engineer Junior Engineer CADD/Drafting Coord. Total Do not include Clerical, J CSIDE COORDINATION Specification List Drawing List	SREQUIRED V ADMIN Reproduction, or / OTHER REQ Total Number of	VITH WORK-I SPECS r Other Disciplin QUIREMENTS	HOURS ENGR	DRWGS	
Department Manager Lead Engineer Senior Engineer Junior Engineer CADD/Drafting Coord. Total Do not include Clerical, J CSIDE COORDINATION Specification List Drawing List Other:	SREQUIRED V ADMIN Reproduction, or / OTHER REQ Total Number of	VITH WORK-I SPECS r Other Disciplin QUIREMENTS	HOURS ENGR	DRWGS	

FIGURE 7-5 Detail Sheet for Design Pmposal.

L,

complete the scope of work requested. This estimate will require preparation of a detailed scope outline, a List of required specifications, and a preliminary drawing list. Preparation of mini-drawings as discussed later in this chapter is an effective method of preparing the drawing list. The number of drawings to be produced provides a basis for the number of required design work-hours.

The discipline manager should complete the project proposal detail sheet by summarizing the estimated design work-hours on the sheet. The personnel categories with design work-hours should be completed by the design manager. It is a summary of the hours required for each classification of work, including administration, specifications, engineering, and drawings. Depending on the uniqueness of the project it may be necessary to add to or delete some of the classifications shown in Figure 7-5. The completed form, plus all supporting documentation, is returned to the project manager. An example of this completed form is given in Figure 5-3.

After the design project manager has collected and reviewed the project proposal detail sheets from the design disciplines, the project budget form shown in Figure 7-6 can be completed. This form compiles all the information received from the discipline managers plus information supplied by the design project manager. The resource-hours for clerical, reproduction, project support, and project management are added to complete the design budget. An example of this completed form is given in Figure 5-2.

A dollar budget can be computed using one of several methods. For smaller projects, or projects without well-defined scopes, an average unit cost per resource-hour can be applied to all the identified hours. For larger projects, or projects with well-defined scopes, a more detailed dollar budget can be obtained by breaking down the hours by each personnel classification so the hourly rate can be applied more accurately and **competitively**, rather than using an average hourly rate. The total budget for resource-hours (labor costs and expenses) forms the basis for establishing the accounting system for the project during design.

During the budgeting process, checks should be made to reduce the possibility of major oversights in the budget and to ensure the design effort can be completed within the budget. Examples of checks may include number of expected drawings per building, anticipated number of design work-hours per drawing, expected time duration anticipated by design discipline, percent of design costs per total cost of project, and number of design hours per major piece of equipment. Simple checks of these ratios based upon data from past projects can be made to prevent significant errors in the design budget.

The design project manager must also communicate with the design managers of the various disciplines to ensure that the resources shown in the budget will be available when needed. A simple check of the average number of resources needed over the expected time duration of the design effort is an indication of the future work load expected of the design team. The discipline managers can compare this demand for resources with their normal availability of designers. Too often, a budget is established for a design effort and then later it is found the project cannot be completed in time or within budget because the resources are not available. Simple checks can reduce these types of problems in engineering design.
PROJECT PROPOSAL BUDGET FORM

	Project Name:		_					-1		
				R	ESOUR	CEHO	URS			
Dept. Number	Department	ADMIN	MTGS	SHED	SPECS	ENGR CALCS	DRWGS	RCD DRWG	TOTAL	DOLLARS
	Project Management			Tes -	1307.00				0	\$0
	Architecture				10833				0	\$0
	Mechanical				e ande				0	\$0
	Electrical								0	\$0
	Structural								0	\$0
li di di	Environmental								0	\$0
	Civil								0	\$0
	CADDS				ang a				0	\$0
	Clerical		to en		and the second				0	\$0
	Document Control		i ana						0	\$0
	Reproduction	1252							0	\$0
	Project Control								0	\$0
	Management	States:	No. 10				NEL AND	STREET.	0	\$0
RESOUR	CE-HOUR SUBTOTAL	o	c	0	0	0	0	0	o	0
FEE SU	BTOTAL	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -		0
Task #	Description		_	_	-		_			
	Contingency	1.200							S. Carlos and	
	General Expenses									
N State (St	Travel	PATRIC	Carta and							
	Office Budget									
	EXPENSESSUBTOT	AL		-			_			\$0
	TOTAL									\$0

DATE: / /

MINI-DRAWINGS

For design proposals, mini-drawings are an effective and organized method of defining the design deliverables: the design drawings and specifications. Mini-drawings, sometimes called cartoons or stick drawings, are sketches that are hand drawn on $8\% \times 11$ paper to represent the full-size drawings that will be developed in the design effort. Since they are hand drawn, they can be prepared quickly.

A complete set of mini-drawings for the project includes title page, plan views, elevations, sections, schedules, and details in the order they will appear in the final drawings. Figure 7-7 is an illustrative example of one page from a set of mini-drawings. It shows five plan views for each floor in a building in the top portion of the page and provisions for text on the bottom portion of the sheet. In the full set of mini-drawings, there would be one page for each full-size drawing that is expected to be produced in the design effort. Development of the mini-drawings involves working through each drawing and blocking out to scale each anticipated sheet for size and location.

Design schedules, such as the room finish schedule, are also identified and assigned to locations on the drawings. Details can be determined, counted, and assigned locations within the typical detail sheet grid. Copies of the mini-drawings can be given, with instructions, to the draftsperson or CADD operator. As conditions change during design, the mini-drawings can easily be referred to, changed, and reorganized. This provides an effective means of managing the design effort.

The final set of mini-drawings can be submitted to the discipline managers for review and approval prior to starting design. The mini-drawings communicate the manner in which the design team intends to document the design and produce the design deliverables. Therefore, it is important that the mini-drawings be complete because they become a communications tool to management and the design team, for their reference throughout the design process.

Mini-drawings are living documents that may shift and change during the design process as changes occur. These documents must be kept up to date. Mini-drawings provide early establishment of drawing content and assist in defining drawing completeness. In addition, they provide the following benefits:

- · Establish an efficient and orderly layout of the drawings
- Determine an early count of the anticipated number of drawings
- Identify the required areas of technical expertise needed for the design effort
- Assist in determining the work-hours required in design
- Provide a system for delegating drafting or CADD assignments
- Enable the department and discipline managers to schedule personnel

After a set of mini-drawings are completed, the number of anticipated drawings are known, which provides a procedure for determining the cost for design. After the list of drawings is completed, a summary sheet can be prepared for each design discipline that shows the number of hours anticipated to produce the drawing.



Based on the number of design-hours needed per drawing and the rate schedule for the designers, a design cost and budget can be determined. In addition to planning drawing content the mini-drawings can be used during actual design for project team communications and for keeping records of hours charged to the job.

DEVELOPMENT OF THE DESIGN WORK PLAN

Most design organizations work on billable hours. In simple terms, billable hours are hours that can be charged to, and are paid by, the sponsor's organization. Typical examples include design calculations, writing specifications, preparing drawings, conducting tests, or providing inspection. Many sponsoring organizations do not compensate the designer's organization for developing a design work plan. As a result, there may be little or no effort placed in developing an overall plan for design. However, this is a critical mistake because even a small amount of planning before starting work can prevent many future problems, including overspending on the design effort and late completion of design work. A good work plan for design helps also to reduce rework that can lead to errors in design. Every design effort should have a written work plan, even if the cost will not be reimbursed by the sponsoring organization.

The level of detail of the work plan depends on the time schedule and the allocated budget for preparing the design and contract documents. Preparation of the schedule should begin during proposal preparation or immediately after the contract award date. A CPM schedule as presented and discussed in Chapter 8 is recommended for larger or more complex projects because this format provides a better level of detail and a clearer definition of the order and interdependency of the work tasks. Using the CPM method of scheduling forces the user to think through and clearly define the interdependency and interrelationships of activities between the various design disciplines. This results in a more detailed design schedule.

For a small design project that must be completed in a short time a bar chart that shows each task in chronologic order is simple and easy to follow. The bar chart is less detailed and more useful for small, less complicated design projects. However, it may be advantageous to roll all the individual design bar charts into an overall master CPM diagram to schedule the entire design effort.

Chapter 8 presents a discussion and example of CPM scheduling for engineering design, and Chapter 9 presents integration of the CPM design schedule with procurement and construction. Appendix A also presents an illustrative example of linking the schedule of design, procurement, and construction of a project.

Regardless of the methods used, either CPM or bar charts, the schedule should incorporate all the required tasks, starting with a thorough review of all backup material that was used in preparing the proposal. In particular, the schedule should include review of backup material to identify conditions that can affect the design work, including the sponsoring organization's special requirements, applicable codes, and regulatory agencies. The schedule should also show key progress reviews, final checking and corrections, work to be performed by outside consultants, and any particular issue that may impact the successful completion of the design. The design schedule should be construction driven, because construction is the most costly component of most projects.

A common mistake in development of design schedules is the failure to include adequate contingency in the project schedule. Too often the design work plan includes everything that is known to be accomplished but fails to include a reasonable allowance to compensate for unforeseen delays that inevitably will arise during the design effort. Examples include delays in acquisition of permits, responses from regulatory agencies, reviews of design by clients, delays in responses from vendors, and requests for information (RFI) from outside organizations that supply information to the design team.

The design budget should be integrated with the design schedule. For design work it is more beneficial to define the budget in work-hours rather than in dollars of cost, because design is driven by hours. Integrating the total staff hours into the schedule provides a systematic method of managing the budget and schedule simultaneously.

After the work plan is established, a progress schedule can be developed using information in the work plan, including the mini-drawings that forecast the fullscale drawings. Each group of drawings should be allocated hours for completion determined by complexity, reusability from production design, and work-hour data based on past experience on similar projects. The progress schedule should be reviewed and updated on a regular reporting period, usually coinciding with the submittal of time cards. A review of actual progress, based on an analysis of the degree of completeness of each drawing or group of drawings or tasks, relative to the allocated hours versus estimated hours to complete, provides a projected outcome at the current level of effort. Regular reviews provide a consistent reporting of overall progress. This allows adjustments that may be necessary on a timely basis to ensure completion within the established time schedule and allocated budget.

After the work plan is established and mini-drawings are completed, the **project** manager must establish ground rules for the &sign team and outside consulting specialists. Standards for drawings and CADD work must be established, documented, and reviewed with the entire team. The American Institute of Architects (AIA) has layering standards that are commonly used for projects in the building sector. Sponsors or clients in the process industry sector have drawing standards that are required of engineering firms that perform design work on their projects. Many specify the particular CADD system that must be used for the design of their projects. The management system for handling the project should be reviewed with the team to ensure everyone knows what is expected of him or her. In particular, a system of checking design calculations and a procedure for checking drawings is necessary to ensure minimum errors and constructability.

The design budget is based on the contract for design services and related to the work plan for producing the contract documents. Careful monitoring of actual costs compared to the approved budget is necessary to ensure profitable completion of the construction documents.

ENGINEERING PROJECT CONTROLS

For any design effort there must be a process to control changes in scope. The scope change process should ensure that when scope changes occur, the impact of the change on project cost and schedule is fully understood by all members of the project team, in particular the sponsor's organization. The adverse impact of late changes in scope must be communicated to the sponsor.

A system must be established for progress measurement and schedule control. The system should include the WBS for engineering, including the roles and responsibilities of the engineering manager and the engineering team with respect to progress measurement and schedule control. The roles and responsibilities of outside consultants should also be included in the system.

A system must also be established for cost control. The system should describe the roles and responsibilities of the engineering manager and team members, including outside consultants. The system should include the CBS for engineering. The cost contingency for engineering and how it will be managed is a critical factor in cost control of the design effort. A system for cost control must define the process that will be used for obtaining approval for changes in the engineering budget. The cost control system must also include procedures for measuring productivity and reporting cost performance.

PROGRESS MEASUREMENT OF ENGINEERING DESIGN

The purpose of the project plan is to successfully control the project to ensure completion within budget and schedule constraints. Measuring the progress of a project supports management in establishing a realistic plan for execution of a project and provides the project manager and client with a consistent analysis of project performance. Progress measurement also provides an early warning system to identify deviations from the project plan and scope growth. To control engineering work, a drawing list, specification list, equipment list, and instrument list are used to determine the project status and continued planning.

After completion of the project proposal, the project manager should establish a system of measuring the progress of engineering design. The deliverables of design include performing calculations, producing drawings, and writing specifications for the project. These deliverables are defined in the scope of work, organized in the work breakdown structure, and used in determining the budget for design. Table 7-1 is an illustrative example of a progress measurement system for engineering design. The system is broken down into work packages by disciplines of engineering, including architectural, civil, structural, electrical, instrumentation, and mechanical engineering. The system includes the hours required to produce drawings as **well** as a breakdown of the percent of time for producing design calculations and drawings for each discipline. The information in this table forms the basis for measuring cost and schedule performance, which are discussed in Chapter 9.

Measuring progress of design is difficult because design is a creative process. Sometimes considerable time may be expended in the design effort without seeing

TABLE 7-1 EXAMPLE PROGRESS MEASUREMENT SYSTEM FOR ENGINEERING DESIGN WORK PACKAGES

A:	Work Breakdown of Architectural Des	ign Work Packages
Aro	chitectural design = 300 design-hours a Drawings: 83 hours per drawing	and 180 CADD hours
	Design = 40% of design effort Design parameters identified Layout and methods established Ready to start related drawings Final drawings issued	25% 20% 35% 20% Total = 100%
	Drafting = 60% of design effort Borders & basic layout established Review of completed information Related design work at 80% comple Quality-control review #1 Drawing complete Quality-control review #2 Record drawings	15% 10% ete 25% 3% 39% 3% 5% Total = 100%

Specifications: 8 total, 2 hours per swecification

B: Work Breakdown of Civil Engineering Design Work Packages

Civil engineering design = 171 design-hours and 100 CADD hours

Drawings: 135 hours per drawing

Site grading and drainage = 91 design-hours and 60 CADD hours Site-work details = 80 design-hours and 40 CADD hours

Draf	fting	
	Field survey	8%
	Site base drawing	35%
	Quality-control review #1	3%
	Contract engineering	26%
	Complete site drawing and details	20%
	Quality-control review #2	3%
	Record drawings	
		Total = 100%
-		

Specifications: 7 total, 1 hour per specification

C. Progress Measurement of Structural Engineering Design Work Packages

Structural engineering = 480 design-hours and 240 CADD hours Drawings: 80 hours per drawing

Engineering design = 40% of design effort	
Design parameters identified	25%
Layout and methods established	20%
Ready to start related drawings	35%
Final drawings issued	20%

TABLE 7-1
EXAMPLE PROGRESS MEASUREMENT SYSTEM FOR ENGINEERING DESIGN
WORK PACKAGEScontinued

C Progress Measurement of Structural Engineering Design Work Packages --- ontinued

Drafting $= 60\%$ of design effort	
Borders and basic layout established	15%
Review of existing information	10%
Related design work at 80% complete	25%
Quality-controlreview #1	3%
Drawings complete	39%
Quality-control review #2	3%
Record drawings	5%

Specifications: 4 total, 1 hour per specification

D: Work Breakdown of Electrical Engineering Design Work Packages

Electrical engineering design = 72 design-hours and 42 CADD hours	3
Drawings: 18 hours per drawing	

Engineering design $= 40\%$ of design effort	
Design parameters identified	25%
Layout and methods established	20%
Ready to start related drawings	35%
Final drawings issued	20%
Total =	100%
Drafting = 60% of design effort	
Borders and basic layout established	15%
Review of complete information	10%
Related design work at 80% complete	25%
Quality-control review #1	3%
Drawing complete	39%
Quality-control review #2	3%
Record drawings	5%
Total =	100%

Specifications: 4 total, 1 hour per specification

E: Progress Measurement of Instrumentation Design Work Packages

Instrumentation design = 124 design-hours and 84 CADD hours

Drawings: 121 hours per drawing

EngineeringDesign = 40% of design ef	fort
Design parameters identified	25%
Layout and methods established	20%
Ready to start related drawings	35%
Final drawings issued	20%
	Total = 100%

TABLE 7-1
EXAMPLE PROGRESS MEASUREMENT SYSTEM FOR ENGINEERING DESIGN
WORK PACKAGEScontinued

Drafting = 60% of design effort	
Borders and basic layout esta	ablished 15%
Review of complete informati	ion 10 %
Related design work at 80%	complete 25%
Quality-control review #1	3%
Drawings complete	39%
Quality-control review #2	3%
Record drawings	5%
	Total = 100%

F: Work Breakdown of Mechanical Engineering Design Work Packages

Mechanical engineering design = 496 design-hours and 235 CADD hours

Drawings P&ID drawing of existing plant Mechanical floor plan Details—Piping, feed water Boiler piping schematic sheet #1 Boiler piping schematic sheet #2 Boiler stack details Miscellaneous details Develop equipment list	56 design-hours and 20 CADD hours 60 design-hours and 25 CADD hours 120 design-hours and 60 CADD hours 60 design-hours and 30 CADD hours 60 design-hours and 30 CADD hours 80 design-hours and 40 CADD hours 20 design-hours and 10 CADD hours 40 design-hours and 20 CADD hours
Engineering design = 40% of design effore Design parameters identified Layout and methods established	ort 25% 20%
Ready to start related drawings	35%
Final drawing issued	 Total
	10tal = 100%
Dratting = 60% of design effort	
Borders and basic layout establishe	20 15%
Related design work at 80% complete	10% ato 25%
Quality-control review #1	3%
Drawings complete	39%
Quality-control review #2	3%
Record drawings	5%
	Total = 100%
Specification	
Boiler specification $=$ 132 design-ho	ours
Base specification marked up	25%
Related information reviewed	15%
lyped, ready for review	20%
Revise per client review	20% 10%
Final issue	10%
	Total = 100%
Other execifications: 19 total 1 hour per	specification
Ourier specifications. 13 total, 1 hour per	specification

any physical results. For example, numerous computer simulations may be necessary during a design analysis. Significant amounts of work and time may be expended in the simulation effort, but if the simulations are not completed, there will be no produced drawings to show any physical results of the design effort. Similarly, numerous drawings may be near complete, yet none of them completely finished. It is difficult to define a half-finished drawing. Thus, measuring design progress by counting the number of completed drawings may not fully measure the progress of the design effort.

Most sponsors request milestones in the design schedule for reviews. For example, there may be a 60% design complete milestone that is designated for review by the sponsor. There must be **agreement** between the sponsor and the design team on how to define and measure the 60% design complete. For example 60% design complete may be defined as completion of all architectural work and structural work, completion of 50% of the electrical drawings, 25% of the mechanical drawings, and initiation of the specification writing. Chapter 9 presents methods of measuring design progress.

QUESTIONS FOR CHAPTER 7-DESIGN PROPOSALS

- 1 It is important for the design team to have a clear understanding of the desired outcome of the project and the reasons the project is being undertaken by the sponsor. As a project manager of the design team, discuss methods you would use to ensure a clear understanding of the project requirements and expectations of the project sponsor.
- 2 The purpose of a design proposal is to identify the scope and develop the budget and schedule for preparing the design. **Discuss** methods you would use to convert the owner's needs and expectations into engineering scope, budget, and schedule.
- **3** A common mistake in the development of design schedules is the failure to include adequate contingency in the project schedule. List steps you would use to ensure adequate contingency is incorporated into a design schedule.
- 4 Excessive use of computers can lead to overdesigning, overwriting, and overdrafting. As a project manager of the design team, what methods would you use to control excessive use of computers during the design effort?
- **5** Changes in scope are a common problem during the design. As project manager of the design team, what methods would you use to monitor and control scope during the design process?

REFERENCES

- 1 Anderson, S. D. and Tucker, R. L., Assessment of Architecture/Engineering Project Management Practices and Performance, Special Publication No. 7, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, April 1990.
- 2 Consulting Engineering: A Guide for the Engagement of Engineering Services, Manual No. 45, American Society of Civil Engineers, Reston, VA, 1988.
- 3 Eldin, N. N., "Management of Engineering/Design Phase," Journal of Construction Engineering and Management, ASCE, Reston, VA, Vol. 117, No. 1, March 1991.
- 4 Vorba, L. R. and Oberlender, G. D., "A Methodology for Quality Design," Project Management Symposium, Project Management Institute, Newtown Square, PA, October 1991.
- 5 Bachner, J. P., Practice Management for Design Professionals—A Practical Guide to Avoiding Liability and Enhancing Profitability, John Wiley & Sons, New York, 1991.

8

PROJECT SCHEDULING

PROJECT PLANNING AND PROJECT SCHEDULING

Project planning is the **process** of identifying all the activities necessary to successfully complete the project. Project scheduling is the process of determining the sequential order of the planned activities, assigning realistic durations to each activity, and determining the start and finish dates for each activity. Thus, project planning is a prerequisite to project scheduling because there is no way to determine the sequence or start and finish dates of activities until they are identified.

However, the terms of project planning and scheduling are often used synonymously because planning and scheduling are performed interactively. For example, a specific list of activities may be planned and scheduled for a project. Then, after the schedule is reviewed, it may be decided that additional activities should be added or some activities should be rearranged in order to obtain the best schedule of events for the project.

Planning is more difficult to accomplish than scheduling. The real test of the project planner/scheduler is his or her ability to identify all the work required to complete the project. The preceding chapters of this book focused on identifying work activities and grouping those activities into meaningful categories. For example, the process of developing a well-defined work breakdown structure (WBS) as presented in Chapter $\boldsymbol{6}$ results in a list of activities that must be performed to complete a project.

After the activities are identified, it is relatively easy to determine the schedule for a project. Many methods and tools have been developed for scheduling. The computer is universally used to perform the calculations for a project schedule. However, adequate attention must be given to both planning and scheduling. Sometimes a project schedule becomes non-workable due to too much emphasis on getting a computer-generated schedule. The planner/scheduler must give adequate time and think through the planning before turning to the computer to generate the schedule. In simple terms, it is better to be a good planner than to be proficient in computer applications. The material presented and discussed in the preceding chapters has set the stage for developing a good project schedule.

DESIRED RESULTS OF PLANNING

Project planning is the heart of good project management because it provides the central communication that coordinates the work of all parties. Planning also establishes the benchmark for the project control system to track the quantity, cost, and timing of work required to successfully complete the project. Although the most common desired result of planning is to finish the project on time, there are other benefits that can be derived from good project planning (see Table 8-1).

Planning is **the** first step to project scheduling. Planning is a process and not a discrete activity. As changes occur, additional planning is required to incorporate the changes into the schedule. There are many situations or events that can arise that can impact a project schedule. Examples are changes in personnel, problems with **permits**, change in a major piece of equipment, or design problems. Good planning detects changes and adjusts the schedule in the most efficient manner.

A common complaint of many design engineers is they cannot efficiently produce their work because of interruptions and delays. The cause of this problem is usually a lack of planning, and in some instances no planning at all. Planning should clearly identify the work that is required by each individual and the interface of work between individuals. It should also include a reasonable amount of time for the exchange of information between project participants, including the delay time for reviews and approvals.

TABLE 8-1 DESIRED RESULTS OF PROJECT PLANNING AND SCHEDULING

- 1. Finish the project on time
- 2. Continuous (uninterrupted) flow of work (no delays)
- 3. Reduced amount of rework (least amount of changes)
- 4. Minimize confusion and misunderstandings
- 5. Increased knowledge of status of project by everyone
- 6. Meaningful and timely reports to management
- 7. You run the project instead of the project running you
- 8. Knowledge of scheduled times of key parts of the project
- 9. Knowledge of distribution of costs of the project
- 10. Accountability of people, defined responsibility/authority
- 11. Clear understanding of who does what, when, and how much
- 12. Integration of all work to ensure a quality project for the owner

Another common complaint of many designers is the amount of rework they must do because of changes in the project. This also leads to confusion and **misun**-derstandings that further hinder productive work. Planning should include a clear description of the required work before the work is started. However, it must be recognized that changes are a necessary part of project work, especially in the early development phases. If changes in the work are expected, or probable, then project planning should include provisions for a reasonable allowance of the anticipated changes. Too often people know that changes will occur, but fail to include them in the project **planning**.

Project planning and scheduling can serve as an effective means of preventing problems. It can prevent delays in work, a major cause of late project completion and cost overrun, which often leads to legal disputes. It can also prevent low worker morale and decline in productivity that is caused by lack of direction.

PRINCIPLES OF PLANNING AND SCHEDULING

There must be an explicit operational plan to guide the entire project. The plan must include and link the three components of the project: scope, budget, and schedule. Too often, planning is focused only on schedule without regard to the important components of scope and budget.

To develop an integrated total project plan, the project must be broken down into well-defined units of work that can be measured and managed. This process starts with the WBS. Once this is completed, the project team members who have the expertise to perform the work can be selected. Team members have the ability to clearly define the magnitude of detail work that is required. They also have the ability to define the time and cost that will be required to produce the work. With this information a complete project plan can be developed.

The project plan and schedule must clearly define individual responsibilities, schedules, budgets, and anticipated problems. The project manager should prepare formal agreements with appropriate parties whenever there is a change in the project. There should be equal concern given to schedule and budget, and the two must be linked. Planning, scheduling, and controlling begin at the inception of the project and are continuous throughout the life of the project until completion. Table 8-2 lists key principles for planning and scheduling.

TABLE 8-2

KEY PRINCIPLES FOR PLANNING AND SCHEDULING

- 1. Begin planning before starting work, rather than after starting work
- 2. Involve people who will actually do the work in the planning and scheduling process
- 3. Include ail aspects of the project: scope, budget, schedule, and quality
- 4. Build flexibility into the plan, include allowance for changes and time for reviews and approvals
- 5. Remember the schedule is the plan for doing the work, and it will never be precisely correct
- 6. Keep the plan simple, eliminate irrelevant details that prevent the plan from being readable
- 7. Communicate the plan to all parties; any plan is worthless unless it is known

RESPONSIBILITIES OF PARTIES

The principal parties of owner, designer, and contractor all have a responsible role in project planning and scheduling. It is erroneous to assume this role is the responsibility of any one party. Each must develop a schedule for his or her required work and that schedule must be communicated and coordinated with the other two parties, because the work of each affects the work of the others.

The owner establishes the project completion date, which governs the scheduling of work for both the designer and contractor. The owner should also set priorities for the components that make up the project. For example, if the project consists of three buildings, the relative importance of the buildings should be identified. This assists the designer in the process of organizing his or her work and developing the design schedule to produce drawings that are most important to the owner. It also assists in the development of the specifications and contract documents that communicate priorities to the construction contractor.

The design organization must develop a design schedule that meets the owner's schedule. This schedule should include a prioritization of work in accordance with the owner's needs and should be developed with extensive input from all designers who will have principal roles in the design process. Too often, a design schedule is produced by the principal designer, or the project manager of the design organization, without the involvement of those who will actually do the work.

The construction contractor must develop a schedule for all construction activities in accordance with the contract documents. It should include procurement and delivery of materials to the job, coordination of labor and equipment on the job, and interface the work of all subcontractors. The objective of the construction schedule should be to effectively manage the work to produce the best-quality project for the owner. The purpose of construction scheduling should **not** be to settle disputes related to project work, but to manage the project in the most efficient manner.

For some projects, it may be desirable for one party to maintain the schedule and the other parties to participate in monitoring it. Ultimately each one of the parties will be responsible for his or her portion of the schedule. Maintaining one common schedule as a cooperative effort between parties can reduce problems associated with maintaining three separate schedules.

PLANNING FOR MULTIPLE PROJECTS

Many project managers are assigned the responsibility of simultaneously managing several small projects that have short durations. A small project is usually staffed with a few people who perform a limited number of tasks to complete the project. For projects of this type, there is a tendency for the project manager to forgo any formal planning and scheduling because each project is simple and well defined. However, the problem that the project manager has is not the management of any one project at a time; instead, the problem is managing all the projects simultaneously. The task of simultaneously managing multiple small projects can be very difficult and frustrating. Thus, the need for good planning and scheduling is just as important for the management of multiple small projects as it is for the management of a single large project.

To manage multiple small projects, the project manager must develop a plan and schedule that includes all projects for which he or she is assigned, even though the projects may be unrelated. This is necessary because the **staffing** of small projects requires assigning individuals to several projects at the same time so they will have a full-time work load. Thus, their work on any one project affects the work on other projects. For this type of work environment the project manager must develop a plan and schedule that interfaces the work of each individual that is working on all the projects for which the project manager is responsible. In particular, the plan should clearly show how the work of each person progresses from one project to another.

A large project is commonly assigned to one project manager who has no other responsibilities than management of the single project at one time. It is staffed by persons who provide the diverse technical expertise that is required to accomplish the numerous tasks to complete the project. For projects of this type, the problem of the project manager is identifying and interfacing related tasks to ensure the work is accomplished in a continuous manner. He or she relies on the input of team members to develop the project plan and schedule. Much of the work of the project manager involves extensive communications with team members to ensure that work is progressing in a continuous and uninterrupted manner.

Regardless of the project size, large or small, planning and scheduling must be done. Perhaps the greatest mistake a project manager can make is to assume that planning and scheduling are not required for some reason, such as, he or she is too busy, there will be too many changes, or the project is too small.

TECHNIQUES FOR PLANNING AND SCHEDULING

The technique **used** for project scheduling will vary depending upon the project's size, complexity, duration, personnel, and owner requirements. The project manager must choose a scheduling technique that is simple to use and is easily interpreted by all project participants. There are two general methods that are commonly used: the bar **chart** (sometimes called the *Gantt chart*) and the Critical Path Method (sometimes called CPM or network analysis system).

The bar chart, developed by Henry L. Gantt during World War I, is a graphical time-scale of the schedule. It is easy to interpret; but it is difficult to update, does not show interdependences of activities, and does not integrate costs or resources with the schedule. It is an effective technique for overall project scheduling, but has limited application for detailed construction work because the many interrelationships of activities, which are required for construction work, are not defined. Many project managers prefer the bar chart for scheduling engineering design work because of its simplicity, ease of use, and because it does not require extensive interrelationships of activities. However, it can require significant time for updating since the interrelationships of activities are not defined. A change in one activity on the bar chart will not automatically change subsequent activities. Also, the bar chart does

not integrate costs with the schedule, nor does it provide resources, such as laborhours, that are important for management of design.

Some designers argue that they cannot define the interrelationships between the activities that make up a design schedule. They use this argument to support the use of a bar chart. They will also argue that resources change constantly on a design project, resulting in a schedule that is too difficult to maintain. Either of these situations may occur at times on some projects. However, if these situations exist on every project, it is likely that the projects are not well planned, managed, or controlled.

The Critical Path Method (CPM) was developed in 1956 by the **DuPont** Company, with Remington Rand as consultants, as a deterministic approach to scheduling. The CPM method is commonly used in the engineering and construction industry. A similar method, Program Evaluation and Review Technique (PERT), was developed in 1957 by the U.S. Navy, with Booz, Allen, & Hamilton Management consultants, as a probabilistic approach to scheduling. It is more commonly used by the manufacturing industry; however, it can be used for risk assessment of highly uncertain projects. Both methods are often referred to as a network analysis system. The CPM provides interrelationships of activities and scheduling of costs and resources. It also is an effective technique for overall project scheduling and detailed scheduling of construction. However, it does have some limitations when applied to detailed engineering design work during the early stages of a project because it requires an extensive description of the interrelationships of activities.

Although the CPM technique requires more effort than a bar chart, it provides more detailed information that is required for effective project management. Using a network schedule to plan a project forces the project team to break a project down into identifiable tasks and to relate the tasks to each other in a logical sequence in much greater detail than a bar chart. This up-front planning and scheduling helps the project team to identify conflicts in resources before they occur. The project manager must use his or her own judgement and select the method of scheduling that best defines the work to be done and that communicates project requirements to all participants.

NETWORK ANALYSIS SYSTEMS

A network analysis system (NAS) provides a comprehensive method for project planning, scheduling, and controlling. NAS is a general title for the technique of defining and coordinating work by a graphical diagram that shows work activities and the interdependences of activities. Many books and articles have been written that describe the procedures and applications of this technique. It is not the purpose of this book to present the details of network methods because so much material has already been written. The following paragraphs and figures present the basic fundamentals of NAS to guide the project manager in the development of the project plan and schedule. The basic definitions shown in Figure 8-1 are presented to clarify the following paragraphs because there are variations in terminology used in network analyses.

Activity —The performance of a task **required** to complete the project, such as, design of foundations, review of design, procure steel contracts, or form concrete columns. An activity **requires time**, cost, or both time and cost.

Network — Adiagram to represent the relationship of activities to complete the project. The network may be drawn as either an "arrow diagram" or a "precedence diagram."



Duration (D) — The estimated time required to perform an activity. The time should include all resources that are assigned to the activity.

Early Start (ES) - The earliest time an activity can be started.

Early Finish (EF) — The earliest time an activity can be finished and is equal to the early start plus the duration.

$$EF = ES + D$$

- Late Finish (LF) The latest time an activity can be finished.
- Late Start((LS) The latest time an activity can be started without delaying the completion date of the project.

$$LS = LF - D$$

Total Float **(TF)** —The amount of time an activity may be delayed without delaying the completion date of the project.

$$TF = LF - EF = LS - ES$$

Free Float (FF)	 The amount of time an activity may be delayed without delaying the early start time of the immediately following activity. FF, = ES_i ~ EF, where the subscript <i>i</i> represents the preceding activity and the subscript <i>j</i> represents the following activity.
Critical Path	 Aseries of interconnected activities through the network diagram, with each activity having zero, free and total float time. The critical path determines the minimum time to complete the project.
Dummy Activity	— An activity (representedby a dotted line on the arrow network diagram) that indicates that any activity following the dummy cannot be started until the activity or activities preceding the dummy are completed. The dummy does not require any time.
FIGURE 8-1 Basic Definitions	for CPM.

For project management the CPM is the most commonly used NAS method. The concept is simple, the computations only require basic arithmetic; and a large number of computer programs are available to automate the work required of CPM scheduling. The most difficult task in the use of CPM is identifying and interfacing

the numerous activities that **are** required to complete a project, that is, development of **the** CPM network diagram. If a well-defined WBS is developed first, the task of developing a CPM diagram is greatly simplified.

There are two basic methods of drawing CPM diagrams: the arrow diagram (sometimes called activity on arrow) and the precedence diagram (sometimes called activity on node). Although both methods achieve the same results, most project managers prefer the precedence method because it does not require the use of dummy activities. The precedence method can also provide the start-to-start, finish-to-finish, start-to-finish, and finish-to-start relationship of activities, which can significantly reduce the number of activities that are required in a network diagram. However, many individuals prefer to not use these relationships because of potential confusion in the network scheduling.

Figure 8-2 is a simple precedence diagram that is presented to illustrate the time computations for analysis of a project schedule by the CPM. Each activity is described by a single letter. The number at the top of the activity is the assigned activity number, and the number at the bottom of each activityrepresents the duration in working days. Alegend is shown in the lower left hand comer to define the **start** and finish days. All calculations for starts and finishes are based on end-of-day.



Forward Pass: EF = ES + D

After the CPM diagram has been prepared, the duration of each activity can be assigned and the forward-pass calculations performed to calculate the early start and early finish of each activity. The largest early finish of all preceding activities defines the early start of all following activities. For example, activity H cannot be started until activities E and F are both completed. Since the largest early finish of the two preceding activities is 12, the early start for activity H is 12. The forward-pass calculations are performed on all activities from the first activity **A** to the last activity **Q**. The early finish of the last activity defines the project completion, which is 41 days for this particular project. This project duration is a calculated value based upon the duration and interdependences of all activities in the project.

A backward pass can be performed to calculate the late start and late finish of each activity. The smallest late start of all following activities defines the late finish of all preceding activities. For example activities H and I cannot both be started until activity F is completed. Since the smallest early start of the two following activities is 16, the late finish for F is 16. The backward-pass calculations are performed on all activities from the last activity Q to the first activity A.

The difference between starts and finishes determines the amount of free and total float. For example, the total float for activity M is 9 days, the difference between its late start (30) and early start (21). The free float for activity M is 4 days, the difference between its early finish (23) and the early start (27) of the immediately following activity P.

The critical path, as noted by the double line on Figure 8-2, is defined by the series of interconnected activities that have zero total float. Since these activities have no float time available, any delay in their completion will delay the completion date of the project. Therefore, they are called critical activities.

Table 8-3 lists the basic steps to guide the process of developing a CPM diagram for project planning and scheduling. It is not always possible to complete a step without some readjustments. For example, the CPM diagram of step 2 may need readjusting after evaluation of the time and resources of steps 4 and 5. Some activities that were originally planned in a series may need to occur in parallel to meet a time requirement. Each project manager and his or her team must work together to develop a project plan and schedule that achieve the required project completion date with the resources that are available.

DEVELOPMENT OF CPM DIAGRAM FROM THE WBS

Table 8-3 provided the list of basic steps that can be used to guide the process of developing a network analysis system for project planning and scheduling. The development of the WBS is an important first step that is often neglected. Attempting to draw the CPM diagram without a WBS usually leads to numerous revisions to the diagram.

Figure 8-3 is an example of a WBS for the design of a service facility project that consists of two buildings, site-work, and on-site utilities. A discussion of a typical owner's study for this type of project was presented in Chapter 3. To handle this

TABLE 8-3 STEPS IN PLANNING AND SCHEDULING

- 1. Develop a work breakdown structure (WBS) that identifies work items (activities)
 - a. Consider activities that require time
 - b. Consider activities that require cost
 - c. Consider activities that you need to arrange
 - d. Consider activities that you want to monitor
- 2. Prepare a drawing (network diagram) that shows each activity in the order it must be performed to complete the project
 - a. Consider which activities immediately precede each activity
 - b. Consider which activities immediately follow each activity
 - c. The interrelationship of activities is a combination of how the work must be done (constraints) and how you want the work to be done
- 3. Determine the time, cost, and resources required to complete each activity
 - a. Review work packages of the WBS
 - b. Obtain input from project team members
- 4. Compute the schedule to determine start, finish, and float times
 - a. Perform a forward pass to determine early starts and finishes
 - b. Perform a backward pass to determine late starts and finishes
 - c. Determine the differences between start and finish times to determine float time and critical activities
- 5. Analyze costs and resources for the project
 - a. Compute the cost per day for each activity and for the entire project
 - b. Compute the labor-hours per day and/or other resources that are required to complete the project
- 6. Communicate the results of the plan and schedule
 - a. Display time schedule for activities
 - b. Display cost schedule for activities
 - c. Display schedule for other resources

project the contracting strategy is to use in-house personnel to design the onsite utilities, site-work, and the industrial maintenance building (denoted as Building A). This is commonly called performing work by the force-account method. A contract is assigned to an outside design organization for design of the commercial building (denoted as Building B), which is to be used as an employee's office building.

The WBS identifies the tasks and activities that must be performed, but does not provide the order in which they must occur. The CPM network diagram is prepared to show the sequencing and interdependences of the activities in the WBS. The diagram can be prepared by traditional drafting techniques or it can be prepared using the computer. The development on a computer can use either a computer aided drafting and design (CADD) program, or a software package that is specifically written for CPM scheduling.



Regardless of the method that is used, the initial logic of the diagram must be arranged by the person who is developing the diagram. In simple terms, a person must tell a draftsman, or the computer, how to draw the diagram. An efficient way to accomplish this task is to record each activity on a 3×5 index card and to use a tack to post all activities on a bulletin board or office wall. The activities can then be easily rearranged and reviewed by key participants before development of the formal diagram.

Figure 8-4 is a CPM diagram that was developed from the WBS shown in Figure 8-3. Note that each activity on the CPM is derived from the work tasks that are shown on the WBS. Thus, the project manager plans the project around the work to be performed, which has been defined by the people who will perform the work. Activities that are related are grouped together and arranged in the order they are to be performed. For example, the architectural floor plans are developed before the structural, mechanical, and electrical designs. A careful planning of the interface of activities at the start of the project is necessary for successful management of a project.

The purpose of CPM is to plan the work to guide the progress of a project and provide a baseline for project control. Chapter 9 discusses linking the WBS to the CPM for project control by expanding Figures 8-3 and 8-4 to include procurement and construction activities.

ASSIGNING REALISTIC DURATIONS

The CPM network diagram defines the activities, and sequencing of activities, to he performed to accomplish the project; however, the anticipated time that is required to complete each activity must be **determined** in order to schedule the entire project. The durations that are assigned to activities are important because the critical path, timing of activities, distribution of costs, and utilization of resources are all a function of activity durations.

The assignment of the duration that is required to accomplish an activity will vary depending on many factors: quantity and quality of work, number of people and/or equipment that is assigned to the activity, level of worker skills, availability of equipment, work environment, effectiveness of supervision of the work, and other conditions. Although these variations exist, a special effort must be made to determine a realistic duration for each activity because the duration that is assigned to activities in a CPM network diagram has a large impact on the schedule and overall management of a project.

Many activities in a project are routine in nature, which enables a reasonably accurate determination of the probable time of completion. For these types of activities the duration can be determined by dividing the total quantity of work by the production rate, which is a function of the number of individuals that are assigned to the activity. A common mistake that is made by many people is to calculate the time to accomplish an activity assuming a continuous flow of uninterrupted work. However, all work is subject to delays, interruptions, or other events that can impact



time. Thus, a reasonable amount of time (allowance) must be added to the calculated time to **determine** a realistic duration for each activity.

Generally, the duration of an activity can be determined by one of three methods; by analyzing historical records from previously completed projects. by referencing commercially available manuals that provide costs and production rates for various types of work. or from the experience and judgement of the person who will be performing the work. It is often desirable to determine the probable duration by several methods so the results can be compared to detect any significant variationsthat may occur.

The schedule for the design work is the total time to produce the final drawings, including the overlap of design calculations and design drafting. As previously discussed most engineers prefer a bar chart for scheduling individual design tasks. However, for project control the individual bar charts must be developed into activities on the **CPM** diagram to develop the total project schedule. The start and finish of each activity of the **CPM** engineering design schedule is a composite of all tasks of the work package. The following illustrates the evaluation of overlapping tasks of the work package to **determine** the duration of an activity on the **CPM** diagram.

Tasks of Work Package	Duration
Project Engineering	5 days
Structural Design	16 days
CADD Operator	9 days
Total Design Days	30 days



COMPUTER APPLICATIONS

The **CPM** network diagram, by itself, identifies the sequencing of activities but does not provide the scheduled start and finish dates, the distribution of costs, or the allocation of resources. This information can easily be determined by assigning the duration, cost, and resources that are required of each activity.

There are many **CPM** computer programs available to perform the numerous calculations necessary to determine the scheduled time, cost, and resources of activities. **Although** the number, type, and format of the computer-generated output reports vary widely, depending on the software, the basic input data required for each is the same information. The information required for the input data consists of activity number, description, duration, cost, and resources, such as, labor-hours. The sequencing, or interrelationship of activities, is defined by the **CPM** network diagram. The input data are the same information that is compiled during preparation of the design work packages for the WBS, or during preparation of the estimate for a project by the construction contractor. Thus, the computer application of CPM is appropriate for both the design and construction phase of a project.

The information that must be assembled for a CPM computer analysis is illustrated in Figures 8-5 and 8-6. Figure 8-5 is a simple CPM precedence network diagrain for a sewer and water lines construction project. Construction activities are selected for this illustrative example because they are easily recognizable by most readers. Each activity in Figure 8-5 is shown with its time and cost information. Resources are excluded for simplicity of this presentation and are discussed in the following section. A hand analysis of starts and finishes is shown in Figure 8-5 to illustrate the calculations and to relate them to the computer output reports discussed in the following paragraphs. The times that are shown on the diagram all represent end-of-day. A listing of the computer input data for this project is shown in Figure 8-6.

For this project, two surveying crews are available, which allows Activities 130 and 140 to occur simultaneously. Only one trenching machine is available; therefore trenching work for Water Line A, Activity 170, is planned before trenching of Water Line B, Activity 190. Other similar constraints are shown in the network to illustrate that planning must be done before project scheduling can be accomplished.

The input data required for a computer scheduling analysis are shown in Figure 8-6. The first part of the input data defines information related to each activity. The second part defines the order in which the activities are performed, that is, the sequencing or interfacing of activities. The project title is shown above the activity list, and the project start date is shown at the end of the sequence list.

Figure 8-7 shows the activity schedule report for the project that is typically available from a CPM computer program. Both calendar and work days are shown. Start dates represent beginning of the day while finish dates represent end of the day. The free and total floats are shown for each activity. The letter " C at the left of an activity denotes it is a critical activity; that is, it has zero total and free float.

SCHEDULE CODING SYSTEM

One of the advantages of CPM scheduling by computer methods is the ability to sort specific activities from the complete list of activities for the project. For example, the project manager may only want information about sewer activities, the time required for trenching equipment, or the assignment of the surveying crew. The sorting of these activities can easily be accomplished by a coding system.

Table 8-4 is a simple 4-digit coding system to illustrate sorting capabilities for the sewer and water lines project that is shown in Figure 8-5. All activities related to the sewer line are represented by the number "1" in the first digit. Water line activities are represented by the number "2." The second code digit represents the type of work, such as, surveying, forming manholes, trenching, laying pipe, and backfilling. Thus, a 4-digit code is assigned to each activity in the project. For example, the code for activity number 180 is 2410. This code indicates that the activity pertains to water line, laying pipe, and line A. The 4-digit code number for



ES D EF

Forward Pass: EF = ES + D

FIGURE 8-5

CPM Diagram for Construction Phase of Sewer and Water Lines Project.

PROJECT: SEWER & WATEK LINE

ACTIVITY LIST:

NUMBER	CODE	DESCRIPTION	DURATION	COST	ASSIGNED START
10	5000	MOVE ON SITE	3	1400.	
20	1100	SURVEY SEWER LINES	4	2700.	
30	1200	EXCAVATE FOR MANHOLES	3	3500.	
40	1200	INSTALL MANHOLE FORMWORK	5	6000.	
50	1200	PLACE CONCRETE MANHOLES	5	4700.	
60	1300	T'RENCH SEWER LINE	10	12600.	
70	1200	STRIP MANHOLE FORMWORK	2	2100.	
80	1400	LAY SEWER PIPE	15	11250.	
90	1200	INSPECT WHOLES	1	800.	
100	1300	REMOVE TRENCHING EQUIPMENT	2	1400.	
110	1500	BACKFILL SEWER TRENCH	5	3600.	
120	5000	SEWER LINE COMPLETE	0	0.	
130	2110	SURVEY WATER LINE A	6	4000.	
140	2120	SURVEY WATER LINE B	5	3400.	
150	3000	UNDERGROUND ELECTRTCAL	5	2500.	
160	4000	DRILL WATER WELL	12	7000.	
170	2310	TRENCH WATER LINE A	9	8800.	
180	2410	LAY PIPE FOR WATER LINE A	7	16800.	
190	2320	TRENCH WATER LINE B	16	15600.	
200	2510	BACKFILL WATER LINE A	2	900.	
210	2420	LAY PIPE FOR WATER LINE B	14	33600.	
220	2520	BACKFTLL WATER LINE B	3	2850.	
230	3000	INSTALL WATER METERS	1	600.	
240	4000	SET WATER PUMP	2	1400.	
250	5000	PROJECT COMPLETE	0	0.	

SEQUENCE OF ACTIVITIES:

FROM	то
10	20
20	30
30	40
40	50
40	60
50	70
60	80
70	90
80	90
80	110
80	100
90	120
100	120
110	120
120	130
120	160
120	150
120	140
130	170
140	190
150	230
160	240
170	180
170	190
180	200
180	210
190	210
200	220
210	220
220	250
230	250
240	250

PROJECT START DATE: APRIL 1, 2002 FIVE-DAY WORK WEEK NO ASSIGNED EOLIDAYS ** ACTIVITY SCHEDULE **

PROJECT: SEWER AND WATER LINES SCHEDULE FOR ALL ACTIVITIES ** PAGE 1 ** ACTIVITY SCHEDULE

	ACTIVITY NUMBER	ACTIVITY DESCRIPTION	DURA- TION	EARLY	EARLY FINISH	LATE START	late Finish	TOTAL FLOAT	FREE
	*******		*******	******			*********	*******	
c	10	MOVE CN SITE	3	1APR2002	3APR2002	1APR2002	3APR2002	a	σ
ç	20	SURVEY SEWER LINES	4	4APR2002	DAPR2002	4APR2002	9APR2002 7	0	0
c	30	EXCAVATE FOR MANHOLES	3	10APR2002 8	12APR2002 10	10APR2002 8	12AP82002 10	0	0
c	40	INSTALL MANHOLE FORMWORK	5	15APR2002	19APR2002 15	15APR2002 11	19APR2002 15	U	0
	50	PLACE CONCRETE MANHOLES	5	22APR2002 16	26APR2002 20	23MAY2002 39	29MAY2CD2 43	23	D
C	50	TRENCH SEWER LINE	10	22APR2002 16	3MAY2002 25	22APR2002 16	3MAY2002 25	a	D
	70	STRIF MANHOLE FORMWORK	2	29APR2002 21	30APR2002 22	30MAY2002 44	31MAY2002 45	23	18
C	80	LAY SEWER PIPE	15	6MAY2002 26	24MAY2002 40	6MAY2C02 26	24MAY2002 40	0	0
	90	INSPECT MANHOLES	1	27MAY2002 41	27MAY2002 41	3.7UN2002 46	3JUN2002 46	5	5
	100	REMOVE TRENCHING EQUIPMENT	2	27MAY2002 61	28MAY2002 42	31MAY2002 45	3JUN2002 46	4	4
c	110	BACKFILL SEWER TRENCH	5	27MAY2002 41	3JUN2002 46	27MAY2002 41	3JUN2002 46	0	0
C EVENI	120	SEWER LINE COMPLETE	D	4JUN2032 47	4JUN2002 47	4JUN2002 47	4 JUN2 3 0 2 47	0	0
c	130	SURVEY WATER LINE A	6	4CUN2002 47	11.TUN2002 52	4JUN2002 47	11J0N2002 52	10	10
	140	SURVEY WATER LINE B	5	470N2C02 47	10JUN2002 51	18JUN2002 57	51 51	10	10
	150	UNDERGROUND ELECTRICAL	5	4.7UN2002 47	10JUN2002 51	1A0G2502 69	93	46	a
	160	DRILL WATER WELL	12	4JUN2002 47	19JUN2002 58	81	92 92	39	42
	230	INSTALL WATER METERS	1	11JUN2002 52	52	94	94	14	
¢.	210	TRENCH WATER DINE A	9	53	61	53	61 83002002	34	34
	240	SET WATER FUM?	2	2000N2002 59	60 5 TH 2002	93	94	9	9
~	160	LAI PIPE FOR WATER LINE A	1	62 62	58	71	77	0	0
2	200	DECENTION WATER SING D	10	62 4 mm 2662	77	62 731162002	77	21	21
	200	BACKFILL WATER DING M	2	4J0L2002 69	70	90	91 51002002	0	0
	210	DAT FIFE FOR WATER LINE B	14	78	91 91	78	91	0	0
C	220	DALATILL WATER LINE B	3	92 92	94 94	92	94 ##002002	0	
C EVEN	230	PROJECT COMPLETE	C	94	94	94	94	0	4

FIGURE 8-7

Computer-GeneratedActivity Schedule for Sewer and Water Lines Project.

each activity in the sewer and water lines project is shown in the activity list of Figure 8-6.

The coding system provides numerous options for selection of activities by the project manager. For example, all sewer line activities can be sorted from the complete list of project activities by selecting those activities that have a "1" in the first digit. A schedule report for these activities is shown in Figure 8-8. A project manager may also print a bar chart for these activities as shown in Figure 8-9. A coding system provides a means of obtaining many other reports. For example, a sort of all activities related to trenching and laying pipe can be obtained by selecting activities

	Code Numbe		
Code Digit I	Code Digit 2	Code Digit 3	Code Digit 4
0 – Unassigned	0 – Unassigned	OUnassigned	0-Unassigned
1 - Sewer Line	I - Surveying	I – Line A	1 – Unassigned
2-Water Lines	2 - Manholes	2-Line B	2 - Unassigned
3 W a t e r Meter	3-Trenching	3-Unassigned	3-Unassigned
4 – Water Pump	4 – Laying Pipe	4-Unassigned	4 - Unassigned
5 Milestones	5–Backfill	5 – Unassigned	5 – Unassigned
6Unassigned	6-Unassigned	6–Unassigned	6-Unassigned
7-Unassigned	7-Unassigned	7 – Unassigned	7–Unassigned
8 – Unassigned	8 – Unassigned	8-Unassigned	8 Unassigned
9 – Unassigned	Y – Unassigned	9 Unassigned	9Unassigned

TABLE 8-4 CODING SYSTEM FOR SEWER AND WATER LINES PROJECT

that have a second code digit number that is greater than "2" and less than "5" (reference Table 8-4).

COST DISTRIBUTION

The distribution of costs, with respect to time, must be known to successfully manage a project. In the preceding sections the scheduled early and late starts, and finishes, were calculated based on the duration and sequencing of activities. A cost analysis can also be **performed** by assigning the cost that is anticipated to complete each activity. The cost of an activity may be distributed over the duration of the activity; however, the activity may be performed over a range of time, starting from the early to late start and ending from the early to late finish.

Because activities can occur over a range of time, a cost analysis must be performed based on activities starting on an early start, late start, and target schedule. The target schedule is the midpoint between the early start and late start. Table 8-5 illustrates the early start cost analysis calculations for the sewer and water lines project shown in Figure 8-5. For each day in the project, the cost per day of each activity that is in progress is summed to obtain the total cost of the project for that day. Cumulative project costs are divided by the total project cost of \$147,500 to obtain the percentage cost for each day. The percentage time for each day is calculated by dividing the number of the working days by the total project duration of 94 days. Similar calculations can be performed for activities starting on a late start schedule and target schedule.

Although the calculations for a cost analysis are simple, many are required, as illustrated by the small sewer and water lines project that has only 25 activities and a 94-day project duration. A small microcomputer can perform all the calculations for cost analysis of a project with several hundred activities in less than two seconds.

SCHEDULE	ACTIVITY 3						R LINE ACTIVITIES ONLY	E POX SEWER	CHEDUI
*******	********		*******	********	********	******	* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	*********	*****
FREE FLOAT	TOTAL FLOAT	LATE FINISH	LATE STRPT	EARLY FINISH	EARLY START	DURA- TION	ACTIVITY UESCRIPTION	ACTIVITY NUMBER	
*******	******			*******	**********	******	*******		
0	0	9APR2002 7	4APR2002 4	9APR2002 7	4APR2002 4	4	SURVEY SEWER LINES	20	с
0	0	12APR2002 10	10APR2002 8	12APR2002 10	10APR2002 8	3	EXCAVATE FOR MANHOLES	30	С
0	0	19APR2002 15	15APR2002 11	19APR2002 15	15APR2002	5	INSTALL MANHOLE FORMWORK	40	С
0	23	29MAY2002 43	23MAY2002 39	26APR2002 23	22APR2002	5	PLACE CONCPETE MANHOLES	50	
3	0	3MAY2002	22APR2002	3MAY2002	22AFR2002	10	TRENCH SEWER LINE	60	С
18	23	31MAY2002 45	30MAY2002 44	30APR2002	29AFR2002	2	STRIP MANHOLE FORMWORK	70	
D	D	24MAY2002 40	6MAY2002	24MAY2002	6MAY2002	15	LAY SEWER PIPE	80	C
	5	3JUN2002	3JUN2002	27MAY2002	27MAY2002	1	INSPECT WHOLES	33	
4	4	3JJN2002	31MAY2002	28MAY2002	27MAY2002	2	REMOVE TRENCHING EQUIPMENT	100	
0	0	46 3JUN2002 46	45 27MAY2002 41	42 3JUN2002 46	41 27MAY2002 41	6	BACKFILL SEWER TRENCH	110	С

FIGURE 8-8

Computer Printout of Sewer Line Activities Only (Sort of Activities List by Code Digit #1 Equal to One).

> PROJECT: SEWER AND WATER LINES SCHEDULE FOR SEWER LINE ACTIVITIES ONLY

** PAGE 1 BAR CHART

ACTIVI	TY	DESCRIPTION	DURATION	1 1APR2002	12.8	10 PR2003	264	20 PR200	2 101	30 IAY200	2 241	40 4AY200	2 7.JU	50 M2002	21JU	60 N2002
U	20	SURVEY SEWER LINES	4	+	*XXX	-+	:			+		+		*		+
0	30	EXCAVATE FOR MANHOLES	en.	•		· XX+	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•
U	40	INSTALL MANHOLE FORMWORK	LD.	•	•	· *	· xx		•	•	÷	•	•	•	•	
	50	PLACE CONCRETE MANHOLES	n		•		. XX	XXX	1				•	•		
U	60	TRENCH SEWER LINE	DT		•	•	.*	XXXXX	·XXX	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
	20	STRIP MANHOLE FORMWORK	TN.			•		. XX		•	•		• •	•		
0	80	LAY SEWER PIPE	15	•					.*	· ·	· ·	······		•	•	•
	06	INSPECT MANHOLES	et	•		•			•	•	•	-X	. 1	•		
1	00	REMOVE TRENCHING EQUIPMENT	rv.			•		•		•	•	. XX	. 4	•		•
C 1	10	BACKFILL SEWER TRENCH	U.		•	•	•		•		•	×*	XXXX	•		•
						•	÷		•		•	•	•	•		
		WOR CALENDAR	K DAYS DATES	+ 1 1APR2002	128	10 10 PR2002		20 PR200	2 100	30	2 240	40 40	0.C.L 2	+ 50 N2002		60 42002

FIGURE 8-9 Computer-Generated Bar Chart for Sewer Line Activities Only.

Day	%-Time		Activities In progress	Project cost/day	Cumulative project cost	% Cost
1	1.06%	Act. 10	\$1,40013 = \$466.67/Day	\$466.67	\$466.67	0.32%
2	2.12%		=		\$933.33	0.63%
3	3.19%		22		\$1,400.00	0.95%
4	4.25%	Act. 20	\$2,70014 = \$675.00/Day	\$675.00	\$2,075.00	1.41%
5	5.32%	и т	=		\$2,750.00	1,86%
6	6.38%	M	2		\$3,425.00	2.32%
7	7.45%	н н	=		\$4.100.00	2.78%
8	8.51%	Act. 30	\$3,50013 = \$1,167.67/Day	\$1,167.67	\$5,267.67	3.57%
9	9.57%	H U	=		\$6,433.33	4.36%
10	10.63%		=		\$7,600.00	5.15%
11	11.70%	Act. 40	\$6,00015 = \$1,200.00/Day	\$1,200.00	\$8,800.00	5.97%
12	12.77%		=		\$10,000.00	6.78%
13	13.83%	н н	=		\$11,200.00	7.59%
14	14.89%	н н	=		\$12,400.00	8.41%
15	15.96%		=		\$13,600.00	9.22%
16	17.02%	Act. 50	\$4,70015 = \$940.00/Day			
		Act. 60	\$12,600110 = \$1,260.00/Day	\$2,200.00	\$15,800.00	10.71%
17	18.09%		=		\$18,000.00	12.20%
18	21.70%		=		\$20,200.00	13.69%
19	20.21%	U U	-		\$22,400.00	15.19%
20	21.28%		=		\$24,600.00	16.68%
21	22.34%	Act. 60	\$12,600110 = \$1,260.00/Day			
:	i	Act. 70	\$2,100/2 = \$1,050.00/Day	\$2,310.00	\$25,910.00	18.24%
94	100.0%				\$147,500.00	100.0%

TABLE **8-5** CALCULATIONS FOR PROJECT COSTS PER DAY ON AN EARLY START BASIS TOTAL PROJECT DURATION = 94 WORKING DAYS TOTAL PROJECT COST = \$147,500.00

Figure 8-10 is a computer printout of the daily distribution of costs for the calculations illustrated in Table 8-5. A similar analysis can be performed for other resources, such as labor and equipment. For example, a daily distribution of labor-hours, similar to Figure 8-10, can be used to detect periods of time when the need for labor is high or low. The project manager and his or her team can detect this problem early and appropriately adjust the project plan or acquire additional personnel if needed and available.

A tabular format of the distribution of costs on an early start, late start, and target basis is presented in Figure 8-11. The target scheduled costs are average values between the early and late start schedules. The right hand two columns of Figure 8-11 show the percentage-cost and percentage-time values for the target schedule. As shown in the figure there is a non-linear relationship between the time and cost for a project.

The cumulative cost graph for a project is commonly called the **S-curve**, because it resembles the shape of the letter "S." The early, late, and target cumulative distribution of costs can be superimposed onto one graph to form the envelope of time





** PAGE 1 ** For all activities



FIGURE 8-10 Computer Printout of Daily Distribution of Costs for Sewer and Water Lines Project.

.. DWITA CORL SCHEDUTE ..

** DALLY COST SCHEDULE FOR ALL ACTIVITIES **

PROJECT: SEWER AND WATER LINES DALLY DESTRIBUTION OF COST FOR ALL ACTIVITIES START DATE: 1 APR 2002 FINISH DATE: 8 AUG 2002

1 ΔΥΝ32001 8 8 1 (K) 1 (K) 8 1 (K) 1 (K) <th< th=""><th>15008</th><th>AMITAR</th><th>AVITA UNU</th><th>1.0</th><th>VAG . TPO</th><th>I-</th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>-I</th><th></th><th>VET. TOOD</th><th>I</th><th>CALENDAR</th><th>MORK</th></th<>	15008	AMITAR	AVITA UNU	1.0	VAG . TPO	I-					-I		VET. TOOD	I	CALENDAR	MORK
Series Verve Decker i Decker i <thdecker i<="" th=""> Decker i Decke</thdecker>			1500		1100110	T T	COST COST	0.0	13/11/120	-	COST I SUCCESS			I		1947
56786 42.786 1000001 2 1000001 2 1000000 2 1000000 2 56736 48.786 1000000 2 1000000 2 1000000 2 1000000 2 1000000 2 1000000 2 1000000 2 1000000 2 1000000 2 1000000 2 10000000 2 10000000 2 10000000 2 10000000 2 100000000 2 100000000 2 1000000000 2 1000000000 2 1000000000 2 10000000000 2 10000000000 2 100000000000 2 1000000000000000 2 10000000000000000 2 1000000000000000000000000000000000000	92.	#T.1	*491	s	· L95	9 1	1194	\$	198	\$: 149¥	\$.785	\$ 1 1	TVERSOOS	T
56'86 4:'96 '00071 5 100071 100071 5 100071 5 100071 5 100071 5 100071 5 100071 5 100071 5 100071 5 100071 5 100071 5 100071 5 1	\$9.	\$T'Z	.659	S	-7722	\$ 1 1		~	.736	S	1	ŝ	.784	\$ 1	S002RSAS	2
86786 46796 1000001 2 20020002 2 1000001 2 1000000 2 1000000 2 1000000 2 1000000 2 1000000 2 1000000 2 1000000 2 1000000 2 1000000 2 1000000 2 1000000 2 1000000 2 1000000 2 1000000 2 1000000 2 100000000 2 100000000 2 100000000 2 1000000000 2 100000000000000 2 1000000000000000000000000000000000000	86	#2,1	OCPT	s	.785	\$; 1	7400°	s	-785	\$: '005T	ş	.782	\$ 1	SDOSASAL	ε
36786 wirse '0005071 \$ 0517 \$ '005091 \$ 0517 \$ '00591 \$ 0517 \$ '00591 \$ <td>ND IT</td> <td>82.5</td> <td>. 2015.</td> <td>\$</td> <td>.278</td> <td>\$:</td> <td>5012</td> <td>5</td> <td>-619</td> <td>ş</td> <td>5042°</td> <td>\$</td> <td>'549</td> <td>\$ 1</td> <td>4VERS003</td> <td></td>	ND IT	82.5	. 2015.	\$.278	\$:	5012	5	-619	ş	5042°	\$	'549	\$ 1	4VERS003	
A6786 WE'R6 '006KPI \$ 0512 \$ '005491 \$ 0512 \$ '005491 \$ 0512 \$ '005491 \$ 0512 \$ '005491 \$ '00517 <	\$6'T	86.3	5120'	\$	52.9	\$ 1	3120.	\$.875.	\$	1 *DSL2	\$. 519	\$ I	SAPR2002	5
36.36 3000 2 3000 2 3000 2 3000 3 3000 3	8E.S	85.38	.2255	5	529	5 :	1432	\$	°578	\$	1 .2425.	ş	'519	3 :	20023948	9
1 ΔΥΜ22002 2 3 1200 2 14000 <td>\$8.Z</td> <td>85.7</td> <td>.0015</td> <td>\$</td> <td>ria</td> <td>\$ 1</td> <td>4100.</td> <td>\$</td> <td>1978</td> <td>\$</td> <td>4 00TP</td> <td>\$</td> <td>*549</td> <td>\$ 1 1</td> <td>200289A6</td> <td>4</td>	\$8.Z	85.7	.0015	\$	ria	\$ 1	4100.	\$	1978	\$	4 00TP	\$	*549	\$ 1 1	200289A6	4
36:360 2 19000	89.5	\$5'8	1925	5	-7361	s :	12925	\$.7311	ş	: *2925	\$	*6911	S I	200289401	8
36136 8 3000 2 142300 2 142300 2 142300 3 142300 3 <t< td=""><td>82.2</td><td>89.6</td><td>.6623.</td><td>\$</td><td>1767.</td><td>S 1 1</td><td>-££\$3</td><td>\$</td><td>.7311</td><td>\$</td><td>1 *8899 1</td><td>\$</td><td>*L9TT</td><td>\$ 1 1</td><td>SCOSN4A11</td><td>6</td></t<>	82.2	89.6	.6623.	\$	1767.	S 1 1	-££\$3	\$.7311	\$	1 *8899 1	\$	*L9TT	\$ 1 1	SCOSN4A11	6
36.986 2 3.000000 2 3.000000 2 1423200 2 142320 2 142320 2 142320 2<	\$C.2	89.0I	10091	\$	1911	S 1	.0097	\$.7811	\$	1 -0097 1	\$	1762*	\$ I I	13APR2002	OT
3 ΔΥΝΌΣΟΟΣ \$ ΞΑΡΚΑΊζΟΟΣ \$ ΞΑΡΚΑΊζΟΟΣ \$ ΞΑΡΚΑΊζΟΣ \$ ΞΑΡΚΑΪζΟΣ \$ ΞΑΡΚΑΪζΟΣ ΞΑΡΚΑΊζΟΣ \$ ΞΑΡΚΑΪζΟΣ \$ ΞΑΡΚΑΪζΟΣ \$ ΞΑΡΚΑΪζΟΣ \$ ΞΑΡΚΑΪζΟΣ ΞΑΡΚΑΊζΟΣ	% 0°9	\$6.25	.0088	5	0021	S 7	.0088	\$	1200.	\$	1 .0088	\$	*00ZT	\$ ±	T2V585005	τı
36:36 2 3200 2 3120' 2 1120'	88 9	#B.SI	100001	\$	10081	\$ 1 1	*00001	6	120C'	to	10000. ÷	\$	1300°	\$7 ±	S00SFIABI	21
30 ΔΥΝΩ2002 \$ \$ 5000 \$ 5000 \$ 5000 \$ 17000 \$ 17000 \$ 17000 \$ 17000 \$ 36'86 \$ 18000 \$ 17000 \$ 17000 \$ 36'86 \$ 17000 \$ 17000 \$ 36'86 \$ 36'86 \$ 17000 \$ 17000 \$ 36'86 \$ 36'86 \$ 17000 \$ 17000 \$ 36'86 \$ 36'96 \$ 17000 \$ 17000 \$ 36'86 \$ 36'96 \$ 36'96 \$ 36'96 \$ 36'96 \$ 36'96 \$ 36'96 \$ 36'96 \$ 36'96 \$ 36'96 \$ 36'96 \$ 36'96 \$ 36'96 \$ 36'96 \$ 36'96 \$ 36'96 \$ 36'96 \$ 36'96 \$ 36'96 \$ 36'96 36'96 36'96 36'96 36'96 36'96 36'96 36'96 36'96 36'96 36'96	8914	#8.EL	.00211	\$	150 0	\$ 1	11300.	ş	.00SI	\$	+ +00Sir +	5	1200+	\$:	200284471	13
2 ΔΥΡΩΣΟΟΣ \$ \$ \$ 5130' \$ 17230' 17230' 17230' 17230' 17230' 17230' 17230' 17430' 184' 163'' 8 163'' 8 174''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''	\$⊅.B	96.61	12400.	5	1500	\$: r	12400.	ŝ	.00ZI	\$	12400'	5	1200.	5 :	SOCSHGARI	71
36.960 8.960 2.300 8.120 8.120 2.14200 8.120 2.14200 2	82.2	\$C.31	.909CI	s	.0021	\$ 1	13600.	5	.00S1	5	13600	\$.1200.	\$ *	ZOCZHAV61	SI
36:36 8:360 2:360 2:3720 2:3720 2:1720	84.01	\$0.72	12330	\$	0241	S : r	14860.	\$	1360'	40	: '00951	\$	'008Z	\$ T 1	SOUSHUASS	91
3 20003003 \$ 3800 2 31900 \$ 17201 \$ 17200 2 17200 <td>69 TT</td> <td>WI'RI</td> <td>11060.</td> <td>\$</td> <td>1130</td> <td>5 1</td> <td>16120.</td> <td>s</td> <td>.0851</td> <td>\$</td> <td>19000° 1</td> <td>\$</td> <td>2200°</td> <td>\$ 1</td> <td>SONFREGOS</td> <td>LT</td>	69 TT	WI'RI	11060.	\$	1130	5 1	16120.	s	.0851	\$	19000° 1	\$	2200°	\$ 1	SONFREGOS	LT
36:96 \$ 3300; \$ 3000;	13.18	\$1.P1	.02781	\$	0671	\$ 1	.OBETI	\$	1360.	\$: S0200' :	9	2200°	\$ 1	24882002	87
b6:86 % 000 <td< td=""><td>96.61</td><td>20.28</td><td>102502</td><td>s</td><td>.0571</td><td>\$ 1 1</td><td>.04981</td><td>\$</td><td>.09ZT</td><td>s</td><td>1 23400'</td><td>5</td><td>3500'</td><td>\$ 1</td><td>SO05,99A2S</td><td>61</td></td<>	96.61	20.28	102502	s	.0571	\$ 1 1	.04981	\$.09ZT	s	1 23400'	5	3500'	\$ 1	SO05,99A2S	61
3 1 ΔΥΡΩΞΟΟΣ 8 330 2 178202 17820 2	ST ST	86.15	25250°	5	.0£7 1	\$ 1	.006er	\$	1260.	\$	39600	5	3200.	\$ 1	2002,84495	02
2 2.0007 2 2.120 2 14220 2 14220 2 14230 2 14230 2 14230 2 14230 2 14230 2 14230 2 14230 2 14230 2 14230 2 14230 2 14230 2 14320 2 14320 2 14320 2 14320 2 14320 2 14320 2 14320 2 14320 2 14320 2 14320 2 14320 2 2 14320 2 14102 2 14102 2 14102 2 14102 2 14102 2 14102 2 14102 2 14102 2 14102 2 14102 2 14102 2 14102 2 14102	8E 91	\$5.3%	54032	s	5871	\$:	STIED	\$	1260.	5	56910. 1	\$.0155	9 i 1	200284465	12
33 AVD02003 \$ 3800 2 14920 \$ 71820 2 14320 2 14100 2 14220 2 14102 <						4 2					1			4 ±		
33 LAYDD2003 \$ 3800 2 14920 \$ 71200 2 142300 2 142300 2 14230 3 143300 3 093 8 3 143300 3 093 8 3 143300 3 093 8 3 143300 3 093 8 3 143300 3 093 8 3 143300 3 093 8 3 143300 3 143300 3 093 8 3 143100 2 1433 2 1433 3 143100 3 143100 3 143100 3 143100 3 143100 3 14320 3 1433 3 143100 3 143100 3 143100 3 143100 3 143100 3 143100 3 143100 3 1431 3 143100 3 143100 3 1431 3 1431 3 1431 3 1431 3 1431 3 143100 3 1431 3 1431 3 1431 3 1431 3 1431 3 1431 3 1432 3 4'1.3 3 14111 3 1411 3 1411	Т	Ť	t		Т	1	Ť		Ť		1		Ť	1	Ť	Ť
23 14702003 2 147820 2 147220 2 147220 2 147220 2 147220 2 247320 1 247320 2 247320 2 247320 2 247320 2 247320 2 247320 2 247320 2 247320 2 2 247320 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2<	\$T:58	67-05	805521	\$	3692	\$ 1	120767.	\$. EB95	-	: 1 0520E1	\$	5400*	\$ 1	36JUL2003	58
2 LYDD2005 2 2400° 2 2170° 2 74230° 1 74230° 2 74730° 36°34	\$6.98	85'16	128200°	\$	5695	\$:	153120	\$.5862	\$: 135920° 1	5	5400.	\$ 1	200230262	98
2 LAND2005 2 2400 2 2120 2 742300 1 1 2 2 <th2< th=""></th2<>	8L188	89.26	130893°	\$	2692	\$ 1	156733.	5	.0862	\$	1 2 .050251	5	-00Þ2	\$ 1	301023005	2.8
2 LMDD2005 2 3000 2 14230 2 14230 2 14230 3 3430 34736 34736 34736 3473600 3473600 3473600	89'06	89"66	.582551	6	2692	1 \$ 1	·LTL621	\$	* 2862	\$	1 *05\$/ET	9	*00 P Z	\$ 1	377053035	88
2 LVDD2005 : \$ 320 2 14920 : \$ 5720 ; \$ 74230 : \$ 7220 2 147300 3 147304 62.34 65.54 5 9572 2 9570 2 149420 : \$ 5003 2 140100 : \$ 74230 2 1453 5 14530 62.34 1 2VDD2005 2 8 5400 3 149420 : \$ 1333 2 14100 : \$ 1455 5 14530 62.34 5 9573 2 14100 2 14550 2 3 149420 2 145500 2 145500 2	89 Z6	84.56	'SZSSET	\$	2062	s :	733500°	ŝ	*£87£	\$: : '0586E1	\$	*009Z	s :	ECOSENAT	68
2 LANDATOONS : & 3400 2 LANDATO : & 14230 2 LANDATO 2 LANDATO 2 2000 3 LANDATO 2 2000 3 2000 3 2 2000 3 2000 3 2000 3 2000 3 2 20000 3 2 2000 3 2 20000 3 2 20000 3 2 20000 3 2 20000 3	94.186	84.56	T336955	\$	3767	s t	*EETLET	Ś	*8865	s	1 113320-	\$	5400*	\$ 1	5V005005	06
2 LANDG2005 : \$ 320 2 LAG220 : \$ 142320 : \$ 14230 2 LA7300 3 LA7300 3 2.34 5 Verd2005 : \$ 320 2 LAG220 : \$ 5.003 2 LA520 2 LA7300 2 LA7300 3 LA7300 3 2.34	%6*96	18'96	1428581	\$	L9TE	\$ 1	-290TPT	5	16265	\$	1 10599921	\$	5400*	\$ +	ZODZEDAR	Tf
3 AVDC2005 : \$ 360 2 146260 : \$ 5120° ; \$ 1220 2 142260° ; \$ 1220 2 142600° 38°3# 38°3#	86.7 2	85.72	.0263b1	\$	2691	\$:	-001101	\$	5033	\$: 'CO9501	ş	+096	\$ 1	\$0050UA8	Ze
	\$6°86	\$5.86	-006501	ś	OSST	\$:	142320'	\$	"osta	s	095971	s	056	\$:	2002004L	26

FIGURE 8-11 Computer Printout of Daily Costs for All Activities of Sewer and Water Lines Project.

over which costs may be distributed for the project (reference Figure 8-12). This graph links two of the basic elements of a project, time and cost. The third element, accomplished work, must also be linked to time snd cost. Chapter 9 discusses linking accomplished work to the S-curve.

NO OF DETEX COST SCHEDO

The type of reports presented in this section are typical examples of the reports that can be obtained from the many computer software programs that are available.



FIGURE 8-12 Illustrative S-Curve for Cumulative Cost Curve on an Early Start, Late Start, and Target Basis.

The only input data that a project manager must prepare, to obtain the described analyses, are shown in Figure 8-6.

RESOURCE ALLOCATIONS FOR DESIGN

Efficient utilization of resources is critical to successful management. The primary resource during design is the work-hours of the design team. The project manager depends on the design team to create design alternatives, produce drawings, and write specifications for the proposed project. To properly coordinate all aspects of the design effort, the project manager must ensure the correct expertise is available when needed. Generally, design team members are assigned to the project by their respective home departments. Since each designer is often involved in several projects at the same time, the project manager must develop a resource allocation plan for each project. The plan should then be distributed to each design team member's home department to ensure that each resource will be available when needed.

The project manager can resource load the project plan to include the number of work-hours required for each design discipline. The resource plan is similar to the cost distribution analysis presented earlier in this chapter, except work-hours are used in place of dollars of cost. Thus, the resource plan is simply a histogram of work-hours versus time for each design discipline. The project manager should provide the resource plan for each project to the design team's manager. The design managers can then integrate the resource plans of all active projects into their department's demand for technical expertise. This is necessary to ensure adequate resources are available for the projects when required.

RESOURCE ALLOCATIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION

During the construction phase, the primary resources are labor, materials, and equipment. The correct quantity and quality of material must be ordered and delivered to the job-site at the right time to ensure efficiency of labor. Equipment to be installed in the project often requires a long lead time from the fabricator. Thus, the project plan should include material and equipment required by the construction work force.

Labor represents a major cost of construction. The labor force on the job operates construction equipment and installs the materials. A resource allocation plan is required to ensure high efficiency and productivity during construction. The project manager can resource load the project plan to include the number of work-hours required for each craft of construction labor. The resource plan is a histogram of work-hours versus time, similar to the cost distribution analysis presented earlier in the chapter.

The construction plan shows the desired sequence of work. However, to be workable, the plan must also show the distribution of resources, such as the required labor for each craft **on** the job The demand for labor should be uniformly distributed for each craft on the project, to prevent irregularities. The resource plan can be used as a tool to ensure a relatively uniform distribution of labor on the project. Figure 8-13 is a simple bar chart for a project, showing each work activity, number of crews, and number of people in the crew for all labor in the project. The lower portion of Figure 8-13 shows irregularity in the distribution of workers per day during the middle of the project.

Figure 8-14 illustrates the same project as Figure 8-13, except Activity F is started one day later and Activity H is started two days earlier. The lower portion of Figure 8-14 shows a relative uniform distribution of labor by making these two minor adjustments in the project plan. A similar analysis can be made for each craft of labor to ensure uniform distribution of workers on the wroject. A resource allocation for a particular craft typically has a flat appearance on the graph, whereas a resource allocation for all crafts typically has a bell-shaped graph as shown in Figure 8-14.

PROGRAM EVALUATION AND REVIEW TECHNIQUE (PERT)

In the Critical Path Method of scheduling projects, the duration of each activity is usually defined with a reasonable degree of certainty. For most projects the type and amount of work is known, which enables the project manager to establish the approximate duration for each work activity. For example, the time to produce
drawings may be four weeks, the time to perform a soil investigation to gather and test soil samples may be two weeks, or the time to erect forms for concrete may be three days. Using the CPM, the assignment of one duration to each activity provides a deterministic process for the start and finish dates of each activity and a single finish date for the entire project.

For some projects it may be difficult to estimate a reasonable single duration for one or more of the activities in the project schedule. There may be a range of durations that may apply to a particular activity, which makes it difficult to select just one duration to assign to the activity. The Program Evaluation and Review Technique (PERT) method of scheduling uses three durations for each activity and the fundamental statistics to determine the probability of a project finishing earlier or later than expected. Although the PERT method is not used extensively in engineering and construction projects, it provides valuable information for assessing the risks of a schedule slippage of a project.

The PERT method uses an arrow network diagram to show the logical sequence of activities in a project, whereas the CPM uses a precedence diagram as discussed in preceding sections of this book. In a PERT diagram, activities are represented by arrows with circles at each end of the arrow. The circles are called events that r e p resent an instant in time. The circle at the beginning of the activity represents the start of an activity, and the circle at the end of the arrow represents the finish of the activity.

The major difference between the PERT method and CPM is the estimation of durations of activities. PERT is applicable for projects where there is a high degree of uncertainty about how long any given activity will take to complete, where even the most experienced manager can give only an educated guess of the estimated time, and that guess is subject to a wide margin of error. Using PERT there are three durations that are assigned to each activity:

a = optimistic timeb = pessimistic timem = most likely time

The optimistic time is the shortest possible time in which the activity could possibly be completed, assuming that everything goes well. There is only a very small chance of completing the activity in less than this time. The pessimistic time is the longest time the activity could ever require, assuming that everything goes poorly. There is only a very small chance of expecting this activity to exceed this time. The most likely time is the time the activity could be accomplished if it could be repeated many times under exactly the same conditions. It is the time that it would take more often than any other time. The most likely time is the time the manager would probably give if asked for a single time estimate. It is important to note that the optimistic time and the pessimistic time may not deviate the same amount from the most likely time. In simple mathematical terms, a and b may not be symmetrical about m.

Activity	Duration	Numbers	Workers		Work Day of Project			
Number	in Days	of Crews	in Crew	12345	678910	1112131415	16 17181920	2122232425
A	4	1	4	4444				
в	7	2	3	666	6666			
с	9	1	2	2	22222	222		
D	7	2	4	8	88888	8		
Е	3	1	5		555			
F	9	3	4		1212	1212121212	1212	
G	4	1	5		5	555		
н	8	3	6			1818	1818181818	18
I	11	2	4			88	88888	8888
J	4	3	2				6	666
к	6	1	3				3	33333
			Totals	44101016	1621213327	271919353	5383826263	5351717113
		Number of V per Da	Vorkers ly				38 38 38 38	
		35				35 35	38 38 35	35
					33 33 33	35 35 35 35 35 35 35 35 35 35	38 35 38 38 35 38 38 35 38 38 35 38 38 35 38 38 35	35 35 35 35
		30			33	35 35	38 38 35	35
		25			33 33 27 33 27 33 27 33 27	35 35 35 35 27 35 35 27 35 35 27 35 35	38 38 35 38 38 35 38 38 26 26 35 38 38 26 26 35	35 35 35 35
		20			33 27	27 35 35	38 38 26 26 35	35
		20			33 27 33 27 21 21 33 27 21 21 33 27	27 35 35 27 35 35 27 35 35 27 35 35 27 35 35	38 38 26 26 35 38 38 26 26 35 38 38 26 26 35 38 38 26 26 35 38 38 26 26 35	35 35 35 35 35
		15		16	21 21 33 27 21 21 33 27 21 21 33 27 21 21 33 27 16 21 21 33 27 16 21 21 33 27	27 19 19 35 35 27 19 19 35 35	38 38 26 26 35 38 38 26 26 35	35 35 35 17 17 35 17 17 35 17 17 35 17 17
		13		16	16 21 21 33 27	2719193535	38 38 26 26 35	35 17 17
		10		16 16 16 10 10 16	16 21 21 33 27 16 21 21 33 27 16 21 21 33 27 16 21 21 33 27 16 21 21 33 27	2719193535 2719193535 2719193535 2719193535	38 38 26 26 35 38 38 26 26 35 38 38 26 26 35 38 38 26 26 35 38 38 26 26 35	35 17 17 35 17 17 35 17 17 35 17 17 11 35 17 17 11
		5		10 10 16 10 10 16 10 10 16 10 10 16 10 10 16	16 21 21 33 27 16 21 21 33 27	2719193535 2719193535 2719193535 2719193535 2719193535 2719193535	38 38 26 26 35 38 38 26 26 35	35 17 17 11 35 17 17 11
		1		4 4 10 10 16 4 4 10 10 16 4 4 10 10 16 4 4 10 10 16 4 4 10 10 16	16 21 21 33 27 16 21 21 33 27 16 21 21 33 27 16 21 21 33 27 16 21 21 33 27	2719193535 2719193535 2719193535 2719193535	5 38 38 26 26 35 5 38 38 26 26 35 5 38 38 26 26 35 5 38 38 26 26 35	35 17 17 11 35 17 17 11 35 17 17 11 3 35 17 17 11 3 35 17 17 11 3

FIGURE 8-13 Irregular Distribution of Labor.

Activity	Duration	Number	Workers	rs Work Day of Project				
Number	in Days	of Crews	in Crew	12345	678910	11 12 13 14 15	16 17 18 19 20	21 22 23 24 25
A	4	1	4	4 4 4 4				
В	7	2	3	666	6666			
С	9	1	2	2	22222	222		
D	7	2	4	8	88888	8		
E	з	1	5		555			
F	9	з	4		12	1212121212	121212	
G	4	1	5		5	555		
н	8	з	6			18181818	18 18 18 18	
	11	2	4			8 8	88888	8888
J	4	3	2				6	666
к	6	1	3				3	3 3 3 3 3
			Totals	4 4 10 10 16	16 21 21 21 27	2737373838	38 38 38 26 17	17 17 17 11 3
	-	35				37 37 38 38 37 37 38 38 37 37 38 38 37 37 38 38 37 37 38 38	38 38 38 38 38 38 38 38 38 38 38 38	
	1	Number of W per Day	/orkers /			38 38 37 37 38 38 37 37 38 38	38 38 38 38 38 38 38 38 38	
						37373838 37373838	38 38 38 38 38 38	
		30				37 37 38 38 37 37 38 38	38 38 38 38 38 38	
		25			27 27	37 37 38 38 37 37 38 38 27 37 37 38 38 27 37 37 38 38 27 37 37 38 38	38 38 38 38 38 38 38 38 38 38 38 38 38 38 38 26 28 38 38 26	
		20			27	2737373838	38 38 38 26	
		20			27 27 21 21 21 27 21 21 33 27	2737373838 2737373838 2737373838 2737373838	38 38 38 26 38 38 38 26 38 38 38 26 38 38 38 26	
		15		16	21 21 33 27 21 21 33 27 21 21 33 27 16 21 21 33 27	2737373838 2737373838 2737373838 2737373838	38 38 38 26 38 38 38 26 38 38 38 26 17 38 38 38 26 17	17 17 17 17 17 17
		15		16	16 21 21 33 27	2737373838	38 38 38 26 17 38 38 38 26 17	17 17 17
		10		16 16 16 10 10 16	16 21 21 33 27 16 21 21 33 27 16 21 21 33 27 16 21 21 33 27 16 21 21 33 27	2737373838 2737373838 2737373838 2737373838	38 38 38 26 17 38 38 38 26 17 38 38 38 26 17 38 38 38 26 17 38 38 38 26 17	17 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 11 17 17 17 11
		5		10 10 16 10 10 16 10 10 16 10 10 16	16 21 21 33 27 16 21 21 33 27 16 21 21 33 27 16 21 21 33 27 16 21 21 33 27	2737373838 2737373838 2737373838 2737373838	38 38 38 26 17 38 38 38 26 17 38 38 38 26 17 38 38 38 26 17 38 38 38 26 17	17 17 17 11 17 17 17 11 17 17 17 11 17 17 17 11 17 17 17 11
		1		10 10 16 4 4 10 10 16	16 21 21 33 27 16 21 21 33 27	2737373838 2737373838 2737373838 2737373838 2737373838 2737373838	38 38 38 26 17 38 38 38 26 17	17 17 17 11 17 17 17 11 17 17 17 11 3 17 17 17 11 3 17 17 17 11 3

FIGURE 8-14

Distribution of Labor after Starting Activity F Two Days Later and Activity H Two Days Earlier.

PERT uses a weighted average of the three times to find the overall project duration. This average is called the expected time, t_e , and is found by the following simple equation:

$$t_e = \frac{a+4m+b}{6}$$

where t_e is the expected time of an activity.

The above equation is used to calculate a single duration for each activity in the PERT network diagram. Then a forward pass can be performed to calculate the early start and early finish for each activity in the PERT network and a total project duration, similar to the CPM scheduling method. A backward pass can be performed to calculate the last start and late finish for each activity. Total float, free float, and the critical path can be identified. At this stage of a PERT analysis it is identical to the CPM analysis.

The three time estimates of PERT can be used to measure the degree of uncertainty involved in the activity. The measure of the spread of the distribution is called the *standard deviation* and is denoted by the Greek letter σ . To determine the probability of the project completing earlier or later than expected using PERT, the variance of each activity along the critical path must be calculated. The variance of an activity is the square of the standard deviation of the activity and can be calculated using the following equation:

$$\nu = \sigma^2 = \left(\frac{(b-a)}{6}\right)^2$$

where v is the variance of an activity.

Since the duration (t_e) of each of the activities in the arrow network diagram is uncertain, the time of occurrence of each event is also subject to uncertainty. The expected time of an event is denoted as T_E . Although the distribution of uncertainty of individual activities may not necessarily be symmetrical, the distribution for event times is assumed symmetrical because there are numerous activities in the chain ahead of the event. For example, the T_E for the final event in a project has all the critical path activities in the chain that lead up to the final event in the project.

The measure of uncertainty of the final event in a PERT diagram is the standard deviation of the expected time, denoted as \mathbf{a} The σ_{TE} is the square root of the sum of the activities ahead of the event. Thus, the \mathbf{a} for the last event in a PERT diagram is the square root of the sum of the variance of all activities along the critical path. The σ_{TE} is calculated with the following equation:

$$\sigma_{\rm TE} = \sqrt{\nu_{1-2} + \nu_{2-3} + \nu_{3-4} + \dots + \nu_{i-j}}$$

where σ_{TE} is the standard deviation of the expected time.

The final calculation necessary to perform PERT calculations is the deviation, which is denoted by the symbol z in the following equation:

$$z = \frac{T_S - T_E}{\sigma_{\rm TE}}$$

where z is the deviation.

and an other second	
Value of deviation <i>z</i>	Probability of completion
-3.0	0.00
-2.5	0.01
-2.0	0.03
1.5	0.07
-1.4	0.08
-1.3	0.09
-1.2	0.11
-1.1	0.14
-1.0	0.16
0.9	0.18
-0.8	0.21
-0.7	0.24
-0.6	0.27
-0.5	0.31
-0.4	0.35
0.3	0.38
-0.2	0.42
-0.1	0.46
-0.0	0.50
0.1	0.54
0.2	0.58
0.3	0.62
0.4	0.66
0.5	0.69
0.6	0.73
0.7	0.76
0.8	0.79
0.9	0.82
1.0	0.84
1.1	0.86
1.2	0.88
1.3	0.90
1.4	0.92
1.5	0.93
2.0	0.98
2.5	0.99
3.0	ıω

TABLE 8-6 PERT PROBABILITY TABLE

Table 8-6 provides the value of z for various probabilities of certainty. The term T_E is the expected time of the event, which is calculated from the PERT diagram, and T_S is the scheduled time.

Example 8-1

The following PERT diagram shows the optimistic time (a), the most likely time (t_m) , and the pessimistic time (b) at the bottom of each activity. The number

shown in parentheses below each activity is the expected time (t_e) for the activity, calculated from the equation, $t_e = (a + 4m + b)/6$. All times denote working days in the project.



The optimistic duration of the project can be calculated by performing a forward pass to calculate the start and finish times using the optimistic duration (smallest duration) of each activity. For the data in this PERT diagram, the optimistic project duration is 48 days, which follows through events 1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 9, 12, 13, 14, and 15.

The pessimistic duration of the project can be calculated by **performing** a forward pass to calculate the start and finish times using the pessimistic (largest duration) of each activity. For the data in this PERT diagram, the pessimistic project durationis *103* days, which follows through events 1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 9, 11, 13, *14*, and *15*.

The project duration (T_E) for event 15 can be calculated by performing a forward pass to calculate the start and finish times using the expected duration (t_e) of each activity. For the data in this PERT diagram, the expected time of the last event number 15 is $T_E = 81.3$ days, which follows through events 1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 9, 11, 13, 14, and 15.

In summary, for this PERT diagram the optimistic project duration is 48 days, the pessimistic project duration is 103 days, and the expected project duration is 81.3 days. The probability of completing the project ahead or behind day 81.3 will depend on the σ_{TE} of event 15. The value of σ_{TE} can be calculated as the square root of the sum of the variances of all activities along the critical path. Based on the expected time of each activity, the critical path for this PERT network follows events 1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 9, 11, 13, 14, and 15. The σ_{TE} for the final event, number 15, is the square root of the variances of these events, which can be calculated as follows:

$$\sigma_{\text{TE}} = \sqrt{\nu_{t,2} + \nu_{2,4} + \nu_{4,3} + \nu_{5,6} + \nu_{6,9} + \nu_{9,11} + \nu_{11-13} + \nu_{13-14} + \nu_{14-15}}$$

$$= \sqrt{\left(\frac{9-2}{6}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{10-6}{6}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{12-7}{6}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{14-11}{6}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{19-7}{6}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{7-5}{6}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{21-3}{6}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{4-1}{6}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{7-3}{6}\right)^2}$$

$$= \sqrt{1.3611 + 0.4444 + 0.6944 + 0.2500 + 4.0000 + 0.1111 + 9.0000 + 0.2500 + 0.4444}$$

$$= \sqrt{16.5554}$$

$$= 4.07$$

All the calculations necessary to perform an analysis of the project finishing ahead or behind the expected project duration of 81.3 days can be determined from the deviation equation. For example, it may be desired to determine the probability of the project finishing later than expected, i.e., later that 81.3 days. The probability of completing the project by **the** eighty-fourth day can be calculated as follows:

$$z = \frac{T_{S} - T_{E}}{\sigma_{\text{TE}}} = \frac{84.0 - 81.3}{4.07} = 0.663$$

From Table 8-6, based on a deviation z of 0.663, the probability is 0.75. Thus, there is a 75% probability that the project will be completed by the **eighty**-fourth day.

Other probability scenarios can be calculated. For example, the probability of the project finishing earlier than expected, such as in 78 days, can be calculated as follows:

$$z = \frac{T_{S} - T_{E}}{\sigma_{\text{TE}}}$$
$$= \frac{78.0 - 81.3}{4.07}$$
$$= -0.811$$

From Table 8-6, based on a deviation z of -0.811, the probability is 0.21. Thus there is only a 21% probability that the project will be completed by the seventy-eighth day.

It may be desired to calculate the number of days to complete the project based on a 70% probability. This scenario can be calculated as follows. For a 70% probability the value of z from Table 8-6 is 0.5333:

$$z = \frac{T_S - T_E}{\sigma_{\text{TE}}}$$
$$0.533 = \frac{T_S - 81.3}{4.07}$$
$$T_S = 83.5 \text{ days}$$

Thus, there is a 70% probability that the project will be completed by 83.5 days.

The following is a graphical plot of the probability versus the project duration. This curve provides the full range of probabilities for assessing the risks of finishing the project ahead of or behind the expected duration of 81.3 days.



This analysis is based on a **a**, for event 15 based on the critical path activities. A full analysis is more complex if all near-critical paths are analyzed. For example, it is possible to have another path through the PERT diagram that is near critical, which would yield a shorter T_E for event 15 and a higher value for **a**, due to larger variances in the activities in the non-critical path.

SUCCESSOR/PREDECESSOR RELATIONSHIPS

The CPM diagram is a graphical representation that shows the sequencing of activities in the project. The purpose of the CPM diagram is to model the logical flow of work, showing each activity and one or more activities that follow each activity. In the activity relationships, the preceding activity is called the predecessor activity and the following activity is called the successor activity. In a pure CPM network diagram a finish-to-start (**F-S**) relationship of each activity is assumed. That is, the preceding activity must be completed before starting the following activity. All the CPM diagrams and calculations presented earlier in this book are based on an **F-S** relationship of activities to depict a pure CPM logic network diagram.

Most commercially available computer software programs for CPM provide activity relationships other than **F-S**. These additional activity relationships include startto-start (S-S), start-to-finish (S-F), and finish-to-finish (F-F). The S-S relationship means the successor activity can start at the same time or later than the predecessor activity. The F-F relationship means the successor activity can finish at the same time as or later than the predecessor activity. The S-F relationship means the predecessor activity must start before the successor activity can finish. There is no practical application of the S-F relationship in the engineering and construction industry. It is presented here just to show all possible successor/predecessor relationships.

Delays in the relationship of one activity to another is defined by lag. Lag is the amount of time that an activity follows or is delayed from the start or finish of its predecessor. For example, an F-S relationship with a two-day lag means the start of



a. Model with Successor/Predecessor with F-S = 3 days of lag



b. Model without Successor/Predecessor Relationships

FIGURE 8-15

Comparison of CPM Diagrams with and without a Finish-to-Start (F-S) Successor/Predecessor Relationship.

the successor activity cannot occur until two days after the finish of the predecessor activity. Lag can be assigned to any activity relationship, including F-S, F-F, S-S, and S-F. In addition, the lag can also be a negative number. Lead is the opposite of lag, which is the amount of time that an activity precedes the start or finish of its successor. Thus, the use of successor/predecessor relationships provides many options for modeling the network logic to show constraints between activities and the sequential flow of work in the project.

A model of the F-S with lag relationship is illustrated in Figure 8-15a. An alternative of this model is shown in Figure 8-15b, which shows the same results without using the F-S with lag relationship. Thus, adding one intermediate activity between the successor and predecessor activities clearly produces the same results as the F-S relationship.

The S-S relationship is used to overlap activities, allowing the successor activity to start before the predecessor activity is completed. To tie the finish of the predecessor activity to the successor activity, the F-F relationship is normally used together with the S-S relationship. Figure 8-16a illustrates S-S and F-F with lag relationships between two activities. Figure 8-16*b* is a model of the activities without the S-S and F-F relationships. Thus, for any CPM diagram the S-S and F-F activity relationships can be eliminated by adding additional activities. Although additional activities may appear as a disadvantage, the additional activities provide a clearer understanding of the sequence of work.

As previously stated, there is no practical application of the S-F relationship in the engineering and construction industry. Some computer scheduling software packages do not allow the use of the S-F relationship.

PROBLEMS USING SUCCESSOR/PREDECESSOR RELATIONSHIPS

Successor/predecessor relationships between activities allow overlapping of concurrent activities, thereby reducing the number of activities in CPM precedence diagrams. However, misunderstandings, confusion, and serious problems have been



a. Model with Successor/Predecessor S - S = 2 days and F - F = 4 days of lag



b. Model without Successor/Predecessor Relationships

FIGURE 8-16

Comparison of CPM Diagrams with and without a Start-to-Start (S-S) Successor/Predecessor Relationship.

created by assigning successor/predecessor relationships to activities in the project schedule. Too often a good **CPM** schedule at the beginning of the project becomes a schedule that is incoherent and unmanageable due to successor/predecessor relationships that are assigned to activities, particularly during schedule updates.

In a pure **CPM** diagram, successor/predecessor activity relationships are not used. During the forward pass, the path that yields the largest early finish of the preceding activities becomes the early start of the following activities. During the backward pass, the path that yields the smallest late start of the following activities is the late finish of the preceding activities. Thus, in a pure **CPM** diagram there are no questions regarding the start and finish times of activities.

When successor/predecessor activity relationships are introduced into a **CPM** diagram, the start, finish, and float times may be governed by the successor and predecessor relationships, which makes the calculations more complex. Using **successor/predecessor** activity relationships with positive or negative lag provides numerous opportunities to model the network logic, but it can also create numerous opportunities for creating errors, confusion, and misunderstandings in the project schedule.

Figure 8-17 illustrates problems that can occur in calculating the start and finish dates when modeling multiple **successor/predecessor** activity relationships. Each



FIGURE 8-17 Example of Multiple Successor/Predecessor Activity Relationships

successor/predecessor path must be evaluated to determine start and finish times. A forward pass for the activities in Figure 8-17 shows Activity B can start as early as two days or as late as seven days after the start of Activity A, depending on the path chosen. Also, depending on the successor/predecessor path chosen, the early finish for Activity B is 9, 12, 14, or 19 days. Similarly, a backward pass will result in multiple late starts and late finishes for these activities. All these multiple calculations can cause confusion and a lack of confidence in the project schedule.

Figure 8-18 is a CPM diagram with successor/predecessor relationships of construction work related to foundation construction work. Figure 8-19 is a pure CPM diagram, without successor/predecessor activity relationships, for the same construction work. These figures are presented to illustrate the complexity of successor/predecessor calculations. As shown in Figure 8-18, the early start of 10 days for Activity 30 is calculated by subtracting its duration from the latest early finish time. The largest early finish of Activity 30 is 16 days, which is governed by the F-F relationship between Activities 20 and 30.

When multiple S-S and F-F relationships are used to relate the predecessor activity to its successor activities, the calculations of total and free float are very complex and require a close examination of the **relationships**. Using multiple relationships, it is possible to show activities that are critical, when they are really not critical.

A review of Figure 8-18 indicates that all the activities are critical, although that is not the case. Figure 8-19 is a pure CPM diagram for the same work shown in Figure 8-18. Figure 8-19 eliminates the S-S and F-F relationships by splitting activities to show the actual sequencing of work. As shown in Figure 8-19 much of the work is actually non-critical, compared to that of Figure 8-18. For example, the network of Figure 8-19 shows all formwork as critical, but most of the excavation work and placement of concrete is non-critical. A pure CPM diagram as illustrated in Figure 8-19 provides an accurate description of the work without raising questions regarding start/finish times, total/free float, or critical path activities. Thus, a pure CPM diagram is recommended, rather than modeling with successor/ predecessor activity relationships.

Unfortunately, there is no industry standard to define how to finalize the early/late starts and finishes using successor/predecessors relationships with lags. Each computer software developer defines the algorithm used by his or her software



FIGURE 8-18 Successor/Predecessor Activity Relationships. (Note all activities appear critical.)



FIGURE 8-19 Pure CPM Diagram without Successor/Predecessor Activity Relationships. (Double arrows denote path of critical activities: 10, 20, 22, 24, 34, and 40.)

to determine start and finish dates using successor/predecessor activity relationships. Since different software packages handle the calculations differently, it is possible to get different results in the schedule, depending on the software used, which creates problems in understanding and interpreting project schedules. Therefore, take extreme caution when using successor/predecessor activity relationships because serious problems can arise. To prevent these problems, a pure CPM diagram can be developed without successor/predecessor relationships by simply adding additional activities. Although additional activities may appear as a disadvantage, adding additional activities provides a clear understanding of the sequence of work, thus preventing confusion and misunderstandings of the project schedule.

The following examples are presented to illustrate calculations based on each of the **successor/predecessor** activity relationships, F-S, S-S, F-F, and S-F. These examples show how each path must be carefully investigated to determine the start, finish, and float times. When the calculations are performed by computer software, it is possible to get project schedules that sometimes do not make logical sense. Thus, it is important to understand the calculations and be able to check the results of computer outputs to ensure the results are presented as intended by the person who prepared the schedule as well as by the persons who will be interpreting and using the schedule.

Example 8-2: Finish-to-Start Activity Relationships

Calculate the start, finish, and float for each activity in the following CPM precedence network diagram. Activity C and E have an F-S relationship with a 5-day negative lag. The **5-day** negative lag is equivalent to a 5-day lead, which means the finish of Activity C must occur no later than 5 days after the start of Activity E, given by the relationship: $EF_C \leq ES$, + 5. The use of negative lags is not recommended because they lead to much confusion with respect to the meaning of the relationship and the schedule as discussed in the following paragraphs. The following diagram and accompanying table show the early and late start, early and late finish, and the total and free float for each activity.





Activity	Duration	Early start	Early finish	Late start	Late finish	Total float	Free float
A*	10	0	10	0	10	0	0
В	8	10	18	12	20	2	0
C	10	10	20	15	25	5	3
D*	15	10	25	10	25	0	0
E	5	18	23	20	25	2	2
F*	5	25	30	25	30	0	0

"Denotes critical activities.

Based on the forward and backward pass calculations, the critical path is through Activities A, D, and F. Note the impact on the schedule and possible confusion due to the F-S relationship with five days of negative lag between Activity C and E. The EF_c is 20 days (governed by the equation $\text{EF}_{c} = \text{ES}_{c} + D = 10 + 10 = 20$). The EF_c is not governed by the equation $\text{EF}_{c} \leq \text{ES}_{E} + 5 = 18 + 5 = 23$ days, because the ES, is governed by 18 from the EF_{B} . Also, a review of the diagram shows the preceding activity $\text{EF}_{c} = 20$, which is greater than the following activity $\text{ES}_{E} = 18$, which is illogical. A computer schedule that shows the ES of a following activity to be earlier than the EF of a preceding activity will make no sense to workers in the field and will cause them to lose confidence in the schedule.

Similar confusion exists for the free float of Activity C. The FF_C is governed by the equation $FF_C = ES_E - EF_C - Lag = 18 - 20 - (-5) = 3$ days. However, a review of the diagram shows the $EF_C = 20$, which is greater than the ES_E = 18. Thus, the use of F-S relationships with negative lag is not recommended.

Example 8-3: Finish-to-Finish Activity Relationships

Calculate the start, finish, and float for each activity in the following CPM precedence network diagram. Activity C and E have an F-F relationship with a'lag of 7 days. The following diagram and accompanying table show the early and late start, early and late finish, and the total and free float for each activity.



Activity	Duration	Early start	Early finish	Late start	Late finish	Total float	Free float
A*	10	0	10	0	10	0	0
В	8	10	18	14	22	4	4
C*	10	10	20	10	20	0	D
D	15	10	25	12	27	2	2
E*	5	22	27	22	27	0	0
F*	5	27	32	27	32	0	0

'Denotes critical activities.

Based on the forward and backward pass calculations, the critical path is through Activities A, C, E, and F. Note that the free float of Activity C is governed by the F-F relationship.

Example 8-4: Start-to-Start Activity Relationships

Calculate the start, finish, and float for each activity in the following CPM precedence network diagram. Activity C and E have an S-S relationship with a lag of 10 days. The following diagram and accompanying table show the early and late **start**, early and late finish, and the total and free float for each activity.



Activity	Duration	Early start	Early finish	Late start	Late finish	Total float	Free float
A*	10	0	10	0	10	0	0
В	8	10	18	12	20	2	2
C*	10	10	20	10	20	0	0
D*	15	10	25	10	25	0	0
E*	5	20	25	20	25	0	0
F*	5	25	30	25	30	0	0

'Denotes critical activities

ES

EF

D

Based on the forward and backward **pass** calculations, the critical path is through Activities A, C, D, E, and F. Note the free float of Activity C is governed by the S-S relationship between Activity C and E.

Example 8-5: Start-to-Finish Activity Relationships

Although the start-to-finish relationship is seldom used, this example is presented to illustrate the calculations for an S-F relationship with a lag of 7 days between Activity \mathbf{C} and \mathbf{E} . The following diagram and accompanying table show the early and late start, early and late finish, and the total and free float for each activity.



= 8 days

= 10 days

Activity	Duration	Early start	Early finish	Late start	Late finish	Total float	Free float
A*	10	0	10	0	10	0	0
в	8	10	18	12	20	2	0
C	10	10	20	20	30	10	8
D*	15	10	25	10	25	0	0
E	5	18	23	20	25	2	2
F*	5	25	30	25	30	0	0

'Denotes critical activities.

Based on the forward and backward pass calculations, the critical path is through Activities A, D, and F.

QUESTIONS FOR CHAPTER 8—PROJECT SCHEDULING

- 1 One of the obvious purposes of project planning and scheduling is to complete a project on time. Identify other benefits that can be derived from good project planning. Also describe typical problems that can be prevented by good planning and scheduling.
- 2 A list of activities that are required to complete a project is shown below. Draw a CPM precedence diagram for the project and calculate the project schedule. Provide the schedule in a tabular form, showing **early/late** starts and finishes as well as the total and free float for each activity. Denote the critical path on the network.

Activity	Duration	Cost	Preceded by	Followedby
A	2 days	\$500	None	B, C, D
В	3 days	\$900	А	E
С	4 days	\$1,600	А	F
D	5 days	\$500	А	G
Е	7 days	\$1,400	В	Н
F	7 days	\$1,500	С	6, E
G	8 days	\$2.400	D	J, K
Н	4 days	\$800	Е	L
I	2 days	\$1,000	F	Ν
J	12 days	\$3,600	G	M, O
K	5 days	\$2,000	G	Р
L	6 days	\$1,200	F, H	Q
Μ	2 days	\$900	J	Ν
Ν	2 days	\$700	, M	S
0	6 days	\$1,800	J	R, T
Р	4 days	\$1,200	K	Т
Q	4 days	\$2,000	L	U
R	4 days	\$1,600	0	S
S	2 days	\$1,400	N, R	V
Т	9 days	\$1,800	0, P	V
U	2 days	\$1,200	Q	V
V	3 days	\$300	S, T, U	None

- **3** Perform a cost analysis based on an early start and late start schedule for the project in Question 2. Plot the S-curve for the early and late start costs. Show costs on the left-hand ordinate and percent costs on the right-hand. Along the abscissa, show the time in working days and in percentage of project duration.
- 4 Describe advantages and disadvantages of each of the two basic techniques of project scheduling: bar charts and CPM networks. Include situations most appropriate for each of the two techniques.
- 5 Provide a brief summary of the responsibilities of the owner, designer, and contractor related to project planning and scheduling. **Describe** how the schedule of each party should be related, including the advantages and disadvantages of maintaining one common schedule for **a** project.
- 6 Aproject manager is usually assigned the responsibility of either managing a single large project or many small projects at a time. Describe the different approaches to planning and scheduling that must be used by these two types of project managers.
- 7 Describe the purpose and use of a coding system for activities in a CPM project schedule. Include factors that should be considered in the development of the coding system and describe how the coding system can relate to the work breakdown structure, organizational breakdown structure, and the cost breakdown structure.
- 8 The data for the CPM diagram for a project are shown below. Perform a cost analysis for the project and present the results in tabular form showing the daily distribution costs on an early start, late start, and target schedule. Plot the three S-curves on one graph to show the results of your analysis.

Activity	Duration	Cost	Preceded by	Followed by
А	2 days	\$1,200	None	B, C, D
В	3 days	\$3,300	Α	E
C	8 days	\$12,000	Α	F
D	6 days	\$18,000	Α	F, G, H
E	8 days	\$8,000	В	J
F	9 days	\$27,000	C, D	K
G	12 days	\$7,200	D	K, L, M
	5 days	\$5,000	D	1
	3 days	\$12,000	Н	М
J	2 days	\$1,600	E	N, R
K	5 days	\$6,000	F, G	R
L	1 day	\$1,500	G	0
M	2 days	\$4,000	G, I	P, R
N	2 days	\$8,000	J	Q
0	2 days	\$1,200	L	R
P	4 days	\$5,200	М	S
Q	2 days	\$6,000	Ν	Т
R	7 days	\$7,000	J, K, M, O	V
S	2 days	\$2,800	P	U
Т	1 day	\$5,000	Q	V
U	3 days	\$3,000	S	V
V	5 days	\$10,000	R, T, U	None

9 The bar chart shown on the next page is the original baseline schedule for a project that must be completed in 25 working days. The schedule was developed without regard to

the distribution of labor on the project. The number of crews and the number of workers in each crew are shown for each activity.

- a Evaluate the allocation of labor by preparing a histogram of the distribution of labor, similar to Figure 8-13.
- b Assume that the completion date of 25 working days cannot be changed and that the start of Activity A and finish of Activity K cannot he changed. The start time for the remaining activities can be delayed a maximum of 2 days. Reschedule the project to reduce any irregularity in the distribution of labor, as illustrated in Figures 8-13 and 8-14.

Activity	Duration	Wwkers	Workers		Wwk Day of Project
Number	in Days	of Crews	in Crew	12345	6 7 8 9 10 1112131415 16 17181920 21 22 23 24 25
A	3	1	4	ххх	
В	7	2	3	хх	x x x x x
с	9	1	2	x	x x x x x x x x x
D	7	2	5	x	x x x x x x
E	8	1	4		x x x x X X X X X
F	10	3	4		x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x
G	9	1	5		x x x x x x x x x
н	8	3	6		x x x x x x x x x
i	11	2	4		x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x
J	4	3	2		x x x x
к	6	1	3		x xxxxx

10 Below are the critical activities of a PERT diagram. The optimistic time (*a*), most likely time (m), and pessimistic time (b) are shown at the bottom of each activity. Calculate the most likely time (t_e) for each activity. What is the optimistic, pessimistic, and expected time for completing the project? What is the probability that this project can be completed in 37 days? What is the probability that this project will be completed by the thirty-second day? For a 99% probability, what is the expected number of days for completion? For a 1% probability, what is the expected number of days for completion?



REFERENCES

- 1 Antill, J. M. and Woodhead, R. W., *Critical Path Methods in Construction Practice*, 3rd ed., Wiley, New York, 1982.
- 2 Armstrong-Writhe, A. T., Critical Path Method, Longman Group Ltd., London, 1969.
- **3** Burman, P. J., *Precedence Networks for Project Planning and Control*, McGraw-Hill, Inc., London, 1972.
- 4 Callahan, M. T., Quackenbush, D. G., and Rowings, J. E., *Construction Project Scheduling* McGraw-Hill, Inc., New York, 1992.
- 5 Harris, R. B., *Precedence and Arrow Networking Techniques for Construction*, Wiley, New York, 1978.

- 6 Hinze, J. W., *Construction Planning and Scheduling*, Prentice-Hall, Inc., Upper Saddle River, NJ, 1998.
- 7 Moder, J. J., Phillips, C. J., and Davis, E. D., *Project Management with CPM*, *PERT*, and *Precedence Diagraming*, 3rd ed., Van Nostrand Reinhold Company, New York, 1983.
- 8 O'Brien, J. J., *CPM in Construction Management*, 2nd ed., McGraw-Hill, Inc., New York, 1971.
- 9 Paulson, B. C., Jr., "Man-ComputerConcepts for Planning and Scheduling," *Journal of Construction Division*, ASCE, Reston, VA, Vol. 100, No. 3, September, 1974.
- 10 Priluck, H. M. and Hourihan, P. R., *Practical CPM for Construction*, Robert S. Means, Co., Duxbury, MA, 1968.
- 11 Spencer, G. R. and Rahbar, F. F., Automation of the Scheduling Analysis Process, Transactions of the American Association of Cost Engineers, San Diego, CA, October, 1989.
- 12 Stevens, J. D., *Techniques for Construction Network Scheduling*, McGraw-Hill, Inc., New York, 1990.
- 13 Wiest, J. D. and Levy, F. K., A Management Guide to PERT/CPM, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1969.
- 14 Willis, E. M., Scheduling Construction Projects, Wiley, New York, 1986.

9

TRACKING WORK

CONTROL SYSTEMS

Effective project management requires planning, measuring, evaluating, forecasting, and controlling all aspects of a project: quality and quantity of work, costs, and schedules. An all encompassing project plan must be defined before starting a project; otherwise there is no basis for control. Project tracking cannot be accomplished without a well-defined work plan, budget, and schedule as discussed in the previous chapters of this book.

The project plan must be developed with input from people who will be performing the work, and it must be communicated to all participants. The tasks, costs, and schedules of the project plan establish the benchmarks and check-points that are necessary for comparing actual accomplishments to planned accomplishments, so the progress of a project can be measured, evaluated, and controlled.

At the end of any reporting period (N), a project is expected to have achieved an amount of work (X) with a level of quality (Q) at a predicted cost (C). The objective of project control is to measure the actual values of these variables and determine if the project is meeting the targets of the work plan, and to make any necessary adjustments to meet project objectives. Project control is difficult because it involves a quantitative and qualitative evaluation of a project that is in a continuous state of change.

To be effective, a project control system must be simple to administer and easily understood by all participants in a project. Control systems tend to fall into two categories; they are either so complex that no one can interpret the results that are obtained, or they are too limited because they apply to only costs or schedules rather than integrating costs, schedules, and work accomplished. A control system must be developed so information can be routinely collected, verified, evaluated, and communicated to all participants in a project; so it will serve as a tool for project improvement rather than reporting flaws that irritate people.

Since the introduction of small personal computers in the early 1980s, the automation of the concept of an integrated project control system has become widely discussed. Many papers have been written that describe different, but similar, approaches to integrated project control systems. Common among the approaches is development of a well-defined work breakdown structure (WBS) as a starting point in the system. The smallest unit in the WBS is a work package, which defines the work in sufficient detail so it can be measured, budgeted, scheduled, and controlled.

The Critical Path Method (CPM) is used to develop the overall project schedule from the WBS by integrating and sequencing the work in accordance with the work packages. A coding system is designed that identifies each component of the **WBS** so information from the **WBS** can be related to the project control system. To control costs the **WBS** is linked to the cost breakdown structure (CBS) by the code of accounts. Likewise, the WBS is linked to the organizational breakdown structure (OBS) to coordinate personnel to keep the project on schedule. A coding system allows sorting of information to produce a variety of reports that are subsets of the entire project.

This general concept of project control was presented by the Department of Energy for federal and energy projects. Since that time, several modifications have been suggested to simplify the process of transferring information from the **WBS** to the CPM, linking the WBS and OBS to the **coding** system, and measurement of work accomplished.

LINKING THE WBS AND CPM

The work packages of the WBS provide the information necessary to develop a CPM logic network diagram. With a well-defined detailed WBS a single work package often becomes one activity on the diagram. However, sometimes it is necessary to combine several work packages into a single activity or to develop a single work package into several activities. The process of developing the CPM diagram requires good judgement with extensive involvement of key participants in the project. Although the level of detail should be kept to a minimum, all activities that may influence the project completion date must be included in the diagram.

A CPM diagram for project scheduling and control can be classified as one of three types: design, construction, or engineering/procurement/construction (EPC). For each, the WBS defines the project framework for planning, scheduling, and control of the work. The level of detail of the CPM diagram depends upon the comoleteness of the WBS.

The products of design are production drawings and specifications. As discussed in Chapter 8, a bar chart is frequently preferred for scheduling individual design **ac**- **tivities**. However, for effective scheduling control of the whole project a composite of the individual bar charts must be integrated into a CPM diagram that shows the interrelationship and sequencing of related work. Thus, a CPM diagram for design is often a summary level schedule. CII Publication 6-1, *Project Control* for *Engineering*, provides a good description of current industry practice of scheduling and control of design.

CPM logic diagrams have been successfully used for scheduling and control of construction for many years. A detailed WBS can be developed as a cooperative effort of the estimating, project control, and field operations management personnel. The estimate must be prepared so that costs, durations, and resources can be assigned to work packages in the WBS. The work packages then become activities on the CPM diagram. The purchase and delivery of long lead-time material must also be included in the diagram. In addition, the work performed by subcontractors on the job must be integrated with other work to form a complete integrated CPM diagram. For large projects, a separate CPM diagram can be prepared for each individual area of the project; then a master CPM diagram can be developed that links the individual area diagrams.

The CPM diagram for an EPC project must interface the design work packages with the procurement and construction activities. It is often best to develop separate individual working schedules for design, procurement, and construction. Then link the individual schedules into a summary EPC schedule that integrates the total system. It is imperative to sequence all related activities that may influence the completion date of the project.

To illustrate the linking of the WBS to the CPM, the WBS shown in Figure 9-1 is used to develop the CPM diagram in Figure 9-2. This EPC project is an expansion of the design project presented in Chapter 8, to now include the procurement and construction activities. It is a service facility for maintenance operations and consists of site-work, on-site utilities, an employee's office building, and a maintenance building. To handle this project, the contracting strategy is to use in-house personnel to design the on-site utilities, site-work, and the maintenance building. A separate contract is assigned for design of the employee's building. The maintenance building is denoted as Building A and the office building as Building B on the WBS and CPM.

The contracting strategy for construction is to assign one contract to a heavy construction contractor to build all on-site utilities and site-work activities. Two building contractors will be used, one for the office building and the other for the industrial maintenance building. The construction activities are limited on the EPC schedule but will be expanded into more detail by each construction contractor as a part of his or her contractual requirements.

As shown in Figure 9-2, the appropriate design activities are directly linked to the procurement activities for materials and equipment. For example, the design of the overhead crane for Building \mathbf{A} is followed by procurement and then construction. Likewise, design of the elevator for Building B is linked to the respective procurement and construction activities.



FIGURE 9-1

WBS for EPC of Service Facility Project.

CODING SYSTEM FOR PROJECT REPORTS

A coding system can be developed that identifies each component of a project to allow the sorting of information in order to produce a variety of reports for project monitoring and control. A code number can be assigned to each work item that identifies a variety of information, such as, phase of project, type of work, responsible person, or facility of which the work item is a part. Table 9-1 is an illustrative example of a simple 4-digit coding system for the project shown in Figure 9-2.

TABLE **9-1** CODING SYSTEM FOR THE PROJECT IN FIGURE 9-2



Table 9-1 can be used to assign a code number that is unique to each activity in the CPM diagram of Figure 9-2 to link the WBS to the OBS and CPM. For example, Activity 95 (Design of Foundations and Structure for Building A) is assigned the code number of 1735. This code identifies the activity as the in-house structural engineering for Building A involving structural design that is the responsibility of team member Kathy Diehl. Table 9-2 is a list of the code numbers assigned to each activity in the project.

Using the coding system of Table 9-1, a schedule report can be obtained for all structural work by selecting activities that have a 3 in the third digit of their code number. Similarly, all activities related to Building B can be obtained by selecting activities that have an 8 in the second digit of their code number.

Multiple sorting of code numbers enables a project manager to obtain various levels of reports for project control. This can be accomplished even with a simple 4-digit coding system as just described. For example, a report for all structural work for Buildings A and B can be obtained by sorting activity code numbers that have a code digit 3 equal to **3**, and code digit 2 greater than 6 and less than 9. Thus, many types of sorts can be obtained by selecting combinations of code digits that are greater than, equal to, or less than a number.

A coding system can also be designed using letters, rather than numbers. Using letters there are **27** characters that can be designated (one for each letter in the alphabet), for each location in the code, instead of 10 numbers that can be designated for each digit in a pure numeric system. However, for computer applications it is more difficult to sort letters on a greater than, equal to, and less than basis, than it is for a numeric coding system. A combination alpha-numeric coding system can be designed using numbers in locations of the code that require sorting multiple capabilities and letters in locations where sorting is not required.



FIGURE 9-2 CPM Diagram for EPC Project (continued on following page).

190



FIGURE 9-2 (*Continued*) CPM Diagram for EPC Project (continued from previous page).

TABLE 9-2 EPC PROJECT ACTIVITY LIST EXAMPLE EPC MAINTENANCE FACILITY PROJECT

	CODE	ACTIVITY DESCRIPTION	DURATION	COST	TEAM MEMBER
	0071	PROJECT NOTICE APPROVAL	з	500.	TIM JONES
	0071	DEVELOP WORK PLAN	7	12000.	TIM JONES
	0071	FORM PROJECT TEAM	5	850.	TIM JONES
	2872	DESIGN CONTRACTOR'S WORK	2	3000.	DAN MITCHELL
	1073	IN-HOUSE DESIGN WORK	э	1500.	RON THOMAS
30	2872	DESIGN BRIEFING MEETING	1	1200.	DAN MITCHELL
35	1073	PROJECT STTE-WORK DESIGP;	1	1400.	RON THOMAS
40	1624	ON-SITE UTILITIES DESIGN	1	1200.	FRED LEWIS
45	1715	A/E DESIGN BUILDING A	1	1500.	KATHY DIEHL
50	2812	FLOOR PLAN BUILDING B	10	9900.	DAN MITCHELL
55	1123	SITE GRADING PLAN	12	14003.	RON THOMAS
60	1424	STORMWATER DESIGN	10	2000.	FRED LEWIS
65	1715	FLWR PLAN BUILDING A	15	26000.	KATHY DIEHL
70	2832	FOUNDISTRUCT BUILDING B	45	31200.	DAN MITCHELL
75	2812	ARCH FINISHES BUILDING B	30	49500.	DAN MITCHELL
80	2842	MECHIELECT BUILDING B	45	37300.	DAN MITCHELL
85	1123	SUBBASE DESIGN PLAN	5	4000.	RON THOMAS
90	1524	SANITARY SEWER DESIGN	10	12000.	FRED LEWIS
95	1735	FOUND/STRUCT BUILDING A	30	92700.	KATW DIEHL
100	2871	DESIGN REVIEW BUILDING B	10	8000.	TIM JUNES
105	1223	CONCRETE PAVING ROADS	20	12000.	RON THOMAS
110	1624	DOMESTIC WATER SYSTEM	7	9000.	FRED LEWIS
115	1624	NATURAL GAS SYSTFM	8	6000.	FRED LEWIS
120	1745	MECHIELECT BUILDING A	30	22200.	KATHY DIEHL
125	1735	SPECIAL OVERLOAD CRANE	21	10800.	KATHY DIEHL
	2872	CONTRACT DESIGN COMPLETE	1	1000.	DAN MITCHELL
	1223	CONCRETE PAVING PARKING/WALKS	10	7000.	RON THOMAS
140	1654	UNDERGROUND ELECTRICAL	14	12000.	FRED LEWIS
145	1654	UNDERGROUND TELEPHONE SYSTEM	4	3000.	FRED LEWIS
150	1771	BUILDING A DESIGN REVIEW	3	5000.	TIM JONES
	1323	AGGREGATE SURFACING DESIGN	8	6000.	RON THOMAS
	1677	UTILITIES DESIGN REVIEW	1	1100.	TIM JONES
165	1963	FENCING/LANDSCAPE/IRRIGATION	14	28000.	RON THOMAS
170	1071	SITE-WORK DESIGN REVIEW	5	7000.	TIM JONES
	0071	PROJECT DESIGN COMPLETE	1	1000.	TTN JONES
	3876	PROCURE BUILDING ELEVATORS	25	95000.	ROY HALL
185	4076	PROCURE CONTRACTORS' BIDS	20	7000.	ROY HAL:
190	3776	PROCURE OVERHEAD CRANE	40	55000.	ROY HALL
195	6887	EMPWYEE'S OFFICE BUILDING B	з	1000.	JIM DANIEL
200	5087	SITE-WORK/UTILITIES CONSTRUCTION	4	1500.	JIM DANIEL
205	7787	INDUSTRIAL/MAINTENANCE BLOG A	2	1400.	JIM DANIEL
210	6882	FOUND/STRUCT BUILDING B	45	195000.	DAN LITCHELL
	5083	SITE-WORK/GRADING/DRAINAGE	18	85000.	RON THOMAS
	7785	FOUND/STRUCT BUILDING A	110	390000.	KATHY DIEHL
225	6882	PLUMBING, HEAT, & AIR BLDG B	75	285000.	DAN MITCHELL
230	6882	ELECTRICAL/PHONE RUTLDING B	60	215000.	DAN MITCHELL
235	5484	STORMWATER/DRAINAGE STRUCTURES	15	22000.	FRED LEWIS
240	7785	ELECTRICAL! PHONE BUILDING A	65	167000.	KATHY DIEHL
245	7785	PLUMBING, HEAT, & AIR BLDG A	85	192000.	KATHY DIEHL
250	6882	ARCH FINISHES BUILDING B	50	260030.	DAN MTTCHELT.
255	5684	UNDERGROUND NATURAL GAS	5	10500.	FRED LEWIS
260	5584	SANITARY SEWER SYSTEM	21	33200.	FRED LEWIS
265	5283	COECRLTE PAVING ROADS h DRIVES	50	185000.	RON THOMAS
270	7785	ARCH FINISHES BUILDING A	30	175000.	KATHY DIEHL
275	5684	WMESTIC WATER SYSTEM	7	13203.	FRED LEWIS
280	5283	CONCRETE PARKING & WALKWAYS	15	35000.	RON THOMAS
285	5684	UNDERGROUND ELECT h PHONE	14	47000.	FRED LEWIS
290	5383	CRUSHED AGGREGATE PARKING	40	76000.	RON THOMAS
295	5983	LANDSCAPE TREES/PLANTS/GRASS	20	62000.	RON THOMAS
300		FINAL INSPECTION & APPROVAL	3	3500.	TIM JONES

CONTROL SCHEDULES FOR TIME AND COST

The CPM network diagram shows the sequencing of activities that represent the work packages identified by the WBS. The expected time and cost that is required to perform each activity can be obtained from the work packages of the WBS in order to establish the parameters for control of cost and time. For each activity of the EPC project shown in Figure 9-2, Table 9-2 provides the cost and duration along with the team member who is responsible for the activity. These costs and durations are directly related to the WBS, and their expenditure is directly related to the work that is produced. To measure the progress of the project, the actual costs and durations are compared to these control costs and durations.

The total cost for the project includes the direct costs (from the previous paragraph) plus indirect costs, contingency reserve, and profit. A CBS for the project includes all these costs. However, only the direct costs that are tied to the WBS are used for project control purposes to manage the accomplishment of work. Indirect costs include support personnel, equipment, and supplies that are not directly chargeable to the project. The cost of insurance, bonds, general office overhead, etc., are also excluded from the project control system for monitoring costs and managing work because these items are fixed at the beginning of the project and they are independent of the work accomplished. The management of these costs is generally a function of the accounting department, because the project manager and his or her team usually do not have control of these costs. These costs are typically distributed over a specified period of time and will expand or contract with the schedule.

A good description of the relationship between engineering CBS and WBS is provided in CII Publication 6-1, *Project Control for Engineering*. Figure 9-3 is an example from the publication that illustrates a total engineering budget matrix. The CBS includes all elements in the budget matrix that have been given a dollar amount. The total dollar value of all the elements is the total engineering budget. The WBS for the project consists of budget items from the CBS for tasks that produce deliverables: design calculations, drawings, and specifications.

For the example of Figure 9-3, the functions that are chosen for work control are shaded in the matrix and are design and drawings, specifications, procurement support, and field support. The detailed WBS would be expanded from these budget items into areas, systems, and subsystems that define the total project. For example, the deliverable to be produced by the electrical would be a drawing list that included all drawings for electrical work. The number of work-hours (WH) for each drawing and the number of WH of calculations that are required to produce the drawings would represent the budget.

The schedule for the work is the total time to produce the final drawings, including the overlap of design calculations and design drafting. As discussed in Chapter 8 most engineers prefer a bar chart for scheduling individual design tasks. However, for project control the individual bar charts must be developed into activities on the CPM diagram for the total project schedule. The start and finish of each activity of the CPM engineering design schedule is a composite of all tasks of the work

	SUPPLIES AND SERVICES			¥	•	
	TRAVEL					
	SUPERVISION AND CONTROL	WH & \$		WH & \$	WH & \$	WH & S
Matrix	FIELD SUPPORT		WH & \$	WH & \$	WH & \$	WH & \$
gineering Budget	PROCUREMENT SUPPORT		WH & S	WH & \$	WH & \$	\$ % НМ
En	SPECS			WH & \$	WH & S	WH & \$
	DESIGN AND DRAWINGS			WH & \$	WH & S	WH & \$
	OR COST OR COST ELEMENT VCTION	NAGEMENT	OCUREMENT	CIVIL	ELECTRICAL	ETC.
	FUN	MA	PRC	DHS	0-4-	NEN

FIGURE 9-3 Engineering Cost Breakdown Structure and Work Breakdown Structure. Source: Construction Industry Institute, Publication No. 6-1.

package. The following illustrates the evaluation of overlapping tasks of the work package to determine the duration of an activity on the CPM diagram.



CII Publication 6-4, *Contractor Planning for Fixed-Price Construction*, provides a good description of the relationship of the CBS and WBS for construction. Figure 9-4 is an example from the publication that shows the WBS is the direct cost portion of the CBS. The WBS includes work that is budgeted, scheduled, and controlled. The estimate should be prepared in the same organizational format as the WBS. The quantity takeoff from the plans and specifications is used as the basis for direct labor, material, and equipment costs. The cost estimate should also consider the method of construction and the sequencing of work for development of the project schedule.

The general superintendent who will be responsible for the project on the construction job-site must be involved in developing the detailed construction schedule. **However**, during the early stages of project development it is often necessary to develop a construction schedule before the construction contractor has been identified. For this type of situation, the initial CPM diagram for **construction** must be developed without excessive constraints in the sequencing of activities. The CPM schedule should show the sequencing of major areas of the project and identify the general flow of work. Then, prior to construction, a detailed **CPM** diagram can be developed by the construction personnel who will actually perform the work.

A construction contractor usually performs some work with direct-hire (force account) personnel and contracts portions of the work to one or more subcontractors. Since many subcontractors do not have an elaborate project control system, the assignment of work to a subcontractor should be a work package that has a scope of work, budget, and schedule that is defined in sufficient detail so the subcontractor's responsibilities and duties are clearly understood. The subcontract work package must be compatible with the **WBS**; otherwise there is no basis for control.

Milestone dates that are required for the start and completion of each subcontractor's work should be clearly defined, including any hold in work that may be necessary in order to schedule the work of other subcontractors. Each subcontractor is an independent company and not an employee of the general contractor.



WBS vs. CBS.

Source: Construction industry Institute, Publication No. 6-4.

However, each subcontractor's work must be included in the total project schedule since the work of any one contractor usually affects the work of other contractors on the job, which can impact the completion date of the project.

The unsuccessful procurement of material is a common source of delays during construction. A procurement plan must be included in the project schedule to guide the purchase of contractor furnished materials. Although the contractor generally obtains most of the material as a part of his or her construction contract, many projects require the procurement of special material and equipment that is unique to the project. Also, the owner may procure equipment or bulk materials that will be installed by the construction contractor. The project schedule should identify and sequence all activities that can impact the delivery of special equipment and material.

The previous sections presented the list of activities, costs, durations, and coding system for the EPC project shown in Figure 9-2. The preparation of this data provides the base for a project monitoring and control system. For example, to evaluate the engineering design phase of the project, an S-curve, see Figure 9-5, can be produced that shows the distribution of costs for all design work. This curve is obtained using the coding system of Table 9-1, by selecting all activities in which the first digit of their code is greater than zero and less than 3.



S-Curve for All Design Work (Sort by Code Digit 1 Greater Than 0 and Less Than 3).

Additional reports can be computer generated as discussed in Chapter 8. For example, Figure 9-6 shows the graph of daily cost for all in-house engineering design. It can be obtained by selecting all activities that have a I in the first digit of their code number. A similar curve can be obtained for work-hours which would show the personnel requirements needed to perform the work.

Table 9-3 is a partial listing of the project control schedule for all activities in the project. Only the first and last portion of the total schedule is shown to illustrate the type of information that can be obtained for **all** the 60 activities in the total project. Critical activities are those activities that have zero float time and are denoted by the letter "C" at the left of the activity number. Major milestone events are also noted



FIGURE 9-6

on the schedule. This schedule is a summary-level schedule report that integrates engineering, procurement, and construction.

Table 9-4 is a monthly cost schedule for the entire project. The distribution of costs are shown on an early start, late start, and target basis. The percentage-time and percentage-cost distribution are shown in the two **rightmost** columns. There is a non-linear distribution between costs and time. For example, at the end of the sixth month, which represents 33.0% of the time of completion, only 17.9% of the costs are anticipated to he expended. However, at the end of the eleventh month, 64.1% of the time, 54.3% of the costs are expected to be expended.

Distribution of Daily Costs for All In-House Design Work.

SCHEDULE OF ALL ACTIVITIES **5-6 318AT**

0	0	348 552Eb5004	346 502E55004	348 552EE5004	346 502E65004	E	FINAL INSPECTION & APPROVAL	300	э
0	0	TTSEP2004	970CS004	TTSEE2004	95002004	30	A SNCH FINISHES BUILDING A	510	5
55	55	TTSEP2004	23VD02004	SJULZOON	POOZNACL	50	SEARD/STNAJ9/SEES/PLANTS/GRASS	595	
PS	24	T12EP2004	121012004	PODYINES	27APR2004	05	YECH LINICHES BUITDING B	550	
0	55	20AUG2004	282004	\$00200LD	122APR2004	40	CEARED FOCEFCETE FARKING	067	
0	0	evid2004	TZAPRZOO4	6AUG2004	12APR2004	58	A DOLE HIA & TABH , UNIBROUS	545	2
20	50	\$00250049	10MAY2004	9002/1026	12APR2004	92	ELECTRICAL/PHONE BUILDING &	540	
0	55	255UN2004	\$002NUL7	97PR2004	216 22MAR2004	ST	CONCRETE PARKING AND WALKWAYS	08Z	
04 758 13		20AUG2004	\$00200AE	S4FEB2004	PEEBS004	74	UNDERGROUND ELECT & PHONE	582	
0	82T	2AUG2004	305	4FEB2004	POOSNALTS	L	METRYS ARTER SYSTEM	975	
st	69	295 93012004	336 167582004	336 57582004	167 13JAN2004	09	ELECTRICAL/PHONE BUILDING R	330	
0	25	562 00073004	221 221	STAT SCAPR2004	191 T31VNS004	54	PLUMBING, HEAT, & AIR BLDG B	522	
D	55	570 4JUN2004	115MAR2004	POOSAAMet 215	726 53DEG5003	09	CONCRETE PAVING ROADS & DRIVES	592	
D	138	304 5570F5004	24JUN2004	176 26JAN2004	T20 56DEC5003	57	METRY2 SEWER YAATIMAR	09Z	
1	1	Ť	1	1	1	Ť	Ť	Ť	
1	1	64 214002003	55 50020098	50075003	5000//5003	OT.	STORE-WALER DESIGN	0.0	
0	P	SE	PZ FOOZNOC9Z	TE FOOZTOP/	0Z FOOZNDPOZ	21	NUTA ONICINO ALIS	55	
c		SE	92	50071007	61 FOOZNODET	01	E ONTOTION NEED HOUTS	05	
0	0	61	6T	61	6I		W ONTOTION NETCON BIN		
0	0	PS	PS	6T	6T		VOIGTO CELLINE NOISAU A/E	24	
U	52	23	23	61	6T		NDISAG SALLIILLI AUIS-NO	07	
0	P	52	25-11112003	18-1002	BI	+	NOIPSG NSOW-STIR TOSTORS	55	
0	2	27JUN2003 18	511005003 JE	18JUNS003	T82003 T6	τ	DESIGN BRIEFING MEETING	30	
0	0	1800NS003	TEJUN2003	1810023003 12	Ternnsoo3 Te	3	IN-HOUSE DESIGN WORK	52	
0	L	Sejunsoos Te	SEJUNSO03	11JUNS003	Tennusoos	3	DEGIGN CONTRACTOR'S WORK	50	
D	0	TECONSOCE TO	£002N0C5	COOZNOLET OT	5002NUD6 I	S	FORM PROJECT TEAM	Sτ	Ş
0	0	EJUNZ003	20027AM62	E00SNUL9	23WVA3003 T	L	DEAETOB MOSK STVA	οτ	3
0	D	E002YAM82	26MAY2003	28MAY2003	26MAY2003	E	PROJECT NOTICE APPROVAL	S	3
******		******	******	*******	*******	*****	*******************************	******	***
PLOAT PLOAT	TCTAL TAOJT	FINISH	ETAJ TRAT2	HSINIA ATEVH	YJHAH THATE	-ASUC	L DESCHIBLION I	ACTIV	
		********			*****	*****	******	******	***
SCHEDAL	CTIVITY	R		63	02/ST/D NO S	SENOC P	SAVICE MAINTENANCE FACILITY	IDATE LO	SCHE SEO

TABLE 9-4 MONTHLY COST DISTRIBUTION FOR ALL ACTIVITIES IN THE PROJECT

MONTELY COST SCHEDULR

PROJECT; SERVICE MAINTENANCE PACILITY SCHEDULE FOR ALL ACTIVITIES - ISSUED TO TIM JONES ON 4/15/2003 START UNFR: 26 MAY 2003 - FINISH DATE: 22 SEP 2004

MONTHLY COST SCHEDULE

		I	I BARLY			START			LATE START			1	TARGET SCHEDULE					
NO.	MONTH YEAR	I	00	ST/MON	сл	NULATIVE	-1 I	cc	ST/MON	CU	ULATIVE	I	ço	ST/MON	CON	ULATIVE	TIME	SCOST
		*				was.					Jai	*			4	und .		
		.1					1			-		+						
1	MAY 2003		\$	3929.	\$	3929.	1	s	3929.	\$	3929.		S	3929.	\$	3929.	1.4%	.1%
2	JUN 2003	1	\$	48841.	\$	52770.	1	ę	34645.	S	38573.	2	\$	41743 -	\$	45672-	7.58	1.5%
		1					- 1											2.15
3	JUL 2003	T.	â	177261.	- 5	230031.	2	5	101204.	\$	139778.	3	S	139233.	ş	184904.	14.18	6.19
		-					4			-		2				and the second		20.00
4	AUG 2003	-	5	130583.	5	360614.		ş	130838.	\$	270516.	2	s	130711,	ş	312025-	20.1.8	10.38
		1				2000242	÷		100000			1				470243		10 74
	SEP 2003	1		100931.	3	527565.	-	4	160525.	\$	931141.	1	3	763158	\$	479342.	20.96	TD - 1.8
6	007 0003	-		reses		5065503	-		62764	÷	404026	1		44510	e	545963	21.04	17 99
c	001 2003			03633.	0	330000.	1	\$	021041		4949231		4	00313.		343003+	22104	
7	NOV 2003	-		190197		776997	-	·c	62507	. 6	357432			101347.		667210	38.8%	21.99
								4				+	- 7					
8	DEC 2003	1		247116.	\$	1024103.	+	Ś.	111945.	5	669377.		s	179531.	5	846740	45.4%	27.74
		4					T	- 1				+						
9	JAN 2004		\$	324067.	s	1348170.	T	s	180933.	3	850311.	:	s	252500.	5	1099240.	51.7%	36.08
		3										:						
10	FEB 2004	1	\$	332900.	s	1581070.		S.	235742.	5	1085053.	Ť.	s	284321.	\$	1363561.	57.58	45.3%
		. I.					+											
11	MAR 2004	π.	与.	316279.	S	1997348.	+	\$	234362.	\$	1320415.		S	275320.	\$	1658882.	64.18	54.3%
		1					1					\$						
12	APR 2004	.1	S	242022.	\$	2239371.	1	Ş	245967.	-\$	1566382.	*	ş	243995.	3	1902877.	70.48	62.38
1.2	1	1	1				2				Paperson P				~	******		11. FR
13	MAY 2004	.1	\$	250489.	- 9	2489860.		ş	308343.	\$	1874725.	-	5	279410.	2	2182293+	70,48	17-28
		-1					1					1		10/001		0.450 BOC	02.09	01 54
14	JUN 2004	-	2	\$84017.	5	6//38//.	1	\$	323303.	3	2204314.	-	3	300803.		2489090.	02.08	04.35
15	TTE. 2004		+	89479		2861356	1	0	122710	e	2527024	-		205094	4	2695190	89.18	88.39
1.5	000 2004	-	•	074/3.		acc1330.	-	\$	A86110.	2	202-024.	1	3		9	a9722304	03110	00.06
16	AUG 2004	+	-	110661.	s	2973817.	-		338893.	ŝ	2865917.		5	224677.	ŝ	2919867.	95.48	95.68
		+	1		-		1	*	2200221	1		-	-		-			
17	SEP 2004	1	\$	79333.	\$	3053150.		5	787233.	5	3053150.	1	5	133283.	2	3053150.	100.0%	100.08
						100000000000	+			-								

RELATIONSHIPSBETWEEN TIME AND WORK

Measurement of design work is difficult because design is a creative process that involves ideas, calculations, evaluation of alternatives, and other tasks that are not physically measurable quantities. Considerable time and cost can be expended in performing these tasks before end results such as drawings, specifications, reports, etc., which are measurable quantities of work, are ever seen.

The measurement of design is further complicated because of the diversity of work. For example, all the design calculations may be complete, half of the drawings may be produced, and yet only one-fourth of the specifications may be written. For this situation it is difficult to determine how much work has been accomplished because the work that is produced does not have a common unit of measure. Because of this, a percentage of completion is commonly used as a unit of measure of design work. The criteria for determining the percent complete for measuring work must be developed and confirmed in writing with the project team members prior to commencing design. This provides a common basis for the monthly evaluation of progress.
A weighting multiplier can be assigned to design tasks to define the magnitude of effort that is required to achieve each task. The sum of the weighting factors is 1.0, which represents 100% of the total design effort. The determination of each weight should be a joint effort between the project manager and the designer who is responsible for performing the work. This should be done before starting work.

A significant amount of overlap work is necessary during the design process. For example, initial drafting normally starts before the design calculations are finished. Likewise, final calculations are often not complete before the final production drawings are started. The project manager and his or her team members can jointly define the overlap of related work to show the timing of tasks throughout the duration of a project. Table 9-5 is an illustrative example that lists work items, weight multiplier, and estimated timing for each task required in a design effort. Further division of weight multipliers within each category may also be necessary.

The information in Table 9-5 is provided for illustrative purposes only. Because each project is unique, it is necessary to define the weight multipliers that are appropriate for each individual project. The timing of design work depends upon the availability of personnel. This information can be compiled from a summary of the individual design work packages.

To manage the overall design effort a work/time curve can be developed from the information in Table 9-5, see Figure 9-7. The upper portion of Figure 9-7 is a series of graphs that represent each design task individually, **arranged** in the order of occurrence. The slope of each graph is the ratio of the weight multiplier to the time required for the work to be performed. The lower portion of Figure 9-7 is the work/time curve for the entire design effort and is obtained by a composite, superposition of the individual graphs. This curve represents the planned accomplishment of work and serves as a **basis** of control for comparison of actual work accomplished. It can be superimposed onto the time/cost S-curve that was discussed in the preceding section. This forms the overall integrated cost/schedule/work curve that is discussed later in subsequent sections of this chapter.

Construction involves many types of different work that have different units of measure, such as, cubic yards, square feet, pounds, or each. Thus, it is convenient to use percentage as a unit of measure for management and control of overall construction.

Design work	Weight multiplier	Project timing
Review backup material	0.05	0%- 10%
Design calculations	0.10	10%- 25%
Initial drafting	0.25	15%- 45%
Final calculations	0.20	35%- 60%
Production drawings	0.30	50%- 90%
Drawing approval	<u>0.10</u>	90%–100%
	1.00	

TABLE 9-5 ILLUSTRATIVE WEIGHT MULTIPLIERS FOR DESIGN WORK



Work/Time Relationship for All Design Work.

The procedure used for measurement of design can also be applied to construction. For example, a project may consist of three major facilities; site-work, a concrete office building, and a preengineered metal building. A weight multiplier can be applied to each of the three major facilities, along with their planned sequence of occurrence (reference Table 9-6).

Table 9-6 only lists three major parts of the project. A more accurate definition of the planned work can be achieved by dividing each of the major facilities into smaller components. For example, site-work can be divided into grading, drainage, paving, landscaping, etc. Likewise, each of the two buildings can be divided into smaller components. Regardless of the level of detail of the project, the sum of all the weight multipliers would be equal to 1.0, to represent 100% of the project. The weight and timing of each major facility is established by key participants of the project team, before starting construction, to serve as a basis of control during construction.

Figure 9-8 shows the composite of the planned accomplishment of work. The upper portion of Figure 9-8 is a graphical display of the **overlap** and sequence of each of the three major facilities. The lower portion is the integrated **work/time** curve for the entire project and is obtained by a composite superposition of the three individual graphs of each major facility.

The procedure is a top level summary of all facilities in the total project. This same procedure can be used for each facility, or parts of a facility, depending upon the complexity of the project and the level of control that is desired by the project manager.

At the lowest level it may be possible to use a unit of measure of work that can be physically measured at the job-site, rather than using a percentage. For example, "wire pulling" can be easily measured in linear feet or "concrete piers" can be measured in cubic yards. However, some precautions must be used when physical quantities are used to represent work in place of a percentage. To illustrate, the construction of concrete piers involves drilling, setting steel, and placement of concrete. For a project that has 18 piers, a progress report may show all piers drilled, steel set in 9 piers, and concrete placed in 3 piers. If cubic yards is the only measure of control, only 3 of the 18 piers would be reported as complete, which would not include the drilling and steel work that is accomplished. For this situation, a weight multiplier system must be developed to account for each task that is required to

TABLE 9-6

ILLUSTRATIVE WEIGHT MULTIPLIER FOR CONSTRUCTION

Facility	Weight multiplier	Project timing
Site-work Concrete building Metal building	0.25 0.40 <u>0.35</u> 1.00	0%- 35% 15%- 75% 65%-100%





construct the piers. As previously discussed the sum of all weights must equal 1.0 to represent 100% of the work.

INTEGRATED COST/SCHEDULE/WORK

Experienced project managers are familiar with the problems of using only **partial** information, such as only costs or time to track the status of a project. To illustrate, half of a project budget may be expended by the mid-point of the scheduled duration, but only 20% of the work may be accomplished. A monitoring of only time and cost would indicate the project is going well; however, upon completion of the project there would likely be a cost overrun and a delay in schedule because the measurement of work was not included in the project control system. Thus, a project manager must develop an integrated cost/schedule/work system which provides meaningful feedback during the project rather than afterwards. The status of a project can then be determined and corrective actions taken when corrections can be made at the least cost.

The preceding sections presented the relationships of cost/time and work/time for project control. However, evaluating these relationships separately does not provide an accurate status of a project. A cost/schedule/work graph can be prepared that shows the integrated relationship of the three basic components of a project: scope (work), budget (cost), and schedule (time). Figure 9-9 is a graph that links costs on the left-hand ordinate, time on the abscissa, and work on the right-hand ordinate. The upper curve is simply the cost/time S-curve that has been discussed in previous sections of this book. The lower work/time curve shows the relationship between work and time throughout the duration of the project. Thus, the graph is simply a composite overlay of the information previously presented.

The unit for costs is dollars and the unit for schedule is days, which are easily determined units of measure for any type of project. The unit of measure for work is represented as a percentage which provides a common base for all parts of the project. As previously discussed, a project may have three types of buildings: concrete, steel, and wood frame. An appropriate unit of measure for work would be cubic yards for the concrete building, pounds of steel for the steel building, and board feet of lumber for the wood frame building. However, since it is not possible to add cubit yards to pounds or board feet, percent is a dimensionless unit of measure that can conveniently be used to represent work.

Although percentage provides a common unit of measure for work, a multiplier is necessary to define the distribution of work for each part of the project. For example, the project with three building? of the previous paragraph may use a multiplier of 45% for the concrete structure, 35% for the steel structure, and 20% for the wood structure which when combined, represents 100% for the total project. Factors that may be considered for determining the multiplier include work-hours, costs, and/or the time to complete the work. The multiplier that is selected involves both a quantitative and qualitative evaluation of the project, based upon good judgement, and should be determined as a joint effort by key participants of the project team.



Integrated Cost/Schedule/Work Graph.

The actual cost and work accomplished can be superimposed onto the curves to compare with the planned cost and work in order to determine the status of the project; see Figure 9-10*a*. For this example the actual accomplished work curve is below the planned work curve, which shows a schedule slippage. For the same reporting period there is a cost overrun as noted on the upper curve of the graph. Thus, there is a schedule slippage and cost overrun for the reporting period. Other scenarios are possible as illustrated in Figure 9-10*b* to 9-10*d*.

An integrated cost/schedule/work graph provides a good summary level report for the status of the overall project. Lower level graphs, that is, the concrete building only, can be prepared to evaluate the status of a part of the total project. Thus, multiple graphs can he developed, depending upon the complexity of the project and the level of control desired by the project manager.

PERCENT COMPLETE MATRIX METHOD

A very simple technique for determining the overall status of a project is the percent complele matrix method. It can be used for any size project and only requires a minimal amount of information that is readily available in the work packages. The overall status can be measured as a percent complete matrix, based upon the budget for each work package in a project. The budget can be measured as any one of three



FIGURE **9-10a** Over Budget and behind Schedule



FIGURE **9-10b** Under Budget and behind Schedule.



FIGURE 9-10c Under Budget and ahead of Schedule.



FIGURE 9-10d Over Budget and ahead of Schedule.

variables: cost, work-hours, or physical quantity of work. To describe this method, only cost is used in the following **paragraphs**; 'however, the method can be just as easily applied to work-hours or physical quantities of work. There may be times when a project manager may wish to use all three measures to determine the status of a project.

The percent complete matrix method requires only two input variables for each work package: estimated cost and percent complete. A spreadsheet can be developed on a small microcomputer that contains six pieces of information from the work package for a given area (see Figure 9-11). Formulas in the spreadsheet calculate the "percent unit" and "percent project" based on the "estimated cost" that is entered for each work package. Likewise, formulas in the spreadsheet calculate the "cost to date" and "percent complete project" based on entry of the second input variable, "percent complete."

Figure 9-12 is a spreadsheet that illustrates the percent complete matrix method for a project that consists of five buildings. Each building is defined by four summary level components: foundation/structural, mechanical/electrical, finishes/furnishings, and special equipment. The "total cost" and "percent of project" for each building are shown in the righthand two columns of the spreadsheet. The total cost of all buildings in the project represents the total project budget, \$240,000. Formulas in the spreadsheet calculate the "total cost" of each component in the project. For example, \$81,000 represents the budget costs for all structural work.

The summary level components of each building contain the six pieces of information from the work package discussed in Figure 9-11. For example, the work packages for Building **A** structural is \$15,000, which represents 30% of Building A and 6% of the total \$240,000 project budget. Upon entry in the spreadsheet of 70% complete for Building **A**, the formulas automatically calculate the \$10,500 "cost to date" and the 4%, which represents the percent complete for the total project. The only entry required to obtain the project status is the cell of "%-complete," the entry highlighted by an underline in the spreadsheet illustrated in Figure 9-12.

FIGURE 9-11

Work Package Information and Spreadsheet Formulas for %-Complete Matrix.

Work Package			
Estimated Cost*	Percent Unit		
Percent Complete*	Percent Project		
Cost to Date	% - Complete Project		
Spreadsheet Formulas			
Input from Estimate*	Estimated Cost/Total Unit Cost		
Variable Input by User*	Estimated Cost/Total Project Cost		
Percent Complete × Estimated Cost'	Cost to Date/Total Project Cost		

*Required Input Data by User

	FOUNDATION1 STRUCTURAL		MECHANICAL/ ELECTRICAL		FINISHES/ FURNISHINGS		SPECIAL/ EQUIPMENT			
	ESTIMATED COST	PERCENT UNIT	ESTIMATED COST	PERCENT UNIT	ESTIMATED COST	PERCENT UNIT	ESTIMATED COST	PERCENT UNIT		
	PERCENT COMPLETE	PERCENT PROJECT	PERCENT COMPLETE	PERCENT PROJECT	PERCENT COMPLETE	PERCENT PROJECT	PERCENT COMPLETE	PERCENT PROJECT		
FACILITY	COST TO DATE	%-COMPLETE TOTAL	COST TO DATE	%-COMPLETE TOTAL	COST TO DATE	%-COMPLETE TOTAL	COST TO DATE	%-COMPLETE TOTAL	TOTAL COST	PERCENT TOTAL
BUILDINGA	\$15000. 70.% \$10500.	30.% 6.% 4.%	\$ 8000. 35.% \$ 2800.	16.% 3.% 1.%	\$10000. <u>0.%</u> <u>0.</u>	20.% 4.% Q%	\$17000. <u>0.%</u> <u>0.</u>	34.% 7.% 0.%	\$ 50000.	21.%
BUILDING B	\$25000. 10.% \$ 2500.	28.% 10.% 1.%	\$ 9000. 0.% \$ 0.	10.% 4.% 0.%	\$23000. 	26.% 10.% O%	\$33000. 	37.% 14.% O%	\$ 90000.	38.%
BUILDING C	\$ 8000. 100% \$ 8000 .	40.% 3.% 3.%	\$ 3000. 80.% \$ 2400.	15.% 1.% 1.%	\$ 4000. 	20.% 2.% O%	\$ 5000. 	25% 2.% Q.%	\$ 20000.	8.%
BUILDING D	\$ 2000. 100.% \$ 2000.	20.% 1.% 1.%	\$ 1000. 100.% \$ 1000.	1.% 0.% 0.%	\$ 0. 0.% 0.	0 % 0.% 0.%	\$ 7000. 0.% 0.	70.% 3.% 0.%	\$ 10000.	4.%
BUILDING E	\$31000. 5.% \$ 1550.	44.% 13% 1.90	\$18000. 	26.% 8.% Q%	\$21000. 0.% 0.	30.% 9.% 0.%	\$ 0. 0,% 0.	0.% 0.% O%	\$ 70000.	29.%
SUM EST & %-PROJ	\$81000.	34.%	\$39000.	16.%	\$58000.	24.%	562000.	26.%	\$240000.	100.%
SUM COST TO DATE &SUM %-COMPLETE	\$24550.	10.%	5 6200.	3.%	0.	0%	0.	O.%	\$ 30750.	13.%

FIGURE 9-12 Percent Complete Matrix for Project.

As entries are made for each work package in the matrix, the total values for each component in the project are calculated at the bottom of the spreadsheet. For example, all the "cost to date" values in the vertical column under the heading of structural work sums to \$24,550, which represents 10% of the total project. Similarly, formulas in the spreadsheet sum all the total cost values of each component in the bottom horizontal row to calculate the total project cost to date of \$30,750, which represents 13% complete for the entire project. This percentage can be used for the evaluation of the integrated cost/time/work graphs that were discussed in the preceding section.

PROGRESS MEASUREMENT OF DESIGN

The percentage completion of a single activity can usually be determined by one of **four** systems: Units Completed, Incremental Milestone, **Start/Finish** Percentages, or Ratio. The Units Completed method may be suitable for writing specifications, provided that each part of the specifications can be considered as having equal effort of work. The measurement of work can be determined as a percentage that is calculated by dividing the number of specifications completed by the total number of specifications that are to be produced.

The Incremental **Milestone** method is appropriate for measurement of production drawings or procurement activities that consist of easily recognized milestones. The following **percentages** are typical examples of measurement of production for development of production drawings and procurement.

Production drawings	
Start drafting	0%
Drawn, not checked	20%
Complete for office check	30%
To owner for approval	70%
Firstissue	95%
Final issue	100%
Pmcurernent	
Bidders list developed	5%
Inquiry documents complete	10%
Bids analyzed	20%
Contract awarded	25%
Vendor drawings submitted	45%
Vendor drawings approved	50%
Equipment shipped	90%
E au dia ma a lati ya a a lu ya al	

The **Start/Finish** Percentage method is applicable to those activities that lack readily definable intermediate milestones, or the effort and time required is difficult to estimate. For these tasks 20% to 50% is given when the activity is started and 100% when finished. A percentage is assigned for starting to account for the long

time between the start and finish when no credit is being given. This method is appropriate for work such as planning, designing, model building, and studies. It can also be used for specification writing.

The Ratio method is applicable to tasks such as project management or project control that are involved throughout the duration of the project. Such tasks have no particular end product and are estimated and budgeted on a bulk allocation basis, rather than on some measure of production. It can also be used on tasks that are appropriate for the **start/finish** method. The percent complete at any point in time is found by dividing hours (or costs) spent to date by the current estimate of hours (or costs) at completion.

Percent complete may be determined by one of the above described methods. Earned-value techniques can be used to summarize overall work status. The earned value of any one item being controlled is

Earned work-hours = (Budgeted work-hours) X (Percent complete)

Budgeted work-hours equal original budget plus approved changes.

Overall percent complete of the project or of a work package can be calculated as

Percent complete = $\frac{\text{Sum of earned work-hours of tasks included}}{\text{Sum of budgeted work-hours of tasks included}}$

Trends can be tracked through various indices, such as the Cost Performance Index (CPI) and the Schedule Performance Index (SPI). The CPI provides a comparison of the number of work-hours being spent on work tasks to the hours budgeted and is an indicator of productivity. The equation for CPI is

$$CPI = \frac{Sum \text{ of earned work-hours of tasks included}}{Sum \text{ of Actual work-hours of tasks included}}$$

For the above to be a true indicator of productivity, only those tasks for which budgets have been established should be included in summations. If for some reason there is no budget for an item and people are working on that item, the project manager should prepare a change order for out of scope work. All actual work-hours need to be properly reported to establish accurate historical records for subsequent projects of a similar nature.

The SPI relates the amount of work performed to the amount scheduled to a point in time. The equation for SPI is

$$SPI = \frac{Sum of earned work-hours to date}{Sum of scheduled work-hours to date}$$

Scheduled work-hours in the above equation are summarized from the task schedules.

In both the CPI and SPI equations, an index of 1.0 or greater is favorable. Trends can be noted by plotting both "this period" and "cumulative" CPI and SPI values on

a graph. While the SPI for the total project, or for a work package, is somewhat of an indicator of schedule performance, it only compares volume of work performed to volume of work scheduled. There can be an SPI in excess of 1.0 that can still be in danger of not meeting milestones and final completion dates if managers are expending effort on non-critical activities at the expense of critical activities. The SPI does not show that work is being completed in the proper sequence. Thus, as part of schedule control, the schedules of all included tasks in each work package must be regularly examined so that any items behind schedule can be identified and corrective action taken to bring them back on schedule.

MEASUREMENT OF CONSTRUCTION WORK

A construction project requires completion of numerous tasks, beginning with initial clearing and site-work through the final punchlist and cleanup. Throughout the duration of a project there must be a systematic reporting of the progress of work for each part of the project. The following paragraphs describe six methods for measuring progress during construction: Units Completed, Incremental Milestone, **Start/Finish**, Supervisor Opinion, Cost Ratio, and Weighted Units. The system that is selected depends upon the nature and complexity of the project and the desired level of control by the project manager. Each of the six methods may be used on a given project.

The U.S. Departments of Defense and Energy have established what is known as the Cost and Schedule Control Systems Criteria (C/SCSC) for control of selected federal projects. While intended primarily for high-value, cost-reimbursable research and development projects, it may be applied to selected construction projects. Various methods for measuring the status of a project that have become common usage in the construction industry are described in C/SCSC.

The Units Completed method of measuring progress during construction is applicable to tasks that are repetitive and require a uniform effort. Generally, the task is the lowest level of control so only one unit of work is necessary to define the work. To illustrate, the percent complete for installation of wire is **determined** as a percentage, by dividing the number of feet installed by the total number of feet that is required to be installed.

The Incremental Milestone method is applicable to tasks that include **subtasks** that must be handled in sequence. For example, the installation of a major vessel in an industrial facility may include the sequential tasks as shown below. Completion of any **subtask** is considered a milestone, which represents a certain percentage of the total installation. The percentage may be established based upon the estimated work-hours to accomplish the work.

Received and inspected	15%
Setting complete	35%
Alignment complete	50%
Internalsinstalled	75%
Testing complete	90 %
Accepted by owner	100%

The Start/Finish method is applicable to tasks that do not have well-defined intermediate milestones or for which the time required is difficult to estimate. For example, the alignment of a piece of equipment may take a few hours to a few days, depending upon the situation. The workers may know when the work will start and when it is finished, but never know the percentage completion in between. For this method, an arbitrary percent complete is assigned at the start of the task and a 100% complete is assigned when it is finished. A starting percentage of 20% to 30% might be assigned for tasks that require a long duration, while 0% may be assigned for tasks with a short duration.

The Supervisor Opinion method is a subjective approach that may be used for minor tasks, such as construction support facilities, where development of a more discrete method cannot be used.

The Cost Ratio method is applicable for administrative tasks, such as project management, quality assurance, contract administration, or project control. These tasks involve a long period of time or are continuous throughout the duration of the project. Generally these tasks are estimated and budgeted as lump-sum **dollars** and work-hours, rather than measurable quantities of production work. For this method the percent complete can be calculated by the following equation.

 $Percent complete = \frac{Actual cost or work-hours to date}{Forecast at completion}$

The Weighted Units method is applicable for tasks that involve major efforts of work that occur over a long duration of time. Generally the work requires several overlapping subtasks that each have a different unit of measurement of work. This method is illustrated by the structural steel example shown in Figure 9-13. A common unit of measure for steel is tons. A weight is assigned to each subtask to represent the estimated level of effort. Work-hours is usually a good measure of the required level of effort. As quantities of work are completed for each subtask, these quantities are converted into equivalent tons and percent complete is calculated as shown in Figure 9-13.

As presented in the previous paragraphs, there are many ways of measuring progress of work for each task in a project. After determining the progress of the different work tasks, the next step is to develop a method that combines the different work tasks to determine the overall percent complete for the project. The earned-value system can used to define overall percent complete for the entire project. Earned value can be linked to the project budget, which is expressed as workhours or dollars. For a single account, the earned value can be calculated by the following equation.

Earned value = (Percent complete) X (Budget for that account)

A budgeted amount is "earned" as a task is completed, up to the total amount in that account. For example, an account may be budgeted at \$1 0,000 and 60 work-hours. If the account is reported as 25% complete, as measured by one of the previously

Wt.	Subtask	UIM	Quan total	Equiv steel ton	Quantity to-date	Earned tons+
0.02	Run foundation bolts	each	200	10.4	200	10.4
0.02	Shim	%	100	10.4	100	10.4
0.05	Shakeout	%	100	26.0	100	26.0
0.06	Columns	each	84	31.2	74	27.5
0.10	Beams	each	859	52.0	0	0.0
0.11	Cross-braces	each	837	57.2	0	0.0
0.20	Girts & sag rods	bay	38	104.0	0	0.0
0.09	Plumb & align	%	100	46.8	5	2.3
0.30	Connections	each	2977	156.0	74	3.9
0.05	Punchlist	%	100	26.0	0	0.0
1.00	STEEL	TON		520.0		80.5

*Earned Tons to Date = $\frac{(\text{Quantity to date}) (\text{Relative Weight})}{(\text{Total Quantity})}$

Percent Complete = $\frac{80.5 \text{ tons}}{520 \text{ tons}}$ = 15.5%

FIGURE 9-13

Illustrative Example of Weighted-Units Method for Measurement of Construction Work Source: Construction Industry Institute, Publication No. 6-5.

described methods, then the earned value is defined as \$2,500 and 15 work-hours. Thus, progress in all accounts can be reduced to earned work-hours and dollars, which provides a method for summarizing multiple accounts and calculating overall progress for the total project. The equation for determining the overall project percent complete is given below.

Percent complete = $\frac{(\text{Earned work-hours/dollar all accounts})}{(\text{Budgeted work-hours/dollars all accounts})}$

The concepts discussed above provide a system for determining the percent complete of a single work task or combinations of tasks. This provides the basis for analyzing the results to determine how well work is proceeding, as compared to what was planned. The earned-value system provides a method for evaluating performance of the project.

Previous paragraphs have only discussed budgeted and earned work-hours and dollars. Actual work-hours and dollars must also be included to evaluate the performance evaluation of the project. The following definitions are provided to describe the procedure for evaluation of cost and schedule performance.

- Budgeted work-hours or dollars to date represent what is planned to do. The C/SCSC defines this as Budgeted Cost for Work Scheduled (BCWS).
- Earned work-hours or dollars to date represent what was done. The C/SCSC defines this as Budgeted Cost for Work Performed (BCWP).

• Actual work-hours or dollars to date represent what has been paid. The C/SCSC defines this as Actual Cost of Work Performed (ACWP).

Performance against schedule is a comparison of what was planned against what was done, that is, a comparison of budgeted and earned work-hours. If the budgeted work-hours are less than the earned work-hours, it means more was done than planned and the project is ahead of schedule. The opposite would indicate the project is behind schedule.

Performance against budget is measured by comparing what was done to what was paid. This compares earned work-hours to actual work-hours or cost. If more was paid **than** is done, then the project would have a cost overrun of the budget. The following variance and index equations can be used to calculate these values.

Scheduled variance (SV) = (Earned work-hours or dollars)

- (Budgeted work-hours or dollars)

SV = BCWP - BCWS

Sahadula Darformanaa Inday (SDI)	(Earned work-hours or dollars to date)
Schedule Performance index $(SPI) =$	(Budgeted work-hours or dollars to date)
SPI =	BCWP
511 -	BCWS

Cost variance (CV) = (Earned work-hours or dollars)

- (Actual work-hours or dollars)

CV = BCWP - ACWP

Cost Performance Index (CPI) = $\frac{(\text{Earned work-hours or dollars to date})}{(\text{Actual work-hours or dollars to date})}$ $CPI = \frac{\text{BCWP}}{\text{ACWP}}$

A positive variance and an index of 1.0 or greater is a favorable performance.

PROJECT MEASUREMENT AND CONTROL

The purpose of the project plan is to successfully control the project to ensure completion within budget and schedule constraints. The S-curve, which plots cost (or work-hours) against time, provides a measure of schedule **performance**. Project elements of labor, materials, and equipment are usually evaluated in common units of dollars. Schedule performance indicates the rate at which these project elements are occurring as budgeted expenses. Performance measurements are based on earned-value concepts and S-curve analysis. The earned-value concept provides a quantitative measure of the scheduled budget value of work compared to the actual budgeted value of the work accomplished.

Measuring the progress of a project supports management in establishing a realistic plan for execution of a project and provides the project manager and client **with** a consistent analysis of project performance. Progress measurement also provides an early warning system to identify deviations from the project plan and scope growth. To control engineering work a drawing list, specification list, equipment list, instrument list, progress S-curve, and histogram of work-hours are used to determine the project status and for continued planning. The project manager can use progress curves and work-hour histograms for different levels of the work breakdown structure.

EARNED-VALUE SYSTEM

The earned-value system is used to monitor the progress of work and compare accomplished work with planned work. The BCWS is the amount of money that was planned, or budgeted, at each time period in the project. It is determined by cost loading the CPM diagram to determine the distribution of cost in accordance with the project plan. The S-curve for a project represents the BCWS. The ACWP is the actual amount of money that has been spent at any point in time during the project. It is determined from accounting records or the responsible party that keeps records of actual expenditure of money. The BCWP is the amount of money earned based on the work that has been completed. It is determined by multiplying the percent completed by the budgeted amount for the work. Below is a summary of the terms used in an earned-value analysis.

Earned-Value Analysis:

BCWS = Budgeted cost of work scheduled	(Planned)
ACWP = Actual cost of work performed	(Actual)
BCWP = Budgeted cost of work performed	(Earned)

Variances:

CV = BCWP - ACWP	(Cost variance = Earned - Actual)
SV = BCWP - BCWS	(Schedule variance = Earned - Planned)

Indices:

$$CPI = \frac{BCWP}{ACWP} \qquad \left(Cost \text{ Performance Index} = \frac{Earned}{Actual}\right)$$
$$SPI = \frac{BCWP}{BCWS} \qquad \left(Schedule \text{ Performance Index} = \frac{Earned}{Planned}\right)$$

Forecasting:

$$BAC = \text{Original project estimate} \qquad (Budget at completion)$$
$$ETC = \frac{BAC - BCWP}{CPI} \qquad (Estimate to complete)$$
$$EAC = (ACWP + ETC) \qquad (Estimate at completion)$$

Ratios are used in the earned-value system to predict the cost to complete a project. The CPI is used to predict the magnitude of a possible cost overrun or underrun. It adjusts the budget based on past performance. The SPI is used to predict the magnitude of a possible time advance or delay. It adjusts the schedule based on past performance. The following examples illustrate the calculations in an earned-value analysis. The examples provide a progressive analysis of the project with an interpretation of the results based on the earned-value system for assessing project performance.

Example 9-1

Provide an earned-value analysis to evaluate the **progress** of the sewer and water lines project shown in Figure 8-5. The original budget is \$147,500 and the project is scheduled to be completed in 94 working days. A status report after 10 working days into the project includes the following information:

Activity 10, 100% complete as scheduled, actual cost = \$1,500Activity 20, 100% complete as scheduled, actual cost = \$2,200Activity 30, 100% complete as scheduled, actual cost = \$4,000BCWP = \$7,600ACWP = \$7,700BCWS = \$7,600BAC = \$147,500

The BCWS and BCWP shown above are the same values as shown on the tenth working day in Figure 8-11 because Activities 10, 20, and 30 were all completed according to the original planned schedule.

Cost and Schedule Deviations:

Cost variance,
$$CV = BCWP - ACWP$$

= \$7,600 - \$7,700
= -\$100

A negative value of CV represents a cost overrun. Based on the status report the actual cost is greater than earned by \$100.

Schedule variance,
$$SV = BCWP - BCWS$$

= \$7,600 - \$7,600
= 0

Since the SV is zero, the project is progressing as planned. The project is not ahead of or behind the planned schedule.

Cost and Schedule Performance:

Cost Performance Index, CPI =
$$\frac{BCWP}{ACWP}$$

= $\frac{$7,600}{$7,700}$
= 0.987

The CPI is less than 1.0, which indicates a poor cost performance. The earned value is less than the actual costs.

Schedule Performance Index SPI	_	BCWP
Schedule i erformance index, Si i	-	BCWS
	_	\$7,600
	-	\$7,600
	=	1.0

The SPI is equal to 1.0, which indicates the schedule **performance** is progressing precisely as planned.

Forecasting Cost at Completion:

Estimate to complete, ETC =
$$\frac{BAC - BCWP}{CPI}$$
$$= \frac{\$147,500 - \$7,600}{0.987}$$
$$= \$141,743$$

Based on the analysis of the status report, the remaining cost to complete the project is \$141,743.

Estimate at completion, EAC = ACWP + ETC
=
$$$7,700 + $141,743$$

= $$149,443$

Based on the analysis of the status report, the estimated cost of the project at completion is \$149,443, which is \$1,943 over the original budget of \$147,500.

Example 9-2

Provide an earned-value analysis to evaluate the progress of the sewer and water lines project shown in Figure 8-5. The original budget is \$147,500 and the project is scheduled to be completed in 94 working days. A status report after 20 working days into the project includes the following information:

Previous period analysis:

BCWP = \$7,600; ACWP = \$7,700; BCWS = \$7,600; BAC = \$147,500

Current status report:

Activity 40, 100% complete, two days delayed, actual cost = \$8,000Activity 50, 60% complete, two days delayed, cost to date = \$3,200Activity 60, 50% complete, started out of sequence, cost to date = \$6,300BCWP = \$22,720ACWP = \$22,200BCWS = \$22,400BAC = \$147,500

The BCWS shown above is different than the value shown on the twentieth working day in Figure 8-11 because Activities 40, 50, and 60 have been completed at different times than the original planned schedule. The BCWS of \$22,400 shown above is based on an updated schedule for the project. Also, the BCWP is based on the updated schedule.

Cost and Schedule Deviations:

Cost variance, CV = BCWP - ACWP = \$22,720 - \$25,200 = -\$2,480

A negative value of CV represents a cost overrun. **Based** on the status report the actual cost is greater than earned by \$2,480.

The SV is \$320 because the earned value is greater than planned, indicating the project is ahead of schedule.

Cost and Schedule Performance:

Cost Performance Index, CPI =
$$\frac{BCWP}{ACWP}$$

= $\frac{\$22,720}{\$25,200}$
= 0.90

The CPI is less than 1.0, which indicates a poor cost performance. The earned value is less than the actual costs for this reporting period.

Sahadula Darformanaa Inday SDI	_	BCWP
Schedule Ferrormance index, SFT	=	BCWS
	_	\$22,720
	-	\$22,400
	=	1.01

The SPI is greater than 1.0, which indicates the schedule performance is progressing better than planned. The project is ahead of schedule, which is slightly better than the status report given in Example 9-1.

Forecasting Cost at Completion:

Estimate to complete, ETC =
$$\frac{BAC - BCWP}{CPI}$$
$$= \frac{\$147,500 - \$22,720}{0.90}$$
$$= \$138,644$$

Based on the analysis of the status report, the remaining cost to complete the project is \$138,644.

Estimate at completion, EAC = ACWP + ETC
=
$$$25,200 + $138,644$$

= $$163,844$

Based on the analysis of the status report, the estimated cost of the project at completion is \$163,844, which is \$16,344 over the original budget of \$147,500. The cost performance is significantly worse compared to the previous status report given in Example 9-1.

Example 9-3

Provide an earned-value analysis to evaluate the progress of the sewer and water lines project shown in Figure 8-5. The original budget is \$147,500 and the project is scheduled to be completed in 94 working days. A status report after 25 working days into the project includes the following information:

Previous period analysis:

BCWP = \$22,720; ACWP = \$25,200; BCWS = \$22,400; BAC = \$147,500

Current status report:

Activity 50, 100% complete, one more day delay, final actual cost = \$6,200Activity 60, 100% complete, no additional delays, final actual cost = \$12,600Activity 70, 100% complete, no delays, actual cost = \$2,100BCWP = \$33,000ACWP = \$36,600 (Note: Includes final actual costs of Activities 10–70.) BCWS = \$31,740BAC = \$147,500

Cost and Schedule Deviations:

A negative value of CV represents a cost overrun. Based on the status report the actual cost is greater than earned by \$3,600.

Schedule variance, SV = BCWP - BCWS = \$33,000 - \$31,740 = \$1,260

The SV is \$1,260 because the earned value is greater than planned, indicating the project is ahead of schedule.

Cost and Schedule Performance:

Cost Performance Index, CPI =
$$\frac{BCWP}{ACWP}$$

= $\frac{$33,000}{$36,600}$
= 0.90

-

The CPI is less that 1.0, which indicates a poor cost performance, The earned value is less than the actual costs for this reporting period.

Schedule Performance Index, SPI =
$$\frac{BCWP}{BCWS}$$

= $\frac{\$33,000}{\$31,740}$
= 1.04

The SPI is greater than 1.0, which indicates the schedule performance is progressing better than planned. The project is ahead of schedule, which is better than the previous status report given in Example 9-2.

Forecasting Cost at Completion:

Estimate to complete, ETC =
$$\frac{BAC - BCWP}{CPI}$$
$$= \frac{\$147,500 - \$33,000}{0.90}$$
$$= \$127,222$$

Based on the analysis of the status report, the remaining cost to complete the project is \$127,222.

Estimate at completion, EAC = ACWP + ETC
=
$$$36,600 + $127,222$$

= $$163,822$

Based on the analysis of the status report, the estimated cost of the project at completion is \$163,822, which is \$16,322 over the original budget of \$147,500. The schedule performance is about the same compared to the previous status report given in Example 9-2.

Example 9-4

Provide an earned-value analysis to evaluate the progress of the sewer and water lines project shown in Figure 8-5. The original budget is \$147,500 and the project is scheduled to be completed in 94 working days. A status report after 70 working days into the project includes the following information:

Previous period analysis:

BCWP = \$33,000; ACWP = \$36,600; BCWS = \$31,740; BAC = \$147,500

Current status report:

Activity 80, 100% complete, actual cost = \$14,000Activity 90, 100% complete, actual cost = \$800Activity 100, 100% complete, actual cost = \$1,400Activity 110, 100% complete, actual cost = \$5,000Activity 130, 100% complete, actual cost = \$4,500Activity 140, 20% complete, actual cost = \$680Activity 160, 30% complete, actual cost = \$2,100BCWP = \$56,830ACWP = \$65,080BCWS = \$102,800BAC = \$147,500

Cost and Schedule Deviations:

Cost variance, CV = BCWP - ACWP= \$56,830 - \$65,080 = -\$8,250

A negative value of CV represents a cost overrun. Based on the status report the actual cost is greater than earned by \$8,250.

The SV is a negative value of \$45,970 because the earned value is greater than planned, indicating the project is substantially behind schedule.

Cost and Schedule Performance:

Cost Performance Index, CPT =
$$\frac{BCWP}{ACWP}$$

= $\frac{\$56,830}{\$65,080}$
= 0.87

The CPI is less than 1.0, which indicates a poor cost **performance**. The earned value is less than the actual costs for this reporting period.

Schedule Performance Index, SPI =
$$\frac{BCWP}{BCWS}$$

= $\frac{\$56,830}{\$102,800}$
= 0.55

The SPI is less than 1.0, which indicates the schedule performance is significantly worse than planned. The project is behind schedule, which indicates the project will be completed significantly later than planned.

Forecasting Cost at Completion:

Estimate to complete, ETC =
$$\frac{BAC - BCWP}{CPI}$$
$$= \frac{\$147,500 - \$56,830}{0.87}$$
$$= \$104,218$$

Based on the analysis of the status report, the remaining cost to complete the project is \$104,218.

Estimate at completion, EAC = ACWP + ETC = \$65,080 + \$104,218 = \$169,298

Based on the analysis of the status report, the estimated cost of the project at completion is \$169,298, which is \$21,798 over the original budget of \$147,500. The project is projected to have a significant cost overrun.

MONITORING PROJECT PERFORMANCE

The CPI and **SPI** provide a quantity measurement of the progress of a project. Values of CPI or SPI that are greater than 1.0 indicate good project performance, whereas values of CPI or SPI that are less than 1.0 indicate poor project performance. Values of these indices can be plotted on a graph as shown in Figure 9-14 to evaluate project performance during routine reporting periods.

As shown in Figure 9-14, a project begins with a CPI and **SPI** equal to 1.0. Projects are dynamic in nature due to events that can impact the cost and the schedule. Therefore, it is expected that these performance indices will deviate from this initial starting point of zero as the project progresses from week to week. The project manager should not overreact to slight changes in the CPI and SPI. For example, the first two weeks of the project show small changes in the performance indices, which might be expected during the early progress of the project.



FIGURE 9-14 Monitoring Project Performance—the CPI and SPI.

Although minor deviations are expected, major deviations from one report period to the next should alert the project manager to investigate the reason for the significant change in the project performance. For example, the report between weeks **7** and **8** shows a dramatic change toward poor project performance. This type of report merits the attention of the project manager to solicit team members to identify what has happened in the project and the reason for this dramatic change in project performance.

Concern should also be raised if the trend of the CPI and SPI is progressing toward poor performance. For example, from week 2 through week 4, the project performance trend is toward good. However, significant changes in the project begin to appear during weeks 6, 7, and 8.

Thus, the project manager must be continually alert to changes in the project. The CPI and SPI provide the information needed by the project manager to monitor the progress of work to ensure the project is moving in the right direction toward successful completion.

INTERPRETATION OF PERFORMANCE INDICES

The graph shown in Figure 9-14 is a valuable tool for the project manager to monitor project performance based on progress reports. It provides a measure of how well the planned cost compares to actual expenditures and work accomplished. As deviations occur between the values, several interpretations can be made.

Values of SPI greater than 1.0 indicate the project is ahead of schedule. The project may be progressing faster than expected if the original production rates were predicted too low or the actual working conditions are better than originally anticipated. There may be more staffing on the project than anticipated, which would also show the work as progressing ahead of schedule. Values of SPI less than 1.0 indicate the project is behind schedule. The project schedule may slip due to weather delays, understaffing, or disorganized work.

Values of CPT greater than 1.0 indicate good project cost performance. Good cost performance may be reported if actual productivity is better than planned or if the measured percent of completed work is too high. Values of CPI less than 1.0 indicate poor cost performance, which may be a result of poorer than planned productivity or due to an underestimate of the measured percent of completed work.

The project manager should seek information from team members to provide a better interpretation of the meaning of project performance indices. Figures 9-15 and 9-16 provide additional interpretations of CPI and SPI data.

ANALYSIS TREE OF TOTAL FLOAT (TF) AND SCHEDULE PERFORMANCE INDEX (SPI)

The total float is a measure of slack time in the project, and the SPI is a measure of schedule performance. In a pure CPM precedence **diagram**, activities with zero total float are identified as critical, and these activities form the critical path in the project schedule. However, using **successor/predecessor** activity constraints can cause a total float of greater than zero for activities on the critical path. Also, total float values other than zero are often the result of updates in the schedule when actual starts and finishes are introduced.

Understanding of the schedule can be further complicated when activities are given a specific calendar start or finish date, which can lead to a total float of greater or less than zero for activities on the critical path. For example, the scheduler may specify a time certain for an activity, such as **specifying** the activity to start or finish on a specific date, to start or finish not earlier than a specific date, or to start or finish not later than a specific date.

For any project the SPI may also be greater than, less than, or equal to 1.0. Values greater than 1.0 indicate good performance and values less than 1.0 indicate poor **performance**. Thus, the project manager's analysis of project performance is complicated due to various total float and schedule performance indices. Figure 9-17 is an analysis tree for assessment of total float with respect to SPI.



FIGURE 9-15

Interpretations of Cost Performance Index (CPI) and Schedule Performance Index (SPI).

CAUSES OF COST/SCHEDULE VARIANCES

The earned-value system identifies the magnitude of cost and schedule deviations from the original project plan. However, it does not identify the cause of the problem. The project manager and his or her team must assess each status report to identify the reason the project is not progressing as planned. The problems can be the result of numerous situations.

The original cost estimate is the BAC in the earned-value analysis. Therefore, if the original cost estimate for the project is **incorrect**, then all progress measurements during execution of the project would be measured against an incorrect budget. The system of recording costs charged against the job must be consistent to provide realistic comparisons from one reporting period to another.

Also, the method of measuring work completed must also be consistently applied from one reporting period to another; otherwise the predicted status of the job will vary widely. Each project must be assessed based on the unique circumstances and conditions that apply to the project in order to use the earned-value system to manage the project. On the next page is a partial list of items that can cause the cost or schedule to vary from the original project plan. Estimating errors Technical problems Design errors Test data problems Constructability Equipment problems Management problems Scope control (change orders) Personnel skill level Resource availability Organization structure Economic/inflation Delayed material deliveries Delayed equipment deliveries Poor production rates Subcontractor interference and delays Acts of God (weather, fire, flood, etc.) Accidents during construction

TREND ANALYSIS AND FORECASTING

The preceding sections presented methods for measurement of planned and actual costs, schedules, and accomplishment of work. To be effective, a project control system must routinely collect and record the information from the start of the project. At each reporting period the actual status can be compared to the planned status,

FIGURE 9-16

Various Interpretations of CPI and SPI.

If CPI is greater than 1.0: Overestimatedamount of effort required. Measurement of percent complete is too optimistic. Better than planned productivity.
If CPI is less than 1.0: Underestimate amount of effort required. Measurement of percent complete is too pessimistic. Poorer than planned productivity.
If SPI is greater than 1.0: Started work prior to or out of sequence to logical constraints. Better than planned productivity resulting in activities completing early . Working on critical activities.
If SPI is less than 1.0: Understaffing or underequipping activities. Delayed in starting of activities. Work is more difficult than planned. Improper sequencing of activities. Work is disorganized.

TF > 0 - SPI > 1.0 SPI = 1.0 SPI < 1.0	Ahead of schedule on critical path; more work is being ac- complished than planned. Ahead of schedule on critical path; some shortfall in work on non-critical activities. Ahead of schedule on critical path; significant shortfall in work on non-critical activities.
TF = 0 - SPI > 1.0 SPI = 1.0 SPI < 1.0	Critical path on schedule; more work is being done on non-critical activities than planned. Critical path on schedule; more work volume is being accom- plished as planned. Critical path on schedule; shortfall in work on non-critical activities.
TF < 0 SPI > 1.0 SPI = 1.0 SPI < 1.0	Critical path activities behind schedule; total work volume is more than planned indicating excess attention to non-critical activities. Critical path activities behind schedule; total work volume is being accomplished as planned, meaning too much attention to non-critical activities. Critical path activities behind schedule; total work volume is less than planned, which means more overall effort is needed.

FIGURE 9-17

Analysis Tree for Total Float and Schedule Performance Index.

so that necessary corrective actions can be taken. As the information is accumulated, a trend analysis can be performed to evaluate the productivity and the variances in costs and schedules. Figure 9-18 is a graphical display of the schedule, cost, and time variance at a particular progress reporting period.

A visual display of schedule status is best presented on a bar chart representation. A sample of an excellent *format* for summary level reporting to management is shown in Figure 9-19.

A project manager is always interested in knowing how the actual productivity compares to the productivity that was used in planning the project and estimating the budget. Although there is no industry standard for calculating productivity, the following equation is a common expression of productivity.

 $Productivity index = \frac{Estimated unit rate}{Actual unit rate}$

This equation is valid for calculating productivity for tasks that have measurable units of work. Aproductivity value of 1.0 or greater is favorable, whereas a value of less than 1.0 is unfavorable. The equation can be used to calculate the productivity of tasks at each reporting period. A productivity profile can then be produced for key crafts by plotting productivity against time as illustrated in Figure 9-20. Percent complete can be used in lieu of time for the abscissa of the graph.

As indicated in Figure 9-20, productivity varies over the life of a project. Minor variations are normal and should be expected due to the nature of project work. Sig-



Cost and Schedule Variance Graph

nificant variations justify the attention of management to identify the source of the problem and assist in any necessary corrective action. The problem may be due to low skill or morale of workers, insufficient staff, late delivery of material, unavailable tools or equipment, inadequate instruction, inclement weather conditions, technical difficulties, or poor field supervision. Since the productivity index includes an estimated unit rate, the source of the problem may be due to poor initial estimates. Trends in the productivity index provide an effective tool for project management.

Almost everyone involved in a project is concerned with costs. As presented in previous sections, the work plan includes a distribution of costs that are anticipated **throughout** the duration of a project. At each reporting period the actual costs to date can be compared to the planned costs for that **period** in time. The cost ratio is the ratio of estimated costs to actual costs as defined below.

 $Cost ratio = \frac{Estimated cost}{Actual cost}$

This equation can be used to calculate the cost ratio at each reporting period and plotted against time to show cost trends for a project (see Figure 9-21). A cost ratio of 1.0 or higher is favorable, whereas a value of less than 1.0 is unfavorable. Cost ratios can be calculated for tasks, grouping of tasks, or for the entire project. A similar analysis can be performed for the schedule.

As a project progresses, the cost ratio trend can he used as an indicator to forecast the probable total cost at completion. Likewise, a schedule variance trend can be developed as an indicator to forecast the probable completion date of a project.

	- HOU					1			+		+	-1-			-+-	-+	100	-+-	
Potable Water	567	0.9%	P	0	16	49	-	_	_	-		-	-			49	100	-	
rotable water		0.3 /1	A	••		• • •	_					_					• 74		
Steam and Condensate	21554	0.00%	Р					() 4		8	18	30	52	68 :	86	98	100	_
Steam and Condensate		0.970	A										•••32		1				_
Air and Vacuum	2718	1 20%	Р								Ó	8	14	22	40 :	67	100	_	
All and vacuum		4.270	A												*** 52		-		
Decesso Linuare	7439	11 60%	P							_				_	0	18	50	85	100
Process Liquors		11.0%	A												• • •		•••• 65		
D. ID. C. W.	3382	5 201	Р							0	17	60	84	100					
Deaerated B. F. W.		5.3%	A							••		34							_
Oil, Chemicals, Vents,	28608	11.00	Р					0	8		11	31	45	66	83	92	98	100)
Millwater and Misc.		44.5%	A										• 43						
			P						1						1 :		-	-	_
			A												1				
			P												1	1			
			A												1				
			P																
			A																
			P																
			A									-							
			P								-				1				
			A							/	1								
			P								1								
			A																
	64268		Р	0	2	5			5 1		8	21	33	51	66	82	95	98	1
Totals		100%	Δ	••								•••••		42	1	S			
LEGEND:				I			I	•							т		I		
	Dlannad																		

FIGURE 9-19 Illustrative Example of Summary Level Report for Management. Source: ConstructionIndustry Institute, Publication No. 6-5.



The cost and schedule forecasting can be accomplished by using one of the various curve fitting techniques. Then, by extrapolating the data to produce a best fit curve, the trend may be extended to the future date.

WORK STATUS SYSTEM

The Cost and Schedule Control Systems Criteria (C/SCSC) described earlier is an effective method for managing the cost and schedule of a project. It requires a well-defined work breakdown structure and a detailed project schedule. It is only effective if the cost and schedule data are reported in a timely manner. For some engineering design, the total time to complete a project is short; therefore the project managers, the C/SCSC method appears complicated and difficult to use.

An alternate method that is preferred by some project managers for tracking engineering design work is a work status system that tracks costs and work-hours. Figure 9-22 is a cost status report and Figure 9-23 is a work-hour status report that illustrates the work status system method for project tracking. For this example, the project is divided into three general categories: **direct** engineering, indirect engineering, and expenses. The direct engineering category is subdivided into the disciplines that are required to accomplish the work: architectural, civil, electrical, mechanical, and structural. Likewise, major work that is required for indirect engineering and expenses are subdivided as shown in Figures 9-22 and 9-23.

EXAMPLE CLIENT EXAMPLE BOILER REPLACEMENT Example Project Location Example Client Project Numbers Cost Status Report As of July 20.2001

	A	В	C	D = A + B + C	E	F	G = E + F	н	1 = G/D
Description	Original Budget	Approved by Change Order	Growth	Budget at Completion	Cumulative to Last Period	This Period	Cost to Date	Estimated at Completion	Percent Complete
	Cost	Cost	Cost	Cost	Cost	Cost	Cost	Cost	%
DIRECT ENGINEERING Architectural Civil Electrical Mechanical Structural	\$9,799 \$4,055 \$17,203 \$44,330 \$11,278		\$2,900 \$3,674 \$2,929 \$1,324 \$14,086	\$12,699 \$7,729 \$20,132 \$45,654 \$25,364	\$0 \$217 \$1,327 \$7,207 \$159	\$0 \$1,366 \$529 \$2,999 \$0	\$0 \$1,583 \$1,856 \$10,206 \$159	\$12,699 \$7,729 \$20,132 \$45,654 \$25,364	0.0% 20.5% 9.2% 22.4% 0.6%
Subtotal	\$86,665	SO	\$24,913	\$111,578	\$8,910	\$4,894	\$13,804	\$111,578	12.4%
INDIRECT ENGINEERING Project Manager Scheduler	\$23,412 \$0 \$0	\$12,606 \$18,552 \$3,530		\$36,018 \$18,552 \$3,530	\$5,794 \$3,667 \$529	\$1,921 \$1,245 \$462	\$7,715 \$4,912 \$991	\$36,018 \$18,552 \$3,530	21.4% 26.5% 28.1%
Subtotal	\$23,412	\$34,688	\$0	\$58,100	\$9,990	\$3,628	\$13,618	\$58,100	23.4%
EXPENSES CADD Expense Travel Postage Reproduction	\$9,100 \$1,200 \$300 \$400			\$9,100 \$1,200 \$300 \$400		\$80 \$33 \$0 \$0	\$80 \$33 \$0 \$0	\$9,100 \$1,200 \$300 \$400	0.9% 2.8% 0.0% 0.0%
Subtotal	\$11,000	\$0	\$0	\$11,000	\$0	\$113	\$113	\$11,000	1.0%
TOTAL	\$121,077	\$34,688	\$24,913	\$180,678	\$18,900	\$8,635	\$27,535	\$180,678	15.2%

FIGURE 9-22 Cost Status Report. EXAMPLE CLIENT EXAMPLE BOILER REPLACEMENT Example Project Location Example Client's Project Numbers Work-Hour Status Report As of July 20, 2001

	A	8	0	D = A + B + C	ш	u	G=E+F	н	1-6/0
Decription	Original	Approved by	Growth	Budget at	Cumulative	This	Hours to	Estimate at	Percent
iondinear	lappud	Change Order		Completion	to Last Period	Period	Date	Completion	Complete
	Work-Hours	Work-Hours	Work-Hours	Work-Hours	Work-Hours	Work-Hours	Work-Hours	Work-Hours	%
DIRECT ENGINEERING			10						
Architectural	240	and the second se	104	344	0.0	0.0	0.0	344.0	0.0%
CIVIL	100		94	194	4.0	35.0	39.0	194.0	20.1%
Electrical	324		20	394	25.0	13.0	38.0	394.0	9.6%
Mechanical	828	「「「「「「「」」」	42	870	135.0	53.0	188.0	870.0	21.6%
Structural	200		352	552	3.0	0.0	3.0	552.0	0.5%
Subtotal	1,692	0	662	2,354	167	101	268	2,354	11.4%
INDIRECT ENGINEERING									
Project Manager	390	210	and the second se	600	120.0	32.0	152.0	600.0	25.3%
Scheduler	0	400	and the second	400	79.0	26.5	105.5	400.0	26.4%
Malinal	0	150		150	24.0	22.0	46.0	150.0	30.7%
Subtotal	390	760	0	1,150	223	81	304	1,150	26.4%
EXPENSES CADD Machine Hours	196			961			0.0	961.0	0.0%
Subtotal	1961	0	0	961	0	80	0	961	0.0%
TOTAL	3043	760	662	4465	390	189.5	571.5	4465	12 R%

FIGURE 9-23 Work-Hour Status Report.

The cost and work-hour data are entered in a computer spreadsheet program to calculate the status of the project. The titles at the top of the columns identify the entries in the spreadsheet. The first column (A) of data represents the original approved project budget, the second column (B) is the approved change orders, and the third column (C) represents the growth in budget that is required to complete the work. Column (D) is the calculated total budget at the completion of the project and is calculated in the spreadsheet as the sum of the data in the first three columns.

Columns (E), (F), and (G) represent the cumulative, current, and to-date expenditure of budget as defined by the titles at the top of the columns. The percent complete for the project is calculated by dividing the "cost to date" by the "budget at completion."

It is necessary to report the costs and work-hours separately because there are different wage rates for each classification of project personnel. In addition, there are different wage rates within each discipline. Therefore, the status of a project cannot be accurately determined by reporting only work-hours or only costs. Both must be reported and analyzed.

QUESTIONSFOR CHAPTER 9-TRACKING WORK

1 You are the project manager for a project and have worked with your team members to establish the following criteria for tracking the work of the project. Develop the work/time relationship curve for the project.

Task	Weight multiplier	Project timing
Review backup material	0.05	0%–10%
Preliminary calculations	0.10	10%-25%
Initial drafting	0.25	15%-45%
Final calculations	0.20	35%-60%
Production drawings	0.30	50%-90%
Drawing approvals	0.10	90%-100%

2 The design team for a project has met and determined the grouping of tasks required for the design effort into six categories. The team has also agreed on the following criteria for the weight multipliers to be used to track the design effort. Prepare a graph that shows the relationship between work and time.

Design work	Weight multiplier	Project timing
Initial configurations	0.15	0%–10%
Initial design calculations	0.10	5%–15%
Preliminary layouts	0.05	10%–25%
Final calculations	0.25	20%-50%
CADD drawings	0.40	45%-90%
Design approval	0.05	90%-100%
3 At 50% into the project duration, the status report for the project in Question 2 shows the following information. Prepare a graph that shows the time relationship of the planned work and actual work. Is the project ahead of or behind schedule?

Design work	% Complete
Initial configurations	100%
Initial design calculations	100%
Preliminary layouts	80%
Final calculations	70%
CADD drawings	10%
Design approval	0%

4 The following data represent the information that has been jointly compiled by the design team for a project. These data represent the planned cost and the work anticipated during the design phase. Prepare an integrated planned **cost/time/work** graph for the project.

Expected time	Anticipated cost	Planned work
0%	0%	0%
10%	5%	5%
20%	10%	10%
30%	15%	20%
40%	30%	25%
50%	55%	30%
60%	80%	45%
70%	85%	65%
80%	92%	85%
90%	96%	95%
100%	100%	100%

5 The data shown below represent the planned time, cost, and work at the beginning of the design of a project. Prepare the integrated time/cost/work graph.

Time	Cost	Work
0%	0%	0%
10%	5%	5%
20%	15%	10%
30%	20%	20%
40%	30%	30%
50%	45%	40%
60%	65%	50%
70%	80%	70%
80%	90%	80%
90%	95%	90%
100%	100%	100%

Evaluate the status report for the above project for the following scenarios, assuming the status report is issued at 70% of the project duration. For each scenario, determine if the

project is behind or ahead of schedule. Is there a cost overrun or underrun, and, if so, by how much?

- A. Reported cost to date is 55% and work accomplished is reported as 40%
- B. Reported cost to date is 75% and work accomplished is reported as 50%
- C. Reported cost to date is 95% and work accomplished is reported as 70%
- D. Reported cost to date is 85% and work accomplished Is reported as 80%
- 6 The following weight multipliers have been established for the construction phase of a project. Prepare a graph that shows the relationship between accomplished work and time.

Facility	Weight multiplier	Project timing
Site-work	0.10	0%-15%
Wood frame building	0.25	10%-25%
Concrete building	0.35	15%-40%
Metal building	0.20	25%-80%
Landscape	0.1 0	75%-100%

7 Calculate the percent complete value for the project shown below using the Weighted Units method for measurement of work.

Wt.	Subtask	UIM	Quant. total	Equivalent steel ton	Earned to date
0.02	Foundationbolts	Each	200	10.4	200
0.02	Shims	%	100	10.4	100
0.05	Shakeout	%	100	26.0	100
0.06	Columns	Each	84	31.2	80
0.10	Beams	Each	859	52.0	60
0.11	Cross-braces	Each	837	57.2	20
0.20	Girts & sag rods	Bay	38	104.0	10
0.09	Plumb &align	%	100	46.8	5
0.30	Connections	Each	2977	156.0	80
0.05	Punchlist	%	100	26.0	0
1.00	STEEL	TON		520.0	

8 The EPC *project* shown in Appendix A has an original planned schedule of 17 months with a budget, excluding contingency, of \$3,053,150. Below are update reports for the first 8 months of the project.

Status report for month	Planned (BCWS)	Earned (BCWP)	Actual (ACWP)
1	\$3,929	\$3,870	\$3,968
2	\$45,672	\$42,932	\$44,721
3	\$184,904	\$162,715	\$191,429
4	\$315,615	\$309,303	\$351,481
5	\$479,343	\$508,103	\$523,818
6	\$545,863	\$556,780	\$535,365
7	\$667,210	\$713,915	\$661,032
8	\$846,740	\$812,870	\$719,354

Perform an earned-value analysis of the project, similar to Examples 9-1 through 9-4. For each report period, calculate the variances (CV and SV), the performance indices (CPI and SPI), the estimate to complete (ETC), and the estimate at completion (EAC). Prepare a graph similar to Figure 9-14 to show trends in the project performance. Use Figure 9-15 to guide your interpretation of the CPI and SPI for each reporting period.

REFERENCES

- 1 "Cost and Schedule Control Systems Criteria for Contract Performance," DOE/MA-0087, U.S. Department of Energy, Washington, D.C., 1980.
- 2 Diekmann, J. E. and Thresh, K. B., *Project Controlfor Design Engineering*, Source Document No. 12, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, May 1986.
- 3 Eldin, N. N., "Measurement of Work Progress: QuantitativeTechnique," Journal of Construction Engineering and Management, ASCE, Reston, VA, Vol. 115, No. 3, September 1991.
- 4 Elmore, R. L. and Sullivan, D. C., "Project Control Through Work Packaging Concepts," *Transactions of the American Association of Cost Engineers*, 1976.
- 5 Fleming, Q. W. and Koppelman, J. M., *Earned Value Project Management*, Project Management Institute, Newtown Square, PA, 1996.
- 6 Geigrich, D. B. and Schlunt, R. J., *Progress Schedule Tracking System*, PMI Symposium, Project Management Institute, Newtown Square, PA, 1984.
- 7 Halpin, D. W., Escalona, A. L., and Szmiurlo, P. M., *Work Packaging for Project Control*, Source Document No. 28, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, August 1987.
- 8 Harris, F. W., Advanced Project Manugement, Wiley, New York, 1981.
- 9 Hetland, P. W., "Toward Ultimate Control of Megaprojects in the North Sea," *Global Project Management Handbook.* McGraw-Hill, New York, 1994.
- 10 Huot, J. C., "Integration of Cost and Time with the Work Breakdown Structure," *Transactions of the American Association of Cost Engineers*, Morgantown, WV, 1979.
- 11 Mueller, F. W., Integrated Cost and Schedule Control for Construction Projects, Van Nostrand Reinhold Company, New York, 1986.
- 12 Neil: J. N., *Construction Cost Estimating for Project Control*, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey, 1982.
- 13 Neil, J. N., *Project Control for Engineering*, Publication No. 6-1, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, July 1986.
- 14 Neil, J. N., *Project Control for Construction*, Publication No. 6-5, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, September 1987.
- 15 Neil, J. N., "A System for Integrated Project Management," *Proceedings Conference on Current Practice of Cost Estimating and Cost Control*, ASCE, Reston, VA, 1983.
- 16 Oberlender, G. D., "Real-Time Project Tracking, Excellence in the Constructed Project," *Proceedings of Construction Congress I*, ASCE, Reston, VA, 1989.
- 17 Rasdorf, W. J. and Abudayyeh, O. Y., "Cost and Schedule Control Integration: Issues and Needs," *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*, ASCE, Reston, VA, Vol. 117 No. 3, September 1991.
- **18** Riggs, L. S., *Cost and Schedule Control in Industrial Construction*, Source Document No. 24, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, December 1986.
- 19 Stevens, W. M., "Cost Control: Integrated Cost/Schedule Performance," *Journal of Management in Engineering*, ASCE, Reston, VA, Vol. 2, No. 2, June 1986.

10

DESIGN COORDINATION

DESIGN WORK PLAN

To effectively coordinate the design process, the design team leader must develop a work plan. The design work plan should be developed during the design proposal preparation as discussed in Chapter 7. As presented in Chapter 6, any work plan must include *the* scope, budget, and schedule for performing the work. The design work plan becomes the basis for integrating and interfacing the work to be performed by the various design disciplines. The plan also forms the basis for monitoring scope, cost, and schedules of the design effort.

For design, the scope of work defines the design deliverables, the drawings and specifications, for each discipline in the design effort. The design cost is usually measured in work-hours, rather than dollars of cost. Typically, a milestone bar chart is used to schedule the design work packages. However, for large projects a CPM schedule is recommended.

After reviewing all backup material, the design team leader develops a work breakdown structure **that** defines the various work packages required to generate the design deliverables, the drawings and specifications. Then, the number of **design**-hours is assigned to each work package for each discipline, including architectural, civil, structural, electrical, and mechanical. Then, a milestone bar chart is developed for the design work packages. The milestone bar chart is cost loaded as presented in Chapter 8 by assigning the number of work-hours to each task in the bar chart. Output from the cost loaded bar chart is usually produced on a **weekly** basis for monitoring and coordinating the project during design. Then, a simple earned-value analysis as presented in Chapter 9 can be performed for each week during the

design process. By multiplying the percent complete times the budgeted **design**hours for each task, the earned value can be determined. The earned value can be compared to actual design-hours billed to the job and the planned design-hours to measure the performance of the design process.

PRODUCING CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

The introduction of the computer for evaluating designs and producing contract documents provides opportunities for evaluating numerous design alternatives that were prohibitive using traditional hand methods of the past. However, the excessive **use** of computers can lead to overdesigning, overwriting, and **overdrafting**. Examples are the process engineer or hydraulics engineer wanting to run one more simulation, or the structural engineer wanting one more computer run for another load check. Other examples include the CADD operator wanting to see how a drawing will look if another change is made, or the specification writer continuing to cut and paste a new section in the contract documents. Sometimes oversimulating, **over**-designing, or overwriting can lead to errors in the contract documents.

The lead designers must develop a system of monitoring the design effort to ensure the work is progressing without excessive billable hours, but is still producing adequately defined plans and specifications for the contractors to execute the work during construction. This will reduce construction contractor complaints of pretty drawings that are **full** of errors and lack constructability.

MANAGING SCOPE GROWTH DURING DESIGN

There is a tendency for some designers to make changes during design to please the client without regard to the impact of the change on the project's cost and schedule. Changes can be cataloged as either project development or scope growth. Project development relates to changes that are needed to accommodate the scope as currently defined. Scope growth relates to changes that alter the project's original scope, the scope that was approved before starting the design process.

For any design effort there must be a process to control scope growth. Both the owner and the engineer must be committed to scope and change control. The owner must be serious about freezing project scope after the conceptual design stage. Every proposed change **must** be subjected to a formal review and approval process that considers cost and schedule implications, plus consequential effects on other activities. The authority to approve changes during design must be limited.

The owner and engineer should agree on a change management philosophy and plan. For example, under what conditions will changes be considered: If it won't work? If there are legal implications? If there are environmental impacts? When changes are proposed, there must be an answer to such questions as: Does the change add value and is the change necessary? A "no-later-than" date for freezing scope should be agreed to by the owner and the engineer.

Although freezing project scope after the conceptual design stage is the best practice for successful project management, it should be recognized that on some pmjects the owner must operate in a very competitive market to produce a product. In a competitive market environment the owner may want the flexibility to modify the project scope during design, and even during construction, to best suit the functionality of the completed project. For this type of situation the work of the design team is more **complicated** and a special effort must be made to keep the owner informed of the full impact of scope changes. The cost of engineering and construction for the scope change **must** be evaluated against the future financial benefits to the owner, including revenues, operations, and maintenance of the completed facility.

The budget for the project should include a contingency for changes in scope and a management reserve for scope growth. Any proposed change must be transmitted to all discipline managers or others whose work may be affected by the change. These managers then should determine and report the cost and schedule impacts if the change is implemented. Work must not proceed on the change until the above impacts have been reviewed and approved by the owner's representative, the engineering manager, and the project manager. Once a change has **been** approved, it is important to communicate the reasons for the change to those affected by the change.

MANAGING SMALL PROJECTS

It is common for a project manager of small projects to have simultaneous responsibility for multiple projects. The problem is not the management of any one project. The problem is the project manager's ability to give each project the attention needed, which complicates schedule and resource control. For small projects, the project manager must share resources with other project managers because minimal staff is available. This means that the few individuals that are assigned to the project must take responsibility for multiple functions. Time management is crucial. The project manager often finds himself or herself either waiting for information or trying to address pressing needs of several projects at the same time.

The relatively short duration of small projects provides insufficient time for detailed planning or correction of problems at the time the work is being performed. The learning curve for personnel is generally still climbing by the time the project is completed.

To manage multiple small projects, the project manager must develop a single master schedule that contains all the projects under his or her responsibility. This will assist in reducing situations when two or more support personnel are needed at the same time. The problem is scheduling the multiple tasks of the project manager, rather than scheduling the tasks on only one of the projects.

There are more **project** managers managing small projects than large projects. Many engineering companies create organizational units dedicated to project management of small projects. A special attitude and attention is needed by upper management to recognize the problems associated with management of small projects. Table 10-1 provides attributes of project team personnel who work well in managing small projects.

TABLE **10-1** ATTRIBUTES OF SMALL PROJECTS TEAM PERSONNEL

- 1. Have a "can do" attitude
- 2. Prefer a hands-on approach to work
- 3. Dislike bureaucracy
- 4. Are decision makers
- 5. Need little or no supervision
- 6. Have a value system to make the customer satisfied
- 7. Are good communicators
- 8. Prefer to talk out problems
- 9. Know when to stop an activity when things are going wrong
- 10. Has the personality and people skills to coerce people to be responsive to his or her needs
- 11. Has the ability to navigate through the various departments of his or her company to get things done

PROJECT TEAM MEETINGS

Design is a creative process that involves diverse areas of expertise and numerous decisions that have major impacts on a project. The work of each designer often influences the work of one or more other designers. A difficult task in design coordination is interfacing related work to ensure compatibility of the whole project. Generally, the problem is not finding design people who know how to do the work, it is interfacing the work of all designers. This can only be accomplished through effective communications at regularly scheduled team meetings.

Team meetings should be held weekly throughout the duration of a project. These meetings are necessary to keep the team acting as a unit and to ensure a continuous exchange of information. A typical project involves numerous conflicts. The best way to resolve these conflicts in a timely manner is by input from all those who are affected. This can only be achieved through open discussions and compromise.

The project manager is the leader of all team meetings; however, he or she should not dominate discussions. Often a team member may be assigned the role of leading discussions to resolve a problem that is related to his or her particular area of expertise. Project managers need to use their own judgement and develop the skillful art of knowing when to lead and when to let others lead.

An agenda should be prepared to direct project team meetings to ensure that important items **are** addressed and to conclude the meeting in the shortest time. The agenda should include a list, in chronological order, of the items to he discussed, including work completed, work in progress, work scheduled, and special problems. Each attendee should participate in team meetings. The project manager should prepare and distribute minutes of the meeting to all participants.

The project manager must ensure that meetings are productive. Meetings are inevitable and important, but they can be a source of irritation and wasted time if not properly planned and conducted. Table 10-2 provides guidelines for conducting team meetings.

TABLE 10-2

GUIDELINES FOR PRODUCTIVE MEETINGS

- 1. Develop and publish an agenda in advance to permit better participation by attendees.
- 2. List unfinished items from previous meetings on the agenda, including the names of individuals who are responsible for reporting on status.
- 3. Restrict attendance only to individuals who need to attend.
- 4. Don't waste time by discussing events that do not pertain to the purpose of the meeting.
- 5. Pick a meeting leader who is a leader and facilitator, not a dictator, to ensure the meeting is conducted in an informative environment.
- 6. Maintain strict agenda control; follow the items in order with set time limits for discussions.
- 7. Avoid interruptions, such as phone calls, as much as possible.

WEEKLY/MONTHLY REPORTS

Project management involves a never ending process of preparing reports. To be meaningful, reports must be issued on a regular basis and should contain information that is beneficial to the receiver. There is a tendency to include everything in a report, which results in reports that are so bulky that important items may be overlooked.

In general, the project manager should prepare two routine reports, a weekly highlight report and a monthly report for each project. Much of the weekly highlight report can be obtained from the minutes of the weekly team meetings. The report should include: work completed, work in progress, work scheduled, and special problems. Generally, the weekly report is used by the project manager and his or her team to coordinate the work in progress.

The monthly report for a project should contain milestones that have been achieved, a tabulation of costs to date compared to forecast costs, and an overlay of planned and actual time schedules. Trend reports should also be included to show the anticipated project completion date and a forecast of the total cost at completion. Generally, the monthly report is used by upper management and the owner's representative and is a permanent record for the project file.

A format for both the weekly and monthly reports should be developed so all reports will be consistent, to allow comparisons of the project status, and to evaluate the progress of work and the performance of the team. In addition to communicating the status of a project, the reports serve as a means of individual accountability and recognition of good performance.

DRAWING AND EQUIPMENT INDEX

The final product of design work is a set of contract documents (drawings and specifications) to guide the physical construction of the project. As presented in Chapters 6 and 7 the project manager must develop a project work plan before starting design. A part of the work plan includes preparation of work packages by each designer. Included in each work package is a list of anticipated drawings and expected completion dates. The project manager can develop a drawing index by assembling the list of drawings from all team members. This drawing index is extremely valuable to the project manager because it can be used as a check list of how many drawings to expect, when to expect them, and to assist in scheduling construction. Figure 10-1 illustrates the contents of a drawing index. It is helpful to include the revision number and date for each drawing because a common problem in design coordination is keeping track of the most current issue of a drawing.

The drawing index is in a continuous state of change as design progresses. **As** work progresses, the number of drawings may increase or decrease, depending upon the final design configuration that is selected. Changes in drawings are a necessary part of work and it is the duty of each designer to revise the list as necessary and to keep the project manager informed.

Drawing Index

		for X Y Update as of:	Z Project October 26,200)1	
Sheet No.	Title		Expected date	Actual date	Revision No. 1 2 3 4
CO	Site-W	/ork Drawings			
C1	н	Plot Plan	09/15/2001	09/17/2001	1 - 10/05/2001
C2	n	Grading	10/01/2001	09/27/2001	
C3	ч	Paving, Sh 1	10/15/2001	10/12/2001	
C4		Paving, Sh 2	10/20/2001	10/18/2001	3 - 10/24/2001
AO	Archite	ectural Drawings			
A1	H	First Floor Plans	10/10/2001	10/09/2001	
A2	IT.	Second Floor Plans	10/15/2001	10/16/2001	
A3		Room Schedules	10/20/2001	10/20/2001	
A4	н	Door/Wall Finishes	10/25/2001	10/24/2001	
A5		Window Schedules	11/01/2001		
SO	Structu	ural Drawings			
S1	u.	Foundation	10/15/2001	10/16/2001	
S2		Floor Slabs	10/25/2001	10/28/2001	
S3	11	Columns & Beams, Sh 1	11/01/2001		
S4	**	Columns & Beams, Sh 2	11/05/2001		
S5	н	Roof Framing Plan	11/10/2001		
MO	Mecha	inical Drawings			
M1	н	Compressor	11/01/2001		
M2	11	HVAC Ductwork	11/05/2001		
EO	Electri	cal Drawings			
E1	н	Control Boxes	11/05/2001		
E2	н	Wiring Diagram, Sh 1	11/10/2001		
E3	*	Wiring Diagram, Sh 2	11/15/2001		
PO	Plumb	ing Drawings			
P1	н	Piping	10/10/2001	10/14/2001	
P2	n	Fixtures	10/20/2001	10/18/2001	

FIGURE 10-1

Illustrative Drawing Index.

Equipment Index for X Y Z Project Update as of: May 25, 2001						
Description	Drawing number	Vendor	Purchase order No.	Purchase order date	Expected delivery	
Transformer	E14	XYZ Company	PO 73925	04/12/2001	07/15/2001	
Switch Assy	E 1 9	ABC Company	PO 83401	04/30/2001	08/01/2001	
Compressor	M12	CIB Company	PO 84294	05/17/2001	07/20/2001	
Pump Assy	M3	BWA Company	PO 17835	06/14/2001	08/15/2001	

FIGURE 10-2 Illustrative Equipment Index.

Similar to the drawing index, an equipment index can be developed that lists major equipment to be installed in the project. This equipment index is extremely valuable to the project manager because it can serve as a reference document to track the purchase and delivery of equipment and schedule installation in the field during construction. Figure 10-2 illustrates the contents of an equipment index. Each major piece of equipment is listed along with the drawing number, vendor, purchase order date, and expected delivery date. The project manager can use this index as a reference guide and check list to contact vendors in advance of delivery dates to ensure the equipment will arrive on schedule. A common source of delay during construction is late delivery of major equipment and material.

DISTRIBUTION OF DOCUMENTS

The design process requires the timely distribution of documents and exchange of information. Generally, there is a sense of urgency among team members to complete work at the earliest possible date. When information is inefficiently distributed, it increases the work load of everyone and leads to delays in work, inefficient productivity, and frustration.

The project manager can develop a distribution of documents key sheet (reference Figure 10-3) that shows the routing of documents among team members and other major participants in the project. This is an effective communication tool because it allows each person to know who is receiving a particular document. Too often, a team member will receive a document, review its contents, and determine that another team member should also be aware of the document. The distribution of documents key sheet verifies the recipients, thereby eliminating the necessity of attempting to contact another person who may not be readily available.

There should be a distribution of documents key sheet that is unique to each project. It can be easily prepared on a word processor, duplicated, and bound in a tablet form for use by all team members. It differs from a traditional company routing slip because it has the project title at the top of the sheet along with the names of the team members so it easily identifies which project the document is directed to and who is receiving the document.

Distribution of Documents Key Sheet for X Y Z Project					
Send to 	Name	Title	Address	Phone	Date
					=
Comments	5:				
A ations C	an Ma Call I	Design			
Action: Solution	ee Me Call] d by:	Me Review –	Date:		

FIGURE 10-3

Distribution of Documents Key Sheet

AUTHORITY/RESPONSIBILITY CHECK LIST

A project manager is often responsible for one or more projects at a time. Some of the projects may be in the early stage of development while others are in full progress and some are in the close-out phase. The problem that confronts a project manager who must handle multiple projects generally is not the management of any one project, but it is the difficulty in handling all projects simultaneously. This **type** of work condition requires some systematic means of knowing the work status of numerous people.

To facilitate and keep track of team members the project manager can develop an authority/responsibility check list for each project (reference Figure 10-4). This list is continuously revised to show the status of completed, active, and pending work of each team member. It is especially useful in preparing agendas for team meetings. It also assists the project manager in organizing his or her own work and preparing reports to upper management and the owner's representative.

The authority/responsibility check list can be prepared as a computer word processing file for each project. The project manager then can easily add, delete, or modify the information as it becomes known. Each update of the file can be saved on the disk under a new file name. with date. so a record can be kept of each update. This provides a thorough documentation of the history of the **project**, which is valuable for future reference in retracing the events in a project. The file of each project

X Y Z Project as of February 26,2001					
Task/Work item	Authority/Responsibility	Status	Date		
Soil testing specifications	John Smith, Civil	Issued	02/26/2001		
Confirmation of wind loads	Tim Jones, Structural	Pending	04/22/2001		
Approval of shield wire angle	Dan Banks, Owner's Rep.	Approved	03/09/2001		
Final tower configuration	Tim Jones, Structural	Expected	05/26/2001		
Steel supplier's bid list	Ron Mitchell, Purchasing	Will Call	04/03/2001		
Right of way hearings	Joe Thomas, Legal	Pending	06/01/2001		

Authority/Responsibility Check List

FIGURE 10-4

Authority/Responsibility Check List for Project Manager.

can be merged into a single file to provide a composite listing of the information that pertains to all projects for which the project manager is responsible.

A more effective means of managing the authority/responsibility check list can be achieved by using a computer electronic spreadsheet. Each piece of information can be entered into a cell to enable the project manager to produce multiple sorts of the data. For example, a sort can be obtained for all work that is pending by a specific date, or a sort can be obtained to list all work of a particular person. The use of a spreadsheet enables the project manager to perform any desired sort and is a valuable tool for management of any single project or multiple projects.

CHECK LIST OF DUTIES FOR DESIGN

Table 10-3 provides a comprehensive check list of duties for the design phase of a project that is handled by the construction management (CM) type of contract. For projects other than the CM type of contract, the duties of the CM are distributed between the owner and designer, depending upon the contract arrangement. The architect is the principal design professional for a building type project, whereas the engineer is the principal design professional for a heavy/industrial type project.

TEAM MANAGEMENT

Effective teamwork is a key factor in the successful management of any project. Usually, the project manager is involved in three areas of responsibilities: within the project team, between the team and the client, and between the team and other management of the project manager's organization. In each of these areas, numerous situations often arise that can cause disruptions, conflicts, delays, and misunderstandings that may affect the team's performance. It is the duty of a project manager to coordinate the team in a manner that minimizes the development of these situations, to be able to identify problems immediately, and to act quickly to resolve them in a satisfactory manner. Table 10-4 is a list of typical problems that can arise related to team management.

TABLE 10-3 CHECK LIST OF DUTIES FOR DESIGN PHASE

De	sign phase	Owner	СМ	Designer'	Contractor
1. 2. 3.	Project team Program information informationrequired for design	Head Provide Provide	Member Review Review	Member Obtain/Approve Determine requirements	× × ×
4.	Meetings—Project team	Participate as required	Organize, conduct,	Obtain, approve Particioate	х
5.	Meetings —Design team as required	Participate as required	Participate,	Organize, conduct	x
6.	Budget	Provide	Evaiuate	Evaiuate	х
7.	Budget contingency	Provide	Recommend	Recommend	X
8.	Scheduling — Program	Participate,	Prepare.	Participate.	Comply
	0 0	approve, comply	monitor, enforce,	approve, comply	e ep.y
٥	Scheduling Milestone	Boviow	Brovido	Poviow opprovo	×
9. 10.	Soil bearings	Review & pay	Review	Arrange, review & recommend	â
11.	Drawings — Preliminary	Review, comment,	Review, comment.	Provide	х
10	Approvale Design	approve	advise		N.
12.	Drawings-Schematic	Approve	Recommend	Issue documents	×
13.	design development &	comment,	comment.	Provide	X
14.	Specifications— Conceptual	Review, comment,	Review, comment,	Provide	Х
		approve	advise		
15.	Specifications— Technical	Review, approve	Review, comment,	Provide	Х
16.	Design alternates	Approve as required	Recommend	Recommend, prepare	x
17.	Value engineering& value management	Approve as required	Provide	Assist, review	x
18.	Estimating	Approve as required	Provide	Assist, review	x
19.	Agency plan reviews	Monitor	Monitor	Facilitate	X
20.	PermitsNot assigned	Pay	Arrange for	Assist, consult	х
	to contractors in bid documents		&obtain	with agencies	
21.	Insurance—All risk- builders risk	Provide	Assist. recommend	x	х
22.	Insurance—Owner's protective liability	Provide	Assist. recommend	x	x
23.	Cash flow projections	Provide, utilize	Provide, update	Assist	×
24.	Specifications — Instructionsto bidders	Approve	Provide	Review & advise	x
25.	Specifications— Proposal section	Approve	Provide	Review & advise	x
26.	Biddingalternates	Approve as r e quired	Recommend, review	Recommend, review issue	x

Source: NSPEIPEC Reporter, Vol. VII, No. 2. "The referenced NSPWPEC publication cited "Architect"; however, the term 'Designer" is used here to imply the architect may be the principal design professional for building projects, whereas the engineer may be the principal design professional for heavy/industrial projects.

TABLE 10-4 TYPICAL PROBLEMS IN TEAM MANAGEMENT

- 1. Differing outlooks, priorities, interests, and judgements of team members
- 2. Project objectives become unclear to the team members
- 3. Communication problems
- Scope changes by the owner
- 5. Lack of coordination by team members
- 6. Lack of management support

A team is a group of individuals, each of whom is usually responsible for performing work on more than one project. As the number of projects for which a team member is involved increases, the risk of losing priorities also increases. The project plan must include setting priorities at the start of the project. The project manager must ensure that project objectives are known and clearly understood by team members because project objectives can become unclear to the team, particularly during the design phase of a project.

Poor communication is the most common source of problems related to team management. Meetings must be held routinely to keep team members informed so information can be exchanged. Team meetings should serve as forums for getting problems out on the table so they can be resolved; however, the project manager must also be accessible to team members who may not feel comfortable airing problems or potential problems in meetings.

Scope changes by the owner can adversely affect the project budget and schedule. Team members must be cautious of expanding the scope of a project in an attempt to please the owner. The scope must be locked in at the beginning of the project and should not be changed without a written agreement between the owner's representative and the project manager, The written agreement must include an appropriate change in the budget and schedule that matches the change in scope.

The project manager is responsible for overall coordination of the entire project team. However, individual coordination between team members is also necessary. The project manager must instill an environment of cooperation that encourages the free exchange of information among team members.

The project manager must have management support from his or her own organization. This can best be achieved by keeping management informed of the status and needs of the project team. Assistance cannot be given unless the need is known. Management should be included as an integral part of project reviews.

To assist the project manager in his or her role of performing team management responsibilities, the project work plan must be kept up to date. It must be formally modified when changes are made in the scope of work, members of the project team, services and tasks to be performed, individual responsibilities, schedule, and budget.

The team must be managed in an open manner. Discussions of roles and relationships, and the rationale behind project decisions, should be done in team meetings rather than private conversations. The project manager must be consistent in making the day-to-day decisions that alter roles and relationships within the team.

The concept of "team should be instilled in the attitude of ail individuals. The project manager must emphasize commitment, clarity, and unity of the team to minimize the number of trivial conflicts. Since each person is unique, there can be differing outlooks, priorities, interests, and judgements. Because of the diversity of individuals, the project manager must deal with the human aspects in his or her role as leader of the project team. Some leadership qualities are inherent in a project manager and others require development through training and experience.

EVALUATION OF DESIGN EFFECTIVENESS

Design is a complex process involving the application of technical knowledge to creative ideas in order to produce a set of specific instructions for construction of the project. It is the focal point of definition of the project and has a significant impact on cost and schedule. Thus, it is essential to have the most effective design possible.

Most of the efforts related to measurement and evaluation of productivity and performance of project work have been directed toward the construction phase. The Construction Industry Institute (CII) has sponsored research and published numerous papers on a variety of topics related to project management. *Evaluation of Design Effectiveness* is a CII document that provides a thorough description of outputs, or products, of the design process.

The following paragraphs are a summary of excerpts from the CII report *Evaluation of Design Effectiveness.* The report states this method is not intended to be, nor should it be, used as an evaluation of a designer or the design process. It is instead a measure of design effectiveness and an evaluation of design outputs.

Measurement of design productivity is perhaps more difficult than measuring productivity in the construction phase. Simplistic measurements such as cost per drawing or work-hours per drawing have obvious limitations because of variations in drawing size and content. Also there is increasing realization that the true measures of the effectiveness of the design effort are found in the construction of a project and use of the project by the owner after construction is complete. Thus, it may be more beneficial to develop a method for evaluating the effectiveness of design rather than the productivity during the design activity itself.

The ability to measure design effectiveness using the following proposed method represents an important step in a broader effort to improve the total design process. Such an effort encompasses the identification of the effect on design effectiveness of various inputs to the design process and of the systems and techniques employed by the designer.

CII researchers have suggested the use of a technique called an *objectives matrix* for productivity evaluation. The same concept can be used to develop an effective-ness measurement for design. An objectives matrix consists of four main components: criteria, weights, performance scale, and performance index.

The criteria define what is to be measured. The weights **determine** the relative importance of the criteria to each other and to the overall objective of the measurement. The performance scale compares the measured value of the criterion to a standard or selected benchmark value. Using these three components, the performance index is calculated, and the result is used to indicate and track performance.

Use of the objectives matrix is illustrated in Figure 10-5. The seven criteria of design effectiveness are given as column headings; the criteria weights are shown near the bottom of each column. The performance scale of 0 to 10 is given at the right of the matrix. A score of 10 represents perfection, and a score of 3 is average.

A score for each of the seven criteria is represented by an "Xin the appropriate box and is entered at the bottom of the matrix. Each criterion's score is multiplied

FIGURE 10-5

Design Evaluation Matrix.







2	6	4	6	6	2	7	- SCORE
25	15	10	20	10	15	5	- WEIGHT
50	90	40	120	60	30	35	- VALUE

INDEX 425 by its weight to obtain its value. The sum of all values constitutes the performance index, which is shown at the bottom right of the matrix.

The score for a criterion can be obtained in at least three ways: judgmental, based upon a single quantitative measurement, or based upon a combination of several subcriteria that are represented by a matrix.

Judgmental scoring can be used for some or all criteria. The scoring in Figure 10-5 is representative of judgmental scoring. Although judgmental ratings have the limitation of subjectivity, the objectives matrix approach still allows their appropriate application with multiple criteria of different weights.

For some criteria, quantitative measures can be used instead of judgements to determine scores. For example, the accuracy of the design documents can be evaluated by measuring the amount of drawing revisions per total drawings. The score for performance against the schedule criterion can be determined by using the percent of design document release dates attained. This approach is illustrated in Figure 10-6, in which these two criteria are represented by quantitative measures.

In the example of Figure 10-6 predetermined benchmark values are entered into the boxes representing appropriate scores for each criterion. The benchmark value for a score of 3 is considered normal or average, while that for a level of 0 represents the minimum level of accomplishment realized in recent years. The benchmark value for a level of 10 represents the ultimate expected in the foreseeable future. The score of 3 is used for normal rather than 5 to allow more opportunity for improvement.

The performance value attained is entered at the top of each column. The appropriate score representing that performance is then determined and is circled in Figure 10-6. If a performance level falls between two scores, the lower score is used. A score is not given until it is attained.

A third approach is to measure each criterion through the use of several subcriteria. The subcriteria themselves can have differing weights and measurements. These can be combined into a single criterion score through the use of a submatrix for that criterion.

Given the many complexities and variables of the total design process, no measurement system can yield absolute quantitative results that are applicable without an interpretation of all the design situations and circumstances. However, the method outlined can be utilized for three purposes: to develop a common understanding between the owner, designer, and contractor concerning the criteria by which design effectiveness on a given project will be measured; to compare design effectiveness of similar projects in a systematic and reasonable quantitative manner, highlighting performance trends; and to identify opportunities to improve the effectiveness of the entire design process as well as the contributions toward the ultimate result made by all participants.

CONSTRUCTABILITY

Traditionally, engineering and construction have been separated early in the project. The adoption of new technology such as three-dimensional computer aided drafting



FIGURE 10-6 Design Matrix Using Quantitative Evaluation. Source: Construction Industry Institute, Publication No. 8-1

and design (CADD), robotics, and automation in construction has generated increased interest in the constructability of a project. With these new innovations, designs can be configured to enable efficient construction, which places more emphasis on merging engineering and construction to include constructability's input in the design effort. The desired result is to facilitate the exchange of .ideas between construction and design before and during design, rather than after design.

The CII has sponsored research and published reports related to constructability. CII Publication No. 3-3, entitled *Constructability Concepts File*, provides *a* good description of constructability concepts related to conceptual planning, design and procurement, and field operations. The following paragraphs contain excerpts from the report to illustrate the contents of the report.

There are at least five factors that should be considered in constructability deliberations related to design configurations for efficient construction: simplicity, flexibility, sequencing, substitution, and labor skill/availability.

Simplicity is a desirable element of any constructable design. Unwarranted complexity is not in the best interest of anyone and markedly increases the probability of an unsatisfactory finished product. Special drawings and instruction may be required to improve the constructability process, particularly for retrofit or rebuild projects.

Flexibility for the field construction personnel to select alternative methods or innovative approaches is highly desirable. Designs should specify the desired results and not limit approaches to attain these results. In the fully open and competitive market, it is highly desirable to provide designs that do not limit the construction methods or approaches.

Sequencing of installation is as **much** a design consideration as it is a procurement and construction consideration. Many times designs have evolved that unnecessarily restrict installation sequences during construction. Design should include careful consideration of layout and spacing of facilities so more than one construction operation can occur at a time.

Substitutions or alternatives warrant attention, but too often are neglected because the attitude prevails that it has always been done a particular way. Improperly considered material applications will impact constructability, resulting in costly modifications. These impacts can be lessened and eliminated when addressed during the design phase by constructability programs.

Labor skill/availability are often not considered early enough in a project life cycle. The availability of labor and the skill level of the workers should be fully explored. The absence of either skill levels or availability of the work force can have a costly impact on a project and require consideration during the design phase.

CII research has shown that company or project size is no barrier to constructability and the implementation of a constructability program. The involvement of construction in the design phase results in better projects, lower costs, better productivity, and earlier project completion. Amajor obstacle to the implementation of effective constructability programs is the concept that designs are merely reviewed by construction to select the design that is easiest to build. CII Publication No. 3-2 provides guidelines for implementing a constructability program.

POST DESIGN REVIEW

Evaluation is a continuous process and necessary for improvement of project management. The system used by the project manager's organization to handle work must be flexible enough to respond to differences in individual projects. At the beginning of each project, the project manager must determine what modifications and improvements need to be made in the system that are appropriate for the project. After completion of the design for each project, the project manager and his or her team should conduct a complete and candid evaluation of the design effort and the management of the design process. This evaluation should include each member of the project team as well as other key participants that were involved in design.

A check list should be prepared to evaluate all aspects of the project including scope growth, match of quality and scope, owner's expectations and satisfaction, conflicts within the team or other parties, excessive changes in schedules, comparison of final costs with the original budget, and a list of precautions for management of future projects.

After a thorough discussion of the design process, a brief summary report should be prepared by the project manager that should include a list of recommendations to improve the system for future projects.

QUESTIONS FOR CHAPTER 10-DESIGN COORDINATION

- 1 Describe the purpose of a drawing index and an equipment index in the management of a project. In your response, include the persons responsible for preparing these two documents and the persons who will use them.
- 2 Briefly describe the distribution of documents key sheet, for example, what is contained on it, its purpose and use in the management of a project, and how it is different from a traditional muting sheet.
- **3** Below is the score for each criterion of a design evaluation matrix. Use the weight value in Figure 10-5 and calculate the index.

Criteria	Score	
Accuracy	4	
Usability	5	
Cost	2	
Constructability	7	
Economy	3	
Schedule	4	
Start-up	8	

- 4 Describe the authority/responsibility check list and its importance in the management of multiple projects at the same time.
- 5 A post design review can be extremely valuable in the design coordination of future projects, because the lessons learned can he identified and shared with others. However, some people are reluctant to perform this task at the end of every project. Why do you think some people are reluctant to perform a post design review? As a project manager, how would you resolve this problem?

REFERENCES

1 Chalabi, A. F., Beaudin, B. J., and Salazar, G. E, *Input Variables Impacting Design Effectiveness*, Source Document No. 26, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, April 1987.

- 2 Constructability Concepts File, Publication No. 3-3, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, August 1987.
- *3 Consulting Engineering: A Guide for the Engagement of Engineering Services,* Manual No. 45, American Society of Civil Engineers, **Reston,** VA, 1988.
- 4 "Effective Management of Engineering Design," *Conference Proceedings*, ASCE, Reston, VA, 1981.
- 5 Eldin, N. N., "Management of Engineering/Design Phase," *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*, ASCE, Reston, VA, Vol. 117. No. 1, March 1991.
- 6 Engineer, Owner, and Construction Related Documents, Engineers' Joint Contract Documents Committee, ASCE, Reston, VA, 1990.
- 7 Glavinich, T. E., "Microcomputer-Based Project Management for Small Engineering Firms," *Journal of Management in Engineering*, ASCE, Reston, VA, Vol. 8, No. 1, June 1991.
- 8 O'Connor, J. T., Rusch, S. E., and Schulz, M. J., *Constructability Improvement During Engineering and Procurement*, Source Document No. 5, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, May 1986.
- 9 Perkins, C., *Guidelines for Implementing a Constructability Program*, Publication No. *3-2*, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, July 1987.
- 10 "Sampling Responsibility Chart," *PEC Reporter*, Professional Engineers in Construction Practice Division, National Society of ProfessionalEngineers, Alexandria, VA, Vol. VII, No. 2, January 1985.
- 11 Stull, J. O. and Tucker, R. L., Objectives Matrix Valuesfor Evaluation of Design Effectiveness, Source Document No. 22, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, November 1986.
- 12 Tatum, C. B., Vanegas, J. A., and Williams, J. M., Constructability Improvement During Conceptual Planning, Source Document No. 4, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, March 1986.
- 13 Tucker, R. L. and Scarlett, B. R., *Evaluation of Design Effectiveness*, Publication No. 8-1, and Source Document No. 16, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, November 1986.
- 14 Tucker, R. L., Assessment of Architect/Engineer Project Management Practices and Performance, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, April 1990.

11

CONSTRUCTION PHASE

IMPORTANCE OF CONSTRUCTION

The construction phase is important because the quality of the completed project is highly dependent on the workmanship and management of construction. The quality of construction depends on the completeness and quality of the contract documents that are prepared by the designer and three other factors: laborers who have the skills necessary to produce the work, field supervisors who have the ability to coordinate the numerous activities that are required to construct the project in the field, and the quality of materials that are used for construction of the project. Skilled laborers and effective management of the skilled laborers are both required to achieve a quality project.

The construction phase is also important because a majority of the total project budget and schedule is expended during construction. As presented in previous chapters, the design costs for a project generally range from 7% to 12%. Using a 10% medium value, then 90% of the cost of a project is expended during construction. Thus, a 15% variation in design costs may impact the project by only 1.5%, whereas a 15% variation in construction costs may impact the project by 13.5%.

Similar to costs, the time required to build a project is always disproportionally greater than the time reauired to **design** it. Most owners have a need for use of their projects at the earliest possible date; therefore, any delay from a planned completion date can cause significant **problems** for both the owner and contractor. Due to the risks that are **inherent** to construction, and the many tasks that must be performed, the construction contractor must carefully plan, schedule, and manage the project in the most efficient manner.

ASSUMPTIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION PHASE

The objective during the construction phase is to build the project in accordance with the plans and specifications, within budget and on schedule. To achieve this objective there are three assumptions as shown in Table 11-1.

Although the assumptions are reasonable, there are often variations due to the nature of construction work. A project is a single, non-repetitive enterprise. Because each project is unique, its outcome can never be predicted with absolute confidence. To construct a project the owner generally assigns a contract to a contractor who provides all labor, equipment, material, and construction services to fulfill the requirements of the plans and specifications. This requires simultaneously coordinating many tasks and operations, interpreting drawings, and contending with adverse weather conditions.

It is difficult for some individuals to acknowledge the fact that plans and specifications do have errors. The preparation of a design requires many individuals who must perform design calculations, coordinate related work, and produce many sheets of drawings that have elevations, sections, details, and dimensions. Although every designer strives to achieve a flawless set of plans and specifications, this is rarely achieved.

The owner generally accepts and approves the contract documents before commencing construction. However, the plans and specifications don't always represent what the owner wants. The interest of some owners, particularly non-profit organizations or public agencies, is represented by individuals who are members of a board of trustees, board of directors, or a commission. These individuals generally have a background in business enterprises **and/or** professional occupations with little or no knowledge of project work or interpretation of drawings. Thus, they may approve the selection of a material or configuration of a project without fully understanding what it looks like until it is being installed during construction.

Serious problems can arise for both the owner and contractor if the contractor submits a bid price that is lower than required to build the project, with a reasonable profit. A contractor that has underbid a project can also cause significant problems for the design organization. A construction company is a business enterprise that must achieve a profit to continue operations. A careful evaluation of each contractor's bid is necessary before award of a construction contract; because if a project is underbid by the construction contractor, the management of the project will be difficult regardless of the ability of the individuals that are involved.

TABLE 11-1

ASSUMPTIONS FOR	CONSTRUCTION PHASE

Scope	The design plans and specifications contain no errors and meet the owner's require- ments and appropriate codes and standards
	ments and appropriate codes and standards.
Budget	The budget is acceptable; that is, it is what the owner can afford and what the con-
	tractor can build it for, with a reasonable profit.
Schedule	The schedule is reasonable; that is, short enough to finish when the owner needs it
	and long enough for the contractor to do the work.

Conditions can arise that alter the project budget and schedule, such as changes desired by the owner during construction, modifications of design, or differing site conditions. To reduce the impact of these conditions, there should be a reasonable contingency to allow for these types of variations that can adversely affect the project budget and schedule.

Sufficient time must be allowed for contractors to perform their work. If a reasonable time is not allowed, the productivity of workers and quality of the project will be adversely affected. There are always conditions that arise during **construction** that can disrupt the continuous flow of work, such as weather, delivery of materials, clarification of questions related to design, and inspection. The contractor must plan and anticipate the total requirements of the project and develop a schedule to allow for a reasonable variation of time that is inherent in the construction process.

The project manager must contend with problems as described above. He or she must always be alert to these situations and must continually plan. alter, and coordinate the project to handle the situations as they arise.

CONTRACT PRICING FORMATS

The method that is selected to compensate the construction contractor can have a large impact on a project's cost, schedule, and the level of involvement by the owner and designer. Contract pricing may be divided into two general categories: fixed price and cost reimbursable. For fixed-price contracts the contractor may be compensated on a lump-sum or unit-price basis. Cost-reimbursable contracts may include methods of payment by any one or combination of the following: cost plus a percentage or fixed fee, guaranteed maximum price, or incentive.

Many books and articles have been written that discuss the advantages, disadvantages, and conditions that are favorable for the use of the above methods of payment for construction services. The following paragraphs are presented as a summary of what has already been written, to assist the project manager in his or her role of management.

The intent of lump-sum contracts is to fix the cost of the project by providing a complete set of plans and specifications that are prepared by the designer prior to construction. However, the contractor is entitled to extra compensation for any changes that may be necessary during construction. For lump-sum contracts, changes during construction are a major source of cost overruns. For these types of projects it is necessary to ensure a complete design that is as error free as possible and to keep any owner changes to a minimum. There should be an adequate review of the contract documents before bidding to detect any discrepancies that may exist and to confirm the construction to evaluate the full impact of a project change, including the effect on the project's cost and schedule, because a change in one area of the project often affects other areas of the project. There should be a rate schedule for labor and equipment for extra work related to project changes that is agreed upon before the construction contract is signed.

Unit-price contracts are awarded because the quantity of work may not be determined with a degree of accuracy to enable a contractor to submit a lump-sum bid. A major source of cost overruns for unit-price contracts is errors in the estimated pay quantities. Errors in estimated pay quantities can lead to unbalanced bids by contractors which can cause significant increases in the expected cost of the project and expensive legal disputes. There should be a thorough review of all estimated pay quantities of unit-price contracts before the request of contractor's bids. After receipt of all the bids, a careful review of each unit-cost bid item should be performed to detect any bid unbalancing. In particular there should be a review of large quantity pay items and any unusually large unit-cost bid items to detect irregularities.

For some projects it is desirable to start construction before design is complete, for example, projects that are complex in nature, or projects that must be completed due to emergency situations when it is not practical to produce a complete detailed design of the entire project before starting construction. Cost-reimbursable projects require extensive monitoring of material deliveries and measurement of work. The owner's organization must establish a field office to review and approve the costs of material, labor, equipment, and other costs associated with the project. This method of contracting can be efficient for owner organizations that need the flexibility of modifying the project as required, during construction, to produce the best end results to meet their needs. However, the owner must have extensive experience with handling projects.

DESIGN/BID/BUILD METHOD OF PROJECT DELIVERY

Design/bid/build (D/B/B) is often considered the traditional project delivery method. All design work is completed before starting the bid and construction process. This delivery method is usually selected for projects when cost is primary, schedule is secondary, and the scope is well defined.

The D/B/B project delivery method is a three-party arrangement involving the owner, designer, and contractor. The owner signs one contract with the designer for design services and signs another contract with the contractor for construction services. Both the designer and contractor work for the owner. The contractor does not work for the designer; however, the owner usually designates the designer as their representative during construction. The designer is usually paid based on a pre-arranged fee or on a percentage of the construction contract. The contractor is paid based on a lump-sum amount.

Since design is completed before bidding, the owner has the opportunity to know what the project will look like before proceeding into construction, when the biggest costs will be incurred. The contractor also has a clear understanding of the project requirements and is thereby able to estimate the cost of construction with a high degree of accuracy. This allows the owner to know the project cost before committing to sign construction contracts. In D/B/B the responsibility, risk, and involvement of all parties are well defined. The owner has a relatively high level of involvement and control during design, but low involvement during construction because the contract documents **clearly** define what the contractor must do.

The biggest disadvantage of the D/B/B project delivery method is the extended time that may be required for completing the design and bidding the project before starting actual construction. Changes made after the award of construction contracts can be costly to the owner.

DESIGN/BUILD METHOD OF PROJECT DELIVERY

The design/build (D/B) project delivery method is often chosen to compress the time to complete the project. The completion time usually is reduced because construction can start before all the design is completed. The owner has considerable control and level of involvement throughout the project. This provides flexibility to the owner for revision of the design during construction. The D/B project delivery method is usually selected for projects when the schedule is primary, the cost is secondary, and the scope is not well defined.

The D/B method of project delivery is a two-party arrangement, involving the owner and the D/B company. A contract is signed between the owner and the D/B firm to perform both design and construction services. All design, including construction drawings, are done by the D/B contractor. All construction is done by the D/B contractor, although the D/B contractor may hire one or many subcontractors. The D/B firm typically has an in-house design staff as well as experienced construction personnel. This arrangement can reduce the conflicts between the designer and contractor that often occur in the D/B/B delivery method. Sometimes a construction contractor will team with a design firm or a design company will team with a construction contractor to provide D/B work for the owner.

It is common to choose the D/B firm by a qualifications-based selection (QBS) procedure. The owner solicits proposals from a prequalified or prescreened list of firms. An evaluation process is used to assess quality, safety record, schedule, cost performance on past jobs, and other factors from each prospective D/B firm. Thus, selection is based on qualification rather than price. The cost of the D/B services is usually based on some type of cost-reimbursable arrangement, either cost plus a fixed amount or cost plus a percentage.

For projects that have a reasonably defined scope, the D/B firm is sometimes selected based on price. For incentives, the contract may be based on a guaranteed maximum amount, with bonuses when the final cost is less than the guaranteed amount and penalties when the final cost is more than the guaranteed amount.

Although the total project cost is a major consideration, the total cost is not well know at the beginning of a D/B project because the design has not been prepared. Handling inspection is an issue that must be addressed early in the project, because the designer is also the builder. If qualified individuals are available in the owner's organization, the owner may perform inspection. In some situations, an independent third party is used for inspection services.

CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT METHOD OF PROJECT DELIVERY

There are many variations of the construction management (CM) method of project delivery. One variation of CM is called *agency* CM, sometimes referred to as pure

CM in the engineering and construction industry. In this arrangement the CM is a firm outside the owner's organization that acts as the agent for the owner. The agency CM firm performs no design or construction but assists the owner in selecting one or more design firms and one or more construction contractors to build the project. The agency CM firm assumes no risks because all contracts are signed between the owner and the designers **and/or** contractors. Generally the agency CM works for a fee.

Corporate CM is similar to agency CM, except the CM services are provided by personnel inside the owner's organization. The design and construction is performed by firms outside the owner's organization with the corporate CM staff managing and coordinating overall effort.

CM at risk (CM@Risk) is another variation of CM. The term CM@Risk is used because the CM firm will actually perform some of the project work, thereby exposing themselves to risks associated with quality, cost, and schedule. The work may include some or all of the design as well as some or all of the construction. There are two subvariations in CM@Risk, primarily construction firms that become involved in CM and primarily design firms that become involved in CM. Construction contractors that do CM@Risk work typically focus on the construction aspects of the project and hire the design work necessary to support the construction effort. Sometimes this variation of CM is referred to as *contractor* CM. Design firms that do CM@Risk are more closely affiliated with design than construction. Typically they focus on the design aspects of the project and hire the construction work. Sometimes this variation of CM is referred to as *designer* CM. The CM@Risk firm may work on a lump-sum, cost reimbursable, or a guaranteed maximum price basis.

Regardless of the variation of CM methods that is used for project delivery, CM is a single-source management of the project that allows the owner to control his or her level of involvement. To be successful the CM must be involved at the beginning of the project. Performing some of the design work without involvement of the CM prevents taking advantage of CM services. Selection of the CM early in the project increases the potential for reductions in costs by eliminating contract administration costs from designers and contractors. There can also be potential savings in time by integrating all parties from the start to the end of the project. This allows the owner to concentrate on overall aspects of the project rather than on **day**-to-day problems.

The CM must carefully monitor multiple construction contracts to ensure there are no gaps or overlaps in work. Tracking the costs of multiple construction contracts also requires careful attention. There also must be careful monitoring of the project to prevent delays that can occur due to interference of contractor's work at the job-site.

BRIDGING PROJECT DELIVERY METHOD

Bridging is a hybrid method of project delivery for building type projects. The contract documents are prepared by the owner's designer. These documents define functional use and appearance requirements of the project. Performance specifications are used to specify the construction technology. The details of

construction are developed by the construction contractor. Final design, consisting of the construction drawings, is done by an engineering/construction contractor, who performs final design and provides construction services using subcontractors.

FAST-TRACK PROJECTS

Fast-track is the term commonly used for projects that must be completed in the earliest possible time. Construction work overlaps design. As soon as a portion of the design is completed, then construction work is started. Fast-track projects can be performed under the D/B or CM methods of project delivery. Fast-track applies to projects that are schedule driven at the request of the owner. For example, the owner may want to complete a process plant at the earliest possible date in order to produce and market a product before a competitor. Or a business may want to complete a building by a specific date to accommodate a special event.

TURN-KEY PROJECTS

Turn-key is the term commonly used for projects that are designed, built, and put into operation before the project is turned over to the owner. The company providing the turn-key services may secure the land for the project, perform or coordinate all aspects of the design, arrange and administer construction contracts, manage construction of the project, staff and train the personnel to operate the facility, and then turn the project over to the owner. Turn-key projects typically are manufacturing or process plant type facilities in remote locations.

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT AND PERFORMANCE SPECIFICATIONS

Owner organizations that have some design capabilities, but not enough to design the complete project, will solicit bids based on preliminary design development drawings. For example, the design development drawings may only be developed to the 30% to 50% level of detail of the final drawings. Then, performance specifications are written to describe what the systems must do in the project rather than how the systems will perform. The construction drawing are completed by a D/B contractor that has special expertise related to the project. Owner organizations in the process industry sometimes handle projects in this manner.

KEY DECISIONS FOR PROJECT DELIVERY

The following issues can have a significant impact on the success of any project and should be considered in selecting the project delivery method:

- 1 Number of contracts
- 2 Selection criteria
- 3 Relationship of owner to contractor
- 4 Terms of payment

Number of Contracts

One Contract

Many Contracts

As illustrated above, the number of contracts can vary from one to many, depending on the chosen method of project delivery. For D/B/B projects, the owner awards contracts to two parties: one to a designer, who may contract some of the design work to other design firms, and one to the construction contractor, who may contract to numerous subcontractors who perform special construction work.

For D/B projects, the owner awards a contract to one party: the D/B firm, who may in turn subcontract to many contractors. For CM projects, the owner awards contracts to three parties: the constmuction manager, designer, and construction contractor. Under this scenario, there may be many subcontracts awarded under each of these three principal parties.

Selection Criteria



As illustrated above, contractors may be selected on the basis of price or qualification. Traditionally, designers are selected based on qualification and contractors based on price. However, the trend in recent years has been to select designers based on price. The selection criteria depend on the services that are being procured. Typically price is used for selection of products that are easily defined or services that are easily evaluated. Qualifications are used for unusual products, proprietary work, or services that require special expertise, knowledge, and judgement.

Contractual Relationship



A contractor may be viewed as an agent or vendor. An agent represents the owner's interest, works for a fee, and usually is selected based on qualifications. A vendor delivers a specified product or service, works for a price, and generally is selected based on price. Traditionally, designers are at the agency end of the spectrum and contractors are at the vendor end of the spectrum. Some owners ask contractors to act as agents in procuring and managing construction and treat designers as vendors of plans and specifications. When owners need advice or guidance, they typically choose an agent relationship, whereas when owners know exactly what is required, they may choose a vendor relationship.

Terms of Payment



As illustrated above, the terms of payment can vary from fixed price to cost reimbursable. Fixed price is used when the details of the work are well understood. Cost reimbursable is used when the scope of work is unknown or not clearly defined. There are ranges of terms of payment from fixed to cost reimbursable.

Under a lump-sum arrangement for payment, the contractor is paid a fixed sum for the work based on executing the **contract** documents. For unit-price payments, the contractor is paid based on a predetermined amount for each unit of material that is installed.

For a cost-plus fee with a guaranteed maximum price (GMP), the contractor is paid the actual cost plus a fee. If the cost exceeds the GMP, the contractor incurs the extra cost. If the cost is under the GMP, the contractor shares in the savings.

For a cost-plus fee with a target price, the contractor is paid actual costs plus a fee. As an incentive to meet the target price, arrangements can be made for various bonuses and a penalty if the final cost deviates from the target price. For example, the contractor may incur 80% and the owner 20% of all costs over the target price. Or, the contractor may receive 70% and the owner 30% of the savings if the final cost is under the target price. Thus, the contractor shares in the savings under the target price and pays part of the overrun if the cost is over the target price. The target price can be modified by the change order process.

For cost-plus projects, the contractor is paid actual costs plus a fixed or percentage fee. The percentage fee can be a sliding scale, depending on the arrangements that are agreed to between the owner and the contractors.

The above payment terms may be combined into one contract, for example, fixed-price, lump-sum with a unit price for ordinary soil excavation and cost-plus fee for rock excavation. The terms of payment should be commensurate with the amount of risk assumed by each party.

PROSPECTIVE BIDDERS AND BIDDING

The selection of the contractor is important because the successful completion of the project is highly dependent upon the contractor. The owner **and/or** designer must depend upon the contractor to provide labor, equipment, material, and know-how to build the project in accordance with the plans and specifications. If the contractor has problems, everyone has problems.

The owner generally requires prospective contractors to provide a bid bond before a bid is accepted. Before award of a contract, most owners require the contractor to submit a material and labor payment bond, and a performance bond. All bonds are supplied to the owner from the contractor before commencing construction in the field. Although bonds provide some degree of protection to the owner, they do not guarantee that construction will proceed in a smooth operation. In addition to bond requirements, prospective bidders should be screened by a prequalification process that evaluates their record of experience, financial capability, safety record, and general character and reputation in the industry.

For competitive-bid projects at least three bids should be received to provide a representive comparison of costs. Generally, a higher number of bidders will generate more competition, resulting in lower bids. However, the quality of the bidders is more important than the quantity of bidders. For private projects it is possible to

control which companies are allowed to submit a bid. In this type of situation it is better to not allow companies to bid if their capabilities are in question or if they are simply not wanted to build the project.

Careful consideration should be given to the length of time that is allowed for contractors to submit bids. The proposed due date should be adequate for bidders to prepare a thorough bid. If there is uncertainty regarding what length of time would be adequate, a reputable contractor can be consulted to assist in developing a reasonable time for preparation of bids. If the time is too short, some bidders may decline, or worse the bid may not be properly prepared. If the bid time is too long, there is an unnecessary delay in construction.

An addendum is a change in the bid package during the bidding process to correct errors, clarify requirements of the project, or make changes before awarding a contract to the contractor. Numerous addenda may discourage reputable, prospective bidders or place the bidders in a precarious "beware" status regarding the quality of the plans and specifications, or the possibility of additional changes the owner may make during construction. These conditions can lead to costly change orders that will adversely affect the final cost of a project.

A prebid conference should be held to clarify any unique aspects of a project and assist the bidders in their preparation of a good bid. This is an opportune time to clarify scope, explain special working conditions, and answer questions of contractors. Any item that is clarified at the meeting, that is not in the bid documents, should be **confirmed** in writing to all parties.

For any project, the party that will administer the contract should prepare a detailed cost estimate from the same set of bid documents that the contractors are using to bid the project. This will assist in the evaluation of contractors' bids because the process of preparing an estimate requires a close scrutiny of all aspects of the project. Many problems associated with a project can be detected by thoroughly reviewing the bid documents and going through the process of preparing a detailed cost estimate. There are **numerous** professional estimating companies that can perform this service if the capability does not exist in the party's organization that will administer the contract.

QUALIFICATION-BASEDSELECTION (QBS)

For lump-sum, fixed-price projects, construction contractors typically are selected based on the lowest and best-qualified bidder. Determining the lowest price is relatively simple since each contractor is required to submit a bid price. To ensure qualification, often the contractors are required to submit a prequalification form prior to bidding. The form typically requests information regarding the contractor's reputation, financial stability, and capacity to **perform** the work. In addition most bid documents require a bid bond when the bid is submitted to the owner. Qualification for bid bonds typically assures the owner that the contractor will also qualify for the payment and performance bonds after the contract is signed.

For cost-reimbursable projects or negotiated contracts, contractors are often chosen based on QBS, because the price of the project is unknown at the time the contractor is being selected. The owner typically selects a short list of contractors, each of whom would be likely selected for the work. Meetings are held to give each prospective contractor the opportunity to ask questions and receive clarifications regarding the extent of the proposed contract and the desired project outcome by the owner. The meetings are informative in nature and may involve a visitation to the project site. Then, formal requests for proposals (RFPs) are solicited from contractors. Typically, the RFPs request information regarding overall project management and technical ability, records of relevant past jobs and performance, and the approach to be taken in handling the project, including a cost proposal. Afixed format for the RFP is provided to each contractor to allow the owner to compare proposals on a common basis.

Upon receipt of all **RFPs**, the owner performs an evaluation. An assessment is made of each cost proposal. Since the actual cost is not known, the owner must determine if each contractor's cost proposal is realistic. The cost proposal may involve a fee schedule for all labor, equipment, and indirect charges that would apply to the job. Typically, the owner is not looking for the least cost, but a competitive cost range. Costs are considered, but the final selection is based on the best and final offer.

To determine the best and final offer, a weighted evaluation system is used to provide a quantitative measure of each RFP. For example, the RFP is divided into categories, with a weight given to each category depending on its importance. Some categories may be given the same weight, whereas others are given different weights. Below is an illustrative example of categories for evaluation.

Management information system Project schedule Personnel Contractor quality control Management of subcontractors Resource utilization Health and safety approach Financial capacity Experience and references

The management information system may include software for CADD, scheduling, cost estimating, accounting, submittal reporting systems, and other relevant data. The level of development of an effective management information system is a measure of a firm's ability to maintain a project budget during both design and construction. An appropriate project schedule, either a bar chart or network, that shows major milestones required to complete the project should be provided. A cost estimate should be required because price is a consideration in selecting contractors. Although the final cost is not known at the time a contractor is chosen, the cost estimate does give an indication of the final cost.

The caliber of personnel is extremely important in choosing contractors by QBS. Resumes of key personnel should demonstrate a team composition that is capable of performing the work required in the project. Formal education, project experience, and professional registration of key team personnel are indicators of their ability to perform the work. Each proposal should contain a list of personnel, resources, and major subcontractors to be utilized for the project.

Engineering and construction projects require management of multiple subcontractors. Solicitation of RFPs for choosing contractors by QBS should include a plan for acquiring material, equipment, services, and subcontractors. The owner should provide a list of their preferred vendors before requesting RFPs from prospective contractors. Any QBS process should also provide information about resource utilization, including a detailed description of the staffing plan to accommodate normal fluctuating work load to ensure an experienced work force throughout the project, including periods of work buildup and decline.

A quality assurance and quality control (QA/QC) program should be fully documented in the RFP for choosing contractors by the QBS process. The system should include quality control during development of design drawings and specifications and throughout the construction process including testing, inspection, and safety.

The factors to be considered in evaluating proposals for QBS of contractors should be tailored to each project. Generally, final selection is based on a combination of quality, technical merits, schedule, and cost. Quality may be expressed in terms of technical excellence, management capability, personnel qualifications, prior experience, past performance, and schedule compliance. Although the lowest price is appropriate for deciding on a contractor, the final selection may be based on the proposal that offers the greatest value to the owner in terms of performance.

For cost-reimbursable contracts, the cost proposal should not be the controlling factor since advance estimates of cost may not be a valid indicator of final actual costs. Typically, cost-reimbursable contracts are not awarded based on the lowest proposed cost or lowest total proposed cost plus a fee. The award of cost-reimbursable contracts primarily on the basis of estimated costs may encourage the submission of unrealistically low estimates and increase the likelihood of cost overruns. The primary consideration should be which firm has the proposal to perform the contract in a manner most advantageous to the owner, as determined by evaluation of proposals according to the established evaluation criteria.

Numerical weights are applied to each factor in consideration by the owner. Typically, the value of the weights is not disclosed to the **firms** submitting proposals. However, the RFP may inform prospective contractors of the minimum requirements that apply to particular evaluation factors or subfactors. During the evaluation process, the owner assigns a score to each factor, based on the weight of the factor. The selection of the contractor is based on which RFP receives the best score. The contractor is then notified and an advance agreement is made. After final arrangements are made, a contract is signed.

CHECK LIST FOR BIDDING

Table 11-2 provides a check list of duties for the bidding and award phase of a project that is handled by the CM type of contract. For projects other than **the** CM type

Bidding & award phase		Owner	СМ	Designer*	Contractor
1.	Procedures-	Approve as required	Formulate issue	Advise, comply	x
2.	Bidders list	Approve	Prepare	Assist, approve	X
3.	Bid documents estimate	Approve	Prepare	Review, advise	X
4.	Bid division descriptions	Review, approve	Prepare	Review, approve	х
5.	Proposal forms	Approve	Prepare	Review, advise	Complete
6.	Specifications— Advertisement for bids	Approve	Prepare	Review, advise	Respond
7.	Preparation of bid documents	Pay printing & dist. cost	Provide required forms & bidders list	Print &distribute	Receive
8.	Meetings-Pre-bid	Participate as required	Organize, conduct	Participate	Participate
9.	Addenda	Approve	Recommend, review	Recommend, draft & issue	Acknowledge
10.	Bid Openings	Attend as required	Organize, conduct	Attend	Х
11.	Meetings—Post-bid	Attend as required	Organize, conduct	Attend	Attend
12.	Letter of intent to award	Approve, sign	Prepare, issue	Recommend, approve	Respond
13.	Bonds — Performance, labor & material	Review, file	Review & approve	Review & advise	Provide
14.	Insurance—liability & property damage	Specify & approve	Advise. monitor &file certificates	Includ e requirements in bid documents	Provide
15.	Notice to proceed	Approve, sign	Prepare, issue	Recommend, approve	Respond
16.	Award of contracts	Award	Recommend	Recommend	Receive

TABLE 1-2

CHECK LIST OF DUTIES FOR BIDDING AND AWARD PHASE

Source: NSPE/PEC Reporter; Vol. VII, No. 2.

"The referenced NSPWPEC publication cited "architect"; however, the term "designer" is used here to imply the architect may be the principal design professional for building projects, whereas the engineer may be the principal design professional for heavy/industrial projects.

of contract, the duties of the CM are distributed between the owner and designer, depending upon the contract arrangement.

KEYS TO A SUCCESSFUL PROJECT

There are several factors that are important in order to achieve a successful project during construction. A good field construction representative must be present to represent the interests of the owner and designer. He or she must know the requirements of the project and be readily available to answer questions and respond to situations as they arise. The field construction representative's authority and responsibility must be **clearly** defined to all parties including the owner, designer, and contractor. It should be recognized that this individual is an asset available to all the parties involved in the project: the owner, designer, and contractor.

Another important factor is a good, detailed construction schedule that is developed and used by the contractor who is **performing** the work, not the owner or designer. The owner should only define the start **and/or** end date of the project. Contractors know their capabilities, resources, and how they plan to coordinate the many activities required to build the project in the field. Thus, they are best qualified to develop a schedule to guide the numerous construction operations.

A good project control system must be developed to monitor, measure, and evaluate the cost, schedule, labor-hours, and quality of work. Chapter 9 provided a detailed discussion of project tracking and control.

The most important key factor in a successful project is good communication. Most experienced project managers readily agree that the source of most problems can be traced to poor communications. People don't intend to do poor work or make mistakes. These types of problems are a result of misunderstanding of what is to be done and when it is to be done because of poor communications. There must be open lines of communications so the right people are available to respond when they are needed.

A project organizational chart normally shows vertical lines of authority. However, strictly following vertical lines of authority sometimes is not responsive to dissemination of information in a timely manner. Thus, there is a need for communications that flow horizontally between people who are actually involved in the work.

Figure 11-1 shows a project organizational chart with dotted Lines that represent the horizontal communications that are necessary for a project during the construction phase. The horizontal communications between the various organizations are the most difficult to monitor and control because they are primarily verbal and often not documented, which can result in misunderstandings and possible law suits. Therefore, horizontal communications should be restricted to sharing of information, but no decision making. Although these horizontal communications are necessary, it is the responsibility of all individuals to keep their immediate supervisor informed.

CONSTRUCTIONSCHEDULES

The purpose of scheduling a construction project is to ensure adequate planning of the work so it can be effectively and efficiently managed. A schedule must show all the activities required to complete the work, organized in a logical sequence, and generally presented in a time scale for easy interpretation. The purpose is to ensure that all activities necessary to complete the work are properly planned and coordinated. Adjustments in the schedule must be made as changes occur. The construction contractor must plan the work, and work the plan.

It is imperative for the job-site superintendent to be involved in preparing the schedule. The superintendent will be involved in the day-to-day supervision of the

272 PROJECT MANAGEMENT FOR ENGINEERING AND CONSTRUCTION



Denotes Continued Breakdown

FIGURE 11-1

Effective Horizontal Communication Channels Necessary during Construction. (Note: Horizontal dashed lines denote exchange of information only and vertical solid lines denote decision-making authority.)

work, so he or she has a better idea as to how the work will be put in place. If the superintendent is involved in preparing the schedule, the schedule will be used to manage the work because the superintendent will have bought into the schedule. Schedules that are prepared without the superintendent are seldom successful. The person that estimated the job and the contractor's project manager are valuable resources for providing information and assisting the job-site superintendent in
preparing schedules, but the superintendent is the person who must plan the sequence of activities the way he or she plans to work the project.

A good construction schedule is in the best interest of all parties: the owner, designer, and contractors. First **and** foremost, the construction schedule must be readable and easily understood by the field personnel who are involved in supervising the work. Too often, construction schedules are developed with excessive details that are of little value to the workers in the field. The schedule should only contain enough detail to enable the field supervisors to know what is expected of them. Then, area foremen in the field can develop a daily or weekly work schedule for their respective work. For example, the schedule can show an activity of "second floor painting"; then the foreman of the paint crew can develop a daily work schedule that shows the specific rooms to be painted for the week specified in the construction schedule.

Material and equipment delivery dates are extremely important during construction because late delivery is often the cause of delays. Delivery dates for critical activities must be closely monitored to ensure arrival of materials and equipment when needed at the job-site.

PROBLEMS WITH CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULES

In some situations a contractor may avoid giving any schedule to the owner with the concept that without a schedule, the owner cannot demonstrate that the contractor failed to properly plan or coordinate the work. An ancillary theory is **that an** absence of a schedule on the job allows the contractor to build an as-planned versus an actual schedule at the end of the job to serve the interest of the contractor for any disputes or claims.

One method of enticing the contractor to develop an appropriate construction schedule is to include the construction schedule as a specific pay item in the contract documents. Then, the contractor would be entitled to bill for this pay item only after submittal of the baseline schedule and each monthly schedule update. For example, submission of the construction schedule can be tied to the mobilization payment. Thus, the contractor would not be paid mobilization costs until the construction schedule is submitted. This is easy to incorporate in the construction contract because most contracts provide for mobilization payments to the contractor.

Unfortunately, in recent years there has been a trend toward using construction schedules to help build claims against the owner for additional time and cost. Some contractors prepare a schedule only because it is required in the contract. It is common practice in construction contracts to tie the costs to the schedule, which impacts the monthly payment to the contractor. Some contractors prepare a schedule based on the concept that it will help their chances of recovering more money **and/or** time from the owner in change orders and claims. Thus, the schedule is sometimes not used solely as a planning tool to manage the project, but as a tool to obtain additional time or money.

There are risks involved in requiring, reviewing, and accepting schedules from contractors. Approved or accepted schedules can produce legal implications to the owner. For example, the owner can be placed at risk when he or she accepts a schedule, because the schedule can later be used as documentation of claims against the owner. However, there is also a risk in not requiring construction schedules. When no schedule exists, the contractor may not plan the job properly and the owner has no way of measuring progress or checking on coordination. Most experienced construction managers agree that there are fewer risks when construction schedules are required.

Whoever is assigned the responsibility of reviewing or approving construction schedules should exercise caution because a number of **problems** can arise with respect to construction scheduling. Some of **these** precautions are presented in the following paragraphs.

PRECAUTIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION SUBMITTALS

Submittals are documents that are transmitted from the contractor to the owner or designer for their review **and/or** approval. Sometimes the contract documents specify that the **engineer** will review contractor submittals within a reasonable period of time so as not to delay progress on the work. Contractors usually show submittal **re**view times in the schedule as three or five days. If the schedule is accepted, the time shown in the schedule establishes the definition of "reasonable period of time." Any review that takes more time is then considered as "**unreasonable**" by definition, thus establishing a case for delay or impact claims.

In other situations there may be no submittal dates shown in the schedule. Instead the submittals are considered to start on the same day, or next day, of the construction activity. Then, the contractor can raise a delay claim for any time the start of an activity is delayed while the engineer reviews the submittal for that construction activity.

To avoid problems associated with submittal review times, a provision can be written in the contract documents that states the allowable time for submittal review. For example, a paragraph can be included that states the engineer shall have a minimum of twenty calendar days, from receipt of a submittal, to review and respond to a contractor's submittal. Additionally, the contract documents can stipulate that resubmittals of the contractor's submittals shall have the same review time as the initial submittal. This clarifies entirely the issue of whether the owner and engineer should have a single time frame in which to review the submittal and all resubmittals, or whether the starting time for submittal review should start over again with each resubmittal. This is an equitable assignment of the risk of providing unacceptable submittals.

A contract that requires submittal reviews in the construction schedule can help avoid many problems related to submittal reviews and the impact of review times. Aprovision can be included in the contract that stipulates that the contractor prepare a construction schedule of all submittals required on the project, including when each submittal will be provided for review. This helps to ensure that the contractor has a plan for all submittals. It also allows the owner and engineer to plan their staffing and work load appropriately for the review process. A master list of all required submittals, provided by the designer, will assist in incorporating submittals in the schedule.

DELIVERY DATES OF OWNER-FURNISHED EQUIPMENT OR MATERIALS

It is common in the construction industry for owners to procure and furnish long lead-time equipment or materials. This is done to save time and money for the owner. The delivery dates of owner-furnished equipment or material are typically shown on the construction schedule. If the owner-furnished equipment or material delivery dates are shown on the schedule and the schedule is accepted by the owner, then this establishes an informal warranty that the items will be delivered no later than the date shown on the schedule. If the owner is unable to meet the previously scheduled and agreed-upon delivery dates, then the contractor may file a claim for extra cost due to delay of work and impact claims.

Another problem can arise when the construction schedule shows very early delivery dates for all owner-furnished items. This provides more opportunities for a delay claim against the owner if the owner-furnished items arrive late. To help avoid this type of problem, the contract documents can stipulate the earliest possible delivery dates for all owner-furnished items. These dates can be based on delivery dates established by the manufacturer, plus an appropriate contingency for time. **An**other approach to addressing the issue of claims related to owner-furnished items is to make provisions in the contract documents that states owner-furnished items will be delivered not earlier than a certain date but not later than another date. In this manner, the contractor is given some assurance of when to expect the items on the job-site. Providing a window of expected delivery dates reduces risk related to owner-furnished items.

SCHEDULING CONTRACTOR PROCURED AND INSTALLED EQUIPMENT

The construction schedule that simply shows installation of equipment as one activity in the schedule does not provide an adequate description of the work necessary to procure and install the equipment. Major equipment that is procured and installed by the construction contractor should show fabrication, delivery, and installation as separate activities. This ensures adequate planning by the contractor and reduces confusion regarding fabrication and delivery times. It also clarifies the pay request from the contractor related to the equipment because the pay request for purchasing equipment will likely occur much earlier than the pay request for installing the equipment. The designer should specify in the bid documents which items of equipment are considered major.

Another method of assisting the proper planning and scheduling of contractorfurnished equipment is to include a provision in the contract that requires the contractor to provide a separate schedule that shows anticipated order and delivery dates of each piece of equipment on the project. **The** contract documents should specify which pieces of equipment are considered major, to prevent any misunderstandings.

CONTRACT SCHEDULE CONSTRAINTS

During the design phase of a project the contract documents may be written to include certain schedule constraints that require construction activities to be completed before other activities can start, or sequences that must be followed to prevent disruption of other activities. This type of situation is more prevalent in renovation type projects than construction of new facilities. The contractor's initial schedule submittal may ignore these requirements. If the owner accepts the schedule without the constraints and then later attempts to enforce the contract requirements, the contractor may argue that the owner "waived the contract requirements" by acceptance of the schedule and therefore now owes an equitable adjustment in order to reestablish these constraints.

The owner and designer should carefully review all constraints to assess their impact on the contractor's operations. This must be done during the design phase to ensure that a complete list of constraints is written into the contract documents. Constraints on the contractor usually result in additional costs and time for the contractor to complete the work.

SEQUESTERING FLOAT

Sequestering float is a technique of developing a construction schedule so there is little or no float for most activities. This results in a schedule with multiple critical paths or one single critical path with numerous other paths that are near critical because the non-critical paths have very small float, such as less than five or ten days. Construction schedules with extensive sequestering float are sensitive to delays. Any interference with the contractor's operations by the owner increases the opportunity for the contractor to bring claims for additional costs to the owner.

The construction schedule may also contain preferential sequencing, where activities that could be performed concurrently instead are shown as sequential. Showing activities sequentially instead of concurrently reduces float in the network, thereby causing more critical activities.

A careful review of the construction schedule should be performed to evaluate artificial activity durations. For example, an activity that is **shown** with a **twenty**-day duration may actually only require ten days, which would result in reduced float in the network.

To decrease problems related to sequestering float, the contract documents can include a non-sequestering float clause. Such a clause may read as, "Pursuant to the float sharing requirement of the contract documents the use of float suppression techniques such as preferential sequencing or logic, special lead/lag logic restraints, and extended activity times are prohibited and the use of float time disclosed or implied by the use of alternative float suppression techniques shall be shared to the proportionate benefit of the owner and contractor."

SCHEDULE UPDATES

Too often a good schedule at the beginning of a project becomes a schedule that is unmanageable due to poorly prepared updates. As changes occur during construction there is a tendency to use constraints to model the actual work. The use of activity constraints such as start-to-start and finish-to-finish almost invariably cause logic that is difficult to understand and often leads to confusion and distrust of the schedule.

It can be helpful to involve the owner, designer, contractor, and all major subcontractors to review the update process. A joint discussion between all parties will enhance communications and reduce surprises when the schedule updates are provided. The discussions can often eliminate the activity constraints. The best approach is to not use activity constraints in developing the original schedule or in preparing schedule updates.

RELATIONS WITH CONTRACTORS

Construction contractors have the lead role during the construction phase; however the owner and designer have an important role as well. A cooperative environment of teamwork must be developed so all **parties** can work together as a unit to achieve the project.

The construction industry is unique compared to other industries. Because each construction project is different: the work force is transient, multiple crafts are involved, projects are planned and worked in short time frames, and there is a tremendous variety of material and equipment that must be installed. Also, much of the work is exposed to weather and construction workers are continually working themselves out of a job. Due to these conditions the management of construction is a challenge, and cooperation of participants is imperative.

In all situations the relations with contractors must be fair, consistent, polite, and firm. A person must conduct his or her affair? in a professional manner to gain the respect of others and to get others to do what must he done. There are times when a person must be assertive, but not obnoxious, and other times when a person must be reserved, but not a push-over. The ability to work with people and to know how to react in each situation must be developed in order to work in a construction environment.

Due to the nature of construction projects there are times when disagreements and conflicts between individuals arise. One must realize that disagreements and conflicts are not necessarily all bad because many good ideas have been developed as a result of disagreements. The attitude that should prevail is that disagreements can he changed to agreements with diplomacy. There are times when it may be desirable to take a neutral position.

Contractors are independent business organizations and are only required to produce the end product of the contract. There are times when a contractor and an owner may not agree; however, achievement of the end product should always remain a priority. Good owner/contractor relationships make the best use of the contractor's expertise, labor, and equipment.

CHECK LIST OF DUTIES

Table 11-3 provides a comprehensive check list of duties for the construction phase of a project that is handled by the CM type of contract. For projects other than the CM type of contract, the duties of the CM are distributed between the owner and the designer, depending upon the contract arrangement.

QUALITY CONTROL

Quality is achieved by people who take pride in their work and have the necessary skills and experience to do the work. The actual quality of construction depends largely upon the control of construction itself, which is the principal responsibility of the contractor. What is referred to today as "quality control," which is a part of a quality assurance program, is a function that has for years been recognized as the inspection and testing of materials and workmanship to see that the work meets the requirements of the drawings and specifications.

Quality is the responsibility of all participants in a project. Too often, the attitude is "what can we do to pass quality control?" or "what can we do to get past inspection?" Instead, the attitude should be, "what can we do to finish the project that we can be proud of that meets the specifications and satisfies the owner?" Without the right attitude, even the best planned quality-control program cannot be successful.

In the past, the traditional acceptance of construction work by the owner, or owner's representative, involved 100% visual inspection of the construction work. In addition, a so called representative sample, which often consists of a single specimen, is used to determine the true quality of the material. If the test result is within the stated tolerance, the material passes and is accepted, otherwise the material or construction fails to pass and is unacceptable. In the latter case, engineering judgement is then applied to reach a decision as to whether the material should be retested or whether it may be said to substantially comply, because the deviation will not cause a serious impairment to performance. This places the inspector in a difficult situation and can cause delays, disputes, and numerous problems for both the owner and contractor.

The purpose of quality control during construction is to ensure that the work is accomplished in accordance with the requirements specified in the contract. A program of quality control can be administered by the owner, designer, contractor, or an independent consultant. In recent years the trend by many owners is to require prime contractors to take a more active role in the control of project quality by making them manage their own quality-control programs. The contractor is required to establish a quality-control plan to maintain a job surveillance system of its own, to perform tests and keep records to ensure the work conforms to contract requirements. The owner then monitors the contractor's quality-control plan and makes spot-check inspections during the construction process, which constitutes a **quality**-assurance program.

In modern quality-assurance programs, traditional specifications are being replaced by statistically based specifications that reflect both the variability in construction materials and the true capabilities of construction processes. Quality requirements are expressed as target values for which contractors are to accomplish,

TABLE 1-3 CHECK LIST OF DUTIES DURING CONSTRUCTION PHASE

Construction phase Owner CM Designer* Contractor 1. Contracts-Prepare documents, Approve, Approve, Review, approve Construction execute, enforce enforce execute. as required conform Meetings— Participate Organize, Participate Participate Pre-construction as required conduct. record Meetings — Participate Organize, conduct, Participate Participate Monthly project record 4. Meetings х Participate Organize, conduct, Participate Monthly team record 5. Insurance-Workers Specify, Advise, monitor, include Provide compensation approve file certificates requirement in bid documents 6. Submittals-Shop Coordinate, expedite Specify submittals Provide Approve drawings & samples as required & review required, review &approve 7. Scheduling-Short-Participate, Participate, Approve as Prepare, monitor, term construction comply required. enforce, comply comply activities plan comply 8. Schedule enforcement Participate as Provide Assist Comply required 9. Constructionsupport Approve as Recommend & Advise Cooperate items required & pay arrange 10. Security--Site Advise. review. Advise & arrange for Facilitate Facilitate approve, pay Provide & be 11. Field layout Observe Coordinate, check Design, observe where practical responsible 12. Temporary-Power, Determine need, Provide Use Approve, pay water, roads, etc. specifications arrange & coordinate as required 13. Meetings-Weekly Participate as Organize, conduct, Participateas Participate construction required record necessarv 14. Constructionmethods. Observe Observe Observe Originate procedures 15. Contractor coordination Observe Provide Advise Facilitate 16. Field reporting Review Provide, review Provide review Cooperate 17. Job-site safety Enforce Observe, report Observe, report Responsible through CM Payment requests Approve, Review, approve, Review, approve, Submit respond assemble endorse 19. Waivers of lien Review & File Coordinate, review, Provide Review &assemble 20. Change orders Request, review, Request, prepare, Execute. Approve. execute approve, distribute approve respond 21. Quality control Observe Observe, evaluate, Observe, evaluate Provide & be report responsible 22. Field testing Approve, pay Arrange. coordinate Recommend Cooperate approve 23. Expeditina-Participate as Originate, monitor. Advise, assist Responsible Construction required motivate 24. Equipment--Owner Specify, Coordinate Hook-up Incorporate purchased purchase, scheduling, requirements expedite installation & start-up into design 25. Expediting—Owner Provide Coordinate scheduling Advise Х purchased equipment requirements, assist 26. Receiving equipment Inspect. Coordinate on-site Х Assist approve delivery & storage requirements 27. Drawings-As-built Receive & file Coordinate, monitor Check, draft Provide as-built

Source: NSPE/PEC Reporter, Vol. VII. No. 2. "The referencedNSPE/PEC publicat on cited "arch tect": however, the term "designer" is used here to imply the architect may be the principal design professional for b-Iding projects, whereas the engineer may be the principal design professional for heavy/industrial projects.

and compliance requirements are specified as plus or minus limits. Statistically based acceptance plans call for random samples, with each sample consisting of a number of specimens taken at random in order to eliminate bias. Acceptance procedures are more detailed and the risks to both the owner and contractor are made known to reduce uncertainty.

Each contractor is expected to have a process control program that will ensure he or she is meeting the acceptance requirements of the owner. Control charts, which are simple line graphs of the target quality level and of the allowable variations from this level, are used as tools in the process control. They provide early detection of trouble before rejections occur, which can result in savings to the contractor by reducing penalties and rework costs. Thus, control charts present the results in a form that enables everyone concerned to observe trends or patterns that may affect quality.

An example of a control chart for a percent passing gradation is given in Figure 11-2. Figure 11-2a is referred to as an X-chart and is used to monitor the average value of the process, that is, whether the process average has remained at a constant level or has shifted. The horizontal axis identifies the number of observations; that is, the number 1 is the first inspection and the number 30 is the last inspection. The



FIGURE 11-2





b R CONTROL CHART FOR PERCENT PASSING

vertical axis represents the quality characteristic under consideration, which in this case is the percent passing a given sieve size. Each small circle represents the average value of that sample, or subgroup. The two dashed outer lines are the upper control limit (UCL) and lower control limit (LCL) which are used to judge the significance of a change in the process. It is also possible to place upper and lower warning limits, (UWL) and (LWL). Warning limits are typically placed at two standard deviations from the target value. The second control chart, Figure 11-2*b*, is called the R-chart (range) and is used to detect changes in the process variability.

DISPUTE RESOLUTIONS

Due to the nature of construction projects it is almost certain that contractors, owners, and designers will be involved in disputes. The resolution of a dispute may be by several methods: negotiation, mediation, arbitration, or litigation.

Direct negotiations between parties in the dispute can be held to openly discuss and resolve the conflict to the satisfaction of each party. Usually, no other parties are involved. Mediation allows disputing parties to use an independent, objective person to assist in resolving the dispute. The mediator has no authority to issue a final decision. Arbitration is similar to mediation except the arbitrator has the authority to issue a final binding decision that cannot be appealed by the disputing parties. For some disputes there may be a panel of arbitrators to resolve the dispute. Litigation is a resolution of disputes by lawsuits that are resolved in the legal formality of the court system. Generally this technique requires a long period of time and significantly higher legal costs than the other techniques.

The resolution of disputes by negotiations is usually the quickest and most economical technique because factual matters are discussed without the formality of legal formats. Direct negotiations are held on a voluntary informal basis by the parties involved, at a mutually agreed upon time and location. The negotiator for each party must have the authority to act for his or her company. The size of the negotiating teams varies depending upon the complexity of the issue; however the efficiency is usually higher if there are fewer individuals involved. The success of the negotiations depends on the willingness of both parties to negotiate in good faith, the extent the contract definitively addresses the issues in the dispute, and the amount of preparation prior to negotiation. Direct negotiations can enhance good business relationships between the parties.

In the event that direct negotiations cannot result in a settlement, mediation is often the next most suitable method. Similar to negotiation, mediation is voluntary, so there must be a **mutual** agreement between both parties to have the mediator to serve as a catalyst to explore alternate solutions, to gather facts and clarify discrepancies, and to persuade the parties to adopt flexibility in their stances so a final settlement can be reached. During the process the mediator may have joint or private meetings with the disputing parties. The mediator is mutually agreed upon by both parties in the dispute. The American Arbitration Association (AAA) is a public-service, non-profit organization that has established guidelines and rules for mediation.

Arbitration is the submission of a dispute to a mutually agreed upon impartial third party whose decision is legally binding and enforceable. To use this method an arbitration clause is normally included in the general conditions of a contract so when the contract is signed the parties mutually agree to settle all disputes through arbitration. The Construction Industry Arbitration Rules, established by the AAA, contains 57 articles that have become the most widely recognized arbitration procedures in the construction industry. The procedures follow a 5-step process: agreement to arbitrate, selection of arbitrator, preparation for hearing, hearing of the dispute, and the award. The decision by the arbitrator is usually made within 30 days from the close of the hearing. Thus, decisions are made much faster than through litigation.

Most parties strive to resolve conflicts before proceeding to litigation because it is the most costly, time consuming, and complex method for the resolution of disputes. Legal counsels, who follow the formalities of the legal judicial system, are used to represent the interest of the parties. The final resolution of the dispute is determined by a court of law. Often, a settlement of the dispute is reached just prior to entering court proceedings.

The American Society of Civil Engineers has produced a booklet entitled *Avoid-ing and Resolving Disputes During Construction*, which presents a method of developing cooperative, problem-solving attitudes on projects, through a basic risk-sharing philosophy between the owner and contractor. It explains special contracting provisions and practices that have been used successfully on hundreds of projects to avoid or to resolve disputes without resorting to litigation. There are three provisions: Dispute Review Boards (DRB), Escrow Bid Documents (EBD), and Geotechnical Design Summary Reports (GDSR), which are described in detail and recommended on all projects subject to potential major disputes.

Formation of a three-member DRB at the beginning of construction assists in avoiding disputes and, if necessary, provides timely and equitable recommendations for non-binding resolutions. Escrowing of the contractor's bid documents provides a reliable database for use in negotiating price adjustments and resolving disputes. Inclusion of the Federal Differing Site Conditions clause and a GDSR in the contract acknowledges the contractor's right to compensation for materially differing site conditions and establishes a concise geotechnical baseline to clearly identify differing site conditions. These provisions are discussed in the booklet, together with guideline specifications for implementation.

JOB-SITE SAFETY

Safety is an important part of project management just as are planning, scheduling, estimating, cost control, and other project work. The concern for safety must be shown at all levels and in each **phase** of the **project**. Accidents not only affect workers, but also their families. The economic costs, liability consequences, regulatory requirements, and the image of a company all show the importance of safety related to a project.

Many of the basic principles and approaches that have been previously presented to manage a project can also be applied to safety. The element of safety is a factor that should be considered in each phase of the design and construction of a project. Safety is not included in a project by accident; it must be designed into the project and monitored just as scope, budget, and schedule.

Construction, by the nature of the work, involves many potential hazards to workers and equipment, such as heat, noise, wind, dust, vibrations, and toxic chemicals. The Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) was enacted by the federal government as a regulatory agency to ensure safety for workers. It applies to all parties involved in a project: designers, owners, workers, and contractors. Although OSHA and other legislation has been enacted for safety, the responsibility rests with management.

The project manager must work closely with his or her team members to include safety in every aspect of the project: planning, design, budget, and construction. Safety should start at the top level of an organization and, by words and actions, be infused in each level of management through to the crews and workers at the job-site.

Although the current practice places final responsibility for construction safety with the contractor, there should be a united teamwork approach to understanding and implementing a safety philosophy that improves construction job-site safety.

Accident costs include medical costs, premiums for compensation benefits, liability, and property loss. These costs have been escalating in recent years. However, there are other significant costs attributed to accidents. These include the cost of lost time of the injured employee, the cost of work stoppage of other employees due to an accident, and the lost supervisory time. Safety requires everyone's full attention.

Research has shown that safer job-site managers are also the better producers. They are better at keeping down job costs and better at keeping jobs on schedule. These facts contradict two reasons that managers sometimes give as excuses for a poor safety record: accidents are inevitable in a dangerous industry like construction, and our first priority has to be getting the job done. Such managers are misled by myths that can cost the project and the company a great deal of money. Job-site safety management should treat productivity and safety as two related parts of high job performance. A successful job-site manager has been quoted as "You don't have to sacrifice productivity for safety. The safer the crew, the quicker they work. The more safety you have, the more productivity you have."

The prequalification of contractors is usually based on bonding capacity and past experience. The selection of the construction contractor usually is based upon the lowest bid price of all prequalified contractors. Perhaps, a contractor's safety record should also be considered as a necessary part of construction bids so an unsatisfactory safety record could be one possible basis for rejection of a bid.

MANAGEMENT OF CHANGES

Every project requires some changes during construction in order to complete the project. The source of changes may be the owner, designer, or contractor. An owner may wish to make a change to better achieve his or her intended use of the project after construction is complete. A designer may make a change in the original plans or specifications or the contractor may wish to make a change, because it is not

always possible to accurately predict all the events that will arise during the construction process. Thus, changes during construction are almost inevitable.

The mechanism for making changes during construction is the change-order, a written document that describes the modification in the work. All approved changeorders are incorporated into the original bid documents to form the binding contract documents for the project. Although a change-order may increase or decrease the cost and/or schedule of a project, most change-orders add cost to a project and impact the schedule. Thus, every project manager must be cautious in dealing with changes during construction, because a change in the work almost always adversely affects the cost and schedule of the project.

The management of changes is greatly enhanced if the changes can be predicted in advance. There are some factors that can be determined, prior to commencing construction, that are early warning signs of future changes in a project. Research has shown that lump-sum projects that have a large difference between the low bid and next higher bid amount tend to have significant increases in project costs. In the construction industry the term *money-left-on-the-table* is commonly referred to as the difference between the bid amount of the low bidder and the next higher bidder. Thus, a project manager should expend more effort in monitoring and controlling a project if there is high money-left-on-the-table, because it is an indicator of potential cost growth.

One approach to the management of changes during construction is to request a list of anticipated change-orders on a monthly basis. The project manager, or his or her assistant, then works with the party anticipating the change, to evaluate the need and/or value of the change. Sometimes a candid discussion of the merits of a change can result in a decision that the change is not necessary afterall, when the full impact of the change is compared to the true value of the change.

There must be a thorough evaluation of all aspects of a change, because a change in any part of a project often affects other parts of a project. Sometimes the full impact on other parts of a project are not known until some later date, which can adversely affect the cost later in the project. The term *ripple-effect* is commonly used to describe a change that occurs late in the project as a result of a change made earlier in the project.

A project manager should avoid changes during construction unless they are absolutely necessary. If a change is necessary, it should be thoroughly evaluated, clearly defined, agreed on by all parties, and implemented in the most efficient and economical manner.

RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

Many resources are needed to accomplish the construction phase of a project. Resources include people, equipment, materials, and subcontractors. Each resource must be managed in the most efficient manner to keep costs to a minimum during construction.

The crafts that install material and operate equipment are the most important resource on the project. These individuals gain their skills through training and experience. They have the ability to accomplish the work, provided adequate instruction, tools, and materials are available when they are needed. Too often, the skilled workers are criticized for not producing good work on a project. However, it is not a trait of people to intentionally do poor work. The cause of poor work is usually from poor instructions, late delivery of material, unavailable tools, or lack of leadership and supervision. These sources of problems are the responsibility of management on the project. Thus, there must be a well-defined work plan for the project that clearly defines the work that must be accomplished today and the work that is planned ahead. This plan must be communicated to the teams of crafts on the project.

The type and number of equipment used on a project depends on the nature of the project. For example, construction of a large earthen dam may require a large spread of scrapers, dozers, water wagons, compactors, and motor patrol graders. However, the construction of a strip shopping center may only need a small front end loader, truck, and small portable crane. The selection and utilization of equipment on a project must be an integral part of the total construction plan and schedule, just as there must be a plan for the workers on the project. It is the responsibility of the construction project manager and his or her field superintendent to develop an equipment plan for the project. Adequate consideration should be given to the down-time and maintenance of equipment, because the unavailability of equipment can have a significant impact on the schedule of a project.

A major cost of many construction projects is the acquisition and installation of materials. Amaterials management system includes the major functions of identifying, acquiring, storing, distributing, and disposing of materials needed in a construction project. The effective utilization of people can be greatly enhanced by ensuring that quality materials are available when and where required. A material plan will vary depending on the project size, location, cash flow requirements, and the procedure for purchasing and inspection. The timing of delivery of material to the job-site is extremely important, because the cause of delays during construction is often late delivery of material, incomplete delivery of material, or delivery of the wrong type of material. Materials requiring a long lead time must be included in the construction project schedule. It is the responsibility of the contractor to ensure that a well-defined materials management system and materials management plan are developed for the project.

For most projects, the owner assigns one contract to a prime contractor, usually called the general contractor, to accomplish the construction phase of a project. In turn, the general contractor assigns contracts to numerous subcontractors, usually called specialty contractors, to perform the construction work that requires special skills or equipment. Thus, much of the work required on many construction projects is performed by numerous subcontractors who work for the general contractor. This multiple-contract arrangement requires careful planning, scheduling, and coordinating by the general contractor to integrate the work of all subcontractors on the job. This is necessary because the work of any subcontractor usually affects one or more other subcontractor on the project. The owner may use multiple prime contractors for a large project that extends over a long period of time.

The management of subcontractors should be accomplished using the same management principles presented throughout this book. There must be a well-defined scope of work, cost, and schedule for each subcontractor on the project. In addition, there must be a clear interfacing of the work of all subcontractors on the project. It is the responsibility of the general contractor to effectively manage his or her subcontractors.

QUESTIONS FOR CHAPTER 11--CONSTRUCTION PHASE

- **1** The pricing format for construction projects can be divided into two general categories: fixed price and cost reimbursable. Describe the conditions that are favorable to each of these two types of pricing formats.
- **2** Bonding capacity is the criterion that is normally used in evaluating contractors for bidding construction projects. What other criteria would you suggest for evaluating contractors?
- **3** Describe the important factors that can greatly contribute to a successful **project** during the construction phase.
- 4 You are in the bidding phase of a project and have received numerous inquiries about a particular part of the project. You have issued several addenda for clarification, but still continue to receive questions.
 - a What is your assessment of the possible causes for the numerous questions from hidders?
 - b What could you, as project manager, have done that might have prevented the problem?
 - c How would you handle the problem, considering you are now in the bidding phase?
- 5 You are responsible for a project where you are uncertain of the cost of various parts of the project. The owner has a limited budget, yet needs the project completed at the earliest possible date. What are your recommendations? Discuss the contracting pricing format you would use in preparing the bid documents.
- **6** You are in the process of evaluating bids for a cost-plus contract. Discuss the factors you would consider in your evaluation and how you would attempt to compare the costs of bidders.
- 7 Much of the day-to-day work on a project is accomplished by informal exchanges of information between team members. Examples are phone calls and informal meetings between two or more individuals. How should a project manager handle informal exchanges that may have an important impact on a project?
- 8 Describe the difference between a traditional specification and a performance specification for construction work.
- 9 Name and briefly describe the methods that can be used to resolve disputes related to construction work.

REFERENCES

- 1 Avoiding and Resolving Disputes During Construction, ASCE, New York, 1991.
- 2 Ahmed, S. A., *Statistical Methods for QA-QC for Highway Construction*, Oklahoma State University Press, Stillwater, OK, 1990.
- **3** Barrie, D. S. and Paulson, B. C., *Professional Construction Management*, 3rd ed., McGraw-Hill, Inc., New York, 1992.
- 4 Bartholomew, S. H., *Construction Contracting: Business and Legal Principles*, Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ, 1998.

- 5 Clough, R. H. and Sears, G. A., *Construction Project Management*, 3rd ed., Wiley, New York, 1992.
- 6 Collier, K., *Managing Construction The Contractual Viewpoint*, Delmar Publishing, Inc., Albany, NY, 1994.
- 7 Construction Industry Arbitration Rules, American Arbitration Association, New York, 1991.
- 8 Grant, E. L. and Leavenworth, R. S., *Statistical Quality Control*, 5th ed., McGraw-Hill, Inc., New York, 1980.
- 9 Halpin, D. W. and Woodhead, R. W., *Construction Management*, 2nd ed., Wiley, New York, 1998.
- 10 Hester, W. T., Kuprenas, J. A., and Thomas, H. R., "Arbitration: A Look at Its Form and Performance," *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*, ASCE, New York, Vol. 113, No. 3, September 1987.
- **11** Jervis, B. M. and Levin, P., *Construction Law: Principles and Practice*, McGraw-Hill, Inc., New York, 1987.
- 12 Levitt, R. E. and Samelson, N. M., *Construction Safety Management*, McGraw-Hill, Inc., New York, 1987.
- 13 Muller, F., "Mediation: An Alternative to Litigation," *Journal of American Water Works Association*, February 1984.
- 14 Oglesby, C. H., Parker, H. W., and Howell, G. A., *Productivity Improvement in Construction*, McGraw-Hill, Inc., New York, 1989.
- **15** Peurifoy, R. L. and Oberlender, G. D., *Estimating Construction Costs*, 4th ed., McGraw-Hill, Inc., New York, 1989.
- **16** *Quality in the Constructed Project: A Guide for Owners, Designers, and Constructors,* ASCE, **Reston**, VA, vol. 1, Manual No. 73, 1990.
- 17 Ryan, T. P., Statistical Methods for Quality Improvement, Wiley, New York, 1989.
- 18 "Sampling Responsibility Chart," *PEC Reporter;* Professional Engineers in Construction Practice Division, National Society of Professional Engineers, Alexandria, VA, Vol. VII, No. 2, January 1985.
- 19 Stukhart, G., Construction QA/QC Systems that Work: Case Studies, ASCE, 1985.
- 20 Sutliff, C. D. and Zack, J. G., Jr., "Contract Provisions that Ensure Complete Cost Disclosure," *Cost Engineering*, Vol. 28, No. 10, October 1987.
- 21 Tucker, R. L., Assessment of Construction Industry Project Management Practices and Performance, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, April 1990.
- 22 Zack, J. G. Jr., "Check Your Scheduling Practices," *Civil Engineering*, ASCE, Reston, VA, 1986.

12 PROJECT CLOSE OUT

SYSTEM TESTING AND START-UP

For heavy industrial plant projects, inspection of construction is performed throughout the project; however, the owner's representative generally requires inspection of vessels before closure and the testing of major equipment upon installation. The term *mechanical completion* is often used to define the stage of project development in which these procedures are performed.

It is sometimes difficult to define mechanical completion; therefore, the project manager should develop a plant completion standard with the owner's representative to clarify what constitutes completion. This should be in the construction contract so that all involved in the project know who is to do what for each phase of the project.

The project manager needs to work with the construction contractor to coordinate the interface between the owner's representative, the principal designers, and the contractor. The roles and responsibilities of each must be clearly defined. Also the types of tests and the procedure for testing must be clearly defined in accordance with the contract documents.

A formal plan should be prepared for defining when a vessel can be closed, the lead time notice required for inspection, what is to be monitored, and a sign-off sheet for the owner's representative. This is required to eliminate unnecessary opening and closing of vessels, which can require a substantial amount of project time.

The project manager must obtain in writing from the owner's representative the procedure for turning equipment over to the owner. Care and custody are importance because substantial costs are involved. It is important for each party involved

to know who is responsible and when they ace responsible. The project manager should notify the plant when a certain piece of equipment is complete, tested, and ready for turnover to the owner. Upon acceptance, any additional changes require a work authorization from the owner. This procedure should be handled in a formal manner with signatures required from the responsible representatives.

The project manager needs to coordinate with the contractor and designer to define the procedure for start-up. The process must be formal, but also flexible. The project manager should obtain in writing from the owner's representative what they require from the various members of the project team for support during start-up. The project manager **must** have the owner's input and should not make assumptions as to their needs.

FINAL INSPECTION

Inspection of construction work is performed throughout the duration of a project. Before completion of the entire project, various equipment, electrical systems. and mechanical systems may be completed and ready for testing and acceptance in accordance with the contract documents. The project manager must work closely with the owner's representative and the design professionals who are responsible for inspection, testing, and final acceptance.

A definition of mechanical completion should be developed and a formal notification provided to the construction contractor that allows adequate lead time for the **process**. This is necessary so substantial time is not lost, which may adversely affect the project completion date. There must be a clear understanding regarding what the owner wants to verify during tests, what tests they want to witness, and the types of testing required. The responsibilities of the three principal contracting parties (the owner, designer, and contractor) must be clearly defined. It is the duty of the project manager to effectively coordinate this effort.

The start of project close out begins near the end of a project, when the contractor requests a final inspection of the work. Prior to the request, a punch list is prepared listing all items still requiring completion or correction. To develop this punch list, the field inspection personnel must carefully review their daily inspector's log to note all work items which have been entered that require corrective actions. It is sometimes necessary to recycle through the punch list process several times before the work is satisfactory for acceptance. The final walk-through inspection should include representatives of the owner, contractor, and the key design professionals (the architect, as well as civil, electrical, and mechanical engineers, etc.) who have worked on the **project**. The project manager should schedule and conduct the final walk-through inspection.

Acceptance of the work and final payment to the contractor must be done in accordance with the specifications in the contract documents. Substantial completion of a project is the date when construction is sufficiently complete in accordance with the contract documents so the project can be used for the purposes it was intended. This means that only minor items remain to be finished and that the project is complete enough to be put in use. The contractor may issue a Certificate of Substantial Completion with an attached list of all work remaining to be done to complete the project. Approval of the Certificate of Substantial Completion, with the attached deficiency list, certifies acceptance of the work that is completed. Thus, it is important to ensure the list is complete because the contractor has no further obligations under the contract after the owner signs the certificate. Generally final payment, including the release of all retainage, is withheld for thirty to forty days after completion of all deficiencies. Before final payment, the contractor is to submit final paperwork: warranties, lien releases, and other documents required under the contract.

GUARANTEE AND WARRANTIES

Generally, the contract requires the contractor to guarantee all material, equipment, and work to be of good quality and free of defects in accordance with the contract documents for a period of one year after completion of construction. The guarantee of the overall project can be extended beyond the normal one-year period; however, this is not common.

Individual pieces of equipment often have warranties that extend from one to five years after installation. Operating instructions, manuals, spare parts, and warranty certificates must be supplied to the owner. The project manager must ensure that all warranties are compiled and supplied to the owner before final payment to the contractor.

LIEN RELEASES

Material suppliers, subcontractors, or workers who have furnished materials, equipment, or performed work on a project for which payment bas not been made may file a lien against the property. The unpaid party has a right to file a lien even though the owner has paid the general contractor the full contract amount. Consequently, the owner may be forced to pay for some of the contract twice if the general contractor fails to pay its subcontractors, material suppliers, or employees.

During construction, the owner can withhold payments (called retainage) from the general contractor to cover open accounts and/or liens. The general conditions of most contracts have a clause that requires the general contractor and all tiers of subcontractors to supply a lien release for all labor and material for which a lien could be filed, or a bond satisfactory to the owner that indemnifies the owner against any lien. The project manager must ensure receipt of all lien releases, or the bond, prior to approval of final payment to the contractor.

RECORD AND AS-BUILT DRAWINGS

Revisions and changes to the original drawings are almost certain for any project. At **least** one set of the original contract documents that were issued for bidding purposes must be kept in a reproducible form. This is necessary for the resolution of claims and disputes, because inevitably the question will arise, "What did the

contractor bid on?" In addition, there must be a thorough documentation of all change-orders during construction.

A common contract requirement is that the contractor **must** develop an as-built copy of all specifications, drawings, addenda, change-orders, and shop drawings. The as-built drawings show dimensions and details of work that were not **performed** exactly as they were originally shown. Examples are changes in the location of doors, the routing of electrical wires or air conditioning ducts, or the location of underground piping, utilities, and other hidden work. These documents show all the changes to the original contract bid documents and are provided to the owner upon completion of the project.

CHECK LIST OF DUTIES

Table 12-1 provides a brief check list of duties for project close out for the construction management (CM) method of contracting. If the project is not handled by the CM method, the duties of the construction manager are performed by either the owner or the designer.

DISPOSITION OF PROJECT FILES

During a project, the project manager usually maintains two files: a record file and a working file. The record file contains original copies of important information related to agreements, contracts, and other legal matters. The working file is the project manager's file that is used for the day-to-day management of the project and usually contains copies of documents from the record file plus correspondence, minutes of meetings, telephone logs, reports, etc. Upon completion of a project, a large amount of information pertinent to the project, including the records and files. is accumulated.

TABLE 12-1

CHECK LIST OF DUTIES FOR F	PROJECT CLOSE OUT
----------------------------	-------------------

Pmject close out	Owner	СМ	Designer*	Contractor
 Certificate of substantial completion 	Approve	Review, approve, file	Review, approve	Originate
2. Clean-up	Observe & comment	Coordinate, enforce	Observe	Responsible
3. Punch list	Approve as required	Expedite & coordinate work	Prepare, evaluate work	Respond
 Cali backs (after construction) 	Request	Arrange & coordinate	Review & approve work	Respond

Source: NSPE/PEC Reporter, Vol. VII, No. 2

'The referenced NSPVPEC publication cited "architect": however, the term "designer" is used here to imply the architect may be the principal design professional for building projects, whereas the engineer may be the principal oesign professional for heavy/industrial projects Most organizations have a defined procedure for disposition of files. Information from the record file should be organized and indexed for easy access and retrieval for future reference. The working file often has duplicate information of the record file, some of which may have hand written notes that should not be destroyed. Although much of the contents from the file can be discarded, sufficient information should be retained so the project manager can retrace his or her work on the project.

POST PROJECT CRITIQUE

A post project critique should be held at the conclusion of every project, because there are lessons to be learned from every project that can be used to improve the success of future projects. Attendees should include the owner and key participants in the project, including lead designers and construction representatives. The feedback that is gained through a non-accusatory discussion of the problems and solutions encountered during a project is beneficial to all team members in the planning and execution of future projects.

For the meeting to achieve the desired results, it is important that the entire discussion be presented in a positive and professional manner. The good, as well as the bad, aspects of the project need to be discussed. The emphasis should be on bow to avoid or lessen the problems on future jobs based on problems encountered on this job; not who was at fault or caused the problem on this project. Minutes of the meeting should be distributed to others who did not attend the post project critique, so they also can benefit from the lessons learned.

It may be desirable to perform a project peer review, which is an independent evaluation of a particular project'? design concepts or management procedures. Project peer reviews can address the needs of the owner, designer, or another interested party. The American Consulting Engineer's Council (ACEC) and the American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE) have produced a document entitled *Project Peer Review: Guidelines*, which describes the process of project peer review.

OWNER FEED-BACK

After a project is completed and in use by the owner, a formal meeting should be held with representatives from the owner's organization to obtain feed-back regarding performance of the project. This is an important activity for evaluation of the quality of a completed project and satisfaction of the owner, because the true measure of the success of a project can only be determined by how well the project is utilized by the owner's organization.

QUESTIONS FOR CHAPTER 12-PROJECT CLOSE OUT

- **1** As the project manager of a project, describe a plan you would use for system testing and start-up for a project. Reference other publications to support your response.
- 2 Describe the procedure for development of a punch list, final inspection, and issuance of a certificate of substantial completion for a project. What precautions should be taken before acceptance of the certificate?

- **3** Describe the methods of protecting the interests of the owner in the closing phase of a project: warranties, guarantees, and lien releases.
- 4 Why is it necessary to retain at least one set of original contract documents that were issued for bidding?
- 5 As the project manager of a project, define the individuals you would select for participation in a post project critique. Give the reasons you would select these individuals.

REFERENCES

- 1 Come, R. K., Project Evaluation, ASCE, Reston, VA, 1991.
- 2 Fisk, E. R., Construction Project Administration, Wiley, New York, 1978.
- 3 Inspection of Building Structure During Construction, Institution of Structural Engineers, New York, 1983.
- 4 Project Peer Review: Guidelines, American Consulting Engineers Council, and the American Society of Civil Engineers, Washington, D.C., 1990.
- 5 "Sampling Responsibility Chart," *PEC Reporter*; Professional Engineers in Construction Practice Division, National Society of Professional Engineers, Alexandria, VA, Vol. VII, No. **2**, January 1985.

13

PERSONAL MANAGEMENT SKILLS

CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES

There is a great amount of pride and satisfaction in seeing a project completed and in operation. There are many challenges in managing engineering and construction due to the dynamic nature of projects. Solving problems as they arise instills a sense of satisfaction in the project manager and members of the project team. Most project managers agree that life-long friends are created by working with people on projects. Years after a project is completed, conversations between people who have worked together on past projects often turn to amusing memories of the problems that occurred and the methods used to resolve the problems. Generally, the problems seem much less serious after the project is completed than they were during execution of the project.

Successful people convert challenges to opportunities. Regardless of how difficult a problem may appear, there is always a way to resolve it. After completing a project, most project managers are enthusiastically ready to start a new project. They look forward to the next project and the opportunity to apply the lessons learned from previous projects. Most project managers agree that they have fun doing their work.

USING NEW INNOVATIONS

The preceding chapters of this book presented the concepts, methods, tools, and techniques that have been used successfully to manage engineering and construction projects. The methods have been developed and used by engineers who are actively involved in the current practice of project management. However, to be effective the project manager must be aware of new technologies that can advance the concepts presented in this book.

New technologies sometimes are resisted by people until they are proven. Too often the technology is available, but it is not used because people sometimes resist change. The successful project manager should assess new technology and devise innovative methods to incorporate the technology to enhance the project management process.

The use of computers is a good example of the adaptation of new technologies. When first introduced, some individuals only perceived the computer as a tool to be used for technical or scientific applications. However, progressive project managers realized the potential benefits of the computer in the management of projects. Today the computer is used in virtually every aspect in the execution of projects. The computer has probably changed the way we work today more than any other technology.

The Internet is a technology that is currently available and has the potential to impact the way project managers do their work, similar to the impact of computers. The advantages of managing projects via the Internet are numerous, primarily in saving time and increasing efficiency. Information can be distributed more rapidly to geographically dispersed owners, designers, contractors, and suppliers. Correspondence, drawings, and photographs can be posted on project-specific Internet sites and cataloged for easy access. Key team members can monitor data exchange, which greatly reduces turnaround time for decision making. For example, using traditional methods it may take an hour just to process a request for information (RFI) and then take days or weeks to get an answer for the RFI. Now electronic **RFIs** can be submitted and logged almost instantly, and responses are often made the same day or within a few days. Designers, suppliers, and contractors know they are accountable with web-enabled project management.

Today, many companies operate in a paperless environment by using the electronic media of the Internet. The increased efficiencies are attracting the attention of project managers who are pressed to accomplish more work in less time. Projects are getting more complex, and project personnel are expected to deliver results more quickly. Furthermore, team members are spread over a wider geographic location compared to projects in the past. Today, design work done in any location can be transmitted to any other location of the world almost immediately via the Internet. Design work can progress continuously, on a twenty-four-houi basis, by transferring documents from one design office to another to countries across the world.

Websites improve both internal and external communications. It can be a significant public information tool. A company can establish public and private websites for a project. The general public can visit one website for the latest on traffic conditions and construction schedules, while team members use a different site to exchange detailed design and construction information. The private site can save a vast amount of time by providing rapid data exchange among numerous offices and subconsultants working on a project.

E-mail is the most common and often used aspect of the Internet. It allows users to send written messages with optional attachments to anyone in the world who has a computer for the cost of a local phone call. Attachments can include drawing files, word processing documents, spreadsheets, photos, multi-media clips, and web pages. Faxes can also be sent over the Internet instead of over regular voice lines.

Web-enabled management systems add speed and efficiency to processing project information. The systems also reduce confusion and redundancy for owners, designers, and contractors trying to accomplish work as quickly and efficiently as possible. These systems can be structured with identifying tabs to mimic traditional file folder systems. For example, the Internet can be used in recording delivery records, progress updates, and other data in the field and transferring them to a database incorporated in a company's web system.

Another example is the application of project schedules, using an Internetenabled tool designed to allow team members to see their assignments across multiple projects using a web browser. Developing, maintaining, and communicating the project schedule is vital to the process of project management. Whether through CPM scheduling or simple calendar schedules, a website can he used to post current and near-term activities.

In place of a local area network, a web server can be used as a central repository for project documents. The documents may include word processing files, spread-sheets, photographs, and drawings. Users can add and/or check in and check out existing documents. Documents and file systems can be used during the design or construction phase but are more common in the design phase.

Project administration can also be greatly enhanced via the web. Web-enabled systems can manage work flow. In addition to document management, the software can create, log, track, and index project documents. Other functions include to-do lists, notification of events for project members, or required follow-up activities. Digital technology has made it extremely easy to take pictures and video and include them with documents on the websites. Complete photo histories can be stored in a database and be available for on-line retrieval. This can provide documentation during execution of the project as well as resolution of disputes.

Job cost reports can also be published for review. For security, limited access to cost information can be provided without permitting access to an accounting system. Status reports can be published on-line with links to other information, such as schedules, cost reports, RFIs, or accident reports. This provides a way of giving users a document-based database that is easy to maintain and control.

Voice and multi-media are another application of project management via the Internet. The Internet can be used as a facilitator of voice communication. E-mail can now carry attachments of audio/video clips made with a digital, still, or video camera. Inexpensive hardware and software also allow two or more users to teleconference on-line or allow users to get a live video feed from an on-line camera. This is an effective tool for resolving problems in the field by a team of experts who may be located in the home office without requiring them to travel to the job-site.

Security of information can he addressed by use of **Intranets** and Extranets. An Intranet is an Internet site set up for private use of a company that might include

certain corporate financial data, schedules, bulletins, and human resource information or other confidential information. Intranets can save companies money by reducing the amount of hard copy notices and forms that might be printed and distributed manually or by mail. An Extranet is an Internet site set up by a company for shared use with others. It might contain a variety of information with limited or full access to its employees; trading partners, such as subcontractors; and suppliers; or the general public. Project-specific websites are included in this category.

The success of project management via the web has a tremendous potential for saving time and increasing productivity, but education and training are essential. The project manager must understand the technology and exercise innovation to adapt the new technology. For any new technology, precautions must be taken. For example, transmitting designs and data over the Internet can open up new areas for errors, omissions, and unauthorized revisions. Confirmed receipt of information may sometimes be necessary to ensure the information has been received.

Use of the web is just one example of incorporating technology into the work process. As new technologies are developed the project manager must be responsive to potential applications and devise methods to incorporate the technology to increase the efficiency of project management.

HUMAN ASPECTS

The preceding chapters defined the information that must be gathered and managed to successfully bring a project to completion. Although a system must be developed for management and control of a project, it is people who make things happen.

A project management system serves as a guide for overall coordination of the entire project; however, some refinement and modification of the system is sometimes necessary for a particular project. People are the only resource that have the capability to detect problems and make the adjustments that are necessary to successfully manage a project. Thus, a project manager should not depend solely on the system of project management and neglect the importance of the people who are — sociated with the project.

To summarize, successful *project management* can best be described as *effective communications* between the people who perform the work that is necessary to complete the project. Management of any project requires coordination of the work of individuals who each provide an area of specialization. A successful project manager must be a good planner, dclegator, and communicator.

There is a tendency of some project managers to complain that the work is not being accomplished because of factors beyond their control. For example, a project manager may feel that team members are too inexperienced, or that it takes more time to explain what needs to be done than the time it takes to do it themselves, or fear that a mistake by a team member would be too costly. Other typical examples are the feeling that others are too busy and don't have time for additional assignments or that others avoid accepting responsibility. Although these factors are of concern, they and similar factors are a routine part of working with people and can be overcome with good management skills. Usually project managers have many years of experience of doing the work before their assignment of managing the work. Because they are familiar with what is required, they may prefer doing the work themselves rather than delegating it to others. The result is they become overworked from attempting to both do and manage the work, spend nights and week-ends devoted to their job, and then complain that the work is not accomplished because others are too inexperienced. A project manager must realize that others can only gain experience by doing the work; also that many times others **can** do the work just as well, if not better, than managers. The problem is acceptance of the fact that others may not do the work exactly the same way the manager would do it. The criterion should not be who can do the job best, but who can do the job satisfactorily. The project manager must balance accuracy and quality of the work for the entire project. The feeling that a person is too inexperienced can be overcome by close communications and training.

The feeling **by** project managers that it takes more time to explain the job than to do it themselves often results in the project manager doing the work, at nights or on week-ends. Many times a person can do the work quicker than explaining what is needed by others. However, if the work must be repeated on a particular project, or on future projects, it usually is more efficient to explain it to others one time so they are experienced in doing it in the future. Project managers must realize that before telling someone what to do, they must know what needs to be done themselves. A well-defined work plan, as discussed in previous chapters, provides the plan of action to effectively communicate job assignments to team members.

The accomplishment of a project usually involves high costs over an extended period of time with many risks. The fear that a mistake by a person would be too costly is a concern by every project manager. Because of this fear, a project manager may be reluctant to assign the work to others and end up doing the work himself or herself. The problem is the lack of confidence in others and the fear that they don't have sufficient judgement to handle the situation if a problem arises. The excuse that is often given is "If you want it done right, you must do it yourself." However, a good control system will help ensure that work is done right. Fear of taking a chance can prevent finding hidden ability.

Because everyone appears busy, a manager may be reluctant to assign work because of the feeling that others don't have time for additional assignments. This situation often arises when the work to be done requires the expertise that can only be performed by a small number of individuals. A system must be developed to ensure that people who are involved in the project are using their time efficiently. This is best accomplished by developing a well-defined project schedule at the beginning of the project, with participation and input from each person who will be involved. There is always enough time to do what is required.

Another complaint of some project managers is that people avoid accepting responsibility. People will avoid accepting responsibility if they fear unjust criticism if they make a mistake or feel they will receive inadequate recognition of their work. A manager must develop a project control system that protects a project from major mistakes that are catastrophic, yet tolerates minor mistakes that are inevitable. Some people simply find it easier to ask the manager than to decide themselves because some managers want to make all the decisions. A project manager must clearly define the work required because people tend to achieve what is expected of them.

ASSIGNMENT OF WORK

Project management involves coordinating the work rather than doing the work; therefore the project manager delegates the work to members of the project team. Assigning work to another person delegates authority and responsibility to that person to accomplish the work and to make decisions that may be necessary. However, delegating authority, responsibility, and decision making does not necessarily cause the project manager to relinquish control. A project manager may define different levels of delegation, such as complete the work and provide the results, propose the work to be performed and inform before proceeding, or perform part of the work and submit for review and approval.

Management involves assignment of work to the right person with a clear explanation of what is expected and when it must be completed. Because **miscommuni**cation is a common problem in project management, one must be certain that the other person understands what has been assigned. A project manager must give each person on the team an opportunity to do the job the way he or she wants to do it. Simply stated, "Their way is often as good as my way of doing a task."

A project manager should be reasonable in his or her expectations. If an assignment is not reasonably achievable, the person who is assigned to do the task usually will recognize this fact and resist pressure and responsibility. The best way to evaluate the reality of achieving an assigned task is to work with the person to obtain his or her assistance in defining the work that is required to achieve the final end result.

During the course of accomplishing work, many obstacles arise. A project manager must be accessible to explain things that may not be clearly understood and to make any adjustments that may be necessary. In short, the project manager must also be available when he or she is needed. Periodic team meetings are needed to keep the work flowing in a well-identified manner so that all concerned can work as a unit.

An effective project manager must lead the project team and reinforce the **confi**dence of individuals. Trust must be shown in their capability, intelligence, and judgement. The leader of any group must occasionally check with members to see what is going on and how they are doing. This builds confidence and respect among the team members, who in turn will strive to accomplish quality work.

A project manager must recognize and reward successful and outstanding performance. People relish this recognition and are entitled to it. Likewise, a manager should hold an employee responsible for unacceptable work, show why the work is unacceptable, where mistakes were made, determine how to improve the work and identify ways of preventing future problems.

Many project managers are assertive with a tendency to **rush** in and take over. Although each person must develop their own style of management, he or she must be cautious of overreacting to situations. With the right attitude and working relationship, problems can be changed to solutions in due time.

MOTIVATION

Experienced managers readily agree that there are all types of people: those who make things happen, those who watch things happen, those who don't know what's happening, and in some instances those who don't want to know what's happening. The project manager must devise methods to motivate each of these types of people.

Each member of a project team provides an expertise that is needed to accomplish a project. Usually individual team members are assigned to the project from **various** discipline departments by their respective supervisors. Although everyone works for the project, each person may report to a different supervisor. Therefore, the project manager as the leader of a project team is placed in a situation of motivating individuals who actually report to a **supervisor** other than the project **man**ager. Thus, the project manager must develop effective methods of motivating team members other than the traditional methods of promotion in title or salary.

Many managers believe that money is the best motivator of individuals. Obviously few people would work if they were not being paid. Although money may be a motivator to a certain degree, there are other factors that influence the motivation of people. Unless the pay is exceptionally different, there are other factors that must be considered. If money were the only motivator, the project manager would have a problem with motivation because he or she usually is not the person who directly establishes the pay of individual team members. Because most project managers have no control over pay rates, they must motivate by providing individual recognition and, most importantly, by challenging each team member with responsibilities and a chance to grow.

Many books have been written and numerous theories have been proposed related to motivating people. Most people are motivated by needs. As presented in Chapter 2, Maslow's theory of needs identifies five levels of needs that people strive to achieve: basic survival, safety, social, ego, and self-fulfillment. The theory proposes that an individual strives to satisfy the basic survival needs of food, clothing, and shelter. Upon satisfaction of these needs, a person strives for the next level of need; safety, which may include continued employment, financial security, etc. As each level of need is satisfied, the next higher level of need is sought. A project manager must strive to identify the needs of the people who are involved in the project in order to effectively motivate them. This is difficult to do during day-to-day activities, so it is sometimes desirable to associate with individuals outside the work environment. Many times an awareness of a person's interests and recognition of their needs is a positive step in understanding why they react to situations and can lead to productive motivation. Good management recognizes the motivational needs of each member of the team and develops methods to improve the performance of people.

Professional people seek job interest, recognition, and achievement. Everyone wants to feel important and to accomplish work. People who feel good about themselves produce good results; therefore a **project** manager should help people reach their full potential and recognize that everyone is a potential winner. This type of attitude among team members can create motivation for everyone.

DECISION MAKING

Numerous decisions must be made during management of a project that require a significant amount of time and effort on the part of the project manager. While many decisions are routine and can be made rapidly, others are significant and may have a major impact on the quality, cost, or schedule of a project.

Good decisions cannot be made unless the primary objectives and goals that are to be accomplished are known and understood. Decision making involves choosing a course of action from various alternatives. It is the duty of the project manager to know and clearly communicate the project objectives to all participants so their efforts can be focused on alternatives that apply to the desired end results. This is important because a significant amount of time and cost can be expended toward evaluation of alternatives that may solve a problem, but not pertain to the central objective to be achieved. The project manager must coordinate the effort of the project team to ensure a focused effort.

Decisions must be made in a timely manner to prevent delays in work that may impact the cost and/or schedule of a project. Most of the project decisions are made internally (within the project manager's organization), which can be managed relatively easy. However, some decisions are made externally (outside the project manager's organization) by owners or regulatory agencies, particularly in the review and approval process. Early in the project, the project manager must identify those activities that require external decisions so the appropriate information will be provided and the person can be identified who will be making the decisions. This must be included in the project schedule to alert the responsible parties so work is not disrupted and the project is not delayed due to lack of a decision at the proper time.

Many organizations have established policies regarding the authority for decision making that a project manager can refer to during management of a project. However, there are many times when others can be consulted who have had similar situations, and who can provide valuable opinions and assistance. Regardless of the situation, there is almost always another person who has had a similar problem.

The project manager should avoid crisis decisions, although many decisions are made under pressure. One must gather all pertinent information, forecast potential outcomes, think, and then use their best judgement to make the decision. It is not possible to anticipate all eventual outcomes, but with careful thought and review, one can eliminate the unlikely events. There is a certain amount of risk in everything we do and sometimes wrong decisions are made by good managers; however, new information may become available or changed circumstances may arise that will require a change in the previous decision. Decisiveness is required of a project manager to gain the respect of team members. A project manager must avoid procrastination and vacillation and should encourage decision making in team members. Indecision creates tension in most people, which causes stress and further indecisiveness. Failure to be decisive can cause many things to go wrong; no one knows what to do, work is not done because of lack of direction, all of which causes a waste in talent, resources, and time.

It is the responsibility of the project manager to ensure that appropriate decisions are made by the right people, at the right time and based on correct **information**. Once a decision is made it should be communicated to all participants involved in the project so all concerned will know what is to be done. This can be easily accomplished by distributing the minutes of the meeting (or record of the conversation) where the decision was made, with a highlight or flag to denote the decision.

TIME MANAGEMENT

Time is irreplaceable and vital to the personal and business life of everyone. A **proj**ect manager spends a large amount of time communicating and interacting with others who are involved in the project. Therefore, it is important that time is spent in a productive and effective manner. A project manager must be cautious, because there are always more interesting and worthwhile things to do than time allowed to do them.

An analysis of how time is spent is necessary in order to determine how effective time is used. Occasionally a time log of how major portions of one's time is spent should be maintained. A daily log should be compiled over two or three weeks that shows how much time is **spent** doing each activity, who was involved, and what was accomplished. Activities can be grouped by categories, such as telephone, meetings, unscheduled visitors. and **special** requests. An analysis of the distribution of time **by** categories will enable the project **manager** to determine where his or her time **is** spent most, so improvements can be made. It is usually easier to reduce a category of high expenditure of time by a small amount than it is to reduce a category of low expenditwe of time.

Common time wasters of project managers are unproductive telephone calls and meetings. Although the telephone is necessary for a manager to perform his or her work, it can be quite disruptive. There are times when calls should not be received so other tasks can be done. A secretary, assistant, or answering machine can intercept calls to assist in the management of telephone usage. Meetings are mandatory for project management. The most effective way to conduct a productive meeting is to prepare an agenda that is distributed to all attendees prior to the meeting. An agenda serves as a means of focusing discussions and following an organized coverage of information that should be disseminated. Table 13-1 provides a partial listing of common time wasters.

The project manager must set priorities and develop a system to manage his or her time. Tasks that are the least interesting can be scheduled at the peak of one's energy. There should be a thorough review to evaluate job activities that can be assigned to others and an analysis of work to **determine** how and what can be

TABLE 13-1 COMMON TIME WASTERS

- 1. Unproductive telephone calls
- 2. Unproductive meetings
- 3. Unscheduled visitors
- 4. Special requests
- 5. Attempting too much at once
- 6. Lack of goals and objectives
- 7. Procrastination on decisions
- 8. Involvement in routine items that others can handle
- 9. Inability to set and keep priorities
- 10. Inability to say no

combined or eliminated. Emphasis should be placed on long-term items, rather than short-term items that can often be delegated to others. Most people are more motivated by work that is planned than work that "just happens" at the moment. Priorities should be set and kept to effectively manage time.

COMMUNICATIONS

One of the most frequent sources of errors and misunderstandings in the management of a project and working with people is miscommunications. Too often, the "other person" does not hear or interpret the information the way it was intended. Communications may be oral (both speaking and listening) or written (both writing and reading). In each instance it is important that clear, coherent, and efficient communication skills exist to ensure successful work by all participants in a project. The project manager must realize that all people do not interpret the same thing in the same way and that a communication is of no value unless it is both received and understood.

The role of the project manager is analogous to the central server in the local area network of a computer system. He or she is responsible for the continuous and comprehensive flow of information to and from team members, with special attention to communicating information and decisions that may influence the project team's work. These communications include conversations, meetings, minutes, correspondence, reports, and presentations.

Much of the day-to-day work on a project is accomplished by informal exchanges of information among team members. Examples are telephone calls and informal meetings between two or more individuals. Although most of these exchanges are routine, some may impact the work of others or may impact project decisions related to scope, budget, or schedule. Informal exchanges of information that affect the scope, budget, or schedule must be documented into the written record at the next regularly scheduled team meeting.

The project manager should maintain a record of telephone conversations, including the names of parties in the conversation, date, time, place, items discussed,

Project	Title:
Name:	Date:
Title:	Time:
Firm:	Initiated by:
Items Discussed:	
Conclusions:	
Future Actions:	

FIGURE 13-1 Individual Telephone Log

and any pertinent information resulting from the exchange (reference Figure 13-1). Copies of telephone records should be maintained and filed with each project. It is sometimes helpful to maintain a master phone log that records each call for all projects that the project manager is responsible for. Each call can be recorded on one line which contains the date, time, number, person's name, and brief remarks that provide an outline of the conversation (see Figure 13-2). This master log can be cross-referenced to the individual telephone record, which contains the details of each conversation. A master log is helpful in keeping track of the overall work of the project manager.

The project manager must develop and practice good speaking skills. Conversations must be clear, coherent, and to the point without rambling. Thoughts and ideas should be organized in a systematic manner before communicating. This can be accomplished by knowing the objectives of the communication, for example, to give

Date	Time	Number	Name	Company	Project	Remarks
_						
-						
_						
_						
_						
_						



information, to get information, to make decisions, or to persuade someone. Consideration must also be given to timing and location to ensure the other person has your attention, because listening is an important **part** of communicating. It is often necessary to follow up a conversation to be certain the communication is received and understood. This can be done by obtaining feed-back.

PRESENTATIONS

As the prime contact person for the project, the project manager is the spokesperson who often makes **presentations** to the owner, agencies, boards, and other interested

parties. For an effective presentation, it is important to know the audience and to convey information that is of value and interest to the audience. A presentation is given for the audience, not the individual giving the presentation. It should be prepared from the audience's point of view and organized in a logical pattern so each part of the presentation will relate to other parts. Examples are problem to solution, unknown to known, cause to effect, or a chronological order.

A flaw of many presentations is an attempt to tell the audience too much, giving a step by step description of everything on the subject. A presentation **normally** has a limited time and the audience frequently is a busy group. **Therefore**, the presentation should be more of a summary of important factors of direct interest, leaving detailed information in a report that can be read later. Only a limited number of graphs, tables, or computer printouts can be presented so that they must be carefully chosen.

A presentation should begin with a title, which is a simple statement of the subject, followed by a brief overview of the material that is to be presented. During a presentation, the individual presenting the material must realize that the audience cannot remember every word that is said. To increase clarity and to emphasize key points, the key points can be repeated by selecting alternate words and phrases to bring out the same major ideas. This is necessary for effective speaking, but is not, and should not, be done in writing because a reader can reread material to clarify or understand what is written.

The speaker should define words and acronyms that he or she thinks the audience may not know or understand. This should be done at the time the words are used, not at the beginning or end of the presentation. Defining or clarifying word? ensures that the listener hears and understands what is being said. It also ensures that the listener is thinking about the presentation and focusing on the speaker's key points.

Visual aids greatly enhance any **presentation**, particularly tables of numbers, equations, and technical data. The value of visual aids is that the audience both hears and sees the presentation, which greatly increases their understanding and the amount of information they retain from the presentation. Visual aids also help the speaker keep the presentation flowing in a continuous manner. Computers that are used throughout the industry are capable of producing slides for presentation purposes from the data generated in graphic form. Current copy machines with enlarging and reducing capabilities can also be used to develop overhead transparencies of printed material, including computer-generated reports from laser printers.

Few people are impressed with complicated sentences or an attempt by the speaker to impress the audience. The level of detail that should be presented depends upon how much the audience knows about the subject. Therefore, it is best to know the audience. Simple and direct language should be used that presents the material so it is easily understood. To gain the attention of the audience, the speaker should not make the audience insecure. Apologies and negative comments should be avoided. A positive attitude should prevail, even when controversial subjects are being discussed.

The presentation should be summarized at the end, just as the audience was told the purpose of the presentation at the beginning. Also, adequate time should be allowed for questions and answers at the conclusion of the presentation.

MEETINGS

Numerous meetings are held throughout the duration of a project to exchange information and make decisions. The schedule for the regular team meetings should be defined at the beginning of the project as a part of the project work plan. The project manager chairs team meetings, which should be held weekly, preferably on the same day and time. Minutes of the meeting should record items discussed, decisions made, and actions to be taken (including the responsible person and the due date). Occasionally, special meetings may be held to discuss special problems or unforeseen situations. Minutes of these meetings should also be kept in the project files.

Other meetings are held with the owner to report progress or obtain approvals. Special meetings may be held with other interested parties, such as regulatory agencies or the general public. The project manager may not chair these meetings and often is accompanied by lead project team members to assist in discussing the issues related to the project.

Meetings should be conducted in an efficient manner because those in attendance are usually busy people who have other work that must be accomplished. An agenda provides an effective means of organizing a meeting to define and sequence the items that are to be discussed, to prevent discussions from wandering. The time required to conduct a meeting is also significantly reduced when an agenda is used to guide the discussions. An agenda can also prevent an individual from dominating the discussions and give each person an opportunity to participate.

Meetings should be started and finished on time. Starting late penalizes those who arrive on time and rewards those who arrive late. It is preferable to define the start and end time on the agenda. Meetings with constrained times will often cover as much material, if not more, than meetings that have an open-ended time.

Minutes should be prepared for every formal meeting. As previously noted, minutes of the meeting should record items discussed, decisions made, and actions to be taken (including the responsible person and the due date). Copies of the minutes should be distributed to all attendees and a record copy placed in the project file. Minutes provide each attendee with the opportunity to verify the items discussed and decisions made. Minutes also assist the project manager in preparing the agenda for the next meeting.

REPORTS AND LETTERS

Written communications document most of the activities of a project and often have major impacts related to decisions, costs, schedules, and legal matters. Because of this, all written material should be dated and written in a clear, concise, coherent, and legible manner. To be effective, one must consider who is going to read the material and the purpose of the writing, such as to obtain information, to give information, to clarify an item, or to submit a proposal for approval. As the leader of the project team the project manager must prepare status reports that describe the progress of a project. Many of these reports contain a significant amount of computer-generated graphs and tables with short written narratives. Other typical correspondence is in the form of letters or inter-office memorandums and minutes of meetings.

Although computers with graphic capabilities, word **processing** software, and laser **printers** have automated and enhanced written communication capabilities, the **project** manager must still rely on **his** or her own writing skills to **produce** a coherent written document. **Cutting**, pasting, merging, and spell checkers do not necessarily ensure a coherent document. For example, a spelling check of **a** document does not verify the correctness of the use of the words of to, too, or two. Likewise deleting or adding lines or paragraphs in one portion of a document can have a major impact on other portions of the document. Even small errors can lead to big problems and misunderstandings. Thus, a project manager must use special precautions to ensure a coherent document.

The arrangement and format of reports vary, depending on the material to be produced. Table 13-2 is a suggested format for a report. Letters should be written with

TABLE 13-2 REPORT FORMAT

1. Title page A. Report title, author, location, date

- 2. Table of contents
 - A. List of subject matter in chronological order with page numbers
- 3. Front matter
 - A. List of figures
 - B. List of tables
 - C. List of abbreviations
- 4. Introduction
 - A. Purpose of report
 - B. Scope of report, including what is contained in the report and what is not contained in the report
- 5. Main text of report
 - A. Test equipment used
 - B. Procedures used
 - C. Data obtained
 - D. Analysis of data
- 6. Summary/conclusions/recommendations
- 7. Appendix, for bulk data
- 8. List of references
TABLE 13-3 LETTER FORMAT

- 1. Introductory paragraph
 - A. State purpose of letter
 - B. State how the letter came about
- 2. Main body of letter
 - A. One or more paragraphs covering the subject matter
 - B. Bulk data should be placed in a separate attachment or enclosure
- 3. Final paragraph
 - **A.** Summary and conclusions
 - **B.** Leave open invitation for follow up from reader
 - C. Close with final good will sentences, such as, Thank you for your consideration in this matter.

at least three paragraphs: an introductory paragraph, the main body of the letter (one or more paragraphs), and the final closing paragraph, (see Table 13-3).

QUESTIONS FOR CHAPTER 13—PERSONAL MANAGEMENTSKILLS

- 1 List and briefly discuss the reasons that people may give for not accepting responsibility at work. As a project manager, what can you do to prevent the problem of people not accepting responsibility?
- 2 Many individuals believe that money is the primary motivator of people. Describe several methods, other than money, that a project manager can use for motivating people.
- **3** Describe methods that a project manager can use to reduce each of the common time **wasters** that are shown in Table 13-1.
- 4 The assignment of work is an important part of the work of a project manager. List and briefly explain guidelines that a project manager can use for assigning work.
- 5 Some people have difficulty in differentiating between big decisions and little problems. Describe guidelines for assisting a project manager in decision making.
- 6 The project manager is responsible for conducting numerous meetings during the life of a project. List and discuss the factors that a project manager should consider in conducting a meeting.

REFERENCES

- Blanchard, K. and Johnson, S., *The One Minute Manager*, William Morrow and Company, Inc., New York, 1982.
- 2 Culp, G. and Smith, A., *Managing People (Including Yourself) for Project Success*, Van Nostrand Reinhold, NY, 1999.
- 3 Dinsmore, P. C., Martin, M. D., and Huettel, G. T., *The Project Manager's Work Environment: Coping with Stress*, The Project Management Institute, Newtown Square, PA, 1981.
- 4 Herzberg, F., "One More Time: How Do You Motivate Employees?," *Harvard Business Review 46*, No. 1, January–February 1968.

- 5 Hopper, J. R., *Human Factors of Project Organization*, Source Document No. 58, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, September 1990.
- 6 Kirchof, N. and Adams, J. R., *Conflict Management for Project Managers*, Project Management Institute, Newtown Square, PA, 1982.
- 7 Luthens, F., Organizational Behavior, 2nd ed., McGraw-Hill, Inc., New York, 1977.
- 8 Maslow, A. H., *Motivation and Personality*, Harper & Row Publishing Co., New York, 1954.
- 9 McGregor, D., The Human Side of Enterprise, McGraw-Hill, Inc., New York, 1960.
- 10 Mitchell, T., R., People in Organizations, McGraw-Hill, Inc., New York 1982
- 11 Peters, T. J., In Search of Excellence, Harper & Row Publishing Co., New York, 1982.
- 12 Stuckenbruck, L. C. and Marchall, D., *Team Building for Project Managers*, Project Management Institute, Newtown Square, PA, 1985.

14

TOTAL QUALITY MANAGEMENT

BACKGROUND

Considerable attention has been given to the Total Quality Management (TQM) concept that emphasizes teamwork at all levels of an organization to improve the quality of a project and achieve maximum customer satisfaction. Much of this attention is due to the successful application of TQM in the manufacturing and electronics industries, particularly in Japan where the TQM concept started in the early 1950s. The TQM philosophy concentrates on process improvement, customer and supplier involvement, teamwork, and training to achieve customer satisfaction, cost effectiveness, and defect-free quality work.

TQM management philosophy focuses on continuously improving the process that makes the product, rather than attempting to inspect or test the product to achieve quality. The approach uses statistics to control the process: where management's role is not to solve all the system problems, but to provide workers with the tools that are necessary for them to effectively address the problems in the system.

Much of the TQM concept is attributed to the teachings of Drs. W. Edward Deming and Joseph M. Juran, who, with other experts from the United States, assisted the Japanese in improving the quality of their products beginning in the early 1950s. At that time the Japanese products were burdened with defects and were considered inferior to products that were manufactured by other countries. Deming made several trips to Japan to conduct seminars on statistical process control, and building quality into the manufacturing process. He emphasized that the majority of the problems encountered in manufacturing are with the process and that statistics can be used to control that process. Juran outlined a managerial approach to quality control and focused on achieving customer satisfaction through a project team approach with **project-by-project** improvement. He emphasized the importance of training at all levels, from workers to top management. In all instances, the emphasis is placed on continual improvements.

Many articles and books have been written that describe TQM and methods of implementing TQM that refer to the work of Deming and Juran. In 1986, Dr. Deming published a book entitled *Out* of *the Crisis*, which defines 14 points or steps to achieve quality. Table 14-1 is a condensed summary of the 14 points of Deming's management theory.

TABLE 14-1 DEMING'S 14 POINTS

- Create constancy of purpose for improvement of product and service. This includes both immediate solutions to today's problems and long-range planning for the future.
- 2. Adopt the new philosophy. This charge is not only to the management and work force of the company, but encompasses the responsibilities of government as well.
- 3. Cease dependence on mass inspection to achieve quality. The problem is not with the defective products found during inspection, but in the system that created them.
- 4. End the practice of awarding business on the basis of price tag alone. Instead, minimize total cost by working with a single supplier.
- 5. Improve constantly and forever the system of production and service. Quality must be built in at the design stage.
- 6. Institute training on the job. Ensure eveyone understands their job and has the training to do it.
- 7. Adopt and institute leadership. The job of management is not supervision, but leadership.
- 8. Drive out fear. People do their best work when they feel secure. Encourage contributions from everyone to improve the system.
- Break down barriers between staff areas. Instead of optimizing the efforts of individual departments, the effort should be made to develop a team approach for the good of the company.
- **10.** Eliminate slogans, exhortations, and targets for the work force. Such devices cultivate resentment when there are flaws in the system hampering optimum performance.
- 11. Eliminate numerical quotas for the work force and numerical goals for the management. Quotas either breed a sense of failure when they are not met or stifle incentive if they are met too easily.
- 12. Remove barriers that rob people of pride of workmanship. Eliminate the annual rating or merit system.
- **13.** Institute a vigorous program of education and self-improvement for everyone. Allow people to improve themselves and broaden their knowledge with continuing education.
- 14. Take action to accomplish the transformation. The best made plans for improving the system are worthless unless they are put into action.

The Construction Industry Institute (CII) is a national research organization founded as a result of the Construction Industry Cost Effectiveness task force study of the Business Roundtable. The purpose of CII is to improve the cost effectiveness of the construction industry by identifying research needs, conducting the research, and assisting in implementation of the results.

The CII created a Quality Management Task Force to conduct research in the construction industry to identify attributes of quality management organizations and techniques that have been considered to be effective in the construction industry. The objectives of the task force were to identify the reasons for the effectiveness of the attributes, how they were developed and implemented, and to recommend generic guidelines for implementing improved quality management in the construction industry. CII Source Document No. 51 records the findings of the research done by the task force.

The CII task force concluded that an integrated approach of TQM and quality assurancelquality control is required to improve the quality of the products and services provided by the construction industry. Construction companies have, with minor modifications, adopted the methods and concepts of TQM that are being used in the United States manufacturing industry and have applied them to their operations.

The development and implementation of a TQM approach must be tailored to the specific needs of an organization. Aprogram cannot simply be adopted from a consultant and implemented. There must be action behind the words and ceremony, and this can only be accomplished by the understanding and involvement of senior management. Management must participate in the implementation process and be fully committed to it if TQM is to succeed.

The use of a small, well-placed, pilot project is an effective method for gaining acceptance of TQM among the employees and management of a company. The TQM process takes about three years before it is accepted throughout a company, and significant results are achieved.

Training for TQM will not succeed unless both the technical and humanistic aspects are addressed. The more technical the processes, the more the emphasis should be placed on the training of interpersonal and communication skills. The topics and examples used in the training effort should be integrated with the actual work processes of the individuals being trained. The employees should apply newly learned skills to their jobs as quickly as possible.

Statistical methods are being effectively applied to engineering and construction processes and are being used to identify and solve problems and to improve processes. For tracking to be utilized effectively, employees and management must first understand the fundamental concepts of TQM and the purpose for controlling and constantly improving their processes.

Owners and contractors are seeking improved relationships with each other and with vendors and subcontractors. Partnership agreements are being formed between owners and contractors. Both owners and contractors are seeking to reduce their numbers of qualified vendors. The following sections in this chapter are excerpts from Appendix A of CII Source Document No. 51 that describes the basic principles and essential elements of TQM in construction terms, to demonstrate their applicability to the construction industry, and to outline the implementation of the TQM process. The basic principles of TQM are customer satisfaction and continuous improvement. The elements of TQM form the framework that supports the principles of customer satisfaction and continual improvement. The seven elements identified in the CII report are management commitment and leadership, training, teamwork, statistical methods, cost of quality, supplier involvement, and customer service. Although there is no industry standard for implementing TQM, the CII research identified the following four steps that have been used to successfully implement TQM: preparation and planning, implementation of the plan, measuring and verifying the implementation, and evaluating the results and continuing on to the next preparation and planning stage.

CUSTOMER SATISFACTION

Customer satisfaction and continuous improvement are the fundamental goals of TQM and therefore are the principles upon which it is based. All the efforts undertaken in TQM are directed toward a target of satisfying the customer through continuously improving upon the present methods and procedures that govern the work. The two principles are interdependent and are accomplished through the elements of TQM.

The function of the construction industry is to provide clients with facilities or structures that meet their needs. For a company to remain in business this service must be provided at a competitive cost. TQM is a management philosophy that effectively determines the needs of the client and provides the framework, environment, and culture for meeting them at the lowest possible cost. By ensuring quality at each stage in the construction process, from conception through completion, the quality of the final product will in turn satisfy the customer.

Customers may be either internal or external. External customers are not part of the company producing the product or service, but they are impacted by it. For engineering, the products are the plans and specifications and the customers are the owner and the construction organization responsible for the construction. For construction, the product is the completed facility and the customer is the final user of the facility. These products are intended to satisfy the needs of an external customer.

There are also customers within the design firm and the construction organization. These internal customers receive products and information from other groups or individuals within their organization. Satisfying the needs of these internal customers is an essential part of the process of supplying the external customer with a quality product.

Every party in the process has three roles: supplier, processor, and customer. Juran defines this as the "triple role" concept. These three **roles** (supplier, processor, and customer) are carried out at every level of the construction process: corporate, division, department, work group, and individual. This concept is illustrated in



Figure 14-1, where the architect/engineer (A/E) is a customer of the owner, a processor of the design, and a supplier of plans and specifications to the contractor.

The contractor is a customer of the A/E's plans and specifications, a processor of the construction, and a supplier of the completed structure to the owner. The success of this complete process is highly dependent on the effectiveness of the design that is prepared by the A/E firm. The ability to influence the level of quality in the completed project declines as the project progresses. This concept emphasizes the importance of securing customer input, both internal and external, into the planning stages of the project.

CONTINUAL IMPROVEMENT

To achieve TQM, management has two functions. First, to maintain and incrementally improve current methods and procedures through process control, and second, to direct the efforts necessary to achieve major technological advances in engineering and construction processes through innovation.

The incremental improvement and maintenance functions are achieved through process improvement and control. In every engineering and construction organization, there are processes by which **all** work is accomplished. Each phase of the construction process, from conceptual design to project close out, is itself a process. Similarly, there are innumerable processes that together make up the construction process.



Through the use of flow diagrams every process can be broken down into stages where work flows in, changes state, and moves on to the next stage. Within each stage input changes to output and, through continual improvement, the methods and procedures directing the change of state can be continually improved to better satisfy the customer at the next stage. Those in each stage work closely with both their supplier (preceding stage) and their customer (following stage) to optimize the work process. As a team, those in all the stages work together to achieve a quality level to satisfy the customer.

Deming's Plan-Do-Check-Act (PDCA) cycle, see Figure 14-2, symbolizes a problem analysis process for narrowing the gap between customer needs and present performance. It is a systematic procedure for incrementally improving methods and procedures by focusing on the correction and prevention of defects. This is accomplished by removing the root causes of problems and continuously establishing and revising standards.

The PDCA cycle consists of four processes, occurring over time, that are continuously rotated. This cycle can be applied to all processes, and PDCA systems of individual organizations and functions can be integrated and rotated together. The specific steps that are taken within each process are outlined in Figure 14-3.

The eight steps of Figure 14-3 are executed continuously with two intended results. First, to ensure continual incremental improvements in methods and procedures, and second, to ensure that the improvements already made are maintained. This dual purpose concept of the PDCA cycle is illustrated in Figure 14-4.

The second primary function of management under TQM is to support, by research and development, the advancement of engineering and construction technology and management techniques. Through innovation, major shifts in present levels of engineering and construction performance can be achieved. Once established, these new levels of performance must be maintained by the PDCA cycle in





order to prevent their deterioration. Without any effort toward stabilizing and upgrading the newly established system, its decline will be inevitable. The relationship between incremental improvements, innovation, and maintenance is illustrated in Figure 14-5.

Maintenance

There is a strong relationship between the vitality of an industry and its research and development efforts. To remain competitive, the construction industry needs to make a concerted effort in research and development. Most of the research and development is sponsored by the federal government, as well as by materials and



equipment manufacturers. In general, private engineering and design firms dedicate virtually none of their revenues to research and development.

MANAGEMENT COMMITMENT

TQM can only be successful under a senior management system that is honestly concerned with the long-term well-being of the company. It is a philosophy of doing business that fosters attitudes for improvements that permeate throughout an organization. Top management must embrace these attitudes and incorporate them into the everyday operation of the company. This commitment must be coupled with a thorough understanding of TQM that enables members of senior management to lead their company in a quality revolution. Supported by this commitment and understanding, senior management can personally establish new goals and directions for the company and then lead the management teams toward the attainment of those goals and directions.

The first step for management is to recognize that there is a problem. The 85-15 rule advocated by both Deming and Juran is that 85% of the problems in business today are caused by the system within which people work.

The prominent method of management that is practiced today is management by control and not by participation. For example, top management may set goals to be achieved for the next year and then assign subordinates the responsibility of achieving these goals by imposing controls on each of their subordinates.



The Deming Chain Reaction. Source: Cll Source Document No. 51. Also Reference No. 4.

In construction terms, cost, schedule, and quality goals are established for each project. Project managers in both design and construction are rewarded on the basis of achieving these goals. Although this method has often been successful, there are problems associated with it when the work gets displaced by the controls themselves. If the measurable controls are unattainable or impractical, individuals and groups tend to fabricate conformance. In other situations there may be contradictions between the controls of different departments, which can lead to accusations and adversarial relations.

Management by control encourages an organization to look inward at its own structures, rather than outward at the world in which the customer operates. Once management realizes the presence of negative aspects in its current style of management, it can begin to understand how TQM can benefit the company. Deming illustrates the benefits of TQM with a chain reaction sequence as shown in Figure 14-6.

After management acknowledges that there is a problem, the next step for management is to develop a clear understanding of the underlying principles and elements that constitute TQM. **Management** can then demonstrate, through action, their commitment to quality.

TRAINING

Using the TQM concept, quality becomes everyone's responsibility, and the training plan must be targeted for every level of the company. There should be customized training plans for management, engineers, technicians, home and field office staff, support personnel, and field labor.

The training effort should include instruction in the basics of TQM: **cause** and effect analysis, team problem solving, interpersonal communication and interaction, rudimentary statistical methods, and cost of quality measurement. An orientation to the basic concepts and procedures of TQM provides employees with the fundamental knowledge that can be linked to the instruction of the more technical topics. The concepts and procedures of each of the quality experts are necessary in this orientation, but they are not sufficient in themselves. The different approaches are interdependent and should be combined and tailored to fit the organization for which they are intended.

Skills in human interaction, leadership, and initiative are instrumental to the success of any quality improvement effort. The demands on the interpersonal skills that are required increase as the complexity and sophistication of the technical systems increase. These skills should be developed before, or at least in conjunction with, the development of the foundation skills of TQM.

Quality managers can play an important role in the training effort and in transforming the culture of the organization. By leading the training effort, they can provide support to the other parts of the organization and act as a catalyst for change. They should take the lead in demonstrating how TQM, through an obsession with quality, teamwork, and process control, can lead to dramatic improvements in quality and productivity on projects. They should make certain that every individual in the company is aware of the improvement efforts within the company and of changes being made in other companies. They should assist in tracking the TQM implementation effort and ensuring a smooth transition.

Training should not be limited to the technical issues and concepts, it must also address human behavioral issues. The greater the complexity of the technical requirements, the greater the need for communication, leadership, and other interpersonal skills.

For the most part, training should be carried out by the managers and peers of those being trained. Management personnel demonstrate their commitment to the training program through their active participation and support and use the training to teach the new organizational vision and values. Assistance from outside consultants should be limited. Training is a job requirement and everyone should be involved in the training effort, from executive management to newly hired personnel.

The training effort should he tailored to the group to which it is being administered. The subject matter should be relevant to the particular job function of the group being trained, with examples and problems that have practical applications. Methods and techniques taught through the training effort should be applied to the job as quickly as possible. Immediate application of the newly acquired skills helps the team to retain the skills, because once a problem is solved in the field the enthusiasm for the new methods will increase.

Follow-up training is essential. The retraining of the work teams should be part of the overall training plan and a job requirement for each individual.

TEAMWORK

Quality teams provide companies with the structured environment that is necessary for the successful implementation and continuous application of the TQM process. Quality training is conducted and the continuous improvement process is executed through a well-planned team structure. The ultimate goal of the team approach is to get everyone, including vendors, subcontractors, and customers, involved with the TQM process. Teamwork is an effort led by management to more effectively utilize the vast resource potential of the labor force.

The focal point of the quality team organization is a central advisory committee that is responsible for establishing the team structure and developing the policies and procedures for the implementation process and team formation. The advisory committee oversees and directs the TQM process. Once the quality teams are established, the advisory committee continues to provide direction for maintaining the TQM process. The membership of the committee depends on the needs of the company and is generally determined by the senior management supporting the TQM implementation. The initial training of the advisory committee is generally an orientation to the TQM concepts. They must develop an understanding of the basic TQM concepts and their benefits, learn how to adapt the present management philosophy to TQM concepts, and understand the policies and procedures used by the quality teams and their roles as policy makers.

Supporting the advisory committee is an internal quality consultant, or depending on the size of the organization, a group of quality consultants. The consultant is a resource to the whole organization; is responsible for assisting in establishing the TQM systems, developing training materials, and training team leaders; and acts as a liaison between levels of management and employees for the coordination of all activities for the teams.

The consultant must have an extensive knowledge of TQM that has been developed over a long period of time relative to the training effort for the other individuals in the company. Generally, these consultants are industrial engineers or quality managers who have been educated in a university, at another company, or through their own initiative. Depending on the size of the organization, steering teams may be necessary at the department level to assist the advisory committee and the consultant group.

The team meetings are chaired by a team leader who is usually a supervisor or manager. During the team meetings the leader is not in a role of authority, but rather in a role of a discussion moderator that facilitates the problem solving process. To be effective, they must possess certain skills that are quite different from the traditional style of being a boss. The training for the team leaders includes communication skills, group dynamics, statistical methods, presentation skills, problem solving methods, and group leadership skills. The leaders are key persons to the teams just as the quality consultants are key persons to the TQM movement.

The membership of the quality team is voluntary and ranges from 3 to 15 persons, with an average of about 8. The team members work together to continuously study their particular work process, to identify and solve work-related problems. The team identifies factors contributing to the problem and prioritizes them in order of importance. Once this is completed the team determines a specific goal for improvement.

After selecting an area for improvement, the team identifies and verifies the causes of the problems and then develops solutions to the most significant root causes of the problem. The solutions are then implemented, their effectiveness is checked, and any necessary modifications are made. Steps are then taken to ensure that any recurrence of the problem is prevented and the result is standardized. Finally, as a follow-up measure, the effectiveness of the new standard is continuously tracked and the team begins to look for ways to improve the improvement.

Usually, the teams meet for approximately one hour a week during working hours, to demonstrate management's support and commitment. As time passes, the team meetings should be accepted as a normal part of the job requirements. Initially, the meeting agenda is divided equally between training and the improvement process. The members are trained in planning and controlling projects, brainstorming, flow charting, graphing, statistics, promotional and public relations, presentation techniques, and cost/benefit analysis.

STATISTICAL METHODS

Statistical methods provide essential problem solving tools to the TQM process. They provide teams with the tools to identify and separate the causes of quality problems by communicating them in a precise language that can be understood by all the team members. They verify, repeat, and reproduce measurements that are based on data, rather than relying on opinions and preferences of individuals or groups. Statistical methods determine the past, present, and, to a lesser degree, the future status of a work process.

The most commonly used statistical methods in the TQM problem solving process are known as statistical tools. The following paragraphs are a brief description of some of the tools. Illustrative examples of each tool are shown in Figure 14-7.

Data obtained from work processes can be defined in terms of a distribution about a certain value. The histogram is a type of bar chart that illustrates the distribution pattern of measured or counted data (see Figure 14-7a). The primary function of the histogram is to identify problems by analyzing the shape of the distribution, its central tendency, and the nature of the dispersion.

The cause-and-effect diagram, sometimes called a fishbone diagram, is used to graphically analyze the characteristics of a process (see Figure 14-7b). It is a tool for systematic analysis of effects and the causes that create or contribute to those effects. The effects can be either problems that are to be corrected or the desired results to be achieved when a problem has been solved. It helps to identify the root causes of problems and determine cause-and-effect relationships.

The purpose of a check sheet is to provide a method of efficiently recording data in a way that makes it easy to obtain and use (see Figure 14-7*c*). Check sheets are used to determine how often an event occurs over a designated period of time. Data are collected and tabulated on the check sheet during the routine checking of the process. Although the purpose of a check sheet is to track data, not to analyze data, check sheets often help to indicate what the problem is.

Pareto diagrams illustrate the relative importance of problems, conditions, or their causes (see Figure 14-7d). Named for Vilfredo Pareto, a 19th century economist who worked with income and other unequal distributions, a Pareto analysis is designed to identify inequalities. The diagram assists the team in separating the "vital few" from the "trivial many," enabling a person to select the areas that should be addressed first. The basic concept behind a Pareto analysis involves the ranking of data in descending order. The diagram may be used with or without a cumulative curve. The cumulative curve represents the percentage sum of the vertical bars in the Pareto diagram.

Flow charts are used to show the inputs, activities, decision points, and outputs for a given process. Arrows are used to interconnect the activities to be completed



and the decisions to be made (see Figure 14-7e). A flow chart can be constructed to show the exchange of information in the design effort to identify areas of potential miscommunication. Flow charts can also be used by groups to methodically identify the steps in the problem solving process.

Control charts are used to detect abnormal trends that occur outside of the normal limits of variability (see Figure 14-7*f*). The chart is a basic line graph with the addition of three control lines at the center, top, and bottom levels. The center line is either the average daily value (X) or the daily range (R), the top line is the upper control limit (UCL), and the **bottom** line is the lower control limit (LCL). The data are plotted as a line graph and the trends and situations are analyzed.

Scatter diagrams are point plots of two variables of corresponding data (see Figure 14-7g). Any relationship between the variables is illustrated by the distribution of the points.

Force-field analysis can be used to identify those forces that both help and hinder an organization or group from where it is to where it wants to be. Developed by the organizational researcher Kurt Lewin, a force-field analysis is usually performed by a group that is working on a particular problem. A line is drawn down the center of a flip chart to represent the "as-is" situation (what currently exists). At the right-hand edge of the sheet, a second vertical line is drawn parallel to the first representing the situation as it should be, that is, the desired state. Using one or more of the tools for collecting and generating information, the group identifies and lists the helping forces to the left of the center line and the hindering forces to the right of the center line. The forces are often shown as arrows (see Figure 14-7h). Once the analysis is complete the group can use the information to generate potential solutions that will increase the number or strength of helping forces and/or decrease the number or strength of hindering forces.

COST OF QUALITY

The cost of quality is considered by both Crosby and Juran as the primary quality measurement tool. In their approaches it is used to track the effectiveness of the TQM process, to select quality improvement projects, and to provide cost justification to anyone doubting the TQM process. By bringing together the easily assembled costs of review, inspection, testing, scrap, and rework, one can demonstrate an accumulation of expenses to convince management and others of the need for TQM.

Quality costs are broken down into two categories: the cost of prevention and appraisal and the cost of failure. The breakdown of these costs is show below:

Quality costs = Control costs + Failure costs Control costs = Prevention costs + Appraisal costs Failure costs = Internal failure costs + External failure costs

In terms of construction, the prevention costs are the costs resulting from quality activities employed to avoid deviations. The appraisal costs consist of costs incurred from quality activities employed to determine whether a product, process, or service conforms to established requirements. The failure costs are the costs resulting from not meeting the requirements. Internal failure costs are the costs incurred on the project site due to scrap, rework, failure analysis, reinspection, supplier error, or price reduction due to nonconformance. External failure costs are costs that are incurred once the project is in the hands of the client. These include costs for adjustments of complaints, repairs, handling and replacement of rejected material, workmanship, correction of errors, and litigation costs.

Cost of quality has received increasing attention in recent years. It is effective in its intended purpose of raising awareness about quality, identifying improvement opportunities, and communicating to management, in terms of dollars, the benefits of TQM. The cost of quality is only one element of the TQM process.

Related to quality, Deming addresses invisible amounts as "unknown and unknowable" and stresses that management must take them into consideration if a company is to remain successful. Examples of unknown and unknowable benefits include the return of business of a happy customer and the lost business of an unhappy customer. Also included is the improved productivity of a satisfied employee and the lost productivity of a dissatisfied employee.

SUPPLIER INVOLVEMENT

The concept of continually improving work processes is one of the fundamental principles of TQM. The ability to produce a quality product depends largely on the relationships between the parties involved in the process: the supplier, the processor, and the customer. The quality of any process downstream is dependent upon the quality of the process upstream. This concept applies to both internal and external customers. The quality of the project built by the constructor is directly related to the quality of the plans and specifications of the designer, the quality of the materials and equipment supplied by the vendors, and the quality of the work performed by the subcontractors. Close and **long-term** relationships with the suppliers to the construction process are required if the contractor is to achieve the best economy and quality.

Traditionally, in the construction industry, contractors, subcontractors, and vendors are all pitted against one another to compete on the basis of low bid contracts. The fourth point of Deming's 14 points stresses that companies should end the practice of awarding business on the basis of a price tag alone.

Successful projects in the future will be decided on the basis of quality (life-time cost of the product and not the initial cost) and supplier responsiveness, which can only be achieved through partnership relationships. These relationships will involve fewer suppliers and they will be based on mutual trust.

The new responsibility of procurement managers will be to continuously work on improvement issues in their relationships with their suppliers. Some of these improvement issues include improving how purchase orders are placed and improving the quality of information provided to contractors, subcontractors, and vendors. Other improvement issues include establishing better materials management systems and improving the understanding of the contractor's, subcontractor's, and vendor's internal requirements.

The benefits of these efforts will show in simplified paperwork and the accounting procedures, reduced uncertainty stemming from working with different suppliers from project to project, and improved methods and procedures through team effort with the suppliers.

CUSTOMER SERVICE

TQM is a process that requires universal involvement to be successful. This includes the involvement of the client. As more and more companies adopt the TQM process and demand for improved quality increases, this concept will become increasingly important.

Customer satisfaction is achieved by extending the TQM concept to the customer in the form of joint teams. These joint teams are responsible for establishing joint goals, plans, and controls. The teams provide a mechanism for listening to and communicating with the customer and for measuring the level of customer satisfaction. The organizational machinery, methods, and tools needed for establishing these joint teams are quite similar to those used for internal customers. The only two roadblocks to establishing joint teams are the state of legal independence between companies and their traditional methods of working together.

IMPLEMENTATION

For many companies TQM is a significant shift away from the standards of management practiced in the past. The task of bringing about that revolutionary change throughout an entire organization is a tremendous undertaking that requires the patient support and leadership of management. Just deciding where to begin can be the most difficult step in the implementation process. Although there are no standard procedures for implementing quality improvement, there are some steps that are common to companies that have successfully implemented TQM. These steps for implementation are similar to the four stages of the PDCA cycle:

- **1** Preparation and planning
- 2 Implementation of the plan
- **3** Measuring and verifying the implementation
- 4 Evaluating the results and continuing onto the next preparation and planning stage

Senior management should first make itself familiar with the concepts, tools, and methods of TQM. This can be accomplished by visiting companies that have successfully implemented TQM, watching training (video) tapes, attending seminars, and reading books developed by quality experts. Numerous articles have been published on quality management. All these sources are effective in introducing senior management to TQM and assisting them in developing a new guiding philosophy for the company.

As senior management becomes familiar with TQM it should begin to assemble the quality supporting structure for implementing TQM on some selected pilot projects. The quality support structure consists of an advisory committee comprised of leaders from different areas and levels of the company, a quality consultant group comprised of quality managers versed in TQM, and steering teams at the department level for directing the implementation effort into the departments.

The advisory committee, together with the assistance of the quality management consultants, should then begin formulating the quality approach they want to apply to the company. The formulation of a "customized" quality approach is important to the success of the implementation effort. Management should not simply purchase a "program" and blindly apply it to the company. The concepts from all the available approaches are valuable, but some companies have difficulty implementing them into their owner operation. They should work to tailor an approach that best suits the culture and requirements of their particular company. This can be accomplished by either adapting a program that is provided by one of the quality experts or by studying all the different concepts and developing a customized approach that best suits the needs of the company.

As the new approach is formed and the advisory group's understanding of TQM increases, the advisory group can begin working on a detailed plan for implementing the TQM process throughout the company. This involves the preparation of a new and carefully worded company mission statement, vision statement, and a quality policy exemplifying the commitment of management to quality. At this time, the advisory group determines the funding arrangements for team training and activities. Annual and mid-term (5–7 years) goals for the TQM process should be developed. Publicizing and promoting the TQM process and educating every employee about the approach and its progress should be included. Methods and procedures for recognizing team success stories should also be included.

The implementation process should begin with carefully selected pilot projects and, as the momentum of the process increases, the effort should be extended to the rest of the company. Included in the implementation plan should be control points and measures of the implementation effort, to track its effectiveness and make any necessary improvements.

The next step is the announcement to the employees of management's commitment to implementing TQM, the reasons for the decision, and the future benefits. This is followed by the formation of steering teams at the department level for directing quality improvement efforts in each of the departments of the company. The quality consultant group provides assistance to the steering teams to extend the TQM process into the quality teams within the departments.

Training is carried out as the quality teams develop and is applied to real problems as soon as possible. The team structure is also used to communicate the new company quality policies and goals, throughout the organization, to unify the improvement efforts. As the implementation effort establishes momentum, the success stories from the pilot projects are used to sell TQM to the rest of the company.

The implementation effort is a carefully planned and tightly controlled process. As the process develops, the effectiveness should be compared against measures at the control points that were established at the preparation and planning stage. These measures should be carefully monitored and their conformance to the initial plan should be verified. Any deviations from the established plan should be investigated and removed through the PDCA problem solving process.

REFERENCES

- **1** Burati, J. L., *Total Quality Management: The Competitive Edge*, Publication No. 10-4, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, April 1990.
- 2 Burati, J. L. and Farrington, J. L., *Costs of Quality Deviations in Design and Construction*, Source Document No. 29, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, August 1987.
- 3 Crosby, P. B., Quality is Free, McGraw-Hill, Inc., New York, 1979.
- 4 Deming, W. E., *Out of the Crisis*, Massachusetts Institute of Technology Press, Cambridge, MA, 1986.
- 5 Garvin, D. A., "Quality on the Line," *Harvard Business Review*, Cambridge, MA, October 1983.
- 6 Juran, J. M., Juran on Leadership for Qualify, Macmillan, Inc., New York, 1989.
- 7 Juran, J. M., Juran on Planning for Quality, Macmillan, Inc., New York, 1988.
- 8 Matthews, M. F. and Burati, J. L., *Quality Management Organizations and Techniques*, Source Document No. 51, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, August 1989.
- 9 Paulson, B. C., "Competitiveness in Construction," *Impact of International Competitiveness on Construction Technology*, ASCE, Reston, VA, May 1988.
- 10 Peters, T. J., Thriving on Chaos, Harper & Row Publishing Co., New York, 1987.
- 11 Scherkenbach, W. W., *The Deming Route to Quality and Productivity*, CEE Press Books, Washington, D.C., 1988.
- 12 Sidwell, A. C., Van Metzinger, W. A., and Tucker, R. L., *Japanese, Korean, and U.S. Construction Industries,* Source Document No. 37, Construction Industry Institute, Austin, TX, July 1988.
- 13 Tatum, C. B., "Winning with Advanced Construction Technology," *Impact of International Competitivenesson Construction Technology*, ASCE, Reston, VA, May 1988.
- 14 Tucker, R. L., "The Role of Civil Engineering Research," *Journal of Professional Issues in Engineering* ASCE, Reston, VA, July 1988.
- 15 Vorba, L. L. and Oberlender, G. D., "A Methodology for Quality Design," *Project Management Symposium*, Project Management Institute, Newtown Square, PA, October 1991.



EXAMPLE PROJECT

STATEMENT OF WORK

This example project is an actual project that has been reduced in size and simplified for illustrative purposes. The management of this type of project is discussed in the previous chapters of this book. Chapter 3 presented a discussion of the owner's study, including the needs assessment and project objectives. A discussion of project budgeting based on square foot estimating is presented in Chapter 5. The work breakdown **structure** and development of the project work plan (Chapter 6), a discussion of project scheduling (Chapter 8), and project tracking (Chapter 9) presented pertinent information for this project.

The project is a service facility that consists of an industrial building (Building A) for servicing equipment and vehicles and an employee's administrative office building (Building B) for management of the operation of the service facility. A warehouse building (Building C) is proposed as a future addition to the project, but is not initially included in the project scope due to constraints in the owner's budget. Site-work consists of grading, drainage, and all on-site utilities that are required for operation of the service facility. The project is located on **100** acres of land. Figure A-1 is a site plan that shows the layout of buildings, driveways, and parking areas.

The scope of work includes engineering, procurement, and construction for the site-work and two buildings. **A** soil investigation, legal boundary survey, and contour map is provided by the owner. Figure **A-2** shows the contour map. Special procurement includes the overhead crane for Building **A** and the elevator conveying system for Building B. The maintenance building has a 40-foot clear ceiling height, with a 20-ton overhead crane. The owner anticipates 45 employees will be using the building during a day shift and plans expansion of work to include a **night** shift at a future date. A small office area and a shop with machining equipment is to be located in the maintenance building. **A** wash-down area is to be provided for washing and servicing of truck vehicles. The employee's office building is a two-story structure that will be used by 70 employees who will be involved in clerical work. Aconference room, training facilities, computer work stations, and small cafeteria are to be included in the building.

All sealed surface paving and parking areas are to be constructed with **portland** cement concrete. The layout for the **crushed** aggregate paving area, for storage of major equipment and materials, is shown on the site plan.

The owner's feasibility study involved a needs assessment to produce the project budget that is shown in Figure A-3. Acquisition of land and permits are completed by the owner. **An**-ticipated design fees are included in the total project budget. The owner's required time of completion of the project is 17 months, including engineering, procurement, and construction.

DEVELOPMENT OF PROJECT WORK PLAN

The responsibility of the project manager is to develop a comprehensive work plan to guide all aspects of the project. The first step in the process is a detailed review of the two sets of project data: the owner's study that developed the statement of work, budget, and schedule for the project; and the proposal that was approved to issue the contract to the project manager's organization. Ideally, the project manager and key members of his or her project team would have been involved in the development of both of these sets of project data; however, many project managers are assigned the responsibility of managing a project in which they have had no prior involvement.

Chapter 6 presents a discussion of the items to be reviewed by the project manager at the start of a project. A **thorough** review must be performed so the project manager has a clear understanding of the work that must be accomplished. In particular, the project budget must be evaluated to ensure it is realistic, and the project schedule must he evaluated to ensure it is reasonably attainable.

After the project manager's initial review, he or she develops a work breakdown structure (WBS) in sufficient detail to identify major areas of work to be performed. The purpose of this initial development of the WBS is to define the required disciplines for selection of **proj**ect team members. The project manager must work with the managers of the different disciplines to staff the project based upon available resources from the organizational breakdown structure (OBS). For this example project, the design work for Building B is to be assigned to an outside design organization because the building requires architectural expertise that is not available in the project manager's organization and the time constraints that would be placed on in-house personnel to accomplish the work.

Figure A-4 shows the WBS for the project, which indicates the tasks to be performed, the grouping of the tasks, and the person responsible for each part of the project. Each project team member is responsible for development of a work package for the work that he or she is to perform. The format for the contents of a work package is shown in Figure A-5. The total cost of the project is derived from the sum of the costs of the work packages from **all** team members.

As discussed in Chapter 8, a project schedule (CPM) is developed by the project manager in cooperation with the team members based upon an integration of the schedule of the work packages (reference Figure A-6). The project manager works with the team members to develop a coding system for the project to sort and report project reports. The coding system for the example project is shown in Figure A-7.

A complete listing of all computer input data for the project is shown in Figure A-8. The information that is contained in Figure A-8 is the only project data that are used to generate all the reports, (A-9 through A-14). that are shown in the remainder of this appendix. These reports are illustrative examples of typical project reports. The title at the top of each report identifies the contents of the report.





FIGURE **A-3** Approved EPC Project Budget.

Facility	Budget
	Budget
Site-WorkGrading Paving Landscape	\$522,400
On-Site Utilities Stormwater Sanitary Sewer Domestic Water Underground Elec Natural Gas	\$173 , 700 trical
Maintenance Building Architectural Structural Electrical Plumbing Heat & Air	A \$1,083,600
Maintenance Building Architectural Structural Electrical Plumbing Heat &Air	B\$1,097,100
Project Management Clerical	\$19,350
Procurement Crane Elevators Construction Bids	\$1.57,000
	Total Directs = \$3,053,150
Contingency	\$1.50 , 000
Total Ap	proved Budget = \$3,203,150



FIGURE A-4 Work Breakdown Structure for Service Facility Project.

FIGURE A-5 Team Member's Work Package.

		WORK PACK	AGE			
	Title:					
	WBS Co	de:				
. Scope						
Requir	ed Scope of Work:					
-						
Service	es to Be Provided:					
Service	es not included in this W	ork Package, but inclu	ided in anoth	ner work	package:	
Service	es not included in this W	ork Package, but will	be performe	d by:		
. Budget		Work	<u>.</u>	CBS Code	Comp	iter Services
Person	nel Assigned to Job	Hour	s \$-Cost	Acct	Туре Н	lours \$-Cost
			_	_		
	T-t-1 Word					¢
	Compute	-Hours = r Hours =	-	Comp	nnerCosts = outerCosts =	\$ \$
		Travel	Reproduc	tion	Other	
		Expenses	Expenses		Expense	es e
		+	_	4	-	_ = \$
	Те	otal Budget = \$-Labor	+\$-Compu	ter + \$-T	ravel t \$-Otl	ner =\$
. Schedule						
OB S Code	Work Task	Pasnon	sible Derson		Start Date	End Date
		Kespon	sible i erson			
		Work Pa	ckage: Star	t Date: —	End 1	Date:
Additio	nal Comments.					
Prepare	d by:	Da	te:			
Approv	ed by:	Da	e:			



FIGURE **A-6A** CPM Diagram for EPC Service Facility Project (continued on next page).

336







FIGURE A-7 Coding System for EPC Service Facility Project.



OBS

FIGURE A-8A Computer Input Data for Generation of Project Reports That Are Shown on the Following Pages in This Appendix (continued on next page).

*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*		*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
ź	ŧ				Ι	n	p	u	ıt		D	e	t	a	i	1	s				Ŕ	×
*	×	*	*	*	*	*	*	×	*	*	×	*	*	×	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	2

20012710	777	PROJECT NAME: SERVICE MAINTEN	ANCE FA	ITY	ASSTONED				
NUMBER	CODE	DESCRIPTION	DURATI	ON	COST	START			
5	71	PROJECT NOTICE APPROVAL	3	S	500.				
10	71	DEVELOP WORK PLAN	7	\$	12000.				
15	71	FORM PROJECT TEAM	5	\$	850.				
20	2872	DESIGN CONTRACTOR'S WORK	2	\$	3000.				
25	1073	IN-HOUSE DESIGN WORK	3	S	1500.				
30	2872	DESIGN BRIEFING MEETING	1	ŝ	1200.				
35	1073	PROJECT SITE-WORK DESIGN	1	S	1400.				
40	1624	ON-SITE UTILITIES DESIGN	1	S	1200.				
45	1715	A/E DESIGN BUILDING A	1	S	1500.				
50	2812	FLOOR PLAN BUILDING B	10	é	9900				
55	1123	SITE GRADING PLAN	12	ŝ	14000				
60	1424	STORM-WATER DESIGN	10	e e	2000				
65	1715	FLOOR PLAN BUILDING A	15	e e	26000.				
70	2832	FOUND STRUCT BUILDING B	45	9	21000.				
75	2812	ARCH FINISHES BUILDING B	20	2 4	31200.				
80	2012	MECH/FLECT DITIDING D	30	5	49500.				
00	1122	CUDDACE DECICIA DI AN	45	\$	37300.				
0.0	1504	SUBBASE DESIGN PLAN	5	ş	4000.				
90	1524	SANITARY SEWER DESIGN	10	Ş	12000.				
100	1/35	FOUND/STRUCT BUILDING A	30	S	92700.				
100	28/1	DESIGN REVIEW BUILDING B	10	S	8000.				
105	1223	CONCRETE PAVING ROADS	20	Ş	12000.				
110	1624	DOMESTIC WATER SYSTEM	7	\$	9000.				
115	1624	NATURAL GAS SYSTEM	8	\$	6000.				
120	1745	MECH/ELECT BUILDING A	30	\$	22200.				
125	1735	SPECIAL OVERHEAD CRANE	11	S	10800.				
130	2872	CONTRACT DESIGN COMPLETE	1	S	1000.				
135	1223	CONTRACT PAVING PARKING/WALKS	10	S	7000.				
140	1654	UNDERGROUND ELECTRICAL	14	S	12000.				
145	1654	UNDERGROUND TELEPHONE SYSTEM	4	S	3000.				
150	1771	BUILDING A DESIGN REVIEW	3	S	5000.				
155	1323	AGGREGATE SURFACING DESIGN	8	S	6000				
160	1677	UTILITIES DESIGN REVIEW	-	S	1100				
165	1963	FENCING/LANDSCAPE/TRRIGATION	14	ŝ	28000				
170	1071	SITE-WORK DESIGN REVIEW	5	5	7000				
175	71	PROJECT DESIGN COMPLETE	1	e.	1000.				
180	3876	PROCURE BULLDING ELEVATORS	75	9	1000.				
185	4076	PROCURE CONTRACTORIS BIDS	20	0	35000.				
190	3776	PROCURE OVERHEAD CRAME	20	\$	1000.				
195	6887	EMPLOYFES! OFFICE BUILDING B	40	Ş	55000.				
200	5087	SITE-MORY /UTIL ITIES CONSTRUCTION	3	2	1000.				
200	7707	TIDUORITAL (MAINTENANCE SLOC	4	ş	1500.				
200	1101	ENDUSTRIAL/MAINTENANCE BLUG A	2	ş	1400.				
ALU	5552	FOUND/STRUCT HOLLDING H	45	\$	195000.				
215	5083	SITE-WORK/GRADING/DRAINAGE	18	\$	85000.				
220	7785	FOUND/STRUCT BUILDING A	110	\$	390000.				
225	6882	PLMRTNG. BEAT, h AIR BLDG B	75	\$	285000.				
230	6882	ELECTRICAL/PHONE BUILDING 3	60	\$	215000.				
235	5484	STORMWATER/DRAINAGE STRUCTURES	15	\$	22000.				
240	7785	ELECTRICAL/PHONE BUILDING A	65	S	167000.				
245	7785	PLUMBING, HEAT & AIR BLDG A	85	\$	192000.				
250	5882	ARCH FINISHES BUILDING B	50	ŝ	260000.				
255	5684	UNDERGROUND NATURAL GAS	5	\$	10500.				
260	5584	SANITARY SEWER SYSTEM	21	Ś	33200				
265	5283	CONCRETE PAVING ROADS & DRIVES	60	s	185000				
270	7785	ARCH FINISHES BUILDING A	30	e.	175000				
275	5684	DOMESTIC WATER SYSTEM	7	0	13200				
280	5683	CONCRETE PARKING & WALKWAYS	15	4	35000.				
285	5684	UNDERGROUND ELECT & PHONE	14	0	47000.				
290	5383	CRUSHED AGGREGATE PARKING	40	4	76000.				
295	5983	LANDSCAPE TREES / PLANTS / CRASS	20	0	62000.				
300	9977	FINAL TNSDECTION & ADDOMANT	20	0	02000.				
200		INGENCIION II APPROVAL	3	Ş	3500.				

FIGURE A-8B

Computer Input Data for Generation of Project Reports That Are Shown on the Following Pages in This Appendix (continued from previous page).

SEQUENC	E ORDER
I NODE	JNODE
5	10
10	15
15	20
15	25
20	35
25	40
25	45
30	50
35	55
40	60
45	55
50	75
50	80
50	85
55	85
60	90
65	95
70	100
75	100
80	100
85	105
90	110
90	115
95	120
95	125
100	135
110	140
110	145
115	140
115	145
120	150
125	150
125	190
135	155
140	160
145	160
150	175
155	165
160	175
170	175
175	185
180	210
185	195
185	200
185	205
190	220
200	215
205	220
210	225
210	230
215	235
220	240
225	250
230	250
235	255
235	260
235	265
240	270
245	300
255	285
260	275
265	280
270	300
275	285
280	290
200	295
295	300
	2.2.2

FIGURE A-9 Schedule of All Activities for EPC of Service Facility Project.

** ACTIVITY SCHEDULE **

 $\ensuremath{\texttt{PROJECT:}}$ Service maintenance $\ensuremath{\texttt{FACILity}}$ schedule for all activities – issued to tim jones on 4/15/2003

** PAGE 1 ** ACTIVITY SCHEDULE

****	*******	**********	******	*******	**********	**********	*********	*******	*******
	ACTIVI NUMBEF	TTY DESCRIPTION	DURA- TION	RARLY START	EARLY FINISH	LATE START	LATE FINISH	TOTAL FLOAT	FREE FLOAT
****	*******	*************************	******	*******			*********	******	*******
С	5	PROJECT NOTICE APPROVAL	3	26MAY2003	28MAY2003	26MAY2003	28MAY2003	0	0
с	10	DEVELOP WORK PLAN	7	1 29MAY2003	3 6JUN2003	1 29MAY2003	3 6300x2003	0	0
С	15	FORM PROJECT TEAM	5	4 9JUN2003	10 13JUN2003	4 9JUN2003	13JUN2003	0	0
	20	DESIGN CONTRACTOR'S WORK	2	11 16JUN2003	15 17JUN2003	11 25JUN2003	15 26JUN2003	7	0
С	25	IN-HOUSE DESIGN WORK	3	16 16JUN2003	17 18JUN2003	23 16JUN2003	24 18JUN2003	Q	0
	30	DESIGN BRIEFING MEETING	1	16 18JUN2003	18 1831112003	16 27JUN2003	18 27JUN2003	7	0
	35	PROJECT SITE-WORK DESIGN	1	19JUN2003	18 19JUN2003	25 25JUN2003	25 25JUN2003	4	0
	40	ON-SITE UTILITIES DESIGN	1	19 19JUN2D03	19 19JUN2003	7AUG2003	23 7AUG2003	35	0
С	45	A/E DESIGN BUILDING A	1	19 19JUN2003	IS 19JUN2003	19JUN2003	54 19JUN2003	0	0
	50	FLOOR PLAN BUILDING B	10	19 19JUN2003	2JUL2003	19 30JUN2003	19 11JUL2003	7	3
	55	SITE GRADING PLAN	12	20JUN2003	7JUL2003	26JUN2003	11JUL2003	4	0
	60	STORM-WATER DESIGN	10	20JUN2003	3JUL2003	8AUG2003	21AUG2003	35	0
с	65	FLOOR FLAN BUILDING A	15	20 20JUN2003	10JUL2003	20JUN2003	10JUL2003	0	0
	70	FOUND/STRUCT BUILDING B	45	3JUL2003	34 3SEP2003	20 22JUL2003	22SEP2003	13	0
	75	ARCH FINISHES BUILDING B	30	3JUL2003	13AUG2003	12AUG2003	22SEP2003	28	15
	80	MECH/ELECT BUILDING 8	45	3JUL2003	3SEP2003	22JUL2003	22SEP2003	13	O
	90	SANITARY SEWER DESIGN	10	4JUL2003	17JUL2003	42 22AUG2003	4SEP2003	35	٥
	85	SUBBASE DESIGN PLAN	5	8JUL2003	14JUL2003	14JUL2003	18JUL2003	4	0
C	95	FOUND/STRUCT BUILDING A	30	11JUL2003	21AUG2003	11JUL2003	40 21AUG2003	0	0
	105	CONCRETE PAVING ROADS	20	15JUL2003	11AUG2003	21JUL2003	15AUG2003	4	0
	115	NATURAL GAS SYSTEM	8	18JUL2003	29JUL2003	55EF2003	16SEP2003	35	0
	110	DOMESTIC WATER SYSTEM	7	18JUL2003	2BJUL2003	85EP2003	16SEP2003	36	1
	145	UNDERGROUND TELEPHONE SYSTEM	4	30JUL2003	4AUG2003	10CT2003	60CT2003	45	10
	140	UNDERGROUND ELECTRICAL	14	30JUL2003	18AUG2003	17SEP2003	60CT2003	35	D
	135	CONCRETE PAVING PARKING/WALKS	10	12AUG2003	25AUG2003	18AUG2003	29AUG2003	4	D
	160	UTILITIES DESIGN REVIEW	1	19AUG2003	19AUG2003	70CT2003	70CT2003	35	35
С	120	MECH/ELECT BUILDING A	30	22AUG2003	20CT2003	22AUG2003	20CT2003	0	D
	125	SPECIAL OVERHEAD CRANE	11	22AUG2003	5SEP2003	29AUG2003	12SEF2003	5	19
	155	AGGREGATE SURFACING DESIGN	8	26AUG2003 67	4SEP2003 74	1SEP2003 71	10SEP2003 78	4	0

FIGURE A-9 (Continued) Schedule of All Activities for EPC of Service Facility Project.

PRWECT: SERVICE MAINTENANCE FACILITY SCHEDULE FOR ALL ACTIVITIES - ISSUED TO TIM JONES ON 4/15/2003

** PAGE 2 ** ACTIVITY SCHEDULE

	ACTIV NUMBE	VITY DESCRIPTION CR	DURA- TION	EARLY START	EARLY FINISH	LATE START	LATE FINISH	TOTAL FLOAT	FREE FLOAT
			*****	*********	*********	**********	*********	******	******
	100	DESIGN REVIEW BUILDING 3	10	4SEP2003 74	17SEP2003 83	23SEP2003 87	60CT2003 96	13	0
	180	PROCURE BUILDING ELEVATORS	25	4SEP2003 74	80CT2003 98	22DEC2003 151	23JAN2004 175	77	23
	165	FENCING/LANDSCAPE/IRRIGATION	14	5SEP2003	24SEP2003 88	11SEP2003 79	30SEP2003 92	4	0
	190	PROCURE OVERHEAD CRANES	40	8SEF2003 76	310CT2003	15SEP2003 81	7NOV2003 120	5	5
	130	CONTRACT DESIGN COMPLETE	1	18SEP2003 84	18SEF2003 84	70CT2003 97	70CT2003 97	13	13
	170	SITE-WORK DESIGN KEVIEW	5	25SEP2003	10CT2003 93	10CT2003 93	70CT2003 97	4	4
С	150	BUILDING A DESIGN REVIEW	3	30CT2003	70CT2003 97	30CT2003 95	70CT2003 97	0	0
С	175	PROJECT DESIGN COMPLETE		80CT2003	80CT2003 98	80CT2003 98	80CT2003 98	0	0
c	185	PROCURE CONTRACTORS' BIDS	20	90CT2003	5NOV2003 118	90CT2003 99	5NOV2003 118	0	0
	195	EMPLOYEE'S OFFICE BUILDING B	3	6NOV2003	10NOV2003 121	21JAN2004 173	23JAN2004 175	54	0
	200	SITE-WORK/UTILITIES CONSTRUCTIO	N 4	6NOV2003 119	11NOV2003 122	22JAN2004 174	27JAN2004 177	55	0
С	205	INDUSTRIAL/MAINTENANCE BLDG A	2	6NOV2003 119	7NOV2003 120	6NOV2003 119	7NOV2003 120	C	0
с	220	FOUN/STRUCT BUILDING A	110	10NOV2003 121	9APR2004 230	10NOV2003 121	9APR2004 230	0	0
	210	FOUND/STRUCT BUILDING B	45	11NOV2003 122	12JAN2004 166	26JAN2004 176	26MAR2004 220	54	0
	215	SITE-WORK/GRADING/DRAINAGE	18	12NOV2003 123	5DEC2003 140	28JAN2004 178	20FEB2004 195	55	0
	235	STORMWATER/DRAINAGE STRUCTURES	15	8DEC2003 141	26DEC2003 155	23FEB2004 196	12MAR2004 210	55	D
	255	UNDERGROUND NATURAL GAB	5	29DEC2003 156	2JAN2004 160	27JUL2004 307	2AUG2004 311	151	23
	260	SANITARY SFWER SYSTEM	21	29DEC2003 156	26JAN2004 176	24JUN2004 284	22JUL2004 304	128	0
	265	CONCRETE PAVING ROADS & DRIVES	60	29DEC2003 156	19MAR2004 215	15MAR2004 211	4JUN2004 270	55	C
	225	PLUMBING, HEAT, & AIR BLDG ${}^{\rm B}$	75	13JAN2004 167	26AFR2004 241	29MAR2004 221	9JUL2004 295	54	C
	230	ELECTRICAL/PHONE BUILDING B	60	13JAN2004 167	5APR2004 226	19APR2004 236	9JUL2004 295	69	15
	275	DOMESTIC WATER SYSTEM	7	27JAN2004 177	4FEB2004 183	23JUL2004 305	2AUG2004 311	128	0
	285	UNDERGROUND ELECT & PHONE	14	5FEB2004 184	24FEB2004 197	3AUG2004 312	20AUG2004 325	128	73
	280	CONCRETE PARKING AND WXLK'NAYS	15	22MAR2004 216	9APR2004 230	7JUN2004 271	25JUN2004 285	55	0
	240	ELECTRICAL/PHONE BUILDING A	65	12APR2004 231	9JUL2004 295	10MAY2004 251	6AUG2004 315	20	20
С	245	PLUMBING. HEAT, & AJR BLDG A	85	12APR2004 231	6AUG2004 315	12APR2004 231	6AUG2004 315	C	0
	290	CRUSHED AGGREGATE PARKING	40	12APR2004 231	4JUN2004 270	28JUN2004 286	20AUG2004 325	55	0
	250	ARCH FINISHES BUILDING B	50	27APR2004 242	5JUL2004 291	12JUL2004 296	17SEP2004 345	54	54
	295	LANDSCAPE TREES/PLANTS/GRASS	20	7JUN2004 271	2JUL2004 290	23AUG2004 326	17SEP2004 345	55	55
c	270	ARCH FINISHES BUILDING A	30	9AUG2004 316	175EP2004 345	9AUG2004 316	17SEP2004 345	0	0
С	00E	FINAL INSPECTION $\&$ APPROVAL	3	20SEP2004 345	22SEP2004 348	20SEP2004 346	22SEP2004 348	0	0

END OF SCHEDULE

FIGURE A-10 Monthly Distribution of Costs for All Activities of EPC Service Facility Project.

** MONTHLY COST SCHEDULE **

PROJECT: SERVICE MAINTENANCE FACILITY SCHEDULE FOR ALL ACTIVITIES - ISSUED TO TIM JONES ON 4/15/2003 START DATE: 26 MAY 2003 FINISH DATE: 22 SEP 2004

MONTHLY COST SCHEDULE - For all activities -

			EARLY START				I		LATE S	TAR	т	I		T	TARGET SCHEDULE				
NQ.	MONTH	YEAR	1	çc	ST/MON	ເຫ	MULATIVE	-1 I I	co	OST/MON	CU	MULATIVE C N T	I I I	CO	ST/MON	cui	ULATIVE COST	₹TIME	%COST
			:					:					1						
1	MAY	2003	:	S	3929.	\$	3929.	3	s	3929.	S	3929.	:	\$	3929.	s	3929.	1.4%	.1
2	JUN	2003	:	s	48841.	\$	52770.	1	\$	34645.	s	38573.	:	s	41743.	ş	45672.	7.5%	1.5
3	JUT.	2003	:	e.	177261		230031	1		101204		120779	1		128922		194904	14.18	
1	COL			~		*	2300311	-	4	101204.	4	133110.	1	4	133433.	4	1043041	14.10	0.1
4	AUG	2003	1	\$	130583.	Ş	350514.	4	Ş	130838.	\$	270616.	1	\$	130711.	\$	315615.	20.1%	10.3
5	SEP	2003		s	166931.	ş	527545.	+	\$	160525.	Ş	431141.	1	s	163728.	ş	479343.	26.48	15.7
6	OCT	2003	:	5	69255.	\$	596800.	Ŧ. ŧ	\$	63784.	ş	494925.	:	ş	66519.	\$	545863.	33.0%	17.5
7	NOV	2003	:	s	180187.	ŝ	776987.	*	s	62507.	g	557432.	+	s	121347.	Ś	667210.	38.8%	21.5
													1						
8	DEC	2003	:	\$	247116.	s	1024103.	1	\$	111945.	ş	669377.	:	\$	179531.	\$	846740.	45.48	27.
9	JAN	2004	;	Ş	324067.	Ş	1348170.	1	\$	180933.	\$	850311.	:	\$	252500.	\$	1099240.	51.7%	36.
0	PEB	2004	1	\$	332900.	ş	1681070.	:	5	235742.	\$	1086053.	1	\$	284321.	s	1383561.	57.5%	45.
	100							1					1						
1	MAR	2004	-	ş	316279.	\$	1997348.	1	ş	234362.	Ş	1320415.	:	Ş	275320.	s	1658882.	64.18	54.
2	APR	2004	:	ş	242022.	\$	2239371.	;	s	245967.	s	1566382.	:	\$	243995.	s	1902877.	70.48	62.
			2					1					:						
5	MAY	2004	-	ş	250489.	ş	2489860.	-	Ş	308343.	s	1874725.	:	Ş	279416.	\$	2182293.	75.48	71.
4	NUL	2004	-	Ś.	284017.	s	2773877.	1	\$	329589	s	2204314	:	s	306803	5	2489096	82 85	R1.
			-					1	÷	5455557	~			4	5566651	*			
5	JUL	2004		S	89479.	S	2863356.	:	\$	322710.	s	2527024.		s	206094.	\$	2695190.	89.1%	88.
6	AUG	2004	1	s	110461.	\$	2973817.	-	5	338893.	s	2865917.	1	s	224677.	s	2919867.	95.48	95.
7	SEP	2004	,	ŝ	79333.	s	3053150.	:	ŝ	187233.	ŝ	3053150.	:	s	133283.	ŝ	3053150.	100.0%	100.
								:	-				•			-			
			. 1					2					:						

FIGURE A-11 S-Curve for Design Activities Only (Sort by Code Digit 1 Greater Than ⁰ and Less Than 3).

.....

SIS	: EARLY	START	- For	32 activities —	PAGE 1
OST					
\$	430000.	*			+100
		: :			
					. / .
\$	387000.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			+ 90
					/.
				/	
				. /	
3	344000.	******			
				. /	
		: :		/	
\$	301000.	*			70
		: :		1:	
				1 .	•
Ś	258000.	*			
				1 .	
		:			
				/ .	
S	215000.	*			
				/ .	
		1		/	
s	172000.	+			40
				/	
s	129000.	.	/		
			1.	*	
		: :	1		
1			1	*	
Ş	85000.	*****	1.		
		÷ ÷	/ .		
		- /		*	
\$	43000.	+			+ 10
•			1		
80

90

100

70

FIGURE A-12 Daily Distribution of Costs for Design Work Only (Sort by Code Digit 1 Greater Than 0 and Less Than 3).



....

40

50

26MAY2003 6JUN2003 20JUN2003 4JUL2003 18JUL2003 1AUG2003 15AUG2003 29AUG2003 12SEP2003 26SEP2003 100CT2003

60

...+...........

20

30

0. +.........

10

1

** BAR CHART **

PROJECT: SERVICE MAINTENANCE FACILITY SCHEDULE FOR ALL WORK OF TEAM MEMBER RON THOMAS - ISSUED 4/15/2003 ** PAGE 1.1 ** BAR CHART

			1	1	10	20		30	40	50	60	70	80	90
ACTLVITY DESCRIPTION		DURATION	26MAY2003	6 6J	UN2003	20JUN200	3 4	JUL2003	18JUL2003	1AUG2003	15AUG2003	29Aug2003	12SEP2003	265EP2003
			+		. +	+		• • + • • • •	+	•••••	+			+
C 25	IN-HOUSE DESIGN WORK	3				XXX								
35	PROJECT SITE-WORK DESIGN	1	•	•	• •	x	•	• •	• •	• •	• •	•••		•
55	SITE GRADING PLAN	12	•	•	• •	 xxxx		 xxxx	•••	•	•••			• •
85	SUBBASE DESIGN PLAN	5	•	•	• •	• •	·	 xxx	 xx	• •				
105	CONCRETE PAVING ROADS	20	•	•	• •	· ·	·	• •		*****	 xx			• •
135	CONCRETE PAVING PARKING/WALK	3 10	•	•	• •	•	·	• •			 xxxxxxxx	 xx		•
					-							• •		
155	AGGREGATE SURFACING DESIGN	8										XXXXXXX	1	
165	FENCING/LANDSCAPE/IRRIGATION	14	•	•	•	•••	•	•	• •	•••	• •	• •	 xxxxxxxxxx	 xxxx
			•	•	• •	• •	•	• •	• •	• •	• •	• •	• •	• .
			+		• • • • • •	• • • • • + • • •		+	• • • • • + • • • •	• • • • • • • • • • •	+	+	+	+
	WC	ORK DAYS	1	-	10	20		30	40	50	60	70	80	90
	CALE	NDAR DATES	26MAY20	D3 6JI	UN2003	20JUN20()3 4	JUL2003	18JUL2003	1AUG2003	15AUG2003	29AUG2003	3 12SEP200	1 26SEP2003

FIGURE A-13 Bar Chart for All Work of Team Member Ron Thomas(Sart by Code Digit 4 Equal to 3).

FIGURE A-14 Schedule for All Activities Related to Building A (Sort by Code Digit 2 Equal to 7).

		545	918	545	916				
0	0	T12E55004 312	TEZ	TLSEDS004 STE	590CS004 531	30	A SUIDIUS SHRINIY HORA	072	
0	0	6¥06300∜ 312	TSAPR2004 251	00200¥9 562	ISAPR2004 231	58	PLUMBING, HEAT, 2 AIR BLDG A	242	
50	50	€¥Ω€500€ 530	121 1047200€	30075004 530	TSVEK5004 IST	99	ELECTRICAL/PHONE BUILDING L	540	
0	0	0078486 0F1	EOOZAONOT 611	88582004 120	TOMOASOO3	011	FOUN/STRUCT BUILDING A	220	
0	0	EOOZAONL L6	2002AON9 56	EOOEAONL 16	6002003 92	Ζ	A DUJE SONANETNIAM\AINTRUCNI	205	
٥	0	10000000000000000000000000000000000000	18 E002T200E	30CL3003 JJ2	30CLS003 10	Е	BUILDING A DESIGN REVIEW	OST	
S	S	2002AON2 80	T28E55003	3TOCL5003	60024358 59	07	PROCURE OVERHEAD CRANES	061	
6T	S	TTREET003 BE	S9A0G2003	28253003 64	S2AUG2003	ττ	SPECIAL OVERHEAD CRANE	521	
0	0	20CT2003	EOOZENYZZ 5E	50CL5003	55¥005003	3.0	WECH/EFECT BUILDING A	120	
0	0	3⊈ 21¥003003	117007003 50	21AUG2003	1111012003 50	0 E	A DUIDJING TOURDAR A	56	
0	0	1010175003 T0	5002N02003 70	101075003 61	002NALO2 61	ST	A DUILDING PLAN BUILDING A	59	
0	0	19 10/2003	EODZNDC51	E00ZNDL61	161002N0161	I	V/E DESIGN BRIFDING V	512	
		********	*******	*******	********	******		*******	
TAOJY	TAOLY	HSINIA	TRATZ	HSINIJ	TRATZ	NOLT		NUMBER	
заяч	LATOT	ATA.1	ATE	EVELY	EYELY	-AAUC	DESCHIPTION	ACTIVITY	

ACTIVITY SCHEDULE

SCHEDRIE UN VIT VALUE MAINLENANCE BACIFILA ** DWC Y - ISSRED XO KATHY DIEHT ON \$/12/2003 ** DWC J **

++ YGLIAIL& SCHEDREE ++



LIST OF EJCDC CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

Documents, **Forms**, Commentaries and other publications of The Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee:

> American Consulting Engineers Council American Society of Civil Engineers National Society of Professional Engineers

Publication	Title
1910-1	Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services
1910-1-FA	Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services Funding Agency Edition
1910-2	Standard Form of Letter Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services
1910-8	Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract
1910-8A1	Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Contractor on the Basis of Stipulated Price
1910-8A2	Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Contractor on the Basis of Cost-Plus
1910-8B	Change Order
1910-8D	Certificate of Substantial Completion
1910-8E	Application for Payment
1910-8F	Work Change Directive

The Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee: (Continued)

Publication	Tile
1910-8-FA	Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract Funding Agency Edition
1910-9	Commentary on Agreements for Engineering Services and Construction Related Documents by John R. Clark, Esq.
1910-9A	Commentary on 1990 Editions of Construction Related Documents by John R. Clark, Esq.
1910-9B	An Update to Indicate Important Changes in EJCDC Standard Agreements for Engineering Services
1910-9C	Focus on Shop Drawings by John R. Clark, Esq.
1910-9D	Recommended Competitive Bidding Procedures for Construction Projects by Robert J. Smith, Esq.
1910-9E	Limitation of Liability in Design Professional Contracts
1910-9G	Indemnificationby Engineers—A Warning
1910-10	Standard Form of Agreement Between Engineer and Architect for Professional Services
1910-11	Cross Reference Between EJCDC Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract (1910-8; 1990) and AIA General Conditions of the Contract for Construction (A201; August 1987)
1910-12	Guide to the Preparation of Instructions to Bidders
1910-14	Standard Form of Agreement Between Engineer and Consultant for Professional Services
1910-16	Uniform Location of Subject Matter
1910-17	Guide to the Preparation of Supplementary Conditions
1910-18	Suggested Bid Form and Commentary for Use
1910-19	Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Study and Report Professional Services
1910-20	Engineer's Letter to Owner Requesting Instructions Concerning Bonds and Insurance Regarding Construction
1910-21	Owner's Instructions to Engineer Concerning Bonds and Insurance Regarding Construction
1910-22	Notice of Award
1910-23	Notice to Proceed
1910-24	Contract Documents Bibliography
1910-25	Advice to Engineers Who Intend Using the 1987 Editions of the AIA's Documents (1988)
1910-26A	Standard Form of Procurement Agreement Between Owner and Contractor
1910-26B	Procurement General Conditions
1910-26C	Guide to the Preparation of Procurement Supplementary Conditions
1910-26D	Instructions to Bidders for Procurement Contracts
1910-26E	Commentary on Procurement Documents by John R. Clark, Esq.
1910-27A	Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Geotechnical Engineer for Professional Services

Publication	Title
1910-27B	Standard Form of Agreement Between Engineer and Geotechnical Engineer for Professional Services
1910-28A	Construction Performance Bond
1910-28B	Construction Payment Bond
1910-28C	Bid Bond (Penal Sum) Form
191 0-28D	Bid Bond (Damages) Form
1910-29	Owner's Instructions Regarding Bidding Procedures and Construction Contract Documents
1910-30	Standard Form of Coordinated Multi-prime Design Agreement Between Owner and Design Professional for Construction Projects

The Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee: (Continued)



LIST OF AIA CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

AIA List of Documents The American Institute of Architects

A-Series/Owner-Contractor Documents

Publication	Tile
A101	Owner-Contractor Agreement FormStipulated Sum
A101/CM	Owner-Contractor Agreement FormStipulated SumConstruction Management Edition
A107	Abbreviated Owner-Contractor Agreement Form for Small Construction Contracts—Stipulated Sum
A111	Owner-Contractor Agreement FormCost Plus Fee
A117	Abbreviated Owher-Contractor Agreement FormCost Plus Fee
A171	Owner-Contractor Agreement for Furniture, Furnishings, and Equipment
A191	Standard Form of Agreements Between Owner and Design/Builder
A201	General Conditions of the Contract for Construction
A201/CM	General Conditions of the Contract for Construction-ConstructionManagement Edition
A201/SC	General Conditions of the Contract for Construction and Federal Supplementay Conditions of the Contract for Constwction
A271	General Conditions of the Contract for Furniture, Furnishings, and Equipment
A305	Contractor's Qualification Statement
A310	Bid Bond

A-Series / Owner-Contractor Documents (Continued)

Publication	Title
A311	Performance Bond and Labor and Material Payment Bond
A311/CM	Performance Bond and Labor and Material Payment BondConstruction Management Edition
A312	Performance Bond and Payment Bond
A401	Contractor-SubcontractorAgreement Form
A491	Standard Form of Agreements Between Design/Builder and Contractor
A501	Recommended Guide for Bidding Procedures and Contract Awards
A511	Guide for Supplementay Conditions
A511/CM	Guide for Supplementay Conditions-Construction Management Edition
A521	Uniform Location Subject Matter
A571	Guide for Interiors Supplementay Conditions
A701	Instructions to Bidders
A771	Instruction to Interiors Bidden

B-Series / Owner-Architect Documents

Publication	Title
B141	Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Architect
B141/CM	Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Architect—Construction Management Edition
B151	Abbreviated Owner-Architect for Agreement Form
B161	Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Architect for Designated Services
B161/CM	Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Architect for Designated Services-Construction Management Edition
B162	Scope of Designated Services
B171	Standard Form of Agreement for Interior Design Services
B177	Abbreviated Interior Design Services Agreement
B181	Owner-ArchitectAgreement for Housing Services
B352	Duties, Responsibilities, and Limitations of Authority of the Architects' Project Representative
B431	Architects' Qualification Statement
B801	Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Construction Manager
B901	Standard Form of Agreements Between Designer/Builder and Architect

C-Series/Architect-ConsultantDocuments

Publication	Title
C141	Standard Form of Agreement Between Architect and Consultant
C142	Abbreviated Form of Agreement Between Architect and Consultant
C161	Standard Form of Agreement Between Architect and Consultant for Designated Services
C431	Standard Form of Agreement Between Architect and Consultant
C727	Standard Form of Agreement Between Architect and Consultant for Special Services
C801	Joint Venture Agreement



LIST OF AGC CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

AGC List of Documents The Associated General Contractors of America

Construction Documents

(Engineering Construction)

Publication	Title
200	- Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract (for engineering construction)
201	Contract Documents for Construction of Federally Assisted Water and Sewer Projects
202	Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Contractor on the Basis of Stipulated Sum
203	Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Contractor on the Basis of Cost-Plus
204	Change Order
205	Certificate of Substantial Completion
206	Application for Payment
207	Work Directive Change
208	Guide to the Preparation of Instruction to Bidders
209	Guide to the Preparation of Supplementary Conditions
210	Suggested Bid Form and Commentary for Use
211	Engineer's Letter to Owner Requesting Instructions re: Bonds and Insurance During Construction

Construction Documents [Engineering Construction (Continued)]

Publication	Title
212	Owner's Instructions to Engineer re: Bonds During Construction
213	Notice to Award
214	Notice to Proceed
221	Standard Questionnaire and Financial Statement for Bidders (for Engineering Construction)
230	Wastewater Treatment Standard Proposal Form
235	Outline for Reports of Site Investigations—Heavy& Utility Construction

Construction Documents (Building Construction)

Publication	Title
300	Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Contractor
301	General Conditions of the Contract for Construction
305	AbbreviatedForm of Agreement Between Owner and Contractor
310	Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Contractor—Cost-Plus Fee
317	Abbreviated Form of Agreement Between Owner and Contractor
320	Contractor's Qualification Statement
321	Instructions to Bidders, 1987 Edition
325	Recommended Guide for Competitive Bidding Procedures (and Contract Award for Building Construction)
327	Guide to SupplementalConditions
330	Change Order
335	Application and Certificate for Payment and Continuation Sheet
340	Certificate of Substantial Completion
400	Preliminary Design-Build Agreement
405	Design-BuildGuidelines
410	Standard Form of Design-Build Agreement and General Conditions Between Owner and Contractor (guaranteed maximum price)
415	Standard Form of Design-Build Agreement and General Conditions Between Owner and Contractor (lump sum)
420	Standard Form of Agreement Between Contractor and Architect
430	Conditions Between Contractor and Subcontractor for Design-Build
440	Change Order/Contractor Fee Adjustment
450	Standard Design-Build Subcontract Agreement with Subcontractor Not Providing Design
450.1	Standard Design-Build Subcontract Agreement With Subcontractor Providing Design
	Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Construction Manager

Construction Documents [Building Construction(Continued)]

Publication	Title
501	Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Construction Manager (Owner Awards all Trade Contracts)
510	Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Construction Manager
520	General Conditions for Trade Contractors Under Construction Management Agreements
525	Change Order/Construction Manager Fee Adjustment
540	Construction Management Guidelines
545	Construction Management Control Process
550	Owner Guidelines for Selection of a Construction Manager
560	Construction Management Delivery Systems for Hospital Facilities
570	Budget Estimating and Control During the Design Phase
580	Construction Project Planning and Scheduling Guidelines
600	Standard Subcontract Agreement for Building Construction
603	Short Form Subcontract
605	Standard Subbid Proposal
610	Subcontractor's Application for Payment
614	Invitation to Bid Form for Subcontractors
615	A Suggested Guide and Checklist for Subcontractors
625	AGC Certificate of Substantial Completion
630	First Budget Estimate Guideline
645	Standard Form of Negotiated Agreement Between Owner and Contractor
650	An Owner's Guide to Building Construction Contracting Methods
655	Guide to Owner's Responsibility for Construction Projects



MASTERFORMAT™— MASTER LIST OF SECTION TITLES AND NUMBERS*

DIVISION & INTRODUCTORY INFORMATION, BIDDING REQUIREMENTS, AND CONTRACTING REQUIREMENTS

Introductory Information

00001 Project Title Page 00005 Certifications Page 00007 Seals Page 00010 Table of Contents 00015 List of Drawings 00020 List of Schedules

Contracting Requirements

00500 Agreements 00600 Bonds and Certificates 00700 General Conditions 00800 Supplementary Conditions 00900 Addenda and Modifications

Bidding Requirements

00100 Bid Solicitation 00200 Instructions to Bidders 00300 Information Available to Bidders 00400 Bid Forms and Supplements 00490 Bidding Addenda

*The numbers and titles used in this product are from MasterFormat[™] which is published by the Construction Specification Institute (CSI) and Construction Specifications Canada (CSC) and is used with permission from CSI, 1999.

For those interested in a more in-depth explanation of $MasterFormat^{TM}$ and its use in the construction industry contact:

The Construction Specifications Institute (CSI) 601 Madison Street Alexandria, VA 22314 800-689-2900;703-684-0300 CSINet URL: http://www.csinet.org

CONSTRUCTION PRODUCTS AND ACTIVITIES-DIVISIONS1-16

Division I-General Requirements

01100 Summary 01200 Price and Payment Procedures 01300 Administrative Requirements 01400 Quality Requirements 01500 Temporary Facilities and Controls 01600 Product Requirements 01700 Executions Requirements 01800 Facility Operation 01900 Facility Decommissioning

Division 2--Site Construction

02050 Basic Site Materials and Methods 02100 Site Remediation 02200 Site Preparation 02300 Earthwork 02400 Tunneling, Boring, and Jacking 02450 Foundation and Load-Bearing Elements 02500 Utility Services 02600 Drainage and Containment 02700 Bases, Ballasts, Pavements, and Appurtenances 02800 Site Improvements and Amenities 02900 Planting 02950 Site Restoration and Rehabilitation

Division 3—Concrete

03050 Basic Concrete Materials and Methods 03100 Concrete Forms and Accessories 03200 Concrete Reinforcement 03300 Cast-in-Place Concrete 03400 Precast Concrete 03500 Cementitious Decks and Underlayment 03600 Grouts 03700 Mass Concrete 03900 Concrete Restoration and Cleaning

Division 4--Masonry

04050 Basic Masonry Materials and Methods 04200 Masonry Units 04400 Stone 04500 Refractories 04600 Corrosion-Resistant Masonry 04700 Simulated Masonry 04800 Masonry Assemblies 04900 Masonry Restoration and Cleaning

Division 5—Metals

05050 Basic Metal Materials and Methods 05100 Structural Metal Framing 05200 Metal Joists 05300 Metal Deck 05400 Cold-Formed Metal Framing 05500 Metal Fabrications 05600 Hydraulic Fabrications 05650 Railroad Track and Accessories 05700 Ornamental Metal 05800 Expansion Control 05900 Metal Restoration and Cleaning

Division 6—Wood and Plastics

06050 Basic Wood and Plastic Materials and Methods 06100 Rough Carpentry 06200 Finish Carpentry 06400 Architectural Woodwork 06500 Structural Plastics 06600 Plastic Fabrications 06900 Wood and Plastic Restoration and Cleaning

Division 7—Thermal and Moisture Protection

07050 Basic Thermal and Moisture Protection Materials and Methods 07100 Dampproofing and Waterproofing

Division 7—Thermal and Moisture Protection (Continued)

07200 Thermal Protection 07300 Shingles, Roof Tiles, and Roof Coverings 07400 Roofing and Siding Panels 07500 Membrane Roofing 07600 Flashing and Sheet Metal 07700 Roof Specialties and Accessories 07800 Fire and Smoke Protection 07900 Joint Sealers

Division 8-Doors and Windows

08050 Basic Door and Window Materials and Methods 08100 Metal Doors and Frames 08200 Wood and Plastic Doors 08300 Specialty Doors 08400 Entrances and Storefronts 08500 Windows 08600 Skylights 08700 Hardware 08800 Glazing 08900 Glazed Curtain Wall

Division 9––Finishes

09050 Basic Finish Materials and Methods 09100 Metal Support Assemblies 09200 Plaster and Gypsum Board 09300 Tile 09400 Terrazzo 09500 Ceilings 09600 Flooring 09700 Wall Finishes 09800 Acoustical Treatment 09900 Paints and Coatings

Division 10—Specialties

10100 Visual Display Boards 10150 Compartments and Cubicles 10200 Louvers and Vents 10240 Grilles and Screens 10250 Service Walls

Division 10—Specialties (Continued)

10260 Wall and Comer Guards 10270 Access Flooring 10290 Pest Control 10300 Fireplaces and Stoves 10340 Manufactured Exterior Specialties 10350 Flagpoles 10400 Identification Devices 10450 Pedestrian Control Devices 10500 Lockers 10520 Fire Protection Specialties 10530 Protective Covers 10550 Postal Specialties 10600 Partitions 10670 Storage Shelving 10700 Exterior Protection 10750 Telephone Specialties 10800 Toilet, Bath, and Laundry Accessories 10880 Scales 10900 Wardrobe and Closet Specialties

Division 1I—Equipment

- 11010 Maintenance Equipment 11020 Security and Vault Equipment 11030 Teller and Service Equipment 11040 Ecclesiastical Equipment 11050 Library Equipment 11060 Theater and Stage Equipment 11070 Instrumental Equipment 11080 Registration Equipment 11090 Checkroom Equipment 11100 Mercantile Equipment 11110 Commercial Laundry and Dry **Cleaning Equipment** 11120 Vending Equipment 11130 Audio-Visual Equipment 11140 Vehicle Service Equipment 11150 Parking Control Equipment 11160 Loading Dock Equipment 11170 Solid Waste Handling Equipment 11190 Detention Equipment 11200 Water Supply and Treatment Equipment
- 11280 Hydraulic Gates and Valves

Division 11—Equipment (Continued)

11300 Fluid Waste Treatment and **Disposal Equipment** 11400 Food Service Equipment 11450 Residential Equipment 11460 Unit Kitchens 11470 Darkroom Equipment 11480 Athletic, Recreational, and **Therapeutic Equipment** 11500 Industrial and Process Equipment 11600 Laboratory Equipment 11650 Planetarium Equipment 11660 Observatory Equipment 11680 Office Equipment 11700 Medical Equipment 11780 Mortuary Equipment 11850 Navigation Equipment 11870 Agricultural Equipment 11900 Exhibit Equipment

Division 12—Furnishings

- 12050 Fabrics
- 12100 Art
- 12300 Manufactured Casework
- 12400 Furnishings and Accessories
- 12500 Furniture
- 12600 Multiple Seating
- 12700 Systems Furniture
- 12800 Interior Plants and Planters
- 12900 Furnishings Restoration and Repair

Division 13—Special Construction

13010 Air-Supported Structures
13020 Building Modules
13030 Special Purpose Rooms
13080 Sound, Vibration, and Seismic Control
13090 Radiation Protection
13100 Lightning Protection
13110 Cathodic Protection
13120 Pre-Engineered Structures
13150 Swimming Pools
13160 Aquariums

Division 13––Special Construction (Continued)

- 13165 Aquatic Park Facilities
- 13170 Tubs and Pools
- 13175 Ice Rinks
- 13185 Kennels and Animal Shelters
- 13190 Site-Constructed Incinerators
- 13200 Storage Tanks
- 13220 Filter Underdrains and Media
- 13230 Digester Covers and Appurtenances
- 13240 Oxygenation Systems
- 13260 Sludge Conditions Systems
- 13280 Hazardous Material Remediation
- 13400 Measurement and Control Instrumentation
- 13500 Recording Instrumentation
- 13550 Transportation Control Instrumentation
- 13600 Solar and Wind Energy Equipment
- 13700 Security Access and Surveillance
- 13800 Building Automation and Control
- 13850 Detection and Alarm
- 13900 Fie Suppression

Division 14—Conveying Systems

14100 Dumbwaiters
14200 Elevators
14300 Escalators and Moving Walks
14400 Lifts
14500 Material Handling
14600 Hoists and Cranes
14700 Turntables
14800 Scaffolding
14900 Transportation

Division 15—Mechanical

15050 Basic Mechanical Materials and Methods 15100 Building Services Piping 15200 Process Piping

Division 15—Mechanical (Continued)

15300 Fire Protection Piping
15400 Plumbing Fixtures and Equipment
15500 Heat-Generation Equipment
15600 Refrigeration Equipment
15700 Heating, Ventilating, and Air Conditioning Equipment
15800 Air Distribution
15900 HVAC Instrumentation and Controls
15950 Testing, Adjusting, and Balancing

Division 16—Electrical

16050 Basic Electrical Materials and Methods
16100 Wiring Methods
16200 Electrical Power
16300 Transmission and Dismbution
16400 Low-Voltage Distribution
16500 Lighting
16700 Communications
16800 Sound and Video

INDEX

Actual cost of work **performed** (ACWP), 215-225,231 Arbitration,281-282 Assignment of work, 299-300 Assumptions for construction phase, 259-260

Bidding check list for, 269-270 design contracts, 90-93 levels of accuracy, 80-81 prospective bidders, 266-267 Budget at completion (BAC), 215-225 Budgeted*cost* of work *performed* (BCWP), 215-225, 231 Budgeted cost of work scheduled (BCWS), 215-225,231 Budgeting (see Project budgeting)

Capacity ratio estimating, 59-60 Challenges and opportunities, 294 Change management, 283-284 Check lists for bidding, 269-270 for construction, 279-279 for design, 248-249 for kick-off meeting, 110, for project close out, 291 for project scope definition, 41 Classification of estimates, 47-49, 80-81 Common time wasters, 303 Communications, 303-305 Communications during construction, 272 Components of a project, 4-6 Components of a work plan, 113-116 Computer generated estimates, 62-63 Conflict management, 27-28 Constructability,253-255 Construction management, 33-35,262-263 Construction phase assumptions for, 259-260 check list of duties, 278-279 construction schedules, 271-273 contract pricing formats, 260-261 contractor's bid, 93-97 dispute resolution, 281-282 importance of, 258 job-site safety, 282-283 keys to success, 270-271 management of changes, 283-284 problems with construction schedules, 273-277 prospective bidders, 266-267 quality control, 278-281 relations with contractors, 277 resource management, 284-286 Construction teams, 21-22 Construction work packages cost performance index (CPI), 213-233 cost variance (CV), 213-233 earned value, 214, 217-225 percent complete, 213-215 productivity index, 230 schedule performance index (SPI), 213-233 schedule variance (SV), 213-233 Contingency for estimates, 68-74 Contract Documents list of AGC, 354-356 list of AIA, 351-353 list of EJCDC. 348-350 producing contract documents, 241 Contract pricing formats, 260-261 Contracting methods construction management (CM), 33-35,262-263 design/bid/build (D/B/B), 33-35,261-262 design/build (D/B), 33-35, 262 qualification based selection (OBS), 267-269 Contractor's bid, 93-97 Contracts arrangements of, 33-36

Contracts (Conr) check list for bidding, 269-270 construction management contracts, 262 design/bid/build contracts, 261-262 design/build contracts, 262 fast-track projects, 264 key decisions for project delivery, 264-266 performance specifications, 264 pricing formats, 260-261 producing contract documents, 241 project delivery methods, 261-269 prospective bidders and bidding, 266-269 qualification-based selection, 267-269 relations with conhactors, 277 types of project delivery, 261-269 Contractual arrangements. 33-35, 261-269 Control systems actual cost of work performed (ACWP). 215-225,231 budget at completion (BAC), 215-225 budgeted cost of work performed (BCWP), 215-225, 231 budgeted cost of work scheduled (BCWS), 215-225, 231 coding system for project reports, 188-189 control schedules for time and cost, 193-200 cost distribution, 157-163 cost performance index (CPI) analysis of, 217-225 causes of variations, 228-229 for construction, 213-216 for design, 212-213 interpretation of, 227-228 monitoring of, 225-226 trends and forecasting, 229-233 cost variance (CV) analysis of, 217-225 causes of variations, 228-229 for consuuction, 213-216 for design, 212-213 interpretation of, 227-228 monitoring of, 225-226 trends and forecasting, 229-233 earned value, 217-225 estimate at completion (EAC), 215-225 estimate to complete (ETC), 215-225 integrated cost/schedule/work, 205-208 linking the WBS and CPM, 186-192 measurement of construction work, 213-216 monitoring project performance, 225-231 percent complete matrix, 206-211 progress measurement for design, 134-138, 211-213 purpose of control systems, 185-186 relationships between time and work, 200-205 schedule coding system, 153-157 schedule performance index (SPI) analysis of, 217-225 causes of variations, 228-229 for consuuction, 213-216

Control systems (Cunt.) schedule performance index (SPI) (Cunt.) for design, 212-213 interpretation of, 227-228 monitoring of, 225-226 trends and forecasting, 229-233 schedule variance (SV) analysis of. 217-225 causes of variations, 228-229 for construction, 213-216 for design, 212-213 interpretation of, 227-228 monitoring of, 225-226 trends and forecasting, 229-233 work status system, 233-236 Cost and Schedule Control Systems Criteria (C/SCSC), 213 Cost Breakdown Structures (CBS), 191-200 Cost-capacity curve estimating, 58-59 Cost distribution, 157-163 Cost performance index (CPI) analysis of, 217-225 causes of variations, 228-229 for construction, 213-216 for design. 212-213 interpretation of, 227-228 monitoring of, 225-226 trends and forecasting, 229-233 Cost variance (CV) analysis of, 217-225 causes uf variations, 228-229 for construction, 213-216 for design, 212-213 interpretation of, 227-228 monitoring of, 225-226 trends and forecasting, 229-233 Critical Path Method (CPM) coding system, 153-159 computer methods, 152-153 control schedules, 193-200 cost analysis, 157-163 CPM diagrams from the WBS, 147-151 definitions for CPM, 144-147 durations for, 150-152 network analysis systems, 144-147 problems using successors/predecessor, 173-177 S-curves, 160-163, 197 steps in CPM, 148 successor/predecessor relationships, 172-173 CSI Masterformat titles and numbers, 357-361

Decision making, 301-303 Definition of a project. 4-6 Design and construction process, 31-32 Design/Bid/Build (D/B/B), 33-35,261-262 Design/Build (D/B), 33-35,262 Design/Build (D/B), 33-35,262 Design coordination authority/responsibility check list, 247-249 Design coordination (Cont.) constructability,253-255 design budgets, 90-93, and 124-129 design work plan, 240-241 distribution of documents, 246-247 drawing and equipment index, 244-246 evaluation of design effectiveness, 251-253 managing scope growth, 241-242 managing small projects,242 post design review, 255-256 producing contract documents, 241 team meetings, 243-244 typical problems, 248-251 weekly/monthly reports, 244 Design progress measurement, 134-138, 211-213 Design proposals design proposals, 121-124 development of design work plan, 132-133 engineering organization, 124 engineering project controls, 134,211-213 evolution of project, 118-119 mini-drawings, 130-132 progress measurement of design, 134-138, and 211-213 project execution plan, 119 project defmition for design, 119-121 problems in developing project definition, 121 scope baseline for budget, 124-129 Design teams, 20-21 Design work packages development of, 110-113 earned work hours, 200-205 link with disciplines of OBS, 115 phases of development, 116, 126 project work plan, 113, 132-134 Design work plan, 132, 133, 240-241 Development of project estimates, 78-80 Discipline organizations, 103-104 Disposition of project files, 291-292 Dispute resolutions arbitration, 282 litigation, 282 mediation. 281 negotiation, 281 Distribution of documents, 246-247 Drawing index, 244-246

Early estimates check lists for, 63 classifications of, 47-49 contingency based on estimate quality, 72-74 contingency by traditional methods. 68-72 documentation, 63-65 establishing work plan for, 56-57 feed-back for continuous improvement, 74-75 importance of early estimates, 47 importance of team alignment, 51-52 methods and techniques capacity ratios, 59-60 Early estimates (Cont.) methods and techniques (Cont.) computer generated, 62-63 wst-capacity curves, 58-59 equipment factored, 61-62 plant cost per unit, 60-61 organizing to prepare, 55 preparing early estimates, 55 reviews for, 65-66 risk assessment, 66-67 risk analysis, 67 traditional methods for contingency assessing estimate sensitivity, 71-72 expected net risk, 69-70 percentage of base estimate, 68-69 simulation, 70-71 scope definition for estimates, 52-54 work plan for preparing estimates, 49-51 Earned value actual cost of work performed (ACWP), 215-216 analyses for earned value, 217-225 budgeted cost of work performed (BCWP), 215-216 budgeted cost of work scheduled (BSCS), 215-216 causes of variations, 228-229 for construction, 213-216 cost performance index (CPI), 212-216 cost variance(CV), 212-216 definition of, 214 for design, 212-213 estimate at completion (EAC), 217-225 estimate to complete (ETC), 217-225 interpretation of, 227-228 monitoring of, 225-226 schedule performance index (SPI), 212-216 schedule variance (SV), 212-216 trends and forecasting, 229-233 Economic feasibility study, 85-90 Equipment factored estimates, 61-62 Equipment index, 244-246 Estimate check list for, 63 contingency for, 68-74 contractor's, bid, 93-97 classification of, 47-49 designer's budget, 90-93, 124-129 development of, 78-80 documentation of, 63-65 early estimates, 47-77 levels of accuracy, 80-81 methods and techniques, 58-63 owner's budget. 81-84 project budgets, 78 reviews for, 65-66 risk assessment, 66-67 work plan for preparing, 49-51 Estimate accuracy, 66-67, and 80-81 Estimate at completion (EAC), 215-225 Estimate to complete (ETC), 215-225

Estimate work plan, 56-58 Estimating methods and techniques, 58-63, 81-84 Estimating work process, 49-51 Evaluation of design effectiveness. 251-253 Evolution of projects, 36, 39, 118-119

Fast-track projects, 64 Final inspection. **289-290** Follow-up work, 111-113 Forecast at completion cost or schedule, **217-225**, **229-233** Forming the project team, 108-109 Functional, 102-104 Functions of management, **10-11**

Guarantees and warranties, 290

Human aspects, 24-27,297-299

Integrated cost/schedule/work, 205-208 Importance of construction, 258 Inspection (see Project close out)

Job-site safety, 282-283

Key concepts of project management, 11 Keys to a successful construction project, 270-271 Kick-off meeting, 109-110

Levels of accuracy of estimates, 80.81 Lien releases, 290 Linking the WBS and OBS, 115, 186-188 List of documents American Institute of Architects (AIA), 351-353 Associated General Contractors of America (AGC), 354-356 Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee (EJCDC), 348-350 Litigation, 281-282

Matrix organization, 104-106 Management changes, 283-84 discipline, 9-10 functions of, 10-11 key concepts of, 11 project verses discipline, 10 purpose of, 8-9 types of, 9 Measurement of construction work **cost** performance **index** (CPI), 213-216 cost ratio, 231 cost variance (CV), 213-216

Measurement of construction work (Cont.) craft productivity profile, 233 earned value, 214-217 incremental milestone, 213 percent complete, 214 productivity index, 230 schedule variance (SV), 213-216 start/finish, 214 supervisor opinion, 214 trends of performance indices, 225-226 units complete, 213 weighted nnits, 214 Mediation. 281 Mim-drawings, 130-132 Monitoring project performance, 225-231 Motivation, 25-27,300-301

Negotiation, 281

Organizational Breakdown Structures (OBS) discipline, 103-104 functional, 102-104 matrix, 104-106 traditional, 101-102 Owner's economic feasibility study, 85-90 Owner's estimate for budgeting, 81-84 Owner's feed-back, 292 Owner's needs and project objectives, 38-40 Owner's orientation meeting, 100-101 Owner's study, 38

Partnering, 44-45 Phases of development of work plan. 116 Phases of a project, 36-37, 118-119 Planning (see Project planning; Scheduling) Plant cust per unit estimates, 60-61 Post design review, 255 Post project critique, 292 Presentations, 305-307 Private versus public projects, 33 Productivity index, 230-233 Professional and technical organizations, 14-15 Program Evaluation and Review Techniques (PERT) background, 147 basic terminology, 164-165 deviation, 168 expected lime of an activity, 168 expected time of an event, 168 standard deviation of the expected time, 168 optimistic, pessimistic and most likely times, 165 PERT probability table, 169 Progress measurement of design cost performance index (CPI), 212 earned value, 212 incremental milestones, 211 percentage completion, 212

Progress measurement of design (Cont.) productivity index, 211 ratio method, 212 relationship of time and work, 200-203 schedule performance index (SPI), 212-213 start/finish, 211-212 units complete, 211 Project(s) components of, 4-6 construction management. 262 contractual arrangements, 33-36 definition of, 4-6 design and construction process, 21-32 design/bid/build, 261-262 design/build, 262 fast-uack, 264 partnering, 44-45 phases of, 36-37 private versus public, 33 scope definition, 40-42, and 119-121 selection of designers and contractors. 42-44 strategies, 42 turn-key, 264 Project budgeting assessing estimate sensitivity, 71-72 contingency, 68-74 contractor's bid, 93-97 design budgets, 90-93 expected net risk, 69-70 levels of accuracy, 80-81 owner's estimate, 81-84 owner's feasibility study, 85-90 percent of base estimate, 68-69 risk analysis, 67 risk assessment, 66-67 simulation, 70-71 Project close out check list of duties, 291 disposition of files, 291-292 final inspection, 289-290 guarantees and warranties, 290 lien releases, 290 owner feed-back, 292 post project critique, 292 record and as-built drawings. 290-291 substantial completion, 290 system testing, 288-289 Project control (see Tracking work; Control systems) hoject delivery issues, 264-266 Project delivery methods construction management (CM), 262-263 design/bid/build (D/B/B), 261-262 design/build (D/B), 262 qualification basedselection (QBS), 267-269 Project management definition of, 8 human aspects, 24-27, 297-299 key concepts of, 11 purpose of, 8-9

Project manager authority/responsibility check list, 247-248 conducting the kick-off meeting, 109-10 conflict management, 27-28 distribution of documents, 246-247 drawing and equipment index, 244-246 employed by, 7-8 human aspects, 24-27, 297-299 initial review by, 99-100 managing design scope growth, 241-242 managing small projects, 242-243 managing teams, 22-23 motivating teams, 25-27 relations with contractors, 277 role of, 12-14 team leadership, 23-24 weekly/monthly reports, 244 Project owner economic feasibility study, 85-90 estimate for hudgeting, 81-84 feed-back on project, 292 needs and objectives, 38-40 orientation meeting, 100-101 project strategy, 42 selection of designers and contractors, 42-44 study of project, 38 Project planning barcharts, 143, 152, 195 construction schedules, 271-277 critical path methods. (CPM), 145-147 desired results, 140,141 multiple projects, 142-143 network analysis systems, 144-147 planning and scheduling. 39-140 principles of, 141 problems with construction schedules, 273-277 problems with successor/predecessor relationships, 173-177 program evaluation and review techniques (PERT), 164-172 resource allocations, 164-167 responsibility of parties, 142 successor/predecessor relationships, 172-173 techniques for, 143-144 Project scope definition, 40-42, 119-121 Project strategies, 42 Project teams conflict management, 27 construction teams, 21-22 design teams, 20-21 developing a consensus, 25 forming of teams, 108-109 key factors in leadership, 23-24 kick-off meeting, 109-110 management of, 248-244 meetings, 243-244 motivating teams, 25-27,300-301 project teams, 17-18 project manager's responsibilities, 22-23

Project teams (*Cont.*) team building, 24-25 team conduct, 28-29 team management, 22 teams for small projects, 18-19 teamwork,18 working with multiple teams, 19-20 Project work plan, 113-116 Proposals for design, 121-124 Prospective bidders and bidding, 266-267 Punchlist, 289 Purpose of control systems, 185-186 Purpose of project management, 8-9

Qualification-based selection (QBS), 267-269 Quality control during construction, 278-281 control charts, 280 related to scope/budget/schedule, 4-6 total quality management (TQM), 311-328

Record and as-built drawings, **290-291** Relations with contractors, 277 Reports and letters, **307-309** Resource allocation, **164-169** Resource management, **284-286** Responsibilities of parties, 6-7 Role of the project manager, 12-14

S-curves, 160-163, 196-197, 206-208

Schedule coding system, 153-157 Schedule performance index (SPI), 212-233 analysis of, 217-225 causes of variations, 228-229 for construction, 213-216 for design, 212-213 interpretation of, 227-228 monitoring of, 225-226 trends and forecasting, 229-233 Schedule variance (SV), 212-233 analysis of, 217-225 causes of variations, 228-229 for construction, 213-216 for design, 212-213 interpretation of, 227-228 monitoring of, 225-226 trends and forecasting, 229-233 Scheduling assigning realistic durations, 150-152 coding systems for scheduling, 153-157, 188-189 computer applications, 152-153 construction schedules, 271-273 contractor procured and installed equipment, 275-276 critical path methods (CPM), 14-147

Scheduling (Cant.) definitions for CPM, 145 desired results, 140-141 development of CPM diagrams from the WBS, 147-150 multiple projects, 142-143 network analysis systems, 144-147 owner-furnished equipment or materials, 275 planning for multiple projects, 141 principles of, 141 problems with construction schedules, 273-277 program evaluation and review techniques (PERT), 164-172 project planning and scheduling, 139-140 resource allocations, 164-167 responsibilities of parties, 142 schedule constraints, 276 sequestering float, 276 steps in planning and scheduling, 148 submittals, 274-275 successor/predecessor relationships, 172-173 techniques for planning and scheduling, 143-144 update of schedules, 277 Scope definition related to budget, schedule, and quality, 4-6 related to design, 119-121, 241-242 related to estimates, 52-54 related to owner, 40-42 Selection of design firms, 42-44 Steps in project management, 2-4 Successor/predecessor relationships, 172-177 Substantial completion, 290 System testing and start-up, 288-289

Team building, 24-25 Team management, 248-25 assignment of work, 299-300 communications, 303-305 decision making, 301-302 follow-up work, 111-113 forming the project team, 108-109 human aspects, 24-27,297-299 kick-off meeting, 109-110 meetings, 243-244,307 motivation, 25-27, 300-301 project work plan, 113-116 time management, 302-303 typical problems, 243 work packages, 110-111 Team meetings, 243-244,307 Time management, 302-303 Time value of money, 85-90 Total Quality Management (TQM) background of, 311-314 continual improvement, 315-318 cost of quality, 324-325 customer satisfaction, 314-315 customer service, 326

Total Quality Management (TQM) (Cont.) Deming's 14 points, 312 implementation, 326-327 management commitment, 318-319 Plan-Do-Check-Act(PDCA) cycles, 316-317 statistical methods, 322-324 supplier involvement, 325-326 teamwork, 320-322 tools for analysis. 323 training, 319-320 Tracking work analysis of TF and SPI, 227-28 causes of cost/schedule variances, 227 control schedules, 193-200 control systems, 185-186 earned value, 217-225 integrated cost/schedule/work, 205-207 interpretation of performance indices, 227 measurement of construction work. 213-216 monitoring project performance, 225-227 percent complete matrix, 206-211 progress measurement and control, 216-217 progress measurement of &sign, 211-213 trend analysis and forecasting, 229-233 work and time relationships, 200-205 work status system, 233-236 Trend analysis and forecasting, 229-233 Turn-key projects, 264 Types of management, 9-10 Types of projects buildings, 31-32 infrastructure, 32 private versus public, 33 process industry, 32 Typical problems in team management, 250

Weekly/monthly reports, 244 Weighted cost data, 83 Who does the project manager work for, 7-8 Work Breakdown Structures (WBS) coding systems, 186-189 definition of, 106-108 linking the WBS and CPM. 114-115 work packages for, 110-112 Work packages, 110-112 Work plan componentsof, 114 follow-up work, 111-113 forming the project team, 108-109 kick-off meeting, 109-110 linking the WBS and OBS, 114-115 phases of development, 116 work packages, 110-112 work plan for design, 132-133 work plan for estimating, 56-58 Work status system, 233-236 Working with project teams conflict management, 27-28 construction teams, 21-22 design teams, 20-21 developing a consensus, 28 leadership, 23-24 motivating teams. 25-27 project manager's responsibility, 22-23 project teams, 17-18 team building. 24-25 team conduct. 28-29 team management, 22 teams for small projects, 18-19 teamwork, 18 working with multiple teams, 19-20